
National Park Authority  - 25 June 2019 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held in THE 
CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON 
LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 25TH JUNE, 2019 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance 
is requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 25 June 2019 2

specifying the nature of the interest.
 

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 18)

To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them as a 
correct record:
 

a)    Extraordinary General Meeting:  22 March 2019
b)    National Park Authority:  9 April 2019

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

A: A: DECISION ITEMS - CHIEF EXECUTIVE

7 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018-19 (Pages 19 - 44)

8 ESTABLISHMENT OF A WELSH LANGUAGE OFFICER POST 
(PART-TIME) (Pages 45 - 52)

9 OFFICERS CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 53 - 70)



National Park Authority  - 25 June 2019 3

10 SECONDMENT POLICY (Pages 71 - 86)

11 AMENDMENTS TO THE AUTHORITY’S SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION AND ADJUSTMENTS TO THE SIGN OFF LIMITS 
(Pages 87 - 150)

B: B: DECISION ITEMS - COUNTRYSIDE

C: C: DECISION ITEMS - PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF 
WAY

12 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2: CONSULTATION DRAFT 
PREFERRED STRATEGY (Pages 151 - 306)

13 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2: CANDIDATE SITE REGISTERS 
(Pages 307 - 456)

14 ENABLING APPROPRIATE DEVELOPMENT IN THE 
COUNTRYSIDE:  ADDENDUM (Pages 457 - 468)

15 AFFORDABLE HOUSING COMMUTED SUM PROCESS AND 
PROCEDURE (Pages 469 - 486)

D: D: ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

16 MEMBER CHAMPION REPORTS 

17 MEMBER REPORTS 

18 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

19 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 20 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 12 and 13 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.
 



National Park Authority  - 25 June 2019 4

20 UPDATE ON FOEL DEG BOUNDARY MANAGEMENT (Pages 487 - 
490)

21 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 22 March 2019

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 22ND MARCH, 2019

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Deputy Chair), Cllr E Durrant, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr Madge

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Torfaen

Cllr Ashley

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Ian Rowat, Mr James Marsden, Ms Deborah Perkin, Mr Julian Stedman, Mr Christopher 
Coppock and Mrs Sue Holden

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesMr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 22 March 2019

Mr E Evans, Cllr M Jones, Cllr K Laurie-Parry, Cllr McIntosh, Cllr M Feakins, Cllr A James, Cllr 
Rogers and Grenville Ham

24/19 Correspondence 

In the absence of the Chair the Deputy Chair welcomed all to the meeting and explained 
for the benefit of those watching the webcast that the meeting would be recommended 
to go into confidential session.  If that was approved then the webcast would be a short 
one.
 
Apologies for absence were noted.
 

25/19 Declarations of Interest 

The Chair advised that any declarations of interest in respect of the exempt business on 
the agenda would be declared in exempt session but recorded in the minutes.
 

26/19 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

27/19 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:
 
a)  To exclude the press and public from the meeting during 

consideration of item 5 in accordance with section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972.

 
b)  To exclude the press and public from the meeting during 

consideration of item 6 in accordance with section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972.

 

28/19 Appointment of Independent Member of Standards Committee 

The Deputy Chair thanked the Appointments Committee for shortlisting and interviewing 
candidates.  The Chair of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee reported that 
three candidates had been interviewed and the committee had unanimously 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 22 March 2019

recommended a strong candidate for the role of independent member of Standards 
Committee.
 

RESOLVED: That Ms Pam Hibbert be appointed as an 
independent member of Standards Committee for an 
initial term of office from 8 April 2019 to 7 April 2022.

 

29/19 Appointment of Monitoring Officer 

The Deputy Chair reminded members that a number of recruitment options had been 
taken over the last year in relation to the role of Monitoring Officer and he thanked 
Geldards for their support to the Authority for the last three months.
 
He reported that the Appointments Committee were unanimous in their 
recommendation of a candidate for the role given his experience and expertise.
 

RESOLVED:  To appoint Sean O’Connor to the post of 
Monitoring Officer for a fixed term contract of two years, 
with a start date to be confirmed.

 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 9 April 2019

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 9TH APRIL, 2019

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Deputy Chair), Cllr Phil Pritchard, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Carmarthenshire

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr Ashley

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Ian Rowat, Mr James Marsden, Ms Deborah Perkin, Mr Julian Stedman and Mr Christopher 
Coppock

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesStephen Gray, Delivery Director
Ms Clare Hardy, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 9 April 2019

Apologies
Mr E Evans, Cllr E Durrant, Cllr Rogers, Grenville Ham and Holden

30/19 Correspondence 

Deputy Chair Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe took the chair in the absence of Mr Ed Evans.  He 
welcomed members, officers and members of the public to the meeting and gave a warm 
welcome to Mrs Pam Hibbert, recently appointed independent member of the Standards 
Committee, who was observing the meeting as part of her induction.
 
Apologies for absence were noted and the Chair sent the best wishes of the Authority to 
Mr Ham who was recovering from illness.
 

31/19 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were received.
 

32/19 Minutes 

The Democratic Services Manager thanked a member who had highlighted an omission in 
Minute 14/19.  She advised of the change.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 
12 February 2019, as amended, and authorise the Chair to 
sign them as a correct record:      

 
 

33/19 Audit & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - 26-10-18 

RESOLVED:  To receive the minutes of the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 16 October 2018.

 

34/19 Public Speaking 

Eleven public speakers had registered to vote in relation to agenda item 8, Mid Wales 
Hospital Development Brief:
 
Mr Russell Pryce
Mr Alun Rees
Mr Peter Weavers
Mr Michael Bowers
Prof Alan Lovell
Ms Virginia Brown
Mr Niel Bally
Cllr William Powell (Talgarth Town Council)

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 9 April 2019

Mr John Dunne (Neighbourhood Watch/Residents Association)
PC Lucy Bassett/PCSO Helen Scott (Dyfed Powys Police)
Mr Terry McClatchey
 
 

35/19 Chairman's Announcements 

In the absence of the Chair of the Authority the Deputy Chair had nothing to report.
 

36/19 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive had circulated his announcements to members.  He added that a 
presentation on the Powys joint services hub would be made to the next Policy Forum.  
He would brief members on a further confidential matter in the exempt part of the 
meeting.
 

37/19 Mid Wales Hospital Development Brief 

The Principal Planning Officer introduced Alistair Knox from Powys County Council 
Highways department. She advised of the purpose of a development brief which was to 
supplement the policies in the Local Development Plan.  It did not constitute a planning 
application, which would be the next stage, and which would give full opportunity for 
public consultation and scrutiny.  She presented her report on the brief.
 
The Chair then invited members of the public listed above to address the Authority 
before inviting members to comment. He reminded members that the Chair of the 
Authority and the Chief Executive had issued guidance to members on this item and that 
the legal advisor had provided advice on avoiding pre-determination pending 
consideration of a planning application in future.
 
A point was made that the site was allocated in the Local Development Plan and the 
principle for development established.  The brief would allow a detailed planning 
application to be considered with a positive outcome for residents and the Authority, 
although sustainability issues might need more consideration.  It was noted that design, 
use of materials and energy had been well thought through which supported the 
Authority’s responsibilities under climate change, but that ecological connectivity was 
weak.  It was hoped that this could be addressed at the planning application stage, and 
officer confirmed that they could work with the developer on this.
 
Some concerns were expressed in terms of the alienation of local people should the brief 
be approved, which suggested that the consultation had not been effective. A member 
questioned why the Authority had to move to a development brief and felt there was a 
danger of institutional pre-determination.  Officers advised that it was requirement that 
mixed use sites such as this had a development brief, which provided a cohesive approach 
against which to determine a planning application.  Using this as supplementary planning 
guidance would prevent piecemeal development on the site.
 

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 9 April 2019

An amendment was proposed to approve the development brief but not adopt it as 
supplementary planning guidance but this was not supported.

 
RESOLVED:  To endorse the Development Brief for the 
Former Mid Wales Hospital Site for use as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance to the Local 
Development Plan.

 

38/19 Annual Prudential Code report on Treasury Management and borrowing 
limits for 2019/20 

The Finance Manager presented a report seeking approval to retain existing precautionary 
borrowing limits.  Members noted that the Authority is currently deb-free.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Authority continues the present 
arrangements in relation to operational and authorised 
borrowing limits and Treasury Management for 2019/20.

 

39/19 Review of Code of Corporate Governance 

Members considered proposed changes to the Authority’s Code of Corporate 
Governance in line with audit recommendations and in order to update the document.
 
Some typographical and grammatical errors were noted, and it was suggested that a 
general reference to the Scheme of Delegation being kept under review should replace 
the detail.  A member also proposed that a statement should be incorporated under 
principle 3 or 4 emphasising that the Authority would use the best available evidence in its 
decision making.
 

RESOLVED:  To review the Code of Corporate 
Governance, as amended in the meeting and approve 
changes.

 

40/19 Member Development Programme 2019-20 

Members considered the draft Member Development Programme for 2019/20.  The 
Democratic Services Manager encouraged members to let her know if they needed 
further support or if they would like to spend time with individual officers or teams.
 
The Chief Executive suggested that one of the unallocated days be used to brief members 
on the interpretation strategy.  A member commented that the best development days 
were those involving site visits linked to purposes and duty.  The officer advised that this 
was the aim of the themed days linked to key work areas, which would be run every 
other year.
 

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 9 April 2019

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion offered to take any member for a walk to 
discuss land biodiversity issues and recommended spending a day with a warden.  He 
asked that the Climate Change event be brought forward.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Member Development 
Programme for 2019-20.
 

Cllrs J Hill, G Thomas and P Pritchard left the meeting.
 

41/19 Partnership Scrutiny:  Progress Report 

The Chair welcomed former member Prof Alan Lovell to the meeting to present a final 
report on the Partnership Scrutiny together with co-author Deborah Perkin.  Ms Perkin 
advised that some issues had already been addressed through the Governance Review.
 
A member was critical that the recommendations had not been discussed at a member 
workshop as agreed by the Authority in June 2018.  He did not wish to consider the 
recommendations en bloc as some were already in the CEO’s objectives for this year and 
others cut across existing plans.  He also took issue with the lack of reference to wider 
land ownership in the Park.
 
The CEO confirmed that the Senior Leadership Group had not seen the 
recommendations; it was usual with scrutiny reports for officers to draw up an action 
plan. He commented that the Authority was already quite a long way forward in 
progressing the recommendations. 
 
Prof Lovell gave a summary of where the Authority was when the scrutiny study began in 
2015 where little time was given to strategic thinking or direction.  He welcomed the new 
Policy Forum and the fact that members and officers could work together out of the 
public domain.  At the time there had been less understanding of the role of officers as 
the face of the Authority and the recommendations had been drawn up for a reason.
 
The Delivery Director offered a fresh pair of eyes and referred to the shift from 
operational to strategic focus.  He recognised the good work in the report and suggested 
that officers should be allowed to provide a report of progress against each 
recommendation as it stood.  A member felt that this didn’t need to be divisive and 
agreed that recommendations on partnership had been absorbed into the way of working 
and that the Authority was more sophisticated and involved than previously.
 
A member queried how the Authority supported volunteers as he had attended an 
introductory session for volunteers and the induction day had not materialised.  Several 
members felt that the recommendations were for officers to incorporate into work 
programme and reviewed at Policy Forum.
 
A member welcomed Prof Lovell’s comments on the impact of human relationships and 
how the Authority communicated with the public through key points of contact such as 
wardens.  He had noted the positive culture change and the role of the Policy Forum in 
that change.
 

Page 13



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 9 April 2019

A member suggested amending the recommendation to ‘receive and note’ rather than 
‘approve’.  Ms Perkin pointed out that despite thanking the authors for the report 
members were not prepared to make a decision on the recommendations.  She felt 
strongly that there needed to be responsibility taken for the role of volunteers.  She 
therefore asked that in addition to the proposed amendment recommendations 9 and 10 
be approved in relation to volunteers.  
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

a)   That recommendations 9 and 10 of the final 
Scrutiny Report on Partnerships be agreed;

b)   That an item be put on the next Authority agenda 
to consider a role for supporting volunteers;

c)    That recommendations 1-8 and 11-14 of the report 
be received and noted;

d)   That the Senior Leadership Group be asked to 
provide regular reports to the Policy Forum on 
implementation of and progress against the 
recommendations in the Scrutiny Report.

 

42/19 Nature Recovery Action Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park 

The Ecology Officers gave a short presentation.  The Member Champion for Landscape 
and Biodiversity commended the action plan and the exceptional work of the team.  He 
highlighted some points for the future, including aligning the aspirations of the plan with 
other key documents, applying urgency to delivering the actions, given the scales of the 
task, and considering landscape changes as a way of changing nature, working with key 
landowners.
 
A member thanked officers for the excellent presentation and welcomed the passion of 
members and officers.  He felt capacity was the key in deciding where to prioritise, 
recognising the staff resource necessary to set up and maintain partnerships.
 
It was suggested that the action plan would be a useful tool to lobby the Welsh 
Government for changes in agricultural practices.  The Chief Executive advised that 
Welsh Government officials were visiting the Park later in the week and he would raise 
this.
 

RESOLVED:  To adopt the Nature Recovery Action Plan.
 

Cllr K Madge and Cllr M Jones left the meeting.
 

43/19 Planning Protocol 

The Planning and Heritage Manager presented proposed changes to the Authority’s 
Planning Protocol which included updates but also specifically changes to the procedures 

Page 14



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 9 April 2019

for planning site visits to ensure that these were quorate in future and that more 
members were able to participate in decision making.
 
The Chair of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee advised that he would still 
be encouraging all members to attend site visits.  However, improved officer reports and 
the new presentation equipment might mean that fewer site visits were needed in future.
 
A member asked the officer to check the wording to ensure that no member would be 
restricted from participating in a planning decision if they hadn’t attended the site visit.  
He also said that terminology should be checked as there were references to ‘Councillor’ 
rather an ‘member’.  
 
Concern was expressed that there could be very few on a site visit but the officer advised 
that there would always be a minimum of three or four members.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the revised and updated 
Planning Protocol.
 

Cllr A James left the meeting.
 

44/19 Review of Pre-planning application charging and associated fees 

The Planning and Heritage Manager presented a review of the pre-planning application 
service and of the planning search fees and copying charges.
 
A member expressed concern about the level of some fees which the public were 
required to pay and the officer advised that the charges in the report were the ones on 
which the Authority had discretion.  The member was referring to statutory fees which 
were set nationally and over which the Authority had little or no influence.
 
A member hoped that the increases represented full cost recovery and urged the officer 
to bring further proposals if necessary.  The Chief Executive advised that these increases 
were in response to income targets set in February and were set at a level to achieve 
these.  It was noted that charging regimes could take up to 12 months to bed in.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the proposed changes to and 
charges for pre-application advice and changes to search 
fees and copying charges as follows:
 
a) the current Planning Pre-Application Advice Service 

including additional fee charging as set out in this 
report;

 
a)  that a trial run of 3 months is undertaken to ascertain 

the capacity to offer a fast track householder 
application service;

 
c) that a review of charges for planning search fees and 

photocopying services be carried out 

Page 15



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 8 9 April 2019

 

45/19 BBNPA Sustainable Development Team 

Members received a report on the contribution of the Sustainable Development Team to 
delivery on the National Park Management Plan and Corporate Objectives.
 

46/19 Member and Member Champion Reports 

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion reported on an excellent meeting with the 
Chief Vet arranged by Cllr Edwin Roderick through the Meithrin Mynydd Advisory 
Group.  It had been an extremely useful meeting which all who attended felt could be a 
blueprint for future meetings.
 

47/19 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were received.
 

48/19 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:  to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 20 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 
14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

 

49/19 Request for BBNPA to become a Founder Member of the National Parks UK 
Charity Foundation 

The Chief Executive briefed members on the establishment of the national charity.
 
There was some discussion about risk and the need for due diligence to be applied in 
relation to business.  It was suggested that the Chief Executive and Delivery Director be 
given authority to progress the work of the charity in association with the work of 
National Parks Partnerships and the Chief Executive informed members that a report 
revising the Scheme of Delegation was in preparation and such a change could be 
considered within this.
 
A member felt that it needed to be made clearer that the benefits from the charity would 
come back to National Park Authorities rather than individual trustees.  The role of 
National Park Authority members sitting as trustees would also need to be made clear 
and the Chief Executive undertook to seek clarity from the existing Trustees.
 
 

RESOLVED: That Members authorize:

Page 16



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 9 9 April 2019

 
a) the Chief Executive to confirm that the Brecon 

Beacons National Park Authority wishes to apply to 
become a Founder Member of the UK National Parks 
Charity Foundation.

 
b) Chair and Deputy Chair to propose and or second 

nominations to the Board of Trustees.
 

50/19 Any Other Business 

In confidential session the Chief Executive briefed members on current and future funding 
issues.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Annual Governance Statement 2018/19

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 25 June 2019

Report Author
Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details 01874 620400
Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek approval of the Annual Governance Statement for 
2018/19 for submission to the Wales Audit Office with the 
Annual Statement of Accounts

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1:  Draft Annual Governance Statement 
for 2018/19

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) That the draft Annual Governance Statement be 
approved for publication with the Annual Statement 
of Accounts.

1.0  Introduction or Background

The Annual Governance Statement (AGS), along with the Corporate Plan, is a key 
document which the Authority is required to produce each year to comply with the 
Local Government Measure 2009.  It is required to be published at the same time as the 
Annual Statement of Accounts which the Authority will be asked to approve in July.  It is 
a retrospective document and looks at what is already in place with examples given.

The purpose of the AGS is to:

 Provide assurance that the Authority has a good governance framework in place
 Show how governance is monitored in order to know when governance is 

working/not working
 Show how this information is used to improve performance

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


It needs to be supported by evidence from the Internal Auditors and the Wales Audit 
Office reports.  
 
CIPFA issued new guidance in 2016 which has made clear the change in emphasis of the 
AGS.  While it is still a compliance document the guidance has been updated to highlight 
the importance of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and suggests that it should 
be a more accessible document for the public to seek assurance.  To this end the use of 
hyperlinks and symbols is considered good practice, which was included in the AGS last 
year, and which this committee welcomed.  Since then the Democratic Services 
Manager has received some helpful feedback from the Wales Audit Office on the draft 
report for 2018/19 and as a result a slightly leaner document has been produced. Advice 
included the need to be able to produce evidence on assurances made, but that 
hyperlinks to evidence were not essential, apart from a few key links to committee 
papers and regulatory documents.

The document aims to demonstrate a continuous cycle of improvement by giving an 
update on actions identified in the previous year, and highlighting through self-evaluation 
those issues which the Authority will address in the next year.

2.0 Proposals

Given the advice from the WAO, and mindful of the comments made by this committee 
last year about the amount of work needed to produce such a complex document, the 
AGS has been prepared as a much leaner document, with key assurances and examples, 
but without the detail on individual projects given in previous years.

The Audit and Scrutiny Committee received the draft document on 3 May 2019 and 
approved it subject to further editing and any input from the Governance and Member 
Development Working Group 7 May 2019.  Comments from the working group have 
been incorporated.  The Corporate Governance Team has had input, and key managers 
have all been consulted.

The Wales Audit Office has reviewed the draft document since the above meetings and 
their helpful suggestions have been incorporated in this final draft.

The guidance stipulates that while the AGS must be published at the same time as the 
Annual Statement of Accounts although does not have to be part of the same document 
and should be accessible as a separate document.

11.3 Implications

The Authority is required to produce an Annual Governance Statement and must be 
able to substantiate the claims within the document.

Page 20



11.4 Risk

We are required to produce an Annual Governance Statement under the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

11.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to approve the Annual Governance Statement for 2018/19.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the draft Annual Governance Statement be 
approved for publication with the Annual Statement of Accounts.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           1

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Annual Governance Statement 2018/19

Page 23



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           2

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Governance and the Purpose of the Governance Framework

3. What is the Framework?

4. Action against Audit Recommendations 2017/18

5. Review of Effectiveness

6. Governance Action Plan 2019/20

7. Significant Governance Issues 2018/19

8. Opinion

Annexes

1. Action against audit recommendations 2017/18

2. Update of Issues identified in the Authority’s self-evaluation in 2017/18

1.   Introduction 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority prides itself on high standards of governance, 
behaviour and compliance and has evolved a culture of partnership working, between members and 
officers and across directorates, but also with stakeholder organisations and individuals. As a result 
of this it considers itself a low risk organisation with a high level of confidence.

We continue to webcast all the Authority and committee meetings and the viewing figures are still 
being maintained.  Almost all our decision making is taken in the public domain, and we publish all 
our current and archived committee agendas online, including audit reports, performance 
management reports and complaints.

The National Park Authority is also subject to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 which places a duty on the Authority to set wellbeing objectives that directly contribution to 
achieving the seven wellbeing goals as set out in the Act:

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales

Page 24



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           3

 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

The Authority must also meet its duties in accordance with a ‘statutory sustainability principle’ which 
means that the Authority must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present 
are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

In discharging this overall responsibility the Authority must put in place proper arrangements for the 
governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk and adequate and effective financial management.

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework

The governance framework comprises all the systems and processes, culture and values by which 
the Authority is directed and controlled, and how it is accountable to and engages with the 
community.  It enables the monitoring of achievement of strategic objectives and whether those 
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services and outcomes.

The Authority has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of its governance framework 
including the system of internal control, which is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives.  It therefore provides 
reasonable but not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The Authority’s risk process is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of its objectives, and to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks occurring and the potential impact, through regular review of mitigating actions.  The 
notion of robust organisational resilience is seen as the primary indicator of the Authority’s ability to 
respond positively should damaging events occur.

The review of governance is informed by the members and officers who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, internal audit’s annual report, and 
also by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (“the Authority”) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently, and effectively. It is a 
Welsh improvement authority under section1 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and 
as such has a general duty under section 2 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised.

The Authority has a Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent with the principles of 
the CIPFA/ SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’ as amended in 
2016. The Code of Governance sets out how we aim to provide public services and our 
accountability to our stakeholders and the wider community.  It outlines the systems and processes, 
cultures and values by which decisions are made and functions undertaken to deliver the purposes 
and duty of the National Park Authority. The Code was reviewed in February 2016 to reflect the 
requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.

The CIPFA guidance recommends that the review of effectiveness of the system of internal control 
that local authorities are required to undertake in accordance with the Accounting and Audit 
Regulations should be reported in an Annual Governance Statement which is published 
simultaneously with the Statement of Accounts. The Authority has used the CIPFA framework and 
2016 guidance notes to prepare the Annual Governance Statement for 2018/19.

Page 25

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD233&ID=233&RPID=1589750


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           4

3. What is the Framework?

The Authority bases its governance on a Governance Framework comprising the seven CIPFA 
principles of good governance:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law.

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and 
environmental benefits

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 
the individuals within it

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management.

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability

The Authority develops and implements its strategic corporate planning through the adoption of:

 The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan
 The Brecon Beacons Local Development plan
 The Corporate Plan

3.1 Governance Structure

The governance structures provide a framework for the Authority to make decisions and to ensure 
that it complies with legislation and good practice.  It also provides the mechanism for monitoring 
the internal control system, comprising the scheme of delegation, a risk management strategy and 
arrangements for internal audit.  The purpose of the internal control system is to support the 
Authority in meeting its objectives and managing risks.  The Audit and Scrutiny Committee has a key 
role to place in monitoring these systems.

The Authority reviewed its governance structures in 2018/19 and approved the following model:

Page 26



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           5

It did this to focus more effectively on delivery of objectives based on four key work areas:

 Landscape and Biodiversity
 Heritage
 Resilient Communities
 Sustainable Economic Development

and to facilitate the involvement of all members in the development of policy through a new Policy 
Forum.  The model encourages the key work area managers to work closely with their respective 
Member Champions to deliver objectives and inform the work of the Policy Forum.

The Authority’s Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation gives details of the remit and 
composition of all committees and working groups.  The roles of each committee are summarised 
here.

Agendas and minutes of all committees are published on the Authority’s website.  Attendance 
records of members are given individually on the member pages and also published each year in 
summary.

The Authority comprises 24 members, appointed as follows:

Powys County Council 8 members
Monmouthshire County Council 2 members
Carmarthenshire County Council 2 members
Blaenau Gwent CBC 1 member
Torfaen CBC 1 member
Merthyr Tydfil CBC 1 member
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC 1 member
Appointed by Welsh Government 8 members

Page 27

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087&path=0
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087&path=0
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           6

The Authority continues to work with the Welsh Government to reduce the number of members 
to 18, and the legislation necessary to effect this is expected to be passed in 2019/20.

Standards

The Authority has a Code of Conduct for members and procedures for declaring and publishing a 
Register of Interests.  It also has a Code of Conduct for staff.  The following policies and procedures 
are in place to maintain high standards of conduct for staff and Members and to ensure 
accountability to the public:

 Complaints procedure
 Whistle blowing policy
 Anti-fraud and Corruption Policy
 Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation

Risk Management

Procedures for managing risk are in place, with a Risk Management Policy and Strategy informed by 
two internal audits.  Risk control is devolved to management groups with the Corporate 
Governance Team reviewing the Risk Register and associated controls on a quarterly basis, 
reporting high level risks to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  Following a workshop with 
members, officers and auditors a new format for risk reporting has been agreed for 2019/20 
onwards which will set out the risks to the delivery of the objectives set out in the Corporate Plan.

Internal Audit

The review of effectiveness of the system of internal control and governance arrangements is 
informed by the work of the internal auditors, undertaken by TIAA, and provided in accordance 
with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the UK.  

External Audit

Wales Audit Office act as the Authority’s external auditor and report on the Authority’s financial 
management and performance as well as issuing an Annual Report.  

Monitoring Officer

Following the announcement of the Monitoring Officer’s retirement in 2018 the Authority 
considered various options for this role and sought interest from local authorities in South Wales.  
As there was no interest the Authority appointed Geldards Law Firm to provide legal advice in 
meetings and nominated the Chief Executive to act as Monitoring Officer, to run concurrently with 
recruitment on the open market.  A Monitoring Officer has now been appointed and will commence 
April 2019.

Financial Management

The Authority’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2010).  The 
Finance Manager is the officer responsible for the administration of financial affairs and is the 
nominated Section 151 Officer as required by the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 28



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           7

4. Action against Audit Recommendations 2017 -18
An assessment of actions taken against audit recommendations in 2017/18 are set out in Annex 1.

An assessment of actions taken against the Authority’s self-evaluation are set out in Annex 2.

5.  Review of Effectiveness of the Governance Framework

The Authority has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the senior 
managers within the Authority, who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review 
agencies and inspectorates. The review is based on the seven principles from the Code of Corporate 
Governance.

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

A developed and maintained suite of 
protocols which give members guidance on 
the ethical framework and the behaviours 
expected by the Authority
Regulatory Documents and Protocols

Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 
reviewed several times during the year to reflect 
changes in the governance structure and in the senior 
management structure.

Complaints process in place but also a 
process for compliments

Reported quarterly to the Corporate Governance 
Team and the Audit and Scrutiny Committee. As at 
13 March 2019 28 complaints had been received in 
2018/19, 5 upheld, 17not upheld, 3 partially upheld 
and 3 ongoing.  Slight increase in total number of 
complaints on previous year (23 received) but no 
trend identified

Code of Corporate Governance in place Reviewed and approved by the Authority on 9 April 
2019

Members and Officers Code of Conduct 
in place and a Member Officer Protocol.  

No changes effected in 2018/19 but a review of the 
protocol planned for 2019/20
One member on member complaint made to the 
Ombudsman
One member on member complaint dealt with under 
the Local Resolution Policy

Organisational values are introduced and 
subsequently embedded in member and 
officer induction and continuing 
development

These messages continue to be reinforced through 
refresher training on code of conduct issues 

Members’ Registers of Interest, 
declarations of interest and Gifts and 
Hospitality received are all published online.  
Officers Register of Interests held by HR.

Members asked to review their interests annually and 
make any changes – process improved after 
recommendation from Wales Audit Office

Financial Regulations, Whistleblowing 
and Anti-Fraud and Corruption policies 

Financial Regulations reviewed and approved by the 
Authority on 14 December 2018 in line with a 

Page 29

http://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           8

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
approved and complied with recommendation from Internal Audit of strategic 

controls (presented to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee 25 February 2019).

No issues have been highlighted in 2018/19
External Audit In its Annual Improvement Report for 2018/19 the 

Wales Audit Office has concluded that the Authority 
complied with its responsibilities relating to financial 
reporting and use of resources. They are ‘satisfied 
that the Authority has appropriate arrangements in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. ‘

Internal Audit The Authority ‘s internal auditors, TIAA, reported to 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 3 May 2019 that in 
2018/19 ‘for the areas reviewed during the year, 
BBNPA has reasonable and effective risk 
management, control and governance processes in 
place’

Business Continuity The Crisis Emergency plan is kept under review by 
lead officers.

Business Continuity arrangements are kept under 
regular review and will be the subject of an internal 
audit in the year ahead

Information Governance  A new Data Protection policy was approved by the 
Authority in February 2019.  Privacy Impact 
Assessments are required for all new proposals 
involving personal information.  The Information 
Asset Register is updated regularly.  Freedom of 
Information and Environmental Information 
Regulations requests are reviewed at every 
Corporate Governance Team and Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting

General Data Protection Regulations General Data Protection Regulations – training 
delivered to key staff and members.
No breaches in 2018/19 

An internal audit report (presented to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee on 25 February 2019) gave 
reasonable assurance and recommended that a 
detailed Data Protection Act 2018 Compliance Plan 
be documented to include actions to ensure full 
compliance with the At

Service Level Agreements in place for 
legal advice on governance, planning and 
human resources and use of established 
frameworks to secure value for money

Continue to review all service level agreements to 
ensure best practice and value for money. Used the 
retirement of the Monitoring Officer as an 
opportunity to widen the potential provision of 
services by another authority but there was no take 
up and an officer has now been recruited on the 
open market.

Page 30



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           9

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Monitoring Officer and Section 151 
Officer in place at each committee meeting 
to ensure compliance with law and give 
advice to Members

Complies with CIPFA’s statement on the role of the 
Chief Financial Officer

Monitoring compliance Audit and Scrutiny Committee has responsibility for 
monitoring compliance and working with internal and 
external audit, who contributed to a workshop in 
February 2019 to review the role of the committee 
and identify responsibilities.  

B. Ensuring Openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
We webcast all our Authority and 
committee meetings

Viewing figures have been maintained since we 
started webcasting in 2012 and we have now 
procured a second 5 year contract

Publication scheme on website facilitates 
access to all publicly available information

Publication Scheme

All current and archived agendas and 
minutes of public meetings available on the 
website and are published in line with 
standing orders (four clear working days). 
Background information provided via 
hyperlinks as well as appending essential 
information to reports

Online agendas and minutes

Formal and informal consultation methods 
used to engage with the public eg. via 
website, social media and communication 
with town and community councils. The 
Authority goes beyond statutory 
consultation and consults for 8 weeks rather 
than 6, in recognition of the number of 
town and community councils in the Park. 
Public can access all planning application via 
our website with decisions posted for 6 
months then available on request. 
Neighbour notifications are sent by letter 
not just site notices.

All consultation responses are considered by officers 
and members and policies amended for 
recommendation to the Authority

The Authority has a good record of 
consultation with stakeholders

The Authority began to review its Local 
Development Plan in 2018/19 and started to consult 
with communities on how they engage with the 
review.

Building on the place plans developed  for Hay on 
Wye and Crickhowell, proposals for new plans are 
emerging and the Authority is engaging with those 
communities

The Authority carried out extensive consultation in 
2018/19 on development of a previously developed 

Page 31

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/publication-scheme/
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           10

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
site and held a stakeholder meeting to inform the 
draft development brief.  The community will be able 
to engage in this process further through the public 
speaking scheme when the decision is taken by the 
Authority in April 2019.

Communications A Communications Strategy is in development but 
was delayed due to a change in staffing

The Authority engages fully on aspects of its 
work eg.

 Planning – statutory consultee list for all 
planning applications with responses 
included in reports to committee;

 Full consultation process for review of 
the Local Development Plan and National 
Park Management Plan;

 Consultation on supplementary planning 
guidance

 With tourism providers through the 
Destination Partnership

 Waterfalls Area Car Parking Strategy
 Natural Resources 
 Local Access Forum

Consultation on addendum to supplementary 
planning guidance on Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside (NPA February 
2019)

Year long consultation with Local Nature Partnership 
and interviews with individuals to develop objectives 
and priorities for the Nature Recovery Action Plan 
(to be approved early 2019/20)

Black Mountain Land Use Partnership continues with 
all relevant private and public landowners in 
accordance with agreed objectives.

The Authority recruited 22 new Local Access Forum 
members in line with guidelines.

Completed public consultation on the Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan to be adopted in 2019/20. This will 
include an action plan to be published each year and 
promoted.

Contributing to initial delivery of 
Wellbeing Plans under Well-being of 
Future Generations Act – for Powys, 
Monmouthshire and Carmarthenshire

The Authority has participated in the groups starting 
to deliver the actions/steps designed to address 
feedback received during the wellbeing assessments.  
It has engaged with sub-groups in Powys based on 
evidence and stakeholder engagement

Partnership working – we work with all 
major landowners in the Park

Wales Audit Office carried out an examination and 
Audit of Partnership and Collaborations, looking at
two Authority partnerships, the Destination 
Partnership and the Waterfall Country.  This was 
reported to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 3 May 
2019.  Learning points will be helpful for the 
Authority to develop these and future partnerships

An 18 month scrutiny report on partnerships was 
published at three consecutive Authority meetings, 
with a final report and recommendations  to be 
determined early in 2019/20

Place Plans Supporting Brecon and Talgarth Place Plan 
development including Residents Surveys

Working with Landowners and 
occupiers to develop integrated sustainable 
land management solutions. 

Reviewed terms of reference for Meithrin Mynydd 
Advisory Group to ensure ongoing relationship with 
graziers in the west of the Park is more relevant to 
current political and land management futures post 
Brexit.

Page 32



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           11

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

Key Work Area Groups The four Key Work Area Groups established as a 
result of the Governance Review in 2017/18 are 
aligned to four key work areas:  Landscape and 
Biodiversity, Heritage, Resilient Communities and 
Sustainable Economic Development.  The groups 
define, plan and monitor work programmes and 
outcomes 

The Authority publishes  a Corporate Plan 
each year setting out its priorities and 
desired outcomes for the year ahead, and 
showing how it will deliver the longer term 
aspirations of the National Park 
Management Plan within the context of the 
‘Taking Wales Forward’ programme for 
government, the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act 2015 and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016

Under the new governance structure the Key Work 
Area Groups contributed to this process in Autumn 
2018 which included the Member Champions for 
each of the key work areas.  The Policy Forum was 
also used to seek the views of the wider membership.

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act The Wales Audit Office carried out an audit of how 
the Authority was achieving the goals and ways of 
working under the Act.  Whilst the examination 
work did not make any recommendations, the report 
did set out areas for improvement. These include: 
• reducing the number of steps, LDP performance 
indicators and other indicators in plans, work plans 
and aims and improving the integration between 
them; 
• improving long-term workforce planning and 
evaluation of long-term impact; 
• demonstrating the overall impact of its prevention 
work; 
• more effective integration of work with partners; 
• more systematic approach to partnership working 
to ensure intended outcomes are delivered
• improving the way the public and partners are 
involved in designing new services and improving 
existing ones; 
• improving the quality and availability of data behind 
collaborations

These points will be helpful for the Authority in 
developing its project work and its work with 
partners.  A review of process for project work will 
be carried out early in 2019/20.

Project Working The Authority delivers many of its objectives now 

Page 33



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           12

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
through bespoke projects.  An internal audit report 
presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 25 
February 2019 gave reasonable assurance with some 
recommendations for improvements to internal 
processes, which have been noted and will be 
actioned in 2019/20

National Park Management Plan – the 
Authority has in place a plan to cover 2015-
20

The Authority has been working towards the next 
review to align the timetable with the review of the 
Local Development Plan.  This will enable a shared 
approach to the Sustainability Appraisal and maximise 
officer capacity.  As above the Policy Forum will have 
a key role to play in the development of the plan.

Local Development Plan – the Authority 
has a published LDP in place which sets out 
planning policy across the Park

The Authority commenced its review of the LDP in 
2018/19 and used the new governance structure to 
maximise input from officers and Member Champions 
(through the Key Work Area Groups) and members 
(through the Policy Forum).  The Authority has used 
Planning Policy Wales and the Development Plans 
Manual as its regulatory framework for the review

Nature Recovery Action Plan Prepared in line with Wellbeing of Future Generation 
goals and is a response to s6 duty of the Environment 
Act to enhance the resilience of ecosystems

A Health and Wellbeing Position 
Statement is in place

This has been updated with details of actions 
completed

Supporting community and environmental 
organisations to deliver their  local 
resilience  aspirations through the 
Sustainable Development Fund, providing 
officer support and funding

The Authority has continued to work with local 
groups and organisations to build sustainable 
proposals addressing their issues and aspirations.  An 
annual report on the SDF was presented to the 
Authority in November 2018   

Performance monitoring Achievement of planned corporate objective 
outcomes are logged on the Ffynnon database and 
reported to each Audit and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances

Budget Strategy The Authority faced significant cuts at the beginning 
of the year and the Chief Executive produced options 
for meeting the budget shortfall, discussed by the 
National Park Authority.  Some of this funding was 
subsequently reinstated but the Authority adopts a 
prudent approach to allocating resources while 
ensuring its reserves are maintained. A balanced 
budget was approved for 2018/19 but members were 
advised of potential shortfalls in 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
The challenge in working to sometimes less than one 

Page 34



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           13

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
year budget cycles continues.

A balanced budget for 2019/20 was approved by the 
Authority in February 2019.

The Authority operates officer management of 
budgets allowing easy access to live financial reports, 
and officers are required to effectively and actively 
manage their budgets, and are accountable to Chief 
Officers.

Projects are identified which support the objectives 
of the Authority, and the sustainable development 
principles and goals of the Wellbeing of Future 
Generation Act, with resources allocated accordingly

A budget monitoring report is presented to 
Management Team and Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee at each meeting.  Reports include details 
of project under/overspend

The Authority has maximised opportunities for 
income from other sources, such as the Columbia 
Clothing deal which has released some resource for 
other work.  It is developing its involvement with the 
new National Park UK Charity which will bring 
further funding.

Performance Management and 
Objective Setting

All staff have performance reviews (PMRs) either 
biannually or quarterly.  They report against delivery 
of objectives and associated outcomes, enter data on 
the performance management system each quarter, 
which is then reported at each Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee for members to scrutinise and challenge 
where necessary.

Objective setting is derived from the National Park 
Management Plan based on management and staff 
capacity, identifying risk at the planning stage and 
putting risk controls in place.

In its Annual Improvement Report for 2018/19 the 
Wales Audit Office has confirmed that the Authority 
has complied with its statutory improvement planning 
duties. 

Culture of continuous review of process 
and focus on continuing improvement which 
enables the Authority to respond to 
external and internal opportunities and 
challenges

The governance review looked at terms of reference 
of committees and approved changes at the 
Authority meeting in June 2018.  The establishment 
of the Policy Forum is leading to useful debate on 
external and internal opportunities and challenges.

Page 35



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           14

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Member Development – A Member 
Development Framework provides induction 
and continuing development for all members

An annual member development programme is 
produced based on training needs identified by 
members in their Personal Development Interviews 
and also corporate/legislative need.  This is published 
on the website and communicated to all members.

The Authority has been working on a resubmission 
for the WLGA Advanced Charter for Member 
Support and Development in 2019/20

The Authority  supports learning for its staff 
by:

 funding professional qualifications 
and allows time to pursue these

 Managers training courses
 Career grades
 Opportunity for planning technicians 

to progress to chartered planners
 Wide range of training including 

procurement, business case training

All managers were required to complete a 
management training course in 2018/19 and also a 
Managing Safely Course (validated by the Institution 
of Occupational Safety and Health)

The Authority supports its leadership by:
 Members working with officers to 

acquire skills to facilitate succession 
planning for senior members

All members were offered training in chairing skills 
and an opportunity to debate leadership in the 
Authority 

Management structural changes (Chief Offices and 
Management Team) to provide more effective 
leadership

Supporting pre-existing and new volunteers 
and volunteer groups to contribution to 
National Park Management Plan delivery

Work started on a volunteer policy to provide a 
revised framework to deliver voluntary work

F.  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Risk Management is carried out in line 
with good practice and building on previous 
recommendations from Internal Audit

It was agreed to implement an integrated assurance 
framework for risk and performance in 2019/20

An internal audit report presented to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee on 25 February 2019 gave 
‘substantial assurance’ for risk management (a robust 
system of internal controls operating effectively to 
ensure that risks are managed and process objectives 
achieved).  Some recommendations for operational 

Page 36



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           15

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
improvements were noted.

Hierarchical risk management is embedded 
throughout the organisation

Responsibility for risk has been reviewed 
and is now devolved to managers and their 
teams and each directorate reviews risk on 
a quarterly basis.  

The Management Team and Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee both monitor the risk register on a 
quarterly basis.

The Risk Register was revised to give a clearer 
account of the relationship to corporate objectives 
and the history of risks

A requirement to analyse and mitigate risk has been 
built into the Authority’s partnership process

Managing performance

Reports on performance taken quarterly 
to Audit and Scrutiny Committee, generated 
from the Ffynnon database

All staff have regular Performance 
Management Reviews (PMRs) which 
include a review of objectives, budget etc

Members and officers have worked together to 
improve performance reporting and have agreed to 
use an integrated board assurance framework for 
2019/20.

Wales Audit Office, TIAA (the Authority’s internal 
auditors), Members and officers held a workshop in 
February 2019 to review respective roles and discuss 
risk and performance reporting.  The terms of 
reference of Audit and Scrutiny Committee will be 
reviewed shortly

The internal audit on performance management 
(reported to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 25 
February 2019) gave an assessment of ‘reasonable’ 
(adequate and operating effectively but some 
improvements required to ensure that risks are 
managed and process objectives achieved). 
Recommendations have been noted

In its Annual Improvement Report for 2018/19 the 
Wales Audit Office confirmed that the Authority has 
complied with its statutory improvement reporting 
duties and its statutory improvement planning duties

All financial decisions are taken in the 
public domain (except those deemed to be 
exempt under the Local Government Act 
1972)

All internal financial processes meet CIPFA 
requirements

Statement of Accounts prepared in line with 
requirements

Through webcasting its meetings the Authority 
demonstrates its good financial governance and 
decision making

In its Annual Audit Letter dated 30 November 2018 
Wales Audit Office were satisfied that the Authority 
had appropriate arrangements in place to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources

Statement of Accounts presented to the Authority 
on 21 September 2018. Wales Audit Office  issued an 
unqualified audit opinion on 25 September 2018

Pay Policy Statement The Authority adopted a pay policy statement for 
2017/18 in November 2018

External Audit arrangements are in Wales Audit Office presented its Audit Plan for 

Page 37



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           16

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
place 2018/19 to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 27 

April 2018.

Wales Audit Office attend meetings of Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee to present reports

Internal Audit arrangements are in 
place

The Authority appointed TIAA at the start of 
2018/19 and they presented an Audit Strategy and 
Plan to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 27 April 
2018.

Details of audits carried out in 2018/19 are given at 
Section 7 of this report.

Robust internal controls are in place An annual internal audit plan is presented each year 
to Audit and Scrutiny Committee and all internal and 
external audit reports are included on public agendas

An internal audit report presented to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee on 25 February 2019 gave a 
‘reasonable assurance’ for key financial controls with 
some recommendations for improvements

Annual Governance Statement Prepared annually and reviewed by the Governance 
and Member Development Working Group and 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee before approval by 
the Authority 

An Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy is 
in place in line with CIPFA Guidance 2014

Training for staff was carried out in 2017/18 but 
needs to be delivered for new staff

Managing data

A Data Protection Policy is in place and a 
designated Data Protection Officer

Modern.gov electronic committee system is 
used to produce agendas and minutes which 
give online access to the public

Internal information management protocols 
in place

The Authority processes requests under the Data 
Protection Act in line with legislation
The Data Protection Policy was updated and 
approved by the Authority in February 2019 to 
ensure compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR)

The IT User Policy was reviewed and approved by 
the Authority in February 2019

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
All public Authority and committee 
meetings are webcast, with almost all 
decisions taken in the public domain (except 
those deemed exempt under the Local 
Government Act 1972)

Webcast meetings

A second five year contract was finalised in 2018/19 

Page 38

http://breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           17

How we are meeting these principles Reviews, Improvements and Assurances
Informed decision making The Governance and Member Development Working 

Group has been reviewing agenda formats and the 
Authority is working towards a culture of more 
focused agendas with short reports and increased use 
of hyperlinks to facilitate access for members to key 
information

Improved projection in the Conference Room and 
more visual reports from officers may lessen the need 
for planning site visits

Internal and External Audit The Authority has developed a more effective 
working relationship with Wales Audit Office and 
TIAA in 2018/19, culminating in a useful workshop in 
February 2019 to examine roles and accountability in 
more detail

All audit reports are presented to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee 

The Authority has in place Service Level 
Agreements to provide services for other 
bodies and also to procure services for itself

SLAs continue with Cardiff and Carmarthenshire 
Councils for payroll and HR advice, while the 
Authority has provided financial, IT, member 
induction and secretariat services to National Parks 
UK

6. Governance Action Plan for 2019-20 (Self Evaluation)

Issue Outcome Lead 
Officer

Completion 
Date

1. New governance 
structures

Review these 
through the 
Governance and 
Member 
Development 
Working Group

Assurance that the 
structure is 
working well with 
members and 
officers working in 
partnership to 
deliver Authority 
objectives

Julia Gruffydd 
(Democratic 
Services 
Manager) 

31 March 2020

2. Member capacity 
and organisational 
memory

Ensure that the 
reduction in the 
number of 
members does not 
present a risk to 
delivering purposes 
and duty

A cohesive 
Authority able to 
fulfil its statutory 
role

Julia Gruffydd  
(Democratic 
Services 
Manager)

30 September 
2021

Page 39



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           18

3. Partnerships Undertake a 
comprehensive 
review of 
partnerships and  
projects in light of 
the partnership 
scrutiny report  
and Wales Audit 
Office report

Using the findings 
of the reports to 
improve and build 
on our partnership 
working to 
progress purposes 
and duty

Steve Gray 
(Delivery 
Director)

31 March 2020

4. Data Protection 
and Cyber 
Security

Continue to 
review 
arrangements and 
plans for 
compliance

Mitigate the risks 
from potential lack 
of compliance

Paul Funnell 
(IT & Systems 
Manager)

31March 2020

5. Future funding Keep under review 
the uncertainty of 
Brexit in terms of 
future sources of 
funding (including 
effect on core 
budget)

Continue to engage 
with Welsh 
Government and 
other potential 
funding providers

Julian Atkins 
(CEO)

31 March 2020

7. Significant Governance Issues 2018/19
No significant governance issues were highlighted by external or internal audit in 2018/19.  Reports 
received from the Wales Audit Office are referenced in the Review of Effectiveness above; a 
summary of internal audit assurances is given below:

Identified by Internal Audit Reports 2018/19
All actions agreed and will be reviewed by the Corporate Governance Team in 2019/20 

In its follow up report (presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 25 February 2019) the 
internal auditors reported that the Authority has made very good progress with the completion of 
recommendations with 71% being implemented and 7% outstanding. Three (21%) recommendations 
were not implemented as they were deemed to be no longer applicable and are therefore closed.

Audit Area Level of 
Assurance

Urgent Important Routine Total

Governance (Performance 
Management)

Reasonable 0 2 0 2

Risk Management (overview) Substantial 0 0 1 1
GDRP Reasonable 0 1 0 1
Key financial controls Reasonable 0 5 2 7
Governance (Strategic 
Control and Corporate 
Governance)

Reasonable 0 2 3 5

Project Management Reasonable 0 4 2 6

Page 40



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           19

8. Opinion

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the matters referred to in Part 6 above 
to further enhance our governance arrangements.  We are satisfied that these steps will address the 
need for any improvements identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual review.

Mr Edward Evans                                              Ms Elaine Standen
Chair, BBNPA                                                Section 151 Officer

Date:      Date:  

Page 41



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           20

Annex 1: Action against audit recommendations 2017/18

Governance /Audit 
report

Proposed improvements How we have addressed 
these

In its Annual Report 2017/18 Wales Audit Office concluded that the Authority had:

 complied with its responsibilities relating to financial reporting and use of resources
 appropriate arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources
 complied with its statutory improvement planning duties
 failed to comply with the publication date of its assessment of published 

performance assessment (The officer responsible for producing the Corporate Plan 
was on secondment to the planning directorate covering maternity leave.  The plan 
was produced under some pressure with officer capacity being severely stretched. 
The plan was published to time in 2018/19.)

 Performance assessment did not include sufficient data or information to provide a 
comparison with the previous year’s performance (improvements to process and 
reporting have been implemented in 2018/19)

While it  did not have any formal recommendations Wales Audit Office  proposed the 
following improvements:

Update March 2019

Pilot audit of Wellbeing of 
Future Generations Act 
requirements

Significant scope to make the website 
more interactive so the Authority
can show evidence of public debate 
and community impact, and
therefore encourage more
involvement;

The priority is the destination 
website given the level of public 
engagement and a live tender is 
under way. The Authority 
website will be reviewed as 
capacity allows.  The webcasting 
contract has been renewed for 
a 5 year period

Other than showing the impact on its 
Local Development Plan the Authority 
could do more to articulate what 
changes as a result of consultation;

The Authority has published 
feedback from all consultations 
via its agendas which are public 
documents, and which make 
clear the changes effected as a 
result of consultation.  It will 
continue to do this for the LDP 
and Management Plan reviews in 
2019/20 

Not always clear how effectively the 
Authority embeds corporate learning
following evaluation of initiatives; 

The Authority has planned for 
better evaluation in its project 
working by building learning 
points into the project 
completion documentation.  It 
is currently reviewing 
recommendations from the 18 
month scrutiny into 
partnerships (NPA on 9 April 
2019).  An internal audit was 

Page 42



BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           21

carried out on partnerships 
(presented to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee on 25 
February 2019)  

32 key plans and strategies have scope 
for integration and prioritising action 
to better link to available resources
and capacity within the Authority.

The governance changes 
implemented in 2018 have led 
to a more effective focus on the 
four key work areas, reflected 
in the Corporate Plan for 
2019/20.  The new Policy 
Forum is providing a vehicle for 
integrating key plans and 
strategies

Internal Audit Reports from 2017 – 18  All actions agreed by the Management Team have been 
completed and the Authority’s internal auditors, Gateway Assure, followed up on these during 2017.  
Their annual report (was presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 27 April 2018) confirmed 
that ‘’Based on the results of our follow up work, management responses and agreed implementation plans 
we believe that management have taken or planned appropriate and timely action to implement 
recommendations”.

Page 43

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13131&path=13130
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13131&path=13130


BBNPA Annual Governance Statement 2018/19                                                                                           22

Annex 2 : Update of Issues identified in the Authority’s self-evaluation in 2017/18

Issues identified in the Authority’s self-evaluation in 2017-18
Issue Proposed Action for 2018/19 Update 2019

Review and update Financial Regulations Reviewed and approved by the 
Authority on 14 December 2018

Regulatory Documents

Ensure all regulatory documents are 
updated after governance review

Terms of Reference and Scheme of 
Delegation amended and approved by 
the Authority on 21 September 2018 
and 12 February 2019 and will continue 
to be amended to reflect any changes in 
remit or structures.  Planning Protocol 
being reviewed following issues 
highlighted with the site visit process, 
and will be presented to NPA on 9 
April 2019.

Need to review and update the 
sustainable destination part of the 
website

The launch of the brand new website is 
scheduled for quarter 1 in 2019/20

Website

Identified in 2016/17 WAO report that 
the public pages of the website needed to 
be improved to take advantage of 
changing technology and increased 
bandwidth in the Park.

In light of resource available (financial 
and staffing) update planned for 2019/20

Partnerships Scrutiny Recommendations from the partnerships 
scrutiny will need to be considered once 
the final part has been published

Three elements of reports presented to 
the Authority in 2018. A paper with 
final recommendations is being 
prepared by members and will be 
presented to the Authority on 9 April 
2019

Role of Scrutiny The role of scrutiny in future will need to 
be considered once the governance 
review has been completed

Members have discussed this and will 
revisit this during the first review of the 
new governance structure in Autumn 
2019.  A member officers workshop 
held with external and internal audit in 
February 2019 concluded that a future 
model should be proportionate and 
timely

Structural Changes The structural changes at middle 
management and at Chief Officer level 
will need to be reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness

Reduction in Chief Officers posts from 
three to two, with a CEO and a 
Delivery Director.  Senior management 
structure reviewed by CEO in 2018 and 
new structure introduced from March 
2019 (with separate teams - Corporate 
Governance Team and Strategic 
Delivery Team, combining to form a 
Senior Leadership Team

Page 44



Establishment of a Welsh Language Officer Post (Part-time)

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date June 25th, 2019

Report Author Mr Julian Atkins

Job title Chief Executive

Contact Details Julian.atkins@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To agree the establishment of a Part-time Welsh Language 
Officer (0.2FTE) to ensure the Authority is meeting its 
obligations with respect to the Welsh Language and its 
published and adopted Welsh Language standards

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Welsh Language Officer Job Description

Enclosure 2:  Welsh Language Officer Person 
Specification

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) It is recommended that Members approve the 
establishment of a dedicated Welsh Language Officer 
post (0.2FTE) as set out in the report.

1.1 Introduction or Background

Members will be aware that the Authority has duties and obligations with regard to 
ensuring that it considers the Welsh Language and, in so far as it can through delivering 
against our purposes and duty, that it seeks to promote the Welsh language and Welsh 
culture through its work. Furthermore, as a public body the Authority has agreed a set 
of Welsh language standards with the Welsh Language Commissioner.  These govern 
how the Authority communicates with Welsh speaking members of the public and 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



includes advising on the publishing of any written materials. At the same time there is a 
clear expectation on the part of Welsh Government , through Valued and Resilient, that 
the Authority makes a contribution to Cymraeg 2050 and the target of reaching one 
million Welsh speakers in Wales. There is therefore not only a need to ensure that the 
Authority is complying with its own published standards at all times but also that the 
Authority is able to demonstrate how it is contributing to the wider agenda in relation 
to Welsh language and culture. Our contributions are monitored by the Commissioner 
and there is a requirement to publish an Annual Report setting out the work the 
Authority is undertaking in this area.

1.2 Proposals

Previously, the Authority has relied on the good will of staff who are committed to 
promoting the Welsh language to help deliver its responsibilities. One officer 
volunteered to act as Welsh Language Officer in return for a small honorarium but this 
arrangement has not fairly reflected the work which has needed to be undertaken in 
return, nor the responsibility involved in liaising with bodies such as the Welsh Language 
Commissioner’s Office.  In practice the Officer concerned needed to fit Welsh language 
work in around existing commitments and the honorarium involved did not reflect the 
value of the work being undertaken or the responsibilities required to discharge the 
Authority’s obligations.  The HR officer also expressed concern that the payment of 
honoraria should not be used to remunerate work responsibilities on a long-term or 
permanent basis. If a permanent or long term requirement is identified then she has 
advised, correctly, that a proper role and job description should be created and 
evaluated accordingly.

To that end, and following the resignation of the previous postholder, officers 
undertook to review the requirements of the role and a dedicated job description was 
produced and evaluated (See Enclosure 1). At the same time provision was made in the 
2019-20 budget to cover a part-time role on the basis of 1 day per week (0.2 FTE).  
While it has been difficult to estimate the amount of time required to discharge the role 
given the way the Authority has met its Welsh language requirements, it is considered 
that a part time role of one-day per week represents the minimum starting point from 
which to establish a dedicated role.

It is therefore proposed to establish the role set out here on that basis.  

Page 46



1.3 Implications

If Members approve the recommendation then a new post will be created on the 
establishment. The part-time nature of the role means the additional burden on 
resources is relatively small and has already been budgeted for.  A provision of £6,750 
has been made in this year’s budget which is sufficient to cover the gross costs of the 
post for the remainder of the year.

Experience of delivering the work on Welsh language by other means (e.g. by asking a 
member of staff to take it on as additional duties in return for an honorarium) has been 
proven not to be a long term solution and has not adequately reflected the 
responsibilities associated with the role.

1.4 Risk

If Members reject the recommendation then officers will have to consider alternative 
delivery models as the Authority needs to allocate some resources to meeting its Welsh 
language commitments.  Furthermore, the longer the Authority operates without a clear 
arrangement in place for discharging its duties then the more likelihood there is that it 
will be found wanting by the Welsh Language Commissioner or be in receipt of 
directions from the Commissioner to address any shortfalls.  There is also the possibility 
that the Authority could be the subject of a complaint from a member of the public that 
it is not discharging its duties or is not compliant with our own published standards 
regarding Welsh language matters.

1.5 Conclusion

It is important that the Authority has clear arrangements in place for meeting its 
obligations with respect to Welsh language.  It is proposed to establish a new Welsh 
Language Officer role (0.2FTE) and, if Members agree, to offer the post as a two year 
fixed term contract subject to the role being reviewed at the end of that period to 
determine if it is delivering as intended with the level of resources allocated.  Due to the 
responsibilities and level of corporate risk attached to the role, the job-evaluation 
resulted in the post being graded relatively highly.  It is therefore proposed to offer the 
role internally in the first instance as it is considered likely that an existing member of 
staff may find the role an attractive proposition. It is also proposed that the new role 
should report to the Chief Executive given the nature and profile of the work involved.

Page 47



RECOMMENDATION(S):

It is recommended that Members approve the establishment of a dedicated Welsh 
Language Officer post as set out in the report.

Page 48



Post Designation: Welsh Language Officer P/T (0.2 FTE)
Date Effective From: 1st June 2019
Grade: Grade 7
Responsible to: Chief Executive

Job Purpose:
To ensure the Authority fulfils its statutory requirements in relation to Welsh 
Language Measure 2010 and the Welsh Language Commissioner by developing 
appropriate policies and actions and reviewing guidance and legislation in order to 
advise the Authority and Corporate Management accordingly. 

1. To support colleagues across the Authority to implement the Welsh Language 
Standards, offering practical support in preparing the Compliance Strategies.

2. To provide advice and support to the Authority’s departments, senior officers 
and Members on the implementation of the Language Standards. To attend 
meetings and conduct briefings for specific departments in order to deal with 
any enquiries.

3. To prepare reports and evidence to the Welsh Language Commissioner 
Office, as appropriate including the annual monitoring report

4. To lead and advise the cross departmental Welsh Language Working Group 
and to development of a forward work programme for the group 

5. To develop and coordinate new learning and development opportunities 
including Welsh Language awareness courses

6. To monitor and address any complaints, compliments or comments in relation 
to the Welsh Language Scheme and support departments in their responses 
working in close collaboration with the Corporate Complaints & Compliments 
Team.

7. To work with the local Menter Iaith in the positive promotion of the language 
within & outside of the Authority.

8. Any other duty, appropriate to the grade and nature of the post, as required by 
the Chief Executive.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Person Specification Welsh Language Officer 

Essential Criteria Method of Assessment

Welsh Language – Fluent or Advanced Learner Application & interview

Experience of producing written reports and other material 
interpreting complex information for wider understanding

Application & interview

Experience of representing an organisation to external 
regulators/ examiners including ability to maintain records 
for external verification

Application & interview

Driving licence Application

Understanding of the work of the NPA and where Welsh the 
Welsh Language Standard applies

Application & interview

Desirable Criteria:

Experience of leading cross team projects or working 
groups

Application & interview

Experience of developing and delivering training Application & interview

Experience of working in partnership with external 
organisations

Application & interview

Experience of work with committees or other selected 
groups

Application & interview

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Officers Code of Conduct

Name of 
Committee

 NPA

Date 25th June 2019

Report Author
Elizabeth Lewis

Job title HR Officer

Contact Details 01874620426

Purpose of Report To Agree inclusions and amendments to the revised Code of 
Conduct

Single Integrated 
Assessment
List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Officers Code of Conduct

Public Interest Test

Recommendation(s) Members are asked to agree to the amendments 
contained in the document

1.1 Introduction or Background
The existing Officer Code of Conduct is due for review.  A review is been undertaken 
and some amendments have been identified as being necessary to improve clarity and 
bring the code in line with other Local Authorities Codes of Conduct.

1.2 Proposals

The Revised Code of Conduct is set out in Enclosure 1 and Members are asked to 
agree the amendments.

1.3 Implications

It is important to have an up to date officer code of conduct to ensure that Authority 
staff are clear on their responsibilities and and understand the standard of conduct 
expected  of them as officers of the Authority.

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



1.4 Risk

If the code of conduct is unclear, not kept up to date with best practice, or is not made 
available to staff, there is risk that staff will not be adhere to it which can expose the 
individual and Authority to risk. It may also undermine the Authority’s position in 
relation to any disciplinary matters.

1.5 Conclusion
The Code has been reviewed and a number of amendments have been identified as 
being necessary, in line with best practice.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

Members are asked to agree to the amendments contained in the document

Page 54



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 1 

1 
Author P FuRichard Mears Elizabeth LewisH.R Officer01. Manager 

Revision History NexNext revision due:  December 202118 

 

 
Revision 

date 

Previous 

revision date 

Summary of Changes Changes 

marked 
24/8/2006  Version 1  adopted  

7/9/2010  Update to politically restricted roles  

9/11/2011  Updates recommended by Internal Auditors to cross reference 

other policies within Officer Code of Conduct Policy 

 

19/3/2012  Revised policy to SMF 

Amendments made to: 

 Intellectual Property rights 

 Politically sensitive posts – additional posts added 

 Social media guidance added 

 

25/6/2012  Email to SMF with additional amendments  

28/6/2012  Email to SMF – final changes proposed  

27/10/2014 28/9/2012 Reviewed and updated by HR Manager  

04.12.2015  Reviewed and Updated by HR Manager  

03.04.2019  Reviewed and updated by HR Officer  

  
Approvals  

Title Date of Meeting 

National Park Authority 4/12/2015 

Corporate Management Team 22/10/2015 

Staff Consultation N/A 

Staff Management Forum 16/4/2015 

 

 
Distribution This document is made available on the RK: drive .  It was notified to all staff 

on: ****** 

 
Related 

Policies 

All other policies in sections 1, 5 and 6 of Signpost, specifically: 

 
 1.1 Disciplinary policy 

 1.2 Grievance policy 

 1.7 Harassment policy 

 1.23 Member – Officer Protocol 

 5.5 Hospitality policy 

 6.1 IT User Policychange 

 6.3 Acceptable use of email policy 

 6.6 Social Media and Online Participation Guidelineschange 

 

Formatted Table

Page 55



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 2 

1 
 

This section covers: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Who does this cover? 
 

The Code applies to all employees of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 
 

Inevitably some of the issues covered by the Code will affect senior, managerial and 

professional employees more than it will others.  The Code is intended to cover all 

employees under a contract of employment within the Authority.  Activities carried out by 

employees acting as members of companies or voluntary organisations should be subject to 

the minimum standards within this Code. 

 

* 

 

 

 

 

 

 Who does this cover? 

 Introduction          

 Status of the Code         

 Standards           

 Disclosure of Information 

 Media         

 Political Neutrality        

  

 Relationships 

 Accountability          

 Appointment and Other Employment Matters  

 Secondary Employment/Outside Commitments 

 Part Time Staff 

 Conflict of Interest 

 Use of Authority Assets 

 Copyright Ownership/IntellectualProperty Rights    

    

 Personal Interests          

 Equality Issues          

 Corruption  

 Declaration of Bribes/Threats       

   

 Use of Financial Resource        

 Hospitality           

 Sponsorship - Giving and Receiving 

 General Guidance  

 Other      
 

 

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  1.27 cm

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Page 56



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 3 

1 
 

Introduction 
 

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all employees who 

work for the Authority.  This Code outlines existing laws, regulations and conditions of 

service and provides further guidance to assist the Authority and their employees in their 

day-to-day work.  The Code is produced in the light of the challenges that employees face in 

the new and more commercially orientated environment.  This includes the introduction of 

Best Value and market testing. 

 
 

Status of the Code 
 

 The Code sets out the minimum standards that should apply.  The aim of the Code 

is to lay down guidelines for the Authority’s employees which will help maintain and improve 

standards and protect employees from misunderstanding or criticism.  It is based upon the 

Code written by the Local Government Management Board (LGMB) which has been 

approved by the Local Authority associations in England and Wales and the Local 

Government Management Board (LGMB). 

  

 

Standards 

 

 Authority employees are expected to give the highest possible 

standard of service to the public, and where it is part of their 

duties, to provide appropriate advice to Members and fellow 

employees with impartiality. All employees must comply with 

the Authority’s  Equality Policy Statement.  Employees will be 

expected, through agreed procedures and without fear of 

recrimination, to bring to the attention of the Chief 

Executiveir Director any deficiency in the provision of service.  

Employees must report to the appropriate manager any 

impropriety or breach of procedure. 

 

    1.17  Equality Policy Statement 

 

   

Disclosure of 

information 

 It is generally accepted that open government is best.  The law 

requires that certain types of information must be available to 

members, auditors, government departments, service users 

and the public.  The Authority itself may decide to be open 

about other types of information.  Employees must be aware 

of which information their Authority is and is not open about, 

and act accordingly. 

 

Employees should not use any information obtained in the 

course of their employment for personal gain or benefit, nor 

should they pass it on to others who might use it in such a 

way.  Any particular information received by an employee from 

a Member which is personal to that Member and does not 

belong to the Authority should not be divulged by the 

employee without the prior approval of that Member, except 

where such disclosure is required or sanctioned by the law. 

Formatted

Page 57



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 4 

1 
 

The duty of confidently applies to all staff in the Authority. A 

breach of confidentiality may be considered a Disciplinary 

matter. However, employees who suspect wrongdoing and 

disclose these concerns do without fear of victimisation, 

discrimination or disadvantage in line with the Authority 

whistle blowing policy 

 

       1.12  Whistle Blowing Policy 

 

 

Media 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Employees serve the Authority as a whole.  It follows they 

must serve all Members and must ensure that the individual 

rights of all Members are respected. 

 

Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow 

every lawful expressed policy of the Authority and must not 

allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere with 

their work.  See details of the politically restricted posts in 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Employees must not make statements to the Media, or 

any public statement which concerns the business of the 

Authority unless they have been authorised by the Chief 

Executive/Communications Officer to act generally as a 

spokesperson or have been expressly authorised to act as 

a spokesperson in relation to a particular situation. 

 
All communications should be agreed and distributed 

through the Chief Executive/Director of Delivery  

 

Employees must never publish or disclose any 

information on any form of social media site, about the 

Authority which is not already in the public domain. 

 

Political neutrality  Employees serve the Authority as a whole.  It follows they 

must serve all Members and must ensure that the individual 

rights of all Members are respected. 

 

Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow 

every lawful expressed policy of the Authority and must not 

allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere with 

their work.  See details of the politically restricted posts which 

can be found in in  

Appendix 1. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Formatted: Normal, Left

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Left

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Page 58



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 5 

1 
 

 

Relationships 

 

 

Members 

Employees are responsible to the Authority through their Line 

Managers and Directors.  For some, their role is to give advice 

to Members and senior managers and all are there to carry out 

the Authority’s work.  Mutual respect between employees and 

Members is essential to good local government.  Close 

personal familiarity between employees and individual 

Members can damage the relationship and prove embarrassing 

to other employees and Members and should therefore be 

avoided. Employees who enter a personal relationship with a 

Member should declare this to their Line Manger/HR 

 

                       Declaration of Interest Form. 

 

 
 

 

 

The Local Community and Service Users 

Employees should always remember their responsibilities to 

the community they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and 

impartial service delivery to all groups and individuals within 

that community as defined by the policies of the Authority. 

 

. 

Contractors 

All relationships of a business or private nature with external 

contractors, or potential contractors, should be made known 

to the Director. Orders and contracts must be awarded on 

merit, by fair competition against other tenders, and no special 

favour should be shown to businesses run by, for example, 

friends, partners or relatives in the tendering process.  No part 

of the local community should be discriminated against. 

 

EmployeesImportant: Employees who engage or supervise 

contractors or have any other official relationship with 

contractors and have previously had or currently have a 

relationship in a private or domestic capacity with contractors, 

should declare that relationship to their Chief Executive 

Director and HR ManagerOfficer and complete a declaration 

of Interest Form.  

 

 

                           Declaration of Interest Form. 

 

 

 Section 1.23 Protocol for Member and Officer 
relations 
 
ce policy 

Page 59



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 6 

1 
 

 

 

Accountability 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Employees serve the Authority as a whole.  It follows they 

must serve all Members and must ensure that the individual 

rights of all Members are respected. 

 

Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow 

every lawful expressed policy of the Authority and must not 

allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere with 

their work.  See details of the politically restricted posts in 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

  

All employees are responsible for their actions during the 

normal working day and outside working hours if it brings the 

Authority into disrepute.  

 

The public perception of the Authority is importasnt and 

therefore employee should be suitable dressed for their duties 

and responsibility at all times. This include wearing appropriate 

PPE in accordance with health and Safety Standards.  

 

To prevent security breaches the Authority has a card 

identification for all employees and are expected to have their 

ID with them at all times and if challenged are required to 

show the ID to confirm their identity. 

Appointment and 

other employment 

matters 

 Employees involved in appointments should ensure that 

TThese are made on the basis of merit.  It would be  

unlawful for an employee to make an appointment which  

was based on anything other than the ability of the  

candidate to undertake the duties of the post.  In order to  

avoid any possible accusation of bias, employees should  

not be involved in an appointment where they are related  

to an applicant, or have a close personal relationship  

outside work with him or her. 

 

It is a requirement of all job applicants to declare whether they 

 are related to an existing employee or Member of the 

 Authority. 

 

Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions 

relating to discipline, promotion or pay adjustments for any 

other employee who is a relative, partner, etc. 

   

Outside Secondary 

Employment 

/Outside 

Commitments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The code is applicable to all persons employed by the 

Authority on whatever basis including secondment, 

temporary assignments and work with voluntary 

organisations or trusts, or as a board member of arms-

length voluntary organisations or trusts, or of a direct 

service organisation. I 

Important: It extends to additional or dual employment 

that has been secured as a result of working for the 

Authority. 

Employees of all grades should not undertake outside 

work if their official duties overlap in some way with their 

proposed work and it causes a conflict of interest, or if it 

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Page 60



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 7 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part Time Staff 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

makes use of material to which the employee has access 

by virtue of his or her position (for example, a planner 

who draws up plans within his or her own authority for 

an applicant for planning consent).  It is irrelevant 

whether the work is paid. 

 

All cases of secondary employment or outside 

working/voluntary commitments must be notified to HR 

and, if deemed necessary, be discussed with their Line 

Manager and Chief Executive. 

 

Part Time Staff 

 

The general requirement that you devote your whole 

time service to the work of the Authority and not engage 

in any other business or take up additional employment 

(paid or unpaid) is waived to allow you to find gainful 

employment in your non-working days for the Authority, 

however, it is important that you must adhere to the 

principles if there is a conflict of interest and the use of 

intellectual property. 

 
Some employees have conditions of service which require 

them to obtain written consent to take any outside 

employment.   

IMPORTANT: All employees should be clear about their 

contractual obligations and should not take outside 

employmentsecondary employment which conflicts with the 

Authority’s interests. 

 

Declaration of Interest Form 

 

Conflicts of interest. 

 

As an employee you must not misuse your position or any 

information obtained in the course of employment to further 

your own interests or the interests of others who do not have 

the benefit under the Authority policies, Such misuse use might 

result in Disciplinary action.  A conflict can arise if your 

outside activities interests influence or interfere with the 

decisions you make in the course of your work for the 

Authority, or appear to or could be perceived to influence or 

interfere with the decisions you make in the course of you 

work. Within this context, outside activities, private, personal 

or financial interests include those that you or a family 

member may have. 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 61



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 8 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Use of Authority 

Assets 

 

Examples: 

You, a family member, or personal contact own property, or 

intend to buy property, the value or purchase price of which 

may be affected by a decision or recommendation that you are 

involved in making, in the course of employment. 

 

You have access to information at work which may assist or be 

perceived as assisting you in a private venture. 

 

You use Authority systems/contacts to obtain materials for 

your own use at a preferential price. 

  

You are involved in making a purchasing decision involving 

external suppliers/contractors and you, or family member, or a 

personal contact has an interest (financial or otherwise) in one 

of the potential suppliers/contractors. 

 

Employees should follow the Authority’s rules on the 

ownership of intellectual property or copyright created during 

their employment. 

 

Specifically, rights to any and all intellectual property created 

during the term of employment shall reside with the Authority.  

This includes, but is not restricted to, written work, graphic 

design, software code, databases and business processes.  

Further, employees waive all moral rights to be identified as 

the author of such intellectual property and to its accurate 

representation. 

 

Employees should make their line manager aware of any 

innovative piece of work that they produce which may relate 

to the work of the Authority or their role within the 

Authority. 

 

Declaration of Interest Form 

  

Signpost/Corporate/HR/HR Forms/Declaration of Interest 

Form 

 

 

 

No outside work of any sort should be undertaken in the 

office nor make use of any Authority resources e.g. 

telephones, photocopier, and colleague time.  

Correspondence and incoming telephone calls related to 

outside work are not allowed. 
 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 62



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 9 

1 
 

   

Copyright/ 

Ownership/ 

Intellectual Rights 

 Employees should follow the Authority’s rules on the 

ownership of intellectual property or copyright created during 

their employment. 

 

Specifically, rights to any and all intellectual property created 

during the term of employment shall reside with the Authority.  

This includes, but is not restricted to, written work, graphic 

design, software code, databases and business processes.  

Further, employees waive all moral rights to be identified as 

the author of such intellectual property and to its accurate 

representation. 

 

These rules apply irrespective of whether the work has been 

done alone or with another person or persons.  

 

Employees should make their line manager aware of any 

innovative piece of work that they produce which may relate 

to the work of the Authority or their role within the 

Authority. 

 

 Declaration of Interest Form 

 

   

Personal interests  Employees must declare to an appropriate manager any non-

financial interests that they consider could bring about conflict 

with the Authority’s interests. 

 

Employees must declare to their Directorthe Chief  

andExecutive and HR OfficerManager any financial interests 

which could conflict with the Authority’s interests. 

 

Any employee facing criminal charges should notify the Chief 

Executive without delay, with the exception of minor driving 

offences if their job does not include a car. This applies to 

charges incurred on or off duty, 

 

Drug and Alcohol Misuse 

The Authority has a policy of Drug and Alcohol Policy which is 

aimed at ensuring that employees report fit for work and 

remain fit to perform duties. The consumption of Alcohol is 

not permitted on the Authority premises and prohibits the 

use, possession, distribution or sale of drugs. 

 

Employees should declare to their Directorthe Chief  

andExecutive and HR OfficerManager membership of any 

organisation not open to the public without formal 

membership and commitment of allegiance and which has 

secrecy about rules or membership or conduct. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 63



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 10 

1 
Financial Interests 

Employees must declare to the Monitoring Officer or Section 

151 Officer any financial or non-financial interests that they 

consider could bring them into conflict with the Authority’s 

interests. 

 

Employees are required to declare an interest if it comes to 

their attention that they have a connection or potential 

connection with any business or organisation which deals with 

the Authority, e.g. a relative is a supplier. 

 

Employees must never publish or disclose any information on 

any form of social media site, about the Authority which is not 

already in the public domain. 

 

 /Declaration of Interest Form 

Declaration of Interest Form 

 

   

Equality issues  All the Authority’s employees should ensure that policies 

relating to equality issues as agreed by the Authority are 

complied with in addition to the requirements of the law.  All 

members of the local community, customers and other 

employees have a right to be treated with fairness and equity. 

   

Corruption  Employees must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence 

for them corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward 

or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything or showing 

favour, or disfavour, to any person in their official capacity.  If 

an allegation is made and substantiated through evidence you 

will be required to demonstrate to the Authority that any such 

rewards have not been corruptly obtained.  

   

Declaration of Bribes 

/Threats 

 Employees must disclose to the appropriate manager, details of 

any threats, offers ort bribes made to them by: 

 

Any person under the supervision of the service, or made on 

behalf of such a person, which the intention of securing some 

advantage. 

 

Any person attempting to secure some advantage on behalf of 

themselves, others or their company in connection with 

dealings with the Authority. 

   

Use of Financial 

Resources 

 Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to 

them in a responsible and lawful manner.  They should strive 

to ensure value for money to the local community and to 

avoid legal challenge to the Authority. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Italic, Font color: Red

Formatted Table

Page 64



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 11 

1 
Finance Procedures Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy  

   

Hospitality  Employees should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a 

genuine need to impart information or represent the Authority 

in the community.  Offers to attend purely social or sporting 

functions should be accepted only when these are part of the 

life of the community or where the Authority should be seen 

to be represented.  They should be properly authorised and 

recorded through a register maintained by the PA to the Chief 

Executive. 

 

When hospitality has to be declined those making the offer 

should be courteously but firmly informed of the procedures 

and standards operating within the Authority.  The offer 

should also be recorded in the register maintained by PA to 

the Chief Executive 

 

Employees should not accept significant personal gifts from a 

Member, contractors and outside suppliers, although the 

Authority may wish to allow employees to keep insignificant 

items of token value such as pens, diaries, etc.  but  your 

Director  shouldLine Manager  should be consulted on any 

such insignificant items. 

 

When receiving authorised hospitality employees should be 

particularly sensitive as to its timing in relation to decisions 

which the Authority may be taking affecting those providing 

the hospitality. 

 

Acceptance by employees of hospitality through attendance at 

relevant conferences and courses is acceptable where it is 

clear the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, where 

the Authority gives consent in advance and where the 

Authority is satisfied that any purchasing decisions are not 

compromised.  Where visits to inspect equipment, etc. are 

required, employees should ensure that the Authority meets 

the cost of such visits to avoid jeopardising the integrity of 

subsequent purchasing decisions. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Section 5.5. Hospitality 
 
ce policy 

Page 65



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 12 

1 
Sponsorship - Giving 

and Receiving 

 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking 

to sponsor an Authority activity, whether by invitation, tender, 

negotiation or voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning 

acceptance of gifts or hospitality apply.  Particular care must be 

taken when dealing with contractors or potential contractors. 

 

Where the Authority wishes to sponsor an event or service 

neither an employee nor any partner, spouse or relative must 

benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way without there 

being full disclosure to the appropriate Director of any such 

interest.  Similarly, where the Authority through sponsorship, 

grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the 

community, employees should ensure that impartial advice is 

given and that there is no conflict of interest involved. 

   

Other  The Code of Conduct is available to all employees throughout 

the Authority and should be issued to all new recruits as part 

of their induction.  In addition, any updates to the Code will be 

communicated to all employees. 

 

Employee are required to acknowledge in writing they have 

read this Code and that they fully understand the principles of 

the guidance given. Any employee who is in doubt about any 

aspect of the Code should seek guidance from their line 

manager or HR. 

 

The Code will be subject to regular review. Any amendments 

with be made in consultation with Trade Unions and Staff 

Representatives. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 13 

1 
 

 

Further references:  

 
All employees of the National Park Authority should read and familiarise themselves with 

the following policies in Signpost: 

 

Whistleblowing policy     Signpost 1.12 

Use of Mobile Phone policy    Signpost 5.1 

Use of Authority Vehicles policy   Signpost 5.4 

Hospitality policy     Signpost 5.5 

IT User Policy      Signpost 6.1 

Acceptable use  of Email policy    Signpost 6.3 

Social Media and Online Participation Guidelines  Signpost 6.6 
 

 

Formatted: Font color: Red

Page 67



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 14 

1 
Appendix 1.  (Adopted at Corporate Resources CommitteeNational Park Authority 

Committee 6th May 2005   )  

 

List of politically restricted posts 
 

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 imposes restrictions on the political activities of certain 

local government staff by providing that those staff who hold politically restricted posts are prevented 

from standing for election or otherwise becoming a member of a local authority, a Member of 

Parliament, a Member of the National Assembly for Wales or a member of the European Parliament.  

Such postholderspost holders must also not act as election agents, be an officer etc. of a political 

party involved in general management of the party or branch or canvass on behalf of a political party 

or candidate.  They are also prevented from speaking to the public with the apparent intention of 

affecting support for a political party and publishing any work intended to affect public support for a 

political party.   

 

When staff are using social media you need to take into consideration the guidance provided by the 

Authority and utilise any relevant functionality of the particular platform you are engaged with to 

ensure you do not breach this policy, e.g. privacy settings, group memberships, etc. 

 

 
 

 

 

There are two categories of politically restricted posts.  These are 
 

aA). Those posts specified in the Act 
 
 

b).  Sensitive posts i.e. those posts whose duty involves giving advice on a regular basis to the 

Authority, a committee or sub-committee or speaking on behalf of the Authority on a regular basis to 

journalists or broadcasters. 
 

The Authority is obliged to prepare and maintain a list of such posts.  Having regard to the current 

staff structure it would appear that the following are the politically restricted posts within each 

category 

 

a) Specified posts 

Chief Executive  

Monitoring Officer 

Section 151 Officer 

Director of PlanningDelivery 

Finance Manager and Section 151 OfficerDirector of Countryside & Land Management 

Head of Planning and Heritage 

 

 

 

b) Sensitive posts 

Head of Planning and Heritage 

Planning & Heritage Manager 

Principal Planning Officers  

Senior Planning Officers  

Planning Officers  

Senior Heritage Officer 

Enforcement Officers 

 

Conservation Natural Resources Manager 

Senior Ecologist and Climate Adaptation Officer 

Funding Development Officer 

6.6 Social Media guidance Formatted: Font color: Red

Page 68



                            

              Employment principles 
            1.20  Code of Conduct for employees 
 

1.20 v.3 10/06/1916/01/19 15 

1 
Commercial Manager 

Sustainable Tourism Manager 

Sustainable Communities Manager 

 

Democratic Services Manager 

Public Engagement  Manager 

Communications Officer 

PR & Events Officer 

Human Resources ManagerOfficer 

IT & Systems Manager 

Finance Manager 

 

 

 

Notes: 

With effect from 12 January 2010 politically restricted posts fall into two broad categories: specified posts 

and sensitive posts.  

a) Specified posts:  

 the Head of the Paid Service (HoPS) (s4 LGHA)  

 the statutory chief officers, (including the director of children’s services and director of adult social 

services in England, and  the chief education officer and director of social services in Wales, the chief 

officer of a fire brigade, the chief finance officer (s.151 LGA 1972)  

 non-statutory chief officers (officers reporting to the HoPS excluding secretarial/clerical support staff)  

 deputy chief officers (officers reporting to a Chief Officer excluding secretarial/clerical support staff)   

 the monitoring officer (s 5 LGHA  

 officers exercising delegated powers, i.e. persons whose posts are for the time being specified by the 

authority in a list maintained in accordance with s 100G(2) of the LGA 1972   

 assistants to political groups  

All these post holders are politically restricted without rights of appeal for exemption to the local 

authority’s standards committee (in England) or to the Independent Adjudicator to Local Authorities in 

Wales 

b)  Sensitive' posts  

A sensitive post is one which meets one or both of the following duties-related criteria:  

 giving advice on a regular basis to the authority itself, to any committee or sub-committee of the 

authority or to any joint committee on which the authority are represented; or where the authority are 

operating executive arrangements, to the executive of the authority; to any committee of that executive; 

or to any member of that executive who is also a member of the authority  

 speaking on behalf of the authority on a regular basis to journalists or broadcasters.  Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25 cm, Hanging:  0.81 cm

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Secondment Policy

Name of 
Committee

 NPA

Date 25th June 2019

Report Author
Elizabeth Lewis

Job title HR Officer

Contact Details 01874 620426

Purpose of Report Introducing a new policy

Single Integrated 
Assessment
List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Proposed Secondment Policy

Public Interest Test

Recommendation(s) a)To agree the Secondment Policy

1.1 Introduction or Background
It is noted that the Authority does not currently have an adopted policy on 
secondments. The use of secondments has increased over the last few years and as such 
a policy is required which provides guidance to staff and Line Managers. 

1.2 Proposals

Enclosure 1 sets out the proposed secondment policy and Members’ views are sought 
on the new policy as drafted.  If adopted the policy will be added to the suite of policies 
on signpost – the Authority’s digital HR document repository.

1.3 Implications

A policy is needed to ensure the correct processes are followed.

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



1.4 Risk

Having an adopted policy in place will help prevent the incorrect or inappropriate use of 
secondments where the Authority is wishing to deploy staff more flexibly.

1.5 Conclusion

The lack of a policy has been identified as a weakness and a policy has been drafted to fill 
the gap in guidance.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

Members are asked to agree the new Secondment Policy

Page 72



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
                           

This section covers:

Who oes this Cover?

This policy covers all established and non-established NJC employees including 
seasonal, casual, fixed term and temporary posts.

What is the Policy?

A Secondment is the temporary transfer or temporary “loan” of an employee to other 
duties, responsibilities or projects with an agreed end date. When the agreed 
secondment period comes to an end the employee will resume their substantive post 
within their original employing department or agree a further period of secondment.
 
Secondment is not to be confused with temporary movement into a higher band. Nor 
is it to be confused with an agreement between the manager and individual for that 
individual to undertake a time limited piece of work or project, which is 
commensurate with their grade and skills or experience, etc.

There are many benefits arising from secondments opportunities to the Authority and 
our employees, these include: 

 enabling transfer of employees to areas requiring short-term or 
temporary resource; strengthening a culture of flexibility, e.g. to sustain 
standards of service provision by covering periods of long term 
sickness, maternity leave or career break, etc.

 Retention of Staff;
 Directing expertise where it is most needed; 
 Supporting “joined up” working and service improvement through cross 

Authority or partnership work experience of the seconded employees; 
 supporting employee development both professionally and personally 

and flexibility of employment; 

 Who does this cover?
 What is the policy?
 The aims and objectives of the policy
 Principles of the Policy
 Eligibility
 Types of Secondment
 Duration of Secondment
 Application for Secondment
 Secondment Decision
 Fixed Term and Temporary approved secondments
 Financial Considerations
 Managing the Secondment Relationship
 Redundancy
 Managing the Secondee’s return

Page 73



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
The Aims and Objectives of the Policy

To provide clear advice, support and guidance to managers and employees 
regarding their role(s) in managing the secondment approval process and the 
subsequent management of processes related to the said secondment.
 
To provide a cost effective, fair and equitable method of providing employees with 
work experience and development opportunities outside of their normal area of work 
and/or ensuring that the short to medium term staffing needs for service provision are 
in place.

Principles of the Policy

 Where an application for a secondment has been made in accordance with the 
recruitment and selection procedure every effort will be made if the employee is 
successful to grant a request, however, there may be occasions where despite 
satisfying the criteria, an employee cannot be granted a secondment. In 
circumstances where a secondment cannot be supported, the line manager should 
discuss with the employee other opportunities which are available to achieve 
personal and professional development objectives. 

Eligibility All employees are required to have completed at least six 
months satisfactory service with the Authority. 

A permanent employee who makes an application for a 
fixed term or temporary post internally will automatically be 
considered on a secondment basis; 

 Secondments should be for a minimum of 3 months 
and should not in normal circumstances exceed 24 
months duration. This timescale will largely depend 
on the purpose of the secondment. The timescale 
agreed should reflect and take into account of the 
service delivery needs of the secondee’s employing 
department and team, and the period of secondment 
must be clearly defined in the secondment 
agreement signed by all parties;

 It is essential that all parties are clear about their 
obligations, expectations and accountabilities before 
the secondment commences. 

Please note the Authority’s Secondment Policy should be 
used as guidance in instances where an external parent 
organisation is seconding an individual to work within the 
Authority and that organisation does not have their own 
secondment policy.

Page 74



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
 

Types of 
Secondment

Internal secondments: Sideways moves - this relates to 
a secondment from an established post to a post on the 
same grade in the same or a different directorate; 

Internal Secondments: Promotions – this relates to a 
secondment to a higher grade and/or offering an 
opportunity to develop at a higher level; 

External/outgoing secondments: to partner 
organisations - where the Authority will remain the 
employer and therefore the secondee will continue to be 
subject to the Authority’s policies and procedures; 

External/Incoming secondments: from partner 
organisations - where the Authority is the host not the 
employer. 

N.B Secondments may be full time or part time and can 
take place on a job share basis. 

Duration of 
Secondment

A secondment by its nature is temporary. 

The maximum period of a secondment is normally twenty 
four  months. 

Managers may consider extending the period of 
secondment provided that there are operational reasons 
for doing so and to ensure that the organisation continues 
to best use the skills and experience available to it. 
Managers should also consider whether it is more 
appropriate for the post to become a permanent position 
rather than an extension to the secondment.

If it is agreed that an extension of the secondment is more 
appropriate this should be agreed between all parties and 
the secondment agreement updated to reflect the new 
end date. The manager of the secondee in the host 
department must discuss the proposed extension of 
secondment with the manager of the original parent 
department and seek advice from a HR on the contractual 
implications of agreeing an extension to a secondment, 
prior to confirming an extension of the secondment with 
the employee. 

Where the extension is agreed this must be reviewed on a 
regular basis no more than every three months.

Page 75



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
Application for 
Secondment

Employees should discuss and seek permission to apply 
for a secondment at the earliest opportunity from their 
line manager before applying for the post. 

Approval will be required from the line manager to 
ensure the employee can be released from their current 
post on a secondment basis.
 
Considerations for line managers: 

 Has the secondment opportunity been 
identified as appropriate in the personal 
development plan for the employee?

 What is the development value to be 
gained by the employee during the 
secondment period? 

  What are the benefits to our organisation 
as a result of the secondment? 

 What’s the feasibility of releasing an 
employee whose skills, knowledge and 
experience may not be replicable to cover 
during a temporary period of absence? 

 What will be the consequence of not 
supporting the secondment? 

 Will the employee’s substantive post still be 
available at the end of the secondment? 

Line managers should consider if and how the 
secondee’s post will be filled before their secondment is 
agreed and begins. Advice can be sought from HR, 
however posts can be filled as follows:
 

 Recruiting and appointing a temporary employee 
through the Authority’s Recruitment and Selection 
process; 

 An existing employee “acting up” in the post, until 
the seconded employee returns to work (See 
below*); or 

 The post occupied by the seconded employee will 
be left vacant. In this instance line managers will 
have to consider the impact on the workload of 
the team, how duties can be undertaken in the 
secondee’s absence or whether elements of the 
work can be left until the secondee returns. 

Page 76



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1

* If “acting up” arrangements are considered care must be 
exercised to determine how individuals are identified to be 
eligible for this development opportunity. Advice should 
be sought from the HR Support Team to ensure equality 
of opportunity. It is good practice to invite expressions of 
interest from all employees within the relevant 
division/department, as appropriate.

Secondment 
Decision

This policy must be applied consistently to all 
irrespective of race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national 
origins, language, disability, religion, belief or non-belief, 
age, sex, gender reassignment, sexual orientation, 
parental, marital or civil partnership status.
 
Approved Secondments
 
Managers should consider a number of factors when 
agreeing to release a member of staff including: 

 Development needs arising out of individual 
performance reviews and development plans 

 Previous requests for secondment 
 Exigencies of the Service 

When a secondment has been agreed the employee’s 
line manager from the parent department and line 
manager from the host department/organisation should 
meet to discuss the management arrangements of the 
secondee. This will help clarify, e.g. when the employee 
can be released from their post to commence the 
secondment, day to day supervision, appraisal, etc. 

It is recognised that there may be reluctance by the line 
manager of the parent department to release the 
secondee until after the vacated post has been filled; 
therefore a recommended time period of up to four 
weeks is given for releasing the employee. 

Page 77



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1

Declined Secondments

There may, however, be service or operational 
requirements which lead to an application for release 
being declined. Where the line manager turns down a 
secondment application the employee will be notified in 
writing by the manager of the reasons for this decision, 
the employee can request a review of the decision. 

This must be undertaken at the earliest opportunity 
following the decision by the line manager. 

The employee should make a written request to review 
the decision to the appropriate Chief Executive or 
Director of Delivery. 

The employee should set out the grounds for the review 
within seven calendar days upon receipt of the written 
notice of the decision. 

The Chief Executive or Director of Delivery will carry out 
a review of the decision within fourteen calendar days of 
receipt of the request to review from the employee. 

The decision of the Chief Executive or Director of 
Delivery will be final, and should be notified to the 
employee in writing within seven calendar days of the 
completion of the review. 

Refusals may be made on objective business grounds, 
e.g; 

 Burden of additional cost to the business 
 Inability to meet service needs 
 Inability to organise work with available staff 
 Detrimental impact on quality 
 Detrimental impact on performance 

Page 78



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
FIXED TERM OR 
TEMPORARY 
EMPLOYEES 
APPROVED 
SECONDMENTS

Where a fixed term or temporary employee applies for 
and is successful in obtaining a secondment opportunity 
and the fixed-term or temporary contract is due to expire 
before the end of the secondment, the following applies: 

 The line manager from the parent department is 
responsible for arranging to meet with the 
employee in advance of the required contractual 
notice to explain the reasons and commence the 
process for ending the temporary/fixed term 
contract; 

 The same manager is responsible for discussing 
the contract status of the employee with the line 
manager in the host department and is 
responsible for transferring the secondee into the 
seconded post for a fixed term period until the end 
of the agreed secondment period. 

Financial 
Considerations

Financial considerations should be discussed by the line 
managers of the employee’s parent department and host 
department/organisation in advance as part of the 
approval process and agreed before the secondment 
begins, i.e. who is going to fund the salary, on-costs and 
replacement cover of the employee whilst on 
secondment?
 
There are a number of options depending on the type of 
secondment, the potential benefits to the employee, the 
parent/host department and/or the Authority. 

Host Department Funds 

In this case the host department/organisation is the 
greatest beneficiary from the secondment and is 
therefore responsible for paying the employee’s salary 
and on-costs. This is likely to occur where there is no 
likely business benefit to be gained by the department 
releasing the secondee to the host 
department/organisation. 

Parent and Host Department Part Fund 

The parent department will pay an agreed portion of the 
employee’s salary and on-costs. This is likely to be the 
case where the secondment will benefit both the parent 
department and the host department/organisation. 

Page 79



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1

Additional 
Financial 
Considerations

Parent Department Funds 

The parent department will continue to pay the 
employee’s salary and on-costs. This is likely to occur in 
cases where the secondment will be of substantial 
benefit to the employee and the Authority. 
Managers are advised to seek advice from the 
appropriate Group Accountant. 

Additional Financial Considerations
If an employee is seconded into a post evaluated at a 
higher grade s/he will receive the appropriate salary for 
the duration of the secondment. 

Managing the 
Secondment 
Relationship

Day to day line management responsibility of the 
secondee is held with the line manager in the host 
department/employer. 

Where the employee is seconded to an external 
organisation, the overall management of the 
seconded employee remains the responsibility of the 
Authority. 

If issues of discipline, capability, sickness absence, 
behavioural standards or grievance occur during the 
secondment period then the host 
department/organisation must ensure that issues of 
concern are discussed with the employee and the 
parent department at the earliest opportunity. 

It is the responsibility of the line manager from the 
parent departmentto instigate the appropriate 
Authority procedure. 

It is important that the line managers from the parent 
and host department meet with the secondee on a 
regular basis to review the secondment during the 
secondment period. This will enable clear 
communication, the agreement of objectives during 
the secondment, the support to be offered to the 
secondee and to ensure any concerns can be 
addressed at the earliest opportunity so parties 
benefit from the secondment experience.

Redundancy 

Page 80



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1

If a restructure or redundancy situation arises that 
impacts on the seconded employee’s substantive 
post, it is the responsibility of the line manager from 
the parent department ensure the employee is 
communicated and consulted on the implications in 
line with the Authority’s Redundancy Policy, as 
appropriate. The secondee’s substantive post shall 
be kept open. If it is not possible to keep the 
secondee’s substantive post open alternative 
employment of an equivalent grade, type and status 
will be sought at the end of the secondment, firstly 
within the same directorate before looking 
organisation wide. 

If an extension to the secondment is sought, the 
issue of the secondee’s substantive post being kept 
open on their return should be an integral part of the 
decision to extend. If it is not possible to keep the 
post open beyond the duration of the current 
secondment the employee should be given the 
opportunity to return to their substantive post at that 
time. 

.

Managing the 
Secondee’s Return

A secondment may be terminated early by the 
agreement of all parties.

Page 81



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1

 
The secondment will terminate at the end of the 
agreed period and the employee will then return to 
their substantive post or, to a post on a grade and 
salary commensurate with his/her original post. 

It is the responsibility of the line manager from the 
parent department to plan for the reorientation of the 
secondee when s/he returns to their substantive 
post. It is recommended that a ****** appraisal 
meeting is arranged to evaluate the learning 
experience gained during the secondment and 
explore how any new skills and experience can be 
best utilised in his/her substantive role. 

Line managers should consider the following: 
 Ensure an appropriate reinduction is carried 

out to cover any changes in policies and 
procedures; 

 Review the employee’s role profile to ensure 
it accurately reflects the requirements on 
return from secondment, e.g. changes in 
working practices; 

 Explain changes to individual and team work 
priorities and projects; 

 Ensure the appropriate transfer forms are 
completed so the appropriate salary is paid to 
the employee on return to the parent 
department. 

If there is a business case for the post that the 
secondee occupies to be appointed to on a 

Page 82



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
Appointment of the 
Secondee to the 
Post on a 
Permanent Basis 

permanent basis the appointment should normally be 
managed through the Authority’s Recruitment and 
Selection procedure, ensuring the post is advertised, 
applicants shortlisted and interviewed if they meet 
the criteria for the post. 

If the secondee applies and is successfully 
appointed to the post, the secondee will be required 
to give notice to his/her substantive post as detailed 
in the terms and conditions of employment. If the 
secondee is not successful then the host Department 
is required to give notice to the secondee who will 
return to their substantive post within the Authority. 

There may however be exceptional instances when 
a post which has been advertised as a secondment 
opportunity may for operational reasons need to 
become a permanent position. In such 
circumstances the Authority reserves the right, 
having regard to the necessary skills and experience 
for the role, to appoint the seconded employee to the 
post without a further recruitment process being 
undertaken and following agreement with the Chief 
Executive.

Page 83



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1
Terms and 
Conditions During 
Secondment

All secondment arrangements will require a variation 
to the contract of the secondee. HR will issue the 
variation once the secondment has been agreed and 
the team have been notified of the transfer. 
The line manager in the host 
department/organisation is responsible for 
authorising annual leave in secondment 
arrangements but subject to annual leave entitlement 
laid down in the employee’s terms and conditions of 
employment. 
It should be made clear to the employee that at the 
end of the agreed secondment s/he will have the 
right to return to their substantive post. 

Hours of work will be as stated in the employee 
contract of employment. 

The employee continues to be paid through the 
Authority payroll and pension contributions deducted, 
as appropriate. 

The employment policies of the Authority continue to 
apply to an employee when on secondment with an 
external organisation, including the Sickness 
Absence Policy, Disciplinary Policy, and Grievance 
Policy. 

Continuous service will continue to accrue during the 
secondment period.

The employee, parent department and/or host 
department/organisation can terminate the 
secondment. A notice period of one four weeks is to 
be given to all parties. This notice must be given in 
writing. 

Any breaches of terms and conditions of the 
secondment policy by an employee may invoke 
disciplinary procedures or may lead to termination of 
the secondment. 

Page 84



              Employment Principles
             ** Secondment Policy (NJC Employees)1

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Amendments to the Authority’s Scheme of Delegation and 
Adjustments to the Sign Off limits

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date June 25th, 2019

Report Author Mr Julian Atkins

Job title Chief Executive

Contact Details Julian.atkins@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To amend to the Authority’s Scheme of Delegation to take 
account of the new National Park Delivery Director role, 
changes in operational management structures, and the 
transition towards an Integrated Assurance Framework for 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

The report also requires some consequential amendments to 
the Authority’s Financial Regulations with respect to the sign 
off limits proposed to ensure alignment across the two 
regulatory documents.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Proposals concern the internal administration of the 
Authority and are neutral in governance terms.  The Changes 
proposed to sign off limits are likely to have a positive effect 
on the efficient administration of the Authority’s financial 
affairs.

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1:  Proposed changes to the Authority’s 
Scheme of Delegation

Enclosure 2:    Consequential changes to the 
Authority’s Financial Regulations

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) It is recommended that Members:

a) Approve the amendments to the Scheme of 
Delegation  and Financial Regulations as set out in 

Page 87

Agenda Item 11



the report and enclosures

b) Approve the adjustments to financial sign off limits 
for named Senior Officers as set out in the report

1.1 Introduction

In operating the Authority’s approved Scheme of Delegation since the arrival of the Authority’s 
new National Park Delivery Director, and following the recent operational management 
changes introduced at the start of March, it has become clear that there is a need to amend the 
Authority’s Scheme of Delegation to further improve the efficiency, effectiveness and clarity of 
the Authority’s decision-making processes. 

The need to amend the Scheme of Delegation also presents an opportunity to review the 
financial sign off limits for key officers in light of considering what sign off limit should be 
appropriate for the National Park Delivery Director.  This will ensure that the levels are 
appropriate and commensurate with the efficient and timely management of the Authority’s 
financial affairs.

1.2 Proposals

Officers have reviewed the Scheme of Delegation currently approved and identified further 
improvements.  It is therefore proposed that the current Scheme of Delegation (Enclosure 1) 
is amended as follows:

National Park Authority

1. That Parts V, VI and VII of the Scheme (use of Authority land and property management 
respectively) are amended to incorporate the National Park Delivery Director and 
Corporate Governance Team.

Rationale:  There is a need to assign clear, delegated responsibilities for the National Park 
Delivery Director role and the new Corporate Governance Team.

2. That the powers conferred under Part IX (submission and acceptance of grant 
applications) be clarified

Rationale:  The work being undertaken by Policy Forum and the Leadership Group to 
revise the Authority’s priorities requires clearer authorization arrangements in relation to 
grant funding applications.

Page 88



3. That the Scheme of Delegation clarifies the process for considering and agreeing BBNPA 
involvement in and endorsement of Partnerships and Sponsorship opportunities 
negotiated by National Parks Partnerships LLP (NPP) on behalf of the 15 UK National 
Parks.

Rationale:  A clear mechanism is needed to enable Chief Officers to respond to proposals 
from NPP quickly while also allowing Members the opportunity to call-in any proposed 
Partnership/Sponsorship arrangement for further discussion.

Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee

4. That the powers under Part VI of the Scheme (Definitive Map management and 
protection of public rights of way) be assigned to the National Park Delivery Director.

Rationale:  The powers under Part VI are exercised more frequently but these are used to 
make decisions in relation to uncontentious Public Rights of Way matters and to 
discharge the Authority’s obligations under the Rights of Way Delegation agreements.  

Senior Officer sign off Limits

The National Park Delivery Director post does not currently have an agreed sign-off limit. The 
previous Chief Officer posts (Director of Countryside & Land Management and Director of 
Planning) had financial authority up to a limit of £50,000: half that of the Chief Executive.  These 
limits have remained unchanged for a least the last 10 years and the need to assign a limit to the 
Delivery Director role presents an opportunity to review whether the limits remain 
appropriate and are structured accordingly.  It is considered that a case also exists to increase 
the limits to take into account inflation in the cost of goods and services.  For example, and 
using an average annual inflation rate of 2.5%, the purchasing power of £100,000 ten years ago 
is equivalent to approximately £128,000 today.

The thinking behind the governance and operational management changes introduced over the 
last six months is also to improve the effectiveness and focus of the Authority’s delivery against 
its purposes and duty and ensuring that the Authority’s financial sign-off arrangements are 
efficient and fit for purpose is an important component in order to ensure decisions and 
authorisations are taken at the most appropriate level.

It is therefore proposed to amend sign off limits as follows:

Page 89



Job Title Current Limit Proposed Change

Chief Executive £100,000 1 £ 125,000

National Park Delivery Director - £   75,000

Finance Manager/S.151 Officer £50,000 **2 £   75,000

Planning Policy Manager £10,000 £   30,000

Natural Resources Manager £20,000 £   30,000

Public Engagement Manager £10,000 £   30,000

Sustainable Development Manager £10,000 £   30,000

1.3 Implications

The amendments proposed to delegated powers ensure business arrangements align with the 
new Chief Officer restructure.

The changes proposed to the sign off limits for Senior Officers are proposed to be permanent 
changes to aid the efficient operation of the Authority and the prompt payment of suppliers.

In order to effect the proposed changes to sign-off limits there is also a need to make 
consequential amendments to the Authority’s Financial Regulations to ensure the two 
regulatory documents are consistent. These consequential amendments are set out in 
Enclosure 2. 

1.4 Risk

Retention of the existing Scheme of Delegation will prevent timely operational decisions from 
being made and will restrict the ability of the Chief Executive and National Park Delivery 
Director to do the job and create the need to report some operational matters requiring a 
decision to NPA and PAROW committees unnecessarily.

The increases proposed for Senior Officer financial sign off limits take into account the impact 
of inflation over the last ten years and reflect the need to accommodate the new National Park 

1  Limit set for ordinary expenditure but CEO has ability to authorize larger payments previously agreed by 
Members (e.g. s.106 disbursements)

2 Limit set at Director level to provide cover for CEO and Director posts in the event of absence/sickness etc.

Page 90



Delivery Director role into the current structure.  While the increases proposed are modest 
there is a small theoretical risk that the Authority could be exposed to officers making 
inappropriate purchasing decisions, however it is considered that this is unlikely.  The proposed 
revisions in fact further empower staff, strengthen collective responsibility, and improve the 
efficiency of the Authority

1.5 Conclusion

The proposed amendments are considered necessary to ensure the efficient and timely 
operation of the Authority’s business and decision-making processes.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

It is recommended that Members:

b) Approve the amendments to the Scheme of Delegation and  Financial 
Regulations as set out in the report and enclosures

b) Approve the adjustments to financial sign off limits for named Senior 
Officers as set out in the report

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Amended and approved NPA 30 July 2018                                                                             1 
 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  

 
 

 
 

 

Terms of Reference of the Authority and its Committees 

 

and 

 

Scheme of Delegation 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Next Review Date:  Autumn 2018                             

 

BBNPA Terms of Reference & Scheme of Delegation – Approved 20 May 2010 

Addition of Communications Working Group – Approved 1 July 2011  

Addition of Part V delegation to Director of Planning re LDP – 9 December 2011                      

Amendments re scrutiny to NPA and ASC – approved 30 March 2012    

Reviewed, updated and approved by the NPA on 28 September 2012   

Amendments to Enforcement delegation approved by NPA on 3 May 2013  

Amendments to Terms of Reference – NPMP & SoP Working Group – 28 June 2013 

Addition of Scrutiny Working Group – NPA 30 September 2013 

Changes to delegation to officers (the Authority) and update on legal provision – NPA 

– 13 December 2013 

Changes to working groups:  mergers and deletions – approved NPA 9 May 2014; 

addition to NPA of requirement of Chairs to make an annual presentation to NPA. 

Changes to PAROW delegation approved NPA 11 July 2014 

Changes to Urgent Business Committee – NPA 8 April 2016 

Updates, movement of minor issues to CEO Delegation – NPA 23 September 2016 
Changes to Part VI of NPA terms of reference – 11 November 2016 

Changes to financial level of delegation to officers (Grants Advisory Panel and 

Sustainable Development Fund Committee) – 11 November 2016 

Change to Rights of Way Delegation, planning delegation – 30 June 2017 

Addition of Local Access Forum Selection Panel – 22 September 2017 

Changes to composition of Affordable Housing Working Group – 22 September 2017 

Page 93



                           2 
 

Changes to PART V the Delegation of countryside, land management and other 

property matters – 20 April 2018 

Changes to PART VI the delegation to the chief executive and director of planning 

acting jointly – 20 April 2018  

Changes to PART VII the delegation to the executive – 20 April 2018 

Changes to PART VI of PAROW - Delegation to the director of Planning – 20 April 

2018 

Changes to implement the new governance structure – 30 July 2018 

Changes to reflect the post of Director of Planning being deleted from the structure – 

21st September 2018 

Changes to Part VI of the Scheme of Delegation – 12 February 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. The Authority has determined that its functions shall be discharged as follows: 

 

a) by the Authority in respect of those functions listed at Appendix A 

b) by the Committees specified in Appendices B-E 

c) by the Grants Advisory Panel in Appendix F 

d) by the Sustainable Development Fund Committee in Appendix G 

e) by recommendations from working groups in Appendices H-K 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



                           3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

 

 
Local Access Forum Selection Panel J        33         

 

Policy Forum K                34 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Appendix Page 

 

General Conditions of Delegation for Officers 
 

 4 

The Authority A 5 

Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee B 11 

Standards Committee C 21 

Audit and Scrutiny Committee D 22 

Appointment Committee E 24 

Grants Advisory Panel F 26 

Sustainable Development Fund Committee G 29 

Affordable Housing Working Group H 30 

Governance and Member Development Working Group I 31 

Page 95



                           4 
 

 

 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS OF DELEGATION FOR OFFICERS 

 

The delegations to officers set out in the following Appendices are subject to the 

following 

 

 

1. The powers delegated to officers shall be exercised in accordance with: 

 

a) the Standing Orders of the Authority; 

 

b) the Financial Regulations and Standards of the Authority; 

 

c) the appropriate Terms and Conditions of Service for the officers and employees 

concerned; 

 

d) the Authority's adopted policies. 

 

2. The following terms shall be regarded as conferring delegated powers: 

 

 To administer, agree, allocate, appoint, approve, authorise, be responsible, carry out, 

consider recommendations, control and develop, deal with, decide, determine, discharge, 

ensure, exercise, grant, identify, initiate and carry out, interview, issue, keep under review, 

make, make decisions, review, settle, undertake, waive 

 

3. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise indicated, the words “to approve”, “to 

issue”, “to appoint” and all other words mentioned in paragraph 2 above shall be 

construed as having a negative as well as a positive meaning. 

 

4. Where any matter involves professional or technical considerations not within the sphere 

of competence of the relevant officer that officer shall seek appropriate professional or 

technical advice before authorising action. 

 

5. Where any delegation requires the relevant officer to consult with the Appropriate 

Member(s) – 

 

a. Consultation will normally be carried out in writing (and it shall be assumed that an 

Appropriate Member has no objection to the proposed decision or action if he fails 

to respond within 3 days); and 

 

b. In cases of urgency, consultation may be other than in writing. 

 

6. The Chief Executive, Head of DepartmentNational Park Delivery Director or Section 

Manager may authorise any officer to exercise the delegated powers on his/her behalf 
provided that such authorization is in writing and specifies the delegated powers the officer 

is authorized to exercise precisely by reference to the parts and paragraphs in this Scheme 

and that such written authorisations are kept on a file, which is specifically created for this 

purpose. 

 

7. References in this scheme to enactments or any other legislation include those enactments 

or legislation as amended or replaced. 

Page 96



                           5 
 

 

               

    APPENDIX A                                           

 

THE AUTHORITY 

 

Composition 

 

The Authority shall comprise all Members. 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

1. To make and review Standing Orders and Financial Regulations. 

 

2. To determine, approve and review the decision making structure (the Terms of Reference 

and Scheme of Delegation) of the Authority, including the delegation of functions to and 

composition of committees and sub-committees and the delegation of functions to the 

Chief Executive and officers. 

 

3. To determine and approve procedures and protocols to assist the efficient undertaking of 

the functions of Committees. 

 

4. To approve policies and strategic and development plans 

 

5. To appoint the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer ,and Section 151 Officer and Data 

Protection Officer in accordance with the relevant legislation 

 

6. To receive for approval minutes of those Committees without delegated powers. 

 

7. To be responsible for the Authority's financial resources and assets. 

 

8. To approve annual capital and revenue estimates for the ensuing financial year. 

 

9. To set a budget requirement for the ensuing financial year and arrange for the notification 

of each constituent authority of annual levies. 

 

10. To approve and receive updates on the Prudential Code Indicators 

 

11. To approve the level and use of reserves 

 

12. To approve the Statements of Accounts which includes the Annual Governance Statement 

and authorise the Chair and Section 151 Officer to sign them 

 

13. To adopt a code as regards the conduct which is expected of Members and co-opted 

Members of the Authority 

 
14. To consider reports referred to the Authority by the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales under Section 16 of the Public Service Ombudsman Wales Act 2005 and determine 

appropriate action  

 

15. To approve recommendations from Audit and Scrutiny Committee on the topics for 

scrutiny studies each year, and appoint Members to scrutiny panels 

 

Page 97



                           6 
 

16. To receive the final reports of scrutiny studies and determine the appropriate course of 

action in response to the recommendations therein 

 

17. To appoint representatives to outside bodies. 

 

 

18. To make by-laws. 

 

19. To determine and approve the terms and conditions, including amendments thereto, of 

employment of all employees  

 

20. To make any changes to the permanent establishment  

 

21. To make appointments to staff grades over spinal point 49  

 

22. To agree a framework for setting and reviewing Chief Officers’ pay and conditions 

 

23. To award statutory and extra statutory holidays. 

 

24. To undertake joint consultation with employees’ representatives through the Joint Liaison 

Committee on discipline, security, safety and welfare anomalies of a minor nature, disputes 

and grievance procedure, supervision , Communication and efficiency in order to maintain 

and enhance good working relationship with employees. 

 

25. To authorise extensions of sick pay. 

 

26. To deal with voluntary redundancies  

 

27. Other matters which the Authority from time to time determines to reserve to itself even 

though the matter is delegated to a Committee or officer. 

 

28. To determine matters fixed by law to be determined by the Authority. 

 

29. The Authority shall receive an annual presentation from the Chairs of the Authority and its 

committees, to be scheduled at a full Authority meeting prior to the Annual General 

Meeting each year. 

 

PART I DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

1. To act on behalf of the National Park Authority in the administration and day to day 

operation of the Authority and in cases of urgency. 

 

2. To determine the need for temporary staff 

 

3. To appoint individual staff up to spinal point 49.  

 
4. To implement National Salary and Conditions of Service Awards. 

 

 
5. To determine and award honoraria. 

 

6. To approve requests from Powys Pension Fund to release pension benefits relating to 

former members of staff 

Page 98



                           7 
 

 

 

7. Authority to renew leases licences or agreements in cases where the terms are 

substantially the same and the sums payable are within the financial limit set by the 

Authority. 

 

8. To take any action to give effect to any decision of the Authority 

 

9. To authorise the entry on land (including buildings) for the purpose of surveying or 

investigation in connection with the Authority's functions as set out in the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, any other relevant legislation, or in 

relation to proposed compulsory acquisitions. 

 

10. To instruct the Authority’s nominated legal advisors to serve any notice or requisition for 

information under any Act requiring the owner or occupier of or any person having an 

interest in or managing any land or premises to give information to the Authority. 

 

11. To issue instructions in relation to the good management of the Authority’s land and 

property assets including relevant notices. 

 

12. To execute any Deed or agreement on behalf of the Authority 

 

 

13. To obtain Counsel's opinion and to instruct Counsel on behalf of the Authority. 

 

14. To sign on behalf of the Authority any document necessary to give effect to any resolution 

of the Authority, or of any Committee or Sub-committee acting within powers delegated 

by the Authority. 

 

15. To instruct the Authority’s nominated legal advisors to institute, withdraw, or defend civil 

proceedings and intervene in or appear in proceedings before any court, the Lands 

Tribunal, an industrial tribunal, a Coroner, or any other statutory tribunal or inquiry, or 

arbitrator, where the interests of the Authority are involved, and to reach agreement as to 

settlement of such proceedings where appropriate. 

 

16. To accept service of any proceedings. 

 

17. To instruct the Authority’s nominated legal advisors to institute and withdraw criminal 

proceedings in respect of offences against legislation (including by-laws) which the 

Authority is authorised to enforce, and institute or defend appeals arising out of such 

proceedings. 

 

18. To instruct the Authority’s nominated legal advisors to defend any criminal proceedings 

brought against the Authority and to institute or defend appeals arising out of such 

proceedings. 
 

 

PART II DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AFTER CONSULTATION 

WITH CHAIR AND DEPUTY OF THE AUTHORITY 

 

1. In the event of any emergency or other urgent business that cannot reasonably be referred 

to the Authority or the Urgent Business Committee, the Chief Executive is authorised to 

Page 99



                           8 
 

take any necessary action which is essential for the wellbeing of the Authority or its 

employees.  In all such cases the Chief Executive should consult with the Chair and with 

the Section 151 Officer whenever urgent action has a financial consequence for the 

Authority, or with the Monitoring Officer and/or Solicitor to the Authority in relation to 

any legal consequences. 

 

2. In cases of urgency, and following consultation with the Chair or Deputy Chair of the 

Authority, to sign any deed or document on behalf of the Authority. 

 

3. Any decisions made under Paragraphs 1 and 2 above shall be reported to the National Park 

Authority at the earliest opportunity 

 

4. To agree attendance of members at conferences. 

 

5. To agree BBNPA participation in or endorsement of Partnership and Sponsorship 

opportunities negotiated by National Parks Partnerships LLP or through the National Parks 

UK Charity Foundation provided that Members have been consulted on the same and 

given the opportunity to call-in the proposal for further discussion. In order for a proposal 

to be called in it will be sufficient for a Member to make such a request but that request 

must be made within 10 working days of the date of the consultation. 

 

               

PART III DELEGATION TO CHIEF OFFICERS 

 

1. To incur revenue expenditure within agreed estimates subject to Financial Regulations and 

Standing Orders 

 

2. To incur capital expenditure included in the agreed capital programme subject to Financial 

Regulations and Standing Orders 

 

3. To submit grant bids and accept offers of grant provided a): they are within the financial 

authorization limits in force for the time being; and b): appropriate consideration has been 

given to any grant conditions which apply in terms of risk to the Authority. 

 

4. To submit proposals in relation to opportunities for additional funding to meet unfunded 

pressures and accept funding offers made in this regard. 

 

PART IV   DELEGATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

To make decisions on any matters arising on the proposed Local Development Plan 

through its period of Examination and up to adoption. Any decision or action so taken shall 

be notified to the Chair of the Authority as soon as is practical and reported to the next 

meeting of the Authority. 

 

PART V  DELEGATION OF COUNTRYSIDE, LAND MANAGEMENT AND 

OTHER  PROPERTY MATTERS 
 

GENERAL POWERS DELEGATED TO OFFICERS 

 

1. The Chief Executive, National Park Delivery Director, Natural Resources Manager, 

Commercial Manager and Wardens Manager are authorized as indicated below to 

permit temporary access to, or use of, Authority land (excluding large scale organized 

recreational and sporting events – see 2. below) for purposes including but not limited 

Page 100



                           9 
 

to site surveys, site management, and informal recreational activities so long as no 

freehold or leasehold interest in land is created and any consideration involved does 

not exceed £5,000. Temporary in this context is defined as being no more than 14 

days with the Wardens Manager being authorized to permit access/use/activities for up 

to 3 days in duration, the Natural Resources Manager and Commercial Manager 7 days 

and the Director of PlanningChief Executive/National Park Delivery Director 14 days. 

 

2. Organised recreational and sporting events will be managed and approved as defined in 

the Events Policy once adopted. 

 

3. The Chief Executive, National Park Delivery Director,  Natural Resources Manager 

and Wardens Manager are authorized to make any necessary applications for consent 

(for example Potentially Damaging Operations consent for works on SSSIs)  

 

4. Any appropriate Officer with direct responsibility for a property or project may: 

a.  let  contracts for works and services affecting Authority-owned land provided 

that such authorizations are limited to the financial approval limits for the cost 

of the works involved. 

b. Agree terms of access for statutory undertakers who hold the relevant powers 

of entry 

 

 

PART VIa DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AFTER CONSULTATION 

WITH CHAIR AND DEPUTY OF THE AUTHORITY 

 

1. Authority to negotiate and agree the acquisition or disposal of freehold interests 

provided that the value of the transaction is less than £100125,000 (excluding vat and 

fees)  in line with the Chief Executive’s authorisation limit subject to the requirement 

to secure best value. The decision to be reported to the Authority at the next 

available meeting. 

 

2. Authority to negotiate, vary and agree the acquisition, assignment or granting of 

leasehold interests, or the termination of such interests, provided that: 

 

a. The value of rental payments is below the threshold for payment of Stamp 

Duty Land Tax – currently set at £40,000 per annum  

b. The length of the initial term is less than 7 years 

c. Any business tenancies granted are contracted out of the security of tenure 

provisions within the 1954 Landlord and Tenant Act 

d. Best value can be demonstrated to have been obtained 

e. The decision is notified to the Authority at the next meeting. 

 

 

PART VIb DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND/OR THE NATIONAL 

PARK DELIVERY DIRECTOR 

 
2. Authority to negotiate, vary and agree the acquisition, assignment or granting of 

leasehold interests, or the termination of such interests, provided that: 

 

a. The value of rental payments is below the threshold for payment of Stamp 

Duty Land Tax – currently set at £40,000 per annum  

b. The length of the initial term is less than 7 years 

Page 101



                           10 
 

c. Any business tenancies granted are contracted out of the security of tenure 

provisions within the 1954 Landlord and Tenant Act 

d. Best value can be demonstrated to have been obtained 

e. The decision is notified to the Authority at the next meeting. 

 

3.1. Authority to negotiate, vary and grant long term and/or permanent leases, licenses, 

easements and wayleaves on or over Authority owned land subject to the proposal 

having been approved by the Management Corporate Governance Team (excluding 

the Planning and Heritage Manager), and by a Member Group convened by the Chief 

Executive in consultation with the Chair of the Authority for the purpose of 

considering the proposal. This group to comprise three Members to include one 

Welsh Government appointed Member and two Local Authority appointed Members, 

including the relevant Member Champion if appropriate.  Where the proposal would 

involve a development proposal for which the Authority is the Planning Authority then 

the Member Group to comprise the three Members who do not sit on the PAROW 

committee. 

 

4.2. Authority to negotiate, vary, terminate and agree temporary licences, consents or 

other agreements up to and including a maximum term of 5 years (including 

conservation management and access agreements under s.39 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 and agreements under agri-environment schemes) relating to: 

 

a.  Land and property, provided that there is no transfer of freehold or leasehold 

interest and any compensation or acknowledgement payments do not exceed Chief 

Executive’s Authorisation limit (currently 100125,000) or, where relevant, any 

licence payments etc do not exceed the threshold for payment of Stamp Duty Land 

Tax – currently set at £40,000 per annum. 

b. Operational services, provided there is no transfer of freehold or leasehold interest 

and any payments related to the services do not exceed the Chief Executive’s 

Authorisation limit (Currently £100125,000). 

c. To negotiate, vary and grant easements and wayleaves over Authority owned land 

provided that any lump sum compensation or acknowledgement payments do not 

exceed Chief Executive’s Authorisation limit (Currently £100125,000). 

 

 

 

 

PART VII  DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

1. To submit applications for planning permission on Authority owned land on behalf of 

the Authority subject to the proposed development having been approved by the 

Management Corporate Governance Team (excluding the Planning and Heritage 

Manager) and where the total cost of the development excluding VAT and fees does 

not exceed £100125,000. 

 

2. To submit applications for planning permission on behalf of the Authority in all other 
cases subject to the proposed development having been approved by the Management 

Corporate Governance Team (excluding the Planning and Heritage Manager) and by a 

Member Group convened by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of the 

Authority for the purpose of considering the development.  This group to comprise 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm,
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at: 
1.27 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm,
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at: 
1.27 cm

Page 102



                           11 
 

three Members to include one Welsh Government appointed Members and two Local 

Authority appointed Members, including the relevant Member Champion if 

appropriate. 

 

 

PART VIII DELEGATION TO DIRECTORS 

 

1. To authorise and approve overtime claims. 

 

2. To authorise the attendance by employees at external seminars, training courses and 

conferences of up to and including 5 days’ duration. 

 

 

 

PART IXa  DELEGATION TO THE MANAGEMENT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

TEAMTEAM 

 

1. To accept project grant offers which exceed approval limits where the Authority has 

already given approval that the bid may be submitted, providing appropriate consideration 

has been given to any grant conditions which apply in terms of risk to the Authority.To 

approve the submission of grant applications for corporate project proposals up to 

£125,000. 

 

PART IXb  DELEGATION TO THE NATIONAL PARK DELIVERY DIRECTOR 

 

1. To accept project grant offers where the Authority (or Corporate Governance Team 

where the delegation under Part IXa is exercised) has already given approval that the bid 

may be submitted, providing appropriate consideration has been given to any grant 

conditions which apply in terms of risk to the Authority. 

 

2. To submit applications for grants and accept delivery project grant offers up to £75,000 

provided that the project has been approved by the Senior Delivery Team and aligns with 

National Park Management Plan and Corporate Plan priorities. 

  

3. To submit applications for grants and accept delivery project grant offers up to £125,000  

provided that the project has been supported by the Senior Leadership Group  and aligns 

with National Park Management Plan and Corporate Plan priorities. 

  

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Page 103



                           12 
 

APPENDIX B 

 

PLANNING ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE  

 

Composition 

 

The Committee shall comprise 21 Members of the Authority who satisfy the Chief Executive that 

they have completed approved training in planning matters. "Approved training" means training 

approved by the Chief Executive for the purpose of sitting on the Committee. 

 

Terms of reference 

 

To exercise the Authority’s powers and duties for the control of development, enforcement of 

planning control and other related matters. 

 

To perform the duties imposed and exercise the powers conferred by legislation in relation to 

access to and rights of way across land within the area of the National Park Authority.  These 

comprise the duties imposed and powers conferred on the Authority directly or under the 

Delegation Agreements with Unitary Authorities entered into under section101 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

 

Delegated Powers 

 

Planning 

 

1. To bring Development Plan policy issues to the attention of the National Park Authority 

where they arise from specific planning applications. 

 

2. To determine general supplementary policy and procedures on Development Control 

matters, subject to the provisions of the Development Plan. 

 

3. To make directions under Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995. 

 

4. To exercise all the powers and duties of the Authority as local planning authority and 

mineral planning authority, including but not limited to the Town and Country Planning 

1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Planning 

(Hazardous Substances) Act 1990, the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the 

National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The Planning Act 2008 and any 

related secondary legislation. 

 

5. To determine mineral review applications pursuant to Section 96 and Schedules 13 and 14 

of the Environment Act 1995. 

 

Access and Rights of Way 

 
6. To consider and determine the terms of delegation agreements and rights of way 

improvement plans on general policy on access and rights of way matters. 

 

7. (a) To make Orders under the Highways Act 1980 to divert, widen, create and  

                      extinguish public paths except as provided for under PART VI, 5; 

 

Page 104



                           13 
 

(b) to authorise the making of applications to the Magistrates' Court under the 

Highways Act 1980 for the diversion and stopping up of public rights of way; 

 

(c) to make orders under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act to make 

modifications to the Definitive Map and Statement; 

 

(d) to make orders under Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

except as provided for under PART VI, 6;  

 

(e) where appropriate to determine not to confirm orders under the legislation 

identified above. 

 

8. (a) To authorise the institution of legal proceedings under the legislation specified in  

                      the Delegation Agreements made under Section 101 Local Government Act 1972 

                      with the Unitary Authorities to protect public rights of way generally; 

 

(b) to authorise such other action as the Committee considers expedient to protect 

public rights under the Highways Act and which is authorised by that or other 

legislation. 

 

9. To authorise the waiving of charges for public path diversion and extinguishment orders in 

accordance with the policy concerning the recovery of costs for public paths and rail 

crossing orders (this only applies to those applications being considered by the Planning, 

Access and Rights of Way Committee).  

 

10. To perform the duties imposed and exercise the powers conferred under Parts I and II of 

the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

 

11. To make traffic regulation orders under Sections 1 and 2 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 

 

12. To receive reports from and the minutes of the Local Access Forum. 

 

13. To consider and make decisions on the recommendations of the Local Access Forum. 

 

PART I DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND THE PLANNING 

AND HERITAGE MANAGER 

 

1. To determine all forms of planning and related applications and all notifications submitted 

under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990, the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 or under any related secondary legislation 

EXCEPT the following: 

 

a) those applications or notifications that any Member of the Authority requests be 

determined by the Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee provided that 

such request is made to the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage Manger,  
in writing specifying the grounds on which the request is made and is received by 

the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage Manager, within 15 working days 

of the date on which a weekly list of applications proposed to be dealt with under 

delegated powers has been sent to all Members of the Authority; 

 

b) those applications or notifications which the Chief Executive or the Planning and 

Heritage Manager, considers should be dealt with by Committee; 

Page 105



                           14 
 

 

c) those applications for major development as defined on Article 2(1) of the Town 

and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 1995; 

 

d) those applications or notifications in respect of which the Authority is the applicant 

or has a legal interest in the land which is the subject of the application or 

notification; 

 

e) those applications or notifications where the Chief Executive or Planning and 

Heritage Manager is aware that a Member or former Member of the Authority 

(within the last 2 years), a member of the Senior Leadership GroupManagement 

Team, an officer of the Authority directly involved in the handling of applications or 

notifications or a member of the family or close friend of such a person is the 

applicant or otherwise has a legal interest in the land which is the subject of the 

application or notification. 

 

 Provided that where an application or notification is reported to the Planning Access and 

Rights of Way Committee because it falls within one of the above exceptions a written 

record of the fact together with reasons must be recorded on the application file  

 

2. To decline to determine applications for planning permission. 

 

3. To determine applications for planning permission as invalid. 

 

4. To request additional information be supplied by applicants for planning permission in 

accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Applications) Regulations 1988 and 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Wales Order 2012. 

 

5. To refuse applications for planning permission on grounds of insufficient information being 

supplied. 

 

6. To deem planning applications as withdrawn and to accept formal withdrawal of planning 

applications or to finally dispose of applications under the Regulations. 

 

7. To approve/refuse details required by planning condition. 

 

8. To determine applications for reserved matters. 

 

9. To determine minor amendments to approved plans. 

  

10. To reply to consultations in respect of planning applications, development consent orders 

or notifications received from the Welsh Government by other authorities, statutory 

bodies and agencies. 

 

11. To determine the need for an environmental assessment in respect of any development 

within Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
(England and Wales) Regulations Act 1999 and to determine what information is required 

and should be contained in any environmental assessment under those Regulations. 

 

12. Authority to issue and withdraw: 

 

a) Notices under Section 215 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (land adversely 

affecting the amenity of an area); 

Page 106



                           15 
 

 

b) Breach of Condition notices under Section 187A Town and Country Planning Act 

1990; 

 

c) Building Preservation Notices under Section 3 (3) and 91(1) of  the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, as amended by the  Historic 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016; 

 

d) Enforcement Warning Notices under Section 173ZA of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015; 

 
e) Temporary Stop Notices under Section 171E of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended and commenced in Wales through the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (Commencement No. 14 and Saving) Order 2015; 

 
f) Temporary Stop Notices for listed buildings under Section 29 of the Planning (Listed 

Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the Historic Environment 
Act (Wales) 2016. 

 

13.  To instruct the Authority’s nominated legal advisors to consider any matter that 

constitutes an offence under planning legislation or which requires legal action, including 

but not limited to: 

 

a) the non-return of section 330 (requisition for information) notices;  

b) the non-return of section 171 (planning contravention) notices;  

c) failure to comply with enforcement notices; and 

d) the unlawful display of advertisements. 

  

14. To determine that it is not expedient to take enforcement action and determine that 

enforcement cases should be considered resolved EXCEPT the following: 

 

a) The case relates to a site in which a Member or an employee of the Authority has an 

interest in the land. This will also apply where a Member or employee of the 

Authority has left the Authority less than twelve months prior to the 

commencement of the investigation; 

 

15. To issue or withdraw enforcement notices under section 172 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 or listed building enforcement notices under section 38 of the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 EXCEPT the following: 

 

a) The case relates to a site in which a Member or an employee of the Authority has 

an interest in the land. This will also apply where a Member or employee of the 

Authority has left the Authority less than twelve months prior to the 

commencement of the investigation; 

 

b) The case relates to land in which the Authority has an interest or a financial 

interest as landowner; 

 

Page 107



                           16 
 

c) Cases which, in the opinion of the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage 

Manager, raise matters of significant public and/or Member interest; 

 

d) Cases that are considered by the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage 

Manager to be contentious or controversial; 

 

e) Cases that are likely to have financial implications for the Authority in excess of 

£50,000  

 

f) Cases with financial implications for the Authority of less than £50,000 which 

cannot be funded from the operational budget. 

 

g) The case is one in which direct action is recommended; 

 

h) The case is one in which involves the removal of a dwelling house;  

 

i) The case is one that in the opinion of the Director of Planning or the Planning and 

Heritage Manager consider should be referred to Committee. 

  

16. To determine 

 

a) notifications of demolition;  and 

 

b) notifications under Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995.  

 

17. To respond to notifications under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 and to determine 

applications and exercise statutory powers in relation to any legislation relating to 

hedgerows. 

 

18. To sign all decisions and other notices pursuant to a resolution of the Development 

Control Committee or under the delegations in this Part. 

 

19. To authorise the making of agreements and accepting unilateral obligations under Section 

106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

20. (a)To authorise the making, varying  and revocation of Tree Preservation Orders and 
provisional Tree Preservation Orders under Sections 198 and 201 Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

 

 (b) To determine applications to carry out works to trees subject to a Tree Preservation 

Order or located within a Conservation Area 

 

21. To confirm Tree Preservation Orders and provisional Tree Preservation Orders where no 

valid objection is received within the statutory objection period. 

 

22. To serve notices under Section 207 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requiring the re-

planting of trees. 

 

23. To take action under Section 225 Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  

24. To determine applications for advertisement consent.  

Page 108



                           17 
 

 

25. To determine applications under Section 192 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

(certificates of lawfulness of proposed use or development). 

 

26.  To classify applications as notification development and refer to the Welsh Government.   

 

27.  To respond on behalf of the Authority to consultations under the Planning Act 2008. 

 

28. To review and update any published Supplementary Planning Guidance or Procedural 

Guidance produced by the Authority to take account of legislation or policy changes or 

changes to Operational Procedure. 
 

 

PART II DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE, THE PLANNING AND 

HERITAGE MANAGER AND PRINCIPAL PLANNING OFFICERS: 

 

1. To determine householder applications for planning permission for work or extensions to 

a dwelling or within the boundary/garden of a dwelling submitted under the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, EXCEPT the following: 

 

a) those applications or notifications that any Member of the Authority requests be 

determined by the Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee provided that 

such request is made to the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage Manager  

in writing specifying the grounds on which the request is made and is received by 

the Chief Executive or Planning and Heritage Manager within 15 working days of 

the date on which a weekly list of applications proposed to be dealt with under 

delegated powers has been sent to all Members of the Authority; 

 

b) those applications or notifications which the Chief Executive or the Planning and 

Heritage Manager considers should be dealt with by Committee; 

 

c) those applications or notifications where the proposed development does not, in 

the opinion of the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage Manager comply 

with planning policy and it is proposed to approve the application or notification;  

 

d) those applications or notifications where the proposed development, in the opinion 

of the Chief Executive or the Planning and Heritage Manager, does comply with 

planning policy and it is proposed to refuse the application or notification: 

 

e) those applications or notifications where there is a written objection from a 

statutory consultee which, in the opinion of the Chief Executive or the Planning and 
Heritage Manager, is significant in weight and it is proposed to approve the 

application or notification; 

 

f) those applications or notifications in respect of which the Authority is the applicant 

or has a legal interest in the land which is the subject of the application or 

notification; 

 

g) those applications or notifications where the Chief Executive or the Planning and 

Heritage Manager, is aware that a Member or former Member (within the last 2 

years) of the Authority, a member of the Senior Leadership GroupManagement 

Team, an officer of the Authority directly involved in the handling of applications or 

notifications or a member of the family or close friend of such a person is the 

Page 109



                           18 
 

applicant or otherwise has a legal interest in the land which is the subject of the 

application or notification. 

 

 Provided that where an application or notification is reported to the Planning Access and 

Rights of Way Committee because it falls within one of the above exceptions a written 

record of the fact together with reasons must be recorded on the application file  

 

2. To decline to determine applications for planning permission. 

 

3. To determine applications for planning permission as invalid. 

 

4. To request additional information be supplied by applicants for planning permission in 

accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Applications) Regulations 1988 and 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Wales Order 2012. 

 

5. To refuse applications for planning permission on grounds of insufficient information being 

supplied. 

 

6. To deem planning applications as withdrawn and to accept formal withdrawal of planning 

applications or to finally dispose of applications under the Regulations. 

 

7. To approve/refuse details required by planning condition. 

 

8. To determine applications for reserved matters. 

 

9. To determine minor amendments to approved plans. 

 

10.       Authority to issue and withdraw: 

 

a) Requisition for information notices under Section 330 Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990; 

 

b) Planning Contravention Notices under Section 171C Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 ;  

 

c) Requisition for information under Section 16 Local Government  (Miscellaneous 

Provisions Act) 1976; 
 

11. To determine that it is not expedient to take enforcement action on matters relating to 

minor householder development and developments within the curtilage of dwelling houses 

and determine that such enforcement cases should be considered resolved EXCEPT in the 

following circumstance: 

 

a) The case relates to a site in which a Member or an employee of the Authority has 

an interest in the land.  This will also apply where a Member or employee of the 

Authority has left the Authority less than twelve months prior to the 

commencement of the enforcement investigation. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



                           19 
 

PART III DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE, THE PLANNING AND 

HERITAGE MANAGER, THE PRINCIPAL PLANNING OFFICERS, 

SENIOR PLANNING OFFICERS, PLANNING OFFICERS AND 

PLANNING TECHNICIANS  

 

1. To determine applications for planning permission as invalid; 

 

2. To request additional information be supplied by applicants for planning permission 

accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Applications) Regulations 1988 and 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012; 

 

3. To deem planning applications as withdrawn and to accept formal withdrawal of planning 

applications or to finally dispose of applications under the Regulations; 

 

4. To approve/refuse details required by planning consent. 

 

 

PART IV  DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND/OR THE 

PLANNING AND HERITAGE MANAGER AND THE AUTHORITY’S 

NOMINATED LEGAL ADVISER ACTING JOINTLY  

 

1. To determine applications under Section 191 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

(certificates of lawful existing use or development). 

 

 

PART V DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND/OR THE 

PLANNING AND HERITAGE MANAGER DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 

AND/OR THE AUTHORITY’S NOMINATED LEGAL ADVISER AFTER 

CONSULTATION WITH THE CHAIR OR VICE-CHAIR OF THE 

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

1. Authority to issue or withdraw (provided legal advice has been sought under the terms of 

the SLA for the time being in force): 

 

a) enforcement notices under Section 172 Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 

 

b) stop notices under Section 183 Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 

 

c) Listed building enforcement notices under Section 38 Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990; 

 

which would otherwise have been referred to committee, where, in the opinion of the 

Chief Executive or the Authority’s nominated legal adviser urgent action is required. 

 

2. Authority to re-authorise the service of enforcement notices following expiry of the 28 day 

period originally authorized by the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



                           20 
 

 

 

PART VI DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND/OR NATIONAL 

PARK DELIVERY DIRECTOR 

 

1. To make orders under the Highways Act 1980, Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, and the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 where those orders have been approved as provided 

for by this scheme of delegation. 

 

2. To abandon orders made under the Highways Act 1980, Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, and the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 where circumstances change such that 

an order cannot be realistically completed as made or due to new evidence arising. 
 

3. To rescind decisions previously made by the Authority to approve applications for public 

path orders made under the Highways Act 1980 or the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 where, following determination: 
 

I. an application has been withdrawn; 

II. an application has not been proceeded with at the request of the applicant; 

III. an application has become redundant; 

IV. contact has been lost with the applicant and reasonable attempts by the Authority 

to re-establish contact have been unsuccessful; 

V. circumstances have been changed such that the Authority considers that there is no 
longer any requirement to make an order; 

VI. circumstances have changed such that the Authority cannot make an order; 

VII. circumstances have changed such that the Authority cannot implement the 

decision. 
 

4. To confirm unopposed public path orders and Definitive Map modification and orders 

made by the Authority under the Highways Act 1980, Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

and the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

 

5. To take action under the Highways Act 1980 to deal with nuisances, dangers and 

obstructions to public rights of way. 

 

6. To undertake the maintenance, repair and improvement of public rights of way and access 

land as required. 

 

7. To respond to notices under Section 56 Highways Act 1980 and to instruct the Authority’s 

nominated legal advisors to defend the Authority in court where necessary 
 

8. To respond to notices under Section 130A of the Highways Act 1980 and to instruct the 

Authority’s nominated legal advisors to defend the Authority in court where necessary 

 

9. To approve applications for public path orders under the Highways Act 1980 to divert, 

widen, create and extinguish public paths where two or fewer objections are received to 

pre-order consultations from statutory consultees and, neither the community council nor 

the Local Access Forum are opposed to the application and, where officers would have 

otherwise recommended approval of the application to the Authority.  

Page 112



                           21 
 

 

10. To approve applications for public path orders under Section 257 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 to divert and extinguish public paths where two or fewer objections are 

received to pre-order consultations from statutory consultees and, neither the community 

council nor the Local Access Forum are opposed to the application and where officers 

would have otherwise recommended approval to the Authority. 

 

11. To authorize the waiving of charges in accordance with the policy concerning the recovery 

of costs for public paths and rail crossing orders. 

 

12. To approve applications for definitive map modification orders under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 to add, delete, upgrade, downgrade or vary the details relating to 

rights of way where no objections are received to pre-order consultations from statutory 

consultees or the Local Access Forum and: 

 

I. the landowner cannot be traced following reasonable enquiry and, paragraphs 2(2) 

and 2(3) of Schedule 14 to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 have been 

complied with, or 

 

II. The landowner is not opposed to the application; or 

 
III. the landowner has made no comments following reasonable attempts by the 

Authority to contact him/her, and 

 

IV. where officers would have otherwise recommended approval of the application to 

the Authority.  

 

13. To determine applications under Section 147 Highways Act 1980 for the erection of gates 

stiles or other works on footpaths and bridleways for the purpose of  preventing ingress and 

egress by animals. 

 

14. To maintain signposts on footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and byways open to all 

traffic pursuant to Section 27 Countryside Act 1968. 

 

15. To make temporary traffic regulation orders under Sections 14 and 15 Road Traffic 

Regulation Act 1984. 

 

16. To authorise the use of footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways for motor vehicle trials 

under Section 33 Road Traffic Act 1988. 

 

17. To determine applications and make directions to exclude or restrict access to land under 

Sections 24 and 25 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 for non-recurring periods 

where the aggregate of the period or exclusion sought and any other periods in the same 

year during which access to the land has been excluded or restricted pursuant to 

applications under the Sections 24 and 25 is less than 6 months. 

 

18. To make directions under Section 26 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 for periods 

of up to six months in any one year. 

 

Page 113



                           22 
 

19. To refuse applications to exclude or restrict the right of access to land under Sections 24 

and 25 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

 

20. To make the initial draft direction to grant applications to exclude or restrict the right of 

access to land under Sections 24 and 25 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

  

21. To dedicate permanent, permissive, and temporary public rights of way or approve 

applications for public path orders to divert, widen, create and extinguish public paths where 

they affect Authority owned land. 

 

22. To make statements of non-intent to dedicate under Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 

1980 in relation to Authority owned land and to deposit statutory declarations thereafter as 

required. 

 

Page 114



                           23 
 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

                                

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

 

Composition 

 

The Standards Committee shall consist of a total of six members of whom three shall be Members 

of the National Park Authority and three shall be independent members. In appointing members 

to the Standards Committee the National Park Authority will have regard to the desirability of 

maintaining a gender balance in its overall composition. 

 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

1. Exercising the functions conferred on the Committee by or under statute. 

 

2. Advising the National Park Authority on procedural arrangements for dealing with 

complaints made to a Local Commissioner for Wales. 

 

3. Reviewing the Authority’s involvement on outside bodies. 

 

4. Promoting and advising on how to secure high standards of conduct in the Authority’s 

business. 

 

5. Advising on the implementation of and monitoring the Authority’s policy and procedure 

under part IVA of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (as inserted by the Public Interest 

Disclosure Act 1998) (“Whistle blowing”). 

 

6. Granting dispensations to members who apply to speak on a matter in which they may 

have a personal and prejudicial interest 

 

 

7. Receiving reports from the Monitoring Officer on the exercise of his functions. 

 
 
 

 

          

Page 115



                           24 
 

 

 

              APPENDIX D          

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

Composition 

 

1. The Committee shall comprise nine Members of the Authority.  The balance shall be six 

Unitary Authority Members and three Welsh Government appointees. 

 

2. The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority and the Planning, Access and Rights of Way 

Committee will not be eligible to serve on this Committee. 

 

Frequency and Agenda order 

 

The Committee will meet four times a year or as often as required, and deal with an agenda as 

follows: 

 

1. Audit Matters 

2. Scrutiny Matters 

3. Performance and Risk 

4. Information Items (for discussion through a prior request to the Chair) 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

1. In terms of Audit, the Committee exists to support the Authority and the Chief Executive 

(as National Park Officer) in their responsibilities for issues of risk control and governance 

by reviewing the comprehensiveness of internal and external control assurances and 

reviewing the reliability and integrity of these assurances to ensure they are “fit for 

purpose” and will deliver the business priorities. The Committee will approve the annual 

internal audit programme and review and monitor all external and internal audit 

recommendations. 

 

2. In terms of Scrutiny the Committee will monitor the effectiveness of the Authority’s 

scrutiny process, review draft scrutiny reports and consider its recommendations to the 
Authority.  The committee will monitor how the Authority learns from Scrutiny Reviews 

and how the reviews contribute to improved performance. 

 

3. In terms of Performance and Risk, the Committee will examine the work of the Authority, 

its structures, procedures and systems.  It will check progress in meeting agreed targets 

and objectives in an efficient and effective way that delivers value for money and ensures 

high standards of health and safety whilst keeping the citizen at the centre.  It will review 

the  Integrated Assurance Framework to provide assurance to the Authority on 

performance and risk management. 

   

3.4. risk register and approve any amendments based on evidence based mitigation. 

 

4. The Committee has the power to request attendance by any Chair or Deputy Chair of the 

Authority, its committees or working groups in order to answer questions or provide 

information in respect of their roles and accountabilities 

 

Audit 

Page 116



                           25 
 

 

1. To receive reports, monitor, note progress, approve and make recommendations on the: 

 

a) Annual Governance Statement (recommend approval to the Authority) 

b) Code of Governance 

c) The management of health & safety 

d) Ministerial Statements 

e) Corporate Risk RegisterIntegrated Assurance Framework 

f) Financial systems to include Budget Monitoring and recommending approval of draft 

budgets to the Authority 

g) Review the Statement of Accounts and make a recommendation to the Authority with 

respect to the approval of those Accounts 

 

2. To approve an annual programme of internal audit, receive internal audit reports and 

review the adequacy of management responses to those reports 

 

3.  To receive and consider the following reports from the Authority’s external auditors and 

the management responses to the: 

 

a) External Audit Plan 

b) Annual Accounts Report to those charged with Governance 

c) Annual Improvement Report 

 

4. To receive and consider from management: 

 

a) Assurances relating to corporate governance 

b) Tendering proposals and results for purchase of services 

c) Business ImprovementCorporate Plan and Annual Report 

d) Reports on outstanding Decisions and Actions  

 

 

5. Meet annually and in private with the Authority’s external auditors and the Head of 

Internal Audit both together and individually. 

 

Scrutiny 

 

1.  To review and evaluate the Scrutiny process and make recommendations to the Authority 

on its effectiveness 

 

2. To make recommendations to the Authority on the topics for Scrutiny Reviews each year 

 

3. To monitor the progress of Scrutiny Reviews through interim reports from Scrutiny 

Panels, ensuring that all agreed deadlines are met 

 

4. To review all draft Scrutiny Review reports and make recommendations to the Authority 

thereon 
 

5. To monitor the implementation of recommendations arising from Scrutiny Reviews as 

approved by the Authority and where appropriate, that lessons are learned and 

appropriate action taken 

 

 

 

Page 117



                           26 
 

Performance and Risk 

 

1. To monitor performance against the approved corporate objectives through: 

 

a) The Integrated Assurance Framework 

a) Quarterly performance exceptions reports 

b) Detailed reports on improvement objectives 

c)b) Detailed reports on any areas of concern 

 

2. To receive a report each quarter on projects supporting one of the four key work areas 

and give members the opportunity to review progress; 

 

3. To review the Risk Register on a quarterly basis and consider recommendations for change 

from the Corporate Management Team based on evidence based mitigating actions 

 

4.3. To review the strategic management of health and safety within the Authority 

 

5.4. To scrutinise, monitor and review the performance of the Authority and its Committees 

and to make use of comparative data to report and make recommendations to the 

Authority to drive future performance. 

 

6.5. To ensure that appropriate public and customer feedback is used for the purpose of 

scrutinising the performance of the Authority in the delivery of services to include: 

 

a) an annual report on Section 21 Ombudsman reports 

b) a quarterly report on complaints and compliments to include a review of trends 

c) review of investigations into Stage 2 complaints 

d) the monitoring of the effectiveness of the Authority’s complaints procedure 

 

 

Public speaking 

 

Members of the public will be welcome to request to speak to the Committee together with any 

Authority Member who is not a member of this Committee, in accordance with the provisions of 

the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme 

 

Annual Review of Effectiveness 
 

The Chair will ensure that an annual review/self- evaluation of the Committee is undertaken to 

include consultation with all Members, in order to learn from experience, determine future 

training needs and ensure continuous improvement.  

 

 

 

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



                           27 
 

 

 

 

Page 119



                           28 
 

     APPENDIX E 

 

APPOINTMENT COMMITTEE 

 

 

Composition 

 
The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority, the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Planning Access 

and Rights of Way Committee and the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Audit and Scrutiny 

Committee.  Composition should, as far as possible, meet the requirements of Paragraph 13.3 of 

Schedule 7 of the Environment Act 1995 in terms of balance of local authority and Welsh 

Assembly appointed Members 

 

 

 

Terms of Reference/Delegated Powers 

 

1.    To make recommendations to the National Park Authority on the appointment of Chief 

Officers through the following: 

 

a) Draw up a person specification and job description for the post; 

b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to the 

attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 

c) Make arrangements for a copy of the job pack to be sent to any person on request; 

d) Draw up a list of suitable candidates and interview them; 

e) Make recommendations to the Authority on a final selection, for the Authority to 

interview and make the appointment; 

f) Where no qualified person has applied, to make further arrangements for advertisement. 

 

2.    To make recommendations to the National Park Authority on the appointment of 

independent members of Standards Committee through the following: 

a) Confirm the person specification and job description for the role 

b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to the 

attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 

c) Make arrangements for a copy of the job pack to be sent to any person on request; 

d) Draw up a list of suitable candidates and interview them. 

e) Make recommendations to the Authority on the person(s) to be appointed; 

f) Where no qualified person has applied, to make further arrangements for advertisement. 

 

Page 120



                           29 
 

 

                         

           APPENDIX F 

        

             

GRANTS ADVISORY PANEL 

Composition 

 

Up to 15 members including one Member of the Authority who should also be Chair. 

 

Purpose 

 

To promote sustainable development and the aims of the Authority by providing advice and 

expertise to the Sustainable Development Fund Committee, recommending the awarding of grants 

from the Sustainable Development Fund, which forms part of the Authority’s allocation from the 

Welsh Government.   

Terms of Reference 

 

1.0 The Group 

 

1. The Sustainable Development Fund has been established to: 

 

‘support partnership projects that develop and test ways of achieving a more sustainable way 

of living in a countryside of great natural beauty and diversity, in which the local characteristics 

of culture, wildlife, landscape, land use and community are conserved and enhanced.’ 

 

2. Panel members will provide locally derived advice and guidance on how the Authority 

manages the Sustainable Development Fund to support sustainable projects, involving 

communities across the National Park.   

 

3. The Panel will work closely with the Park Authority Sustainable Development Fund 

Committee on the monitoring and review of Fund progress. 

 

4. The Chair will be the Chair of the National Park Authority’s Sustainable Development 

Fund Committee. 

 

5. The membership of the Grants Advisory Panel will consist of up to 15 members, 

representing areas of expertise as follows: 

 

 2 representatives with environmental expertise 

 1 representative with cultural heritage expertise 

 1 representatives with experience in agricultural issues 

 2 representatives from the business sector 

 2 representatives with recreational and access expertise 

 1 representatives with expertise in sustainable tourism 

 2 representatives with experience of sustainable communities 

 1 representative with experience in the youth sector 

 community council representatives from the west, central and eastern areas of the 

Park. 

 

Page 121



                           30 
 

6. Community Council members are appointed for eighteen months, to secure a geographical 

spread of representation.  Where Grants Advisory Panel members fail to attend three 

meetings in a row they may be asked to leave the panel to make room for alternative 

members.  

  

2.0 Staff and Business 

 

7. The administration and financial arrangements for the Panel will be undertaken by the 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 

 

8. The Sustainable Development Fund Officers will attend Panel meetings to present 

applications for grant aid and to report on progress, commitment and expenditure. 

 

9. The Chief Executive, relevant Director and Sustainable Development Manager will be 

invited to attend meetings and report on issues that affect the Panel. 

 

10. The Sustainable Development Fund Officers will circulate the agenda and papers  seven 

days before each meeting, will record decisions and issue minutes for approval at the next 

Panel meeting. 

 

11. Late business may be introduced by tabling papers with the approval of the Panel. 

 

12. The Sustainable Development Fund Officers will have delegated powers to approve grants 

up to £2,000 and will report these to the next meeting of the Panel for noting. 

 

13. Approvals of Grants over £30,000 will be referred back to the Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority for ratification. 

 

14. Panel members who are directly involved in any application submitted will declare an 

interest and leave the room while the application is being discussed.  It may be that Panel 

members represent an organisation which has an involvement in an application submitted, 

but that organisation will not receive any financial benefit.  In that case, representatives 

need not declare an interest.    

 

3.0 Meetings 

 

15. Five meetings to be held across the year. 

 

16. A calendar of meetings to be agreed in the autumn each year for the next twelve months. 

 

17. Meetings to be cancelled for want of business by giving 7 days’ notice. 

 

18. At least two meetings each year will include presentations from or visits to projects 

supported by the Fund. 

 

19. Chair to preside at Panel meetings - if unable to be present, the Chair will appoint another 
member to preside.  If no appointment has been made, those present to  elect a Chair for 

that meeting. 

 

4.0 Decisions and Reporting 

 

20. The Grants Advisory Panel will make a recommendation to the Authority’s Sustainable 

Development Fund Committee following a full discussion of applications.   

Page 122



                           31 
 

 

21. The recommendations from the Grants Advisory Panel will be voted on by the Sustainable 

Development Fund Committee, made up of 6 Members of the Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority, who may decide to approve, defer or reject the recommendation.  On the 

basis of the decision from the Members’ Committee applicants will be informed of the 

decision by the Sustainable Development Officer as soon as possible, but no later than 

fourteen days after the decision date. 

 

22. In cases of urgency, a recommendation may be made to either the next scheduled National 

Park Authority (NPA) meeting, or, if a decision needs to be taken prior to the next 

scheduled NPA meeting, an Urgent Business Committee. Any decisions taken by the NPA 

or Urgent Business Committee are to be reported to the next meeting of the Sustainable 

Development Fund Committee. 

 

5.0 Appeals Procedure 

 

23. If an application is refused the applicant may appeal against the decision.   

 

The appeal may be based on:  

i. a claim of incorrect procedure or 

ii. a claim of an incorrect decision 

 

Any appeal must be made in writing within seven days of the date on which the applicant is 

notified of the decision and sent to the Authority’s Monitoring Officer. The Authority has 

28 working days to determine an appeal. 

 

An appeal on the grounds of incorrect procedure will be reviewed by the Monitoring 

Officer. If the Monitoring Officer considers there has been a material defect in the 

procedure, the applicant shall be entitled to request that the application be reconsidered 

by an Appeal Panel.  

 

An appeal on the grounds of an incorrect decision will be heard by an Appeal Panel.  

 

The Appeal Panel shall consist of five Members: 

 

 three NPA Members, and 

 two Advisory Members (or duly appointed substitute Advisory Members) 

 

all of whom were not involved in the consideration of the original application. 

 

The final decision shall be made by a vote of Authority Members, assisted and advised by 

the Advisory Members of the Appeal Panel. 

 

 

Delegated Powers 

 

To recommend to the Sustainable Development Fund Committee awards from the Sustainable 

Development Fund to individuals and organisations.  

 

PART I DELEGATION TO THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OFFICER 

 

1. To award grants from the Sustainable Development Fund up to a maximum of £2,000. 

        

Page 123



                           32 
 

      

 

APPENDIX G 

 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT FUND COMMITTEE 

 

Composition 

 

Up to 6 Members of the Authority including the Chair of the Grants Advisory Panel.   

 

Terms of Reference 

 

1. To promote sustainable development, monitor and report progress and issues relating to 

the Sustainable Development Fund. 

 

Delegated Powers 

 

1. To award grants from the Sustainable Development Fund based on recommendations from 

the Grants Advisory Panel up to a maximum of £30,000 per application. 

 

2. To determine applications for grants from the Sustainable Development Fund where the 

members of the Grants Advisory Panel are unable to reach agreement.   

 

3. To monitor and review Sustainable Development Fund progress. 

 

4. To make an annual report to the National Park Authority for approval on how the fund is 

allocated and, when approved, to send this to the Welsh Assembly Government 

 

 

PART I DELEGATION TO SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT FUND OFFICER 

 

1. To award grants from the Sustainable Development Fund up to a maximum of £2,000. 

             

Page 124



                           33 
 

 

 

            APPENDIX H 

 

 

 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING WORKING GROUP 

 

 

Composition 

 

Six Members of the National Park Authority as follows: 

 

 Two members appointed by Powys County Council; 

 One member appointed by Monmouthshire County Council; 

 One member appointed by Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Two members appointed by the Welsh Government 

 

The Working Group will elect its own Chair at its first meeting after the Annual General Meeting 

each year. 

 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

1. To consider the implementation of current National Park Policy in relation to Affordable 

Housing, delivery issues and future Policy direction 

 

2. To hold quarterly meetings 

 

 
Delegated Powers 

 

The Working Group would make any necessary recommendations to the National Park Authority. 

 

 

Page 125



                           34 
 

 

 

            APPENDIX I 

      

 

GOVERNANCE AND MEMBER DEVELOPMENT WORKING GROUP 

 

Composition 

 

The Working Group shall consist of six Members – four appointed by the constituent Unitary 

Authorities and two by the Welsh Assembly Government, to include the Deputy Chair of the 

Authority.  From time to time, and without setting a precedent, other members may be invited to 

attend a meeting in relation to a particular topic or area of expertise. 

 

The Working Group shall also consist of the following officers: 

 

 Chief Executive  

 Democratic Services Manager  

 IT and Systems Manager (Data Protection Officer) 

 Other officers as required (eg. Legal advisor, Finance Manager, S151 Officer, Public 

Engagement Manager) 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

To review and implement governance best practice and member development to improve decision 

making, performance of committees and business planning with due regard to transparency, 

accountability and accessibility. 

 

At the first meeting of the working group after the Annual General Meeting each year the first 

item of business shall be to appoint a Chair of the working group. 
 

Governance 

 

1. To track best practice in governance and recommend its implementation to the Authority 

as appropriate; 

 

2. To carry out reviews  or consider proposed changes to the Authority’s regulatory 

documents; 

 
3. To review the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement each year to ensure it is 

comprehensive and evaluative; 

 

4. To review the transparency and accountability of committees with particular regard to 

external stakeholders, to include the use of webcasting and social media; 

 
5. To consider reports from the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales and make  

recommendations to the Authority; 

 

6. To consider funding opportunities in relation to technological and other improvements to 

governance; 

 

Page 126



                           35 
 

7. To consider Reviews of Effectiveness of the Authority and its committees and monitor the 

implementation of any recommendations arising from these; 

 

8. To work with the Welsh Assembly Government, Wales Audit Office or the Authority’s 

internal auditors in any governance reviews of the Authority;  

 

 

 

Member Development 

 

9. To oversee the delivery of the Members’ Induction and Continuing Development 

Programme in line with the Member Development Strategy; 

 

10. To support the Authority’s ethos of Member induction and development in supporting 

good governance and promote this to all Members; 

 

11. To review the Training Needs Analysis each year and recommend a Member Development 

Programme to the Authority;  

 

12. To review the support available to members, including the Members’ Personal 

Development Interviews and mentoring scheme, and make recommendations to the 

Authority as necessary; 

 

13. To monitor attendance levels at committee meetings and training events and make any 

recommendations to the Authority; 

 

14. To consider opportunities for the Authority to apply for Awards in relation to governance, 

Member Development or Scrutiny and assist in the collation of evidence for assessment; 

 

15. Any other task in relation to Corporate Governance or Member development as may be 

delegated by the National Park Authority 

 

Scrutiny 

 

 

16. To review progress on scrutiny reviews and identifying any obstacles to progress 

17. Reviewing the scrutiny process on an annual basis to ensure it is fit for purpose 

and sustainable in terms of financial and staffing capacity 

18. Evaluate the scrutiny reviews at the end of each financial year to ensure that they: 

a) Have provided improvements to service delivery 

b) Have represented value for money to the Authority  

c) Have sufficiently involved the public to maintain objectivity 

d) That the recommendations are achievable in terms of the Authority’s 

financial and human resources 

Delegated Powers 

 

Page 127



                           36 
 

To make recommendations to the National Park Authority in respect of improvements to 

governance, member development and scrutiny as laid out in the terms of reference above. 

APPENDIX J 

 

 

 

LOCAL ACCESS FORUM SELECTION PANEL 

 

 

Composition 

 

The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee, the Member 

Champion for Biodiversity and Landscape, and the Member Champion for Equality and Diversity. 

Composition should, as far as possible, meet the requirements of Paragraph 13.3 of Schedule 7 of 

the Environment Act 1995 in terms of balance of local authority and Welsh Assembly appointed 

Members. 

 

Should there be any changes in future to Member Champion roles, representation on the Panel 

shall comprise the two roles which match closest to access and recreational and agriculture and 

land management topic areas. 

 

The relevant Chief Officer shall oversee the recruitment process and provide advice to the panel 

as necessary regarding external applications for membership. 

 

 

 

Terms of Reference/Delegated Powers 

 

To appoint persons to the Brecon Beacons Local Access Forum for a fixed term of three years, or 

as set out in the regulations, as follows: 

 

1) Confirm description of the role of Local Access Forum member in line with legislation 

governing the Local Access Forum; 

2) Approve arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to 

the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 

3) Approve arrangements for relevant information to be sent to any person on request; 

4) Consider a list of suitable candidates; 

5) Make a decision on a final selection, and report back to the Planning, Access and Rights of 

Way Committee; 

6) Where no qualified person has applied, to approve further arrangements for 

advertisement. 

 

Page 128



                           37 
 

 

APPENDIX K 

 

POLICY FORUM 

 
 Composition 

 
All Members of the Authority, sitting as the Policy Forum. 

The Chair and Deputy Chair to be elected by the Authority at the Annual General Meeting.   

The Forum may from time to time establish task and finish groups to address particular issues. 

 
Terms of Reference 

 

 

1) To provide opportunity to debate the impact of environmental, cultural, economic and social 

policy and legislative changes on the Authority’s future business and work with the Chief 

Executive and Management TeamSenior Leadership Group to make any recommendations to 

the Authority; 

 

2) To review, refresh and revise policies, taking account of evidence and outcomes on the 

ground and input from the four key work area working groups; 

 

3) To provide guidance and feedback to officers for the creation of the National Park 

Management Plan, Local Development Plan, State of the Park Report and other key strategy 

documents to be recommended to the Authority; 

4) To provide opportunity for the Chief Executive to meet confidentially with members to 

address future budgetary issues; 

5) To involve key stakeholders, partners and other external bodies as appropriate; 

6) To review progress on key partnerships and identify opportunities for future partnerships to 

further the Authority’s objectives; 

7) To provide opportunity to debate the Authority’s  medium and long term objectives with 

input from the four key work area working groups as required; 

8) To provide opportunity to initiate or support work in progress on the impact of Brexit on the 

Park’s landscape and communities, and to work with Welsh Government and stakeholders as 

needed. 

9) To ensure appropriate integration and coherence of priorities for delivery across the four key 

work areas in pursuit of our purposes and duty 

10) To do all the above in light of available resources and financial constraints; 

 

Delegated Powers 

 

Page 129



                           38 
 

The Forum will have an advisory role and make recommendations to the Authority in partnership 

with the Chief Executive and the Senior Leadership GroupManagement Team.  It will not have 

decision making powers. 

Page 130



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority  

 

Financial Regulations 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Adopted December 2018 

Revision 01.  June, 2019 

Review Date:  March 2020 

 

  

Page 131



 

Contents 

 
1.0   Background 

1.1   Responsibilities  

1.2   The Legal Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 

1.3   Changes to, and suspension of,  the Financial Regulations 

 

2.0   Budgeting Management and Financial Planning 

2.1   Budget Setting 

2.2   Reserves 

2.3   Budget Monitoring and Financial Planning 

2.4   Virements and Budget Revisions 

 

3.0   Financial Management 

3.1   Accounting Policies 

3.2   Accounting Systems 

3.3   Accounting Records 

3.4   Audit Arrangements 

3.5   Fraud and Corruption 

 

4.0    Financial Systems 

4.1   Value Added Tax 

4.2   Income 

4.3   Money Laundering 

4.4   Grants Receivable 

4.5   Expenditure 

4.6   Purchase Orders 

4.7   Leases 

4.8   Payments to Suppliers 

4.9   Timeliness of Processing Creditor Payments 

4.10 Payments to Employees, Members and Pensioners 

4.11 Claims for Reimbursement of Expenses 

4.12 Taxation 

4.13 Year-End Procedures 

4.14 Prepayments 

4.15 Controlled Financial Stationery 

 

5.0   The Control of Resources 

5.1   Physical Assets 

5.2   Personal Use of Authority Assets 

5.3   Imprests 

5.4   Asset Disposal 

5.5   Insurance and Risk Management 

5.6   Intangible Assets: Treasury Management 

5.7   Staffing 

 

 

 

Page 132



1.0 Background 
 

These Regulations are approved by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (the 

Authority) and provide the framework for managing the Authority’s financial affairs, 

together with Standing Orders in Relation to Contracts, Codes of Conduct, the Scheme of 

Delegation, the Treasury Management Policy and the detailed guidance on financial 

management given in the Authority’s financial procedures.  The Regulations should be read 

in with reference to the above documents.  They apply to every member and employee of 

the Authority.  Failure to comply with the Regulations may result in disciplinary action.   

 

The Chief Executive has delegated authority in consultation with the Finance 

Manager/Section 151 Officer (Chief Financial Officer), abbreviated below as the Financee 

Manager/S151 Officer, to introduce detailed Financial Procedures in support of these 

Financial Regulations from time to time as necessary for the proper administration of the 

financial affairs of the Authority. 

 

The aim of the Regulations is to ensure that a proper system is in place for managing the 

public funds entrusted to the authority for the fulfilment of its statutory purposes and that 

all employees and members of the Authority are aware of their responsibilities in this 

regard. 

 

1.1 Responsibilities 

The Authority is responsible, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations for internal 

control, including financial and risk management. The National Park Authority and Audit 

and Scrutiny Committee are responsible for regulating, supervising and controlling the 
Authority’s finances and accounts, co-ordinating financial and accounting arrangements and 

making arrangements for audit of the Authority’s finances and systems.  

 

The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for ensuring that proper arrangements are 

made to ensure the financial regulations are observed at all levels within the Authority. 

 

1.2 The Legal Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer  

As a public authority, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is bound by UK 

legislation, accounting standards and codes of practice for the public sector as set down by 

CIPFA.  The Finance Manager/S151 Officer is responsible, under Section 151 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 for the administration of the Authority’s financial affairs.  Further 

statutory duties, which cannot be overridden, arise from the following: 

 

The Local Government Finance Act 1988 

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

The Local Government Act 2003 

The Public  Audit (Wales) Act 2004 (as amended) 

The Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations currently in force. 

 

The S151 Officer is responsible under the above legislation for the following: 

 

o The proper administration of the Authority’s financial affairs. 

o The setting and monitoring of compliance with financial management standards. 

Page 133



o The reporting on the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves 

for the purposes of making budget calculations. 

 

In accordance with Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the S151 

Officer ‘shall report to the Authority if it appears to him that the Authority, committee or any of 

its officers: 

o Has made or is about to make a decision which involves, or would involve, the 

authority incurring expenditure which is unlawful.  

o Has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued to a 

conclusion, would be unlawful.  

o Is about to enter an item of account the entry of which is unlawful.  

o If the expenditure of the authority is likely to exceed the resources available to it 

to meet that expenditure’.  

In making such a report, the S151 Officer shall: 

 

o Consult with the Monitoring Officer on the issue of unlawfulness. 

o Consult with the Chief Executive on the matter. 

o If there is disagreement or doubt, ask the Monitoring Officer to obtain Opinion of 

Counsel. 

 

Any such report is to be sent to all members of the Authority and the external auditor.  

Once a report is made, the Authority is required to hold a meeting within 21 days to 

consider it.  The source of conduct which led to the report must not be pursued until the 

full Authority has considered the report. 

 

Also in accordance with Section 114 of the 1988 Act,  

o The statutory duties of the S151 Officer are required to be performed in person, 

with statutory contingency arrangements made for illness or absence.  

o The Authority shall provide the S151 Officer with sufficient staff, accommodation 

and other resources, including legal advice where this is necessary, to carry out the 

duties under Sections 114 and 151 of the 1988 Act. 

 

To assist the Finance Manager/S151 Officer in carrying out the responsibilities outlined 

above, it is the responsibility of the Chief Executive to ensure that the Finance Manager/S151 

Officer is consulted and informed when decisions are made which have significant financial 

implications 

 

1.3 Changes and Suspensions of Financial Regulations 
 

These Financial Regulations may not be amended or suspended without prior approval of 

the Authority.   

  

Page 134



2.0 Budget Management and Financial Planning  
 

2.1 Budget setting 

The Welsh Government issues an annual approved expenditure limit together with details 

of the 75% National Park Grant payable for the coming year in January of each financial year.  

The Chief Executive is responsible for preparing a detailed budget for the coming financial 

year with an accompanying levy statement for approval by the Authority.  By 15th February 

annually, the Authority is required to issue a levy on its constituent local authorities for the 

remaining 25% of approved expenditure in the proportions laid down in the National Park 

Authorities (Levies) (Wales) Regulations 1995.  The S151 Officer is responsible for ensuring 

that the budget is prepared in accordance with sound financial principles and at a level of 

detail which is consistent with good financial management and the accounting principles laid 

down by CIPFA. 

 

In addition to setting the budget for the coming financial year, the Authority should also 

approve medium term budget forecasts for at least the two subsequent years, for both 

revenue and capital expenditure. The Chief Executive is responsible for preparing budget 

forecasts which reflect the Authority’s documented medium term objectives and for 

ensuring that the forecasts are both sound and prudent.   

 

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that the budget reflects fully the strategic 

priorities of the organisation, its statutory responsibilities and its Corporate Plan.  It should 

have regard to the approved expenditure limit set by the Welsh Government or the best 

available forecast thereof and the level of reserves held by the Authority.  

 
Service Managers, the Delivery Director and Chief Executive are responsible for ensuring 

that the budgets for their areas of responsibility are prepared in accordance with the 

corporate objectives and timetable agreed by the Chief Executive and are as accurate and 

complete as possible.     

 

2.2 Reserves 

Reserves are maintained to enable the Authority to provide for unexpected events and to 

permit some flexibility in the management of the budget from one year to the next.  

Reserves for specific purposes may be maintained.  The use of reserves to fund planned 

expenditure is subject to the approval of the Authority as part of the budget setting 

arrangements described in 2.1 above. 

 

It is the responsibility of the S151 Officer under S26 and S27 of the Local Government Act 

2003 to advise the Authority annually on the appropriate level of reserves and to make 

recommendations on the Authority’s strategy with regard to reserves.   Reserves should 

be accounted for in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice. 

 

2.3 Budget Monitoring and Financial Planning 

Responsibility for the management and monitoring of the Authority’s budget ultimately rests 

with the Authority.  It is delegated to the Chief Executive who, in turn delegates this task 

to other senior managers and budget holders.  The S151 Officer ensures that an adequate 

system of budget reporting and monitoring is in place.  Service Managers,  the Delivery  

Director and the Chief Executive are responsible for ensuring that expenditure in their 

Page 135



areas of responsibility does not take place unless it is included in the approved budget, 

correctly allocated to an appropriate budget heading and appropriately authorised.    

 

Regular reports are made to the the Audit & Scrutiny Committee, comparing actual 

expenditure and income with the budget and, when appropriate, significant revisions made 

to the budget.  

 

2.4 Virements and Budget Revisions 

The original estimate for the current financial year will be reviewed by the Chief Executive 

and officers with budget management responsibility during the course of that year.  The 

Chief Executive will implement any budget revisions which are necessary to reflect changes 

in priorities or circumstances during the year.   Significant  changes to planned use of 

reserves/revisions to the budget will be submitted to the Authority for approval as provided 

for by the following limits:- 

 

Changes to the estimates during the year in the form of movements, or virements, of 

individual sums of up to £10,000- can be authorised by Budget Holders within their own 

Budget Heads according to the approved sign-off limits in force (Planning Policy Manager/ 

Natural Resources Manager/ Public Engagement Manager/ Sustainable Development 

Manager: £30,000; other budget holders: £10,000).  Virements of  up to £5075,000 in total 

between Service Areas require authorisation by the Delivery Director or Chief Executive.  

Virements up to £100125,000 in total must be approved by the Chief Executive.  Individual 

virements/movements which revise gross expenditure or income on a Budget Head by 

£100125,000 or more, or  should be authorised by both the Chief Executive and the Finance 

Manager/S151 Officer.  Any movements involving a transfer to or from Reserves should be 

authorised by the Finance Manager /S151 Officer.  The Audit and Scrutiny Committee will 

receive a summary and explanation of all budget adjustments in the previous quarter which 

have revised gross income or expenditure on an individual budget head by more than 

£50,000. 

 

Budget adjustments which require an additional use of Reserves of more than £50,000 or 

which would result in the General Reserve being reduced below the minimum balance 

recommended by the S151 Officer are subject to prior approval by the Authority. All 

virements/movements must be in accordance with the stated policies and objectives of the 

Authority. 

 

3.0 Financial Management 
 

All staff and members of the Authority have a duty to observe the highest standards of 

probity in dealing with financial issues.   It is the Authority’s duty to regulate, supervise and 

control its finances and accounts and oversee financial and accounting arrangements.  It is 

the duty of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee to receive reports, monitor, note progress, 

approve and make recommendations on Financial Systems to include Budget Monitoring 

and audit reports on the general system of financial controls.  

 

3.1 Accounting Policies 

The Finance Manager/S151 Officer must ensure that the accounting policies and processes 

of the Authority comply with legal and professional requirements.   Changes to the 

Page 136



Authority’s accounting policies are subject to approval by the National Park Authority and 

are reported in the annual Statement of Accounts. 

  

Page 137



 

3.2 Accounting Systems 

The Authority is responsible for maintaining a proper system of accounting for and 

recording expenditure and income.  It is also responsible for establishing and overseeing 

internal controls which ensure compliance by all officers of the Authority with the 

accounting system.  The S151 Officer is responsible to the Authority for keeping the 

principal accounting records of the Authority, supervising and controlling all accounting 

systems and records. The Finance Manager/S151 Officer shall ensure that, in so far as is 

practicable, the Authority’s accounting records and statements comply with professional 

and statutory requirements and codes of practice.  Day to day financial management is 

documented by written financial procedures.  Departures from financial regulations or 

procedures should be subject to authorisation by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.  

Unauthorised departures should be addressed through the Authority’s disciplinary 

procedures. 

 

3.3 Accounting Records 

The Authority has a statutory responsibility to make arrangements for preparing an annual 

Financial Statement which presents a true and fair view of its financial operation during the 

financial year.  The year runs from 1st April to 31st March.  The Finance Manager/S151 

Officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual Statement of accounts is prepared in 

accordance with the current Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC) and the relevant legislation.   

This includes the requirement to sign and date the draft Statement by the statutory deadline, 

certifying that is presents fairly the financial position of the Authority at the accounting date 

and its income and expenditure for the preceding financial year ended 31 March.  The 

Finance Manager/S151 Officer must also make arrangements to facilitate the audit of the 

Statement in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations, providing such 

information and explanations as are required by the Auditor.  

 

The National Park Authority, or an appropriately authorised Sub-Committee with delegated 

powers, is responsible for approving the Statement of Accounts for each financial year by 

the statutory deadline.   Members receive the annual report of the Auditor General for 

Wales on the Financial Statements at the same meeting andand consider any related 

recommendations for improvement.  The Chair of the Authority or Committee and the  

S151 Officer sign and date the Statement immediately following approval.  The Statement 

of Accounts is then published on the Authority’s website at the same time as the Annual 

Governance Statement.   

 

3.4 Audit Arrangements 

 

Internal audit is part of the system of internal control established by the S151 Officer to 

ensure that the Authority makes proper use of the financial and other assets of which it has 

stewardship and accounts for that use correctly.  An effective programme of internal audit 

helps to ensure that financial management and other corporate governance systems are 

robust, minimise the risk of financial loss due to error or fraud and are efficient and effective.  

It also identifies non-compliance with the procedures which make up each system and the 
associated risks. The practices and procedures followed by internal auditors should follow 

the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Authorities in the United Kingdom 

 

Page 138



The Finance Manager/S151 Officer is responsible for making arrangements for internal audit 

and ensuring that the recommendations of internal auditors are considered and 

implemented.   The Audit and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for overseeing the system 

of internal control, receiving all reports from the Authority’s auditors (both internal and 

external). The Chief Executive, Delivery Director and Service Managers are responsible for 

considering and responding promptly to recommendations made in audit reports and for 

assisting auditors in carrying out investigations by facilitating access to information, premises 

and staff for which they are responsible. Internal Audit may require, and must be given, 

access to any records held by the Authority without notice. 

 

External audit is the means by which the Authority is held accountable to the state and 

the public for its stewardship of the public funds and assets entrusted to it for the 

performance of its statutory purposes.  The Authority’s external auditors; the ‘Appointed 

External Auditor’, must be satisfied that its annual Statement of Accounts presents a true 

and fair view of its financial position and its income and expenditure for the preceding year 

and complies with legal and professional requirements.  The appointed external auditor also 

reports on the how well the Authority is monitoring and improving its performance and 

the soundness of its internal control systems. 

 

The Finance Manager/S151 Officer is responsible for:  

 

o Liaising and exchanging information with the Appointed External Auditor’ 

representatives.  

o Facilitating audit investigations.  

o Promoting cooperation with internal audit.  

o Advising the Chief Executive and authority members on matters relating to external 

audit. 

 

3.5 Fraud and Corruption 

The Authority does not tolerate fraud and corruption, whether external or internal.  

Members and staff will set an example of integrity by adhering at all times to the legal and 

procedural requirements put in place to safeguard against malpractice. 

 

The Authority will maintain an effective policy on fraud and corruption and promote a 

culture of high ethical standards.  The Chief Executive will maintain appropriate 

‘whistleblowing’ policies and procedures and implement the provisions of the fraud and 

corruption policy immediately should any instances of fraudulent or corrupt behaviour be 

discovered. 

 

All staff are responsible for reporting any irregularity involving misuse of Authority assets 

by staff, fraudulent claims of payment from the Authority and for guarding against fraud.  

Any irregularity should be immediately reported to the Chief Executive and the Finance 

Manager/S151 Officer who will take steps to investigate and report on it in accordance with 

the Authority’s Fraud and Corruption Policy.  If it is considered that a criminal act may have 

taken place the matter will be reported to the Police.  If an employee of the Authority is 

involved, the appropriate disciplinary process will initiated. 
 

Staff will ensure that any potential conflict of interest or receipt of gifts or hospitality is 

reported in accordance with the provisions of the Authority’s code of conduct relating to 

Page 139



staff.  Members will comply with the Code of Conduct for Members and only accept gifts 

or hospitality which are permitted by the Code.   

 

4.0 Financial Systems 
 

The S151 Officer has a responsibility to ensure that financial systems and procedures are 

sound.  This role includes the provision of advice to other departments on financial and 

administrative processes.  However, the Chief Executive, Delivery Director and Service 

Managers also are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own 

service areas. 

 

4.1 Value Added Tax 

All queries and questions of principle relating to the collection or payment of VAT will be 

referred to the Finance Manager, who will consult with HM Revenue and Customs and 

obtain official advice.  The Finance Manager will account for and reclaim VAT on a quarterly 

basis as required by VAT legislation, maintaining such records as are required by HM 

Revenue and Customs and providing any explanations or information required by HM 

Revenue and Customs officials. 

 

4.2 Income 

Effective income collection systems ensure that all income due is identified, collected, 

receipted and banked properly. It is the overall responsibility of the Chief Executive to make 

arrangements to obtain income promptly on supply of goods or services or delivery of 

grant-aided projects.  This improves Authority cashflow and reduces the cost of 

administering debts.   
 

The Chief Executive, Delivery Director and Service Managers should conduct a regular 

review (at least annually) of fees, charges and prices set within their service area, reporting 

proposed changes and any proposals for additional chargeable services to the Authority. 

All fees and charges must be set in compliance with relevant statutory regulations and 

guidance.   

 

Any person who receives money on behalf of the Authority will ensure an official receipt 

is generated and keep such records as are required by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer, 

including an accurate and chronological record of all receipts.  Only receipts in the format 

approved by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer will be issued.   

 

All cash and cheques received on behalf of the Authority will be balanced and either passed 

to the Finance Manager or, by arrangement with the Finance Manager/S151 Officer, direct 

into the Authority’s bank account, either daily or at intervals approved by the Finannce 

Manager/S151 Officer.  All cash, electronic and cheque income deposited in the Authority’s 

bank accounts will be accounted for in a format agreed by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer 

together with the supporting information required by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer. 

All systems and arrangements for the handling and banking of cash and recording of income 

due to the Authority shall be approved by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.   

 

The Chief Executive, Delivery Director and Service Managers should ensure that 

procedures are in place to enable staff providing goods and services to third parties on the 

Authority’s behalf to collect the income receivable by the Authority as a result.  This may 

Page 140



be achieved either by requiring immediate payment or by requesting an invoice.  Income 

collection systems are subject to review and approval by the  Finance Manager/S151 Officer. 

 

All invoices for goods and services supplied by the Authority will be raised in accordance 

with the relevant written financial procedures. Particulars of all invoices to be raised for 

goods and services supplied will be provided promptly to the Finance Manager/S151 Officer 

in a format specified.  Once an invoice has been raised, no reduction in the amount due will 

be permitted except by receipt of payment or the issue of an official credit note.  Post-

dated and third-party cheques will not be accepted in payment of debt.  Staff receiving 

income will have regard to the Money Laundering Regulations (see below) and will seek 

advice from the Finance Manager/S151 Officer if they have concerns about individual items 

of income. 

 

Debt recovery arrangements will be in accordance with the relevant written financial 

procedures. Sums due to the Authority will not be written off except on the authority of 

the Finance Manager/S151 Officer. The Audit and Scrutiny Committee will receive reports 

on all debts in excess of £5,000 written off. 

 

4.3 Money Laundering 

Money Laundering as defined by the Money Laundering Regulations 2003 is the criminal 

offence of concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 

from the UK; becoming concerned in an arrangement which the individual knows or 

suspects will facilitate the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or 

on behalf of another person; or acquiring, using or possessing criminal property.  The 

definition of criminal property is very wide and includes the proceeds of employment on 

which tax has not been paid. 

 

The Authority has designated the Finance Manager/S151 Officer as Money Laundering 

Officer.  All officers of the Authority are responsible for reporting any suspected case of 

money laundering to the Money Laundering Officer, who is in turn responsible for recording 

and investigating any such cases and reporting them where appropriate to the National 

Criminal Intelligence Service.  The Money Laundering Officer is also responsible for 

establishing procedures and policies to identify and report on cases of money laundering 

and advicing on the appropriate training of staff likely to be exposed to money laundering 

risks. 

 

4.4 Grants Receivable 

The National Park Authority is responsible for considering and approving major grant-aided 

projects, taking into account their operational and financial implications and their 

contribution to the Authority’s objectives.   

 

The Chief Executive, Delivery Director and Service Managers’ responsibilities are: 

 

o Through the Management team, to review and approve proposals for new projects,  

and submit to the Authority for approval if warranted by their scale and nature. 

o To ensure that any requirements for match funding are met and that the full 
budgetary implications of undertaking the grant-funded project are evaluated and 

authorised in accordance with budget management principles set out in Section 2,  

together with any operational effects and attendant risk. 

Page 141



o To ensure that grant claims are submitted promptly in accordance with the grant 

body’s timetable to optimise cashflow. 

o To ensure that all related expenditure and income is accurately coded, that it 

complies with the conditions of the grant and is supported by sufficient 

documentary and other evidence to justify a claim. 

o To ensure that all non-financial supporting evidence relating to the project is 

securely stored for the period required by the grant body after the completion of 

the project. 

 

The Finance Manager/S151 Officer’s responsibilities are: 

o To ensure systems are in place to account for grants correctly. 

o To certify or make arrangements for certifying the financial accuracy of grant claims, 

depending on the grant body’s requirements. 

o To ensure that all grant payments notified to the Authority are received and 

properly accounted for. 

o To ensure that appropriate arrangements for audit are made, retaining all financial 

records for the period required by the grant body. 

 

4.5 Expenditure 

Authorities have a duty to make efficient and economical use of the public money entrusted 

to them for the performance of their functions, providing good value to the tax payer.  

Failure to follow the appropriate procedure for procuring goods and services may lead to 

disciplinary action. 

 

When procuring goods and services, employees shall comply with the Authority’s Standing 

Orders Relating to Contracts and other relevant Authority and Welsh Government 

procurement policies and guidance.  Officers’ authorisation limits, for the purposes of 

committing the Authority to item of expenditure, will be agreed between the appropriate 

Line Manager or the Chief Executive and the Finance Manager/S151 Officer and recorded 

by the S151 Officer.  Individual items of expenditure in excess of £100125,000 must be 

authorised by the Chief Executive. 

 

4.6 Purchase Orders 

The use of official purchase orders for the supply of goods and services is the principal 

means by which the Authority controls non-staff expenditure.   Effective controls on the 

ordering process ensure that the budgets are properly managed, public money is not wasted 

and fraud and corruption are prevented. 

 

Official purchase orders in a form approved by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer shall be 

issued by all departments for all works, goods and services required, except for supplies of 

utilities, rent, rates, and other periodic payments, purchases made using official 

procurement cards and petty cash disbursements.  Purchase orders will be approved by an 

authorised signatory.   

 

Where, as a matter of urgency, goods or services are ordered verbally and are to be 

invoiced and the issue of an official order is not practicable, a confirmation order shall be 
issued on the same day or on the next working day. 

 

Purchases will comply with Authority policies, Welsh Government policies and relevant 

legislation relating to public procurement. 

Page 142



  

It is the responsibility of the authorised signatory to ensure that the financial code to which 

the order is charged is an appropriate one for the expenditure being incurred and that there 

are sufficient unspent funds in the budget for that code to cover the purchase.  Authorised 

signatories should not charge expenditure to codes for which they are not the budget 

holders unless the approval of the budget holder has been obtained. 

 

4.7 Leases 

 All new/amended leases relating to land and buildings should be referred to the Authority’s 

legal services provider and Chief Executive in compliance with the Authority’s Scheme of 

Delegation.  

 

Complex rules exist to govern the classification of Local Authority capital expenditure in 

relation to leasing arrangements. In order to ensure that arrangements are accounted for 

correctly all leasing/ rental/ hire purchase agreements and other arrangements where the 

use of an asset is acquired without the transfer of ownership to the Authority must be 

referred to the Finance Manager/S151 Officer prior to the arrangement being finalised and 

a copy of the signed agreement provided when available. 

 

4.8 Payments to suppliers 

All payments out of the bank accounts of the Authority will be made by the Finance Section 

and authorised in accordance with the Bank Mandate, whether by cheque, or electronic 

funds transfer. 

 

All other accounts for payment will be certified by an approved signatory by a method 

approved by the S151 Officer and recorded in written financial procedures.  All accounts 

for payment not covered by the exceptions given above will carry the order number.   

 

In certifying accounts, the authorised signatory is providing assurance to the Authority that: 

 

o An official purchase order has been issued for the goods or services if required (see 

section 4.6 above re purchase orders) and the appropriate procurement processes 

have been followed (as contained in the Standing Orders relating to Contracts and 

related guidance). 

o The goods or services have been received, examined and found satisfactory in 

accordance with the specification on the order or contract. 

o The prices of the items are in accordance with the order or contract and are 

arithmetically accurate. 

o Appropriate entries have been made in departmental inventories or stock records 

as required. 

o The account has not been previously passed for payment and is a proper liability of 

the Authority. 

o The financial coding of the authorised expenditure is appropriate. 

 

If an invoice contains arithmetical errors it may be amended by the authorised signatory, 

with a written indication of the reason, unless it is a VAT invoice, in which case it must be 
returned to the supplier for correction. 

 

Page 143



The Finance Manager/S151 Officer is entitled to rely on the assurance provided by the 

invoice certification and make payment in accordance with the standing orders and financial 

regulations of the Authority. 

 

The Finance Manager/S151 Officer may authorise the issue of procurement cards to staff 

to permit approved purchases and expenses to be paid directly by the Authority.  The 

amounts of any official expenses incurred by this method must comply with the schemes 

operated by the Authority.  Officers who are supplied with procurement cards are 

responsible for their safe custody and for accounting to the Authority for expenditure 

incurred on them in accordance with the controls, documentation, timetable and format 

laid down by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.  No personal or private payments for goods 

or services using an Authority credit card will be permitted.   

 

Disbursements of grants and other payments not supported by invoices will be authorised 

by means of approved documentation and subject to the same controls on authorisation, 

coding and compliance with standing orders as invoice payments. 

 

4.9 Timeliness of Processing Creditor Payments 

Where there is a credit period agreed between the supplier and the Authority, this is the 

criterion used to judge whether late payment has occurred. Where there is no agreed 

credit period, the last date for payment is taken to be 30 days after the date of the 

invoice. 

 

In order to ensure that the Authority complies with the requirements placed upon it 

under this legislation, staff who deal with processing creditor payments are required to 

follow the procedures established by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer and ensure that 

invoices reach the Finance Section in sufficient time to allow payment within 30 days. 

  

4.10 Payments to Employees, Members and Pensioners  

The payment of employees, members and pensioners of the Authority is made by the 

Finance Manager/S151 Officer in accordance with the relevant legislation and detailed 

guidance supplied by the HMRC.  It represents the majority of expenditure by the Authority 

and therefore must be subject to rigorous internal controls.   All individuals employed by 

the Authority must be added to the payroll and have the appropriate PAYE and NI 

deductions made from payments to them, unless they are self-employed as defined by 

HMRC or employed by a recognised staff agency.  It is the responsibility of the Chief 

Executive with the advice of the Human Resources (HR) Officer and in consultation with 

staff through the appropriate mechanisms to implement management procedures which 

help to ensure that each employee provides the level and standard of service to the 

Authority required by their contract of employment. 

 

The payment of all salaries, pension contributions, compensation, official expenses and 

other emoluments is made under arrangements approved and controlled by the Finance 

Manager/Section 151 Officer.   The authorisation of the monthly transmission of net pay 

and expenses from the Authority’s bank account should be carried out by at least two 

members of staff, one of which is the Finance Manager/S151 Officer, the Chief Executive or 
the Delivery Director.  The Authority is a member of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme through the Powys Pension Fund and payments to its pensioners are determined 

by the Scheme and administered by Powys County Council.  The Finance Manager/S151 

Officer is responsible for ensuring that payments are made into the Powys Pension Fund on 

Page 144



behalf of the Authority and its employees and is responsible for making arrangements for 

other deductions from payments to staff and members as required by legislation or 

authorised by the individuals concerned and paying over the amounts collected to the 

appropriate recipient. 

 

Changes to nationally and locally determined conditions of service which impact upon  

payments to staff and members will be implemented by the Authority’s HR Officer by 

notification to the Authority’s payroll provider.  Appointments of employees will be made 

in accordance with the HR Policies operated by the Authority and the approved 

establishment, grades and rates of pay. 

 

All time records and other documents generating payments to employees will be in a form 

prescribed or approved by the Finance manager/S151 Officer and will be certified by the 

employee and their line manager or other authorised signatory in a format approved by 

Management Team.  Payments of expenses to Authority Members will be certified by the 

Monitoring Officer or other officer designated by the Monitoring Officer before being paid 

by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.   

 

4.11 Claims for Reimbursement of Expenses 

All claims by officers for payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, travelling and 

incidental expenses shall be in accordance with the schemes operating by the Authority for 

staff, members and the Chief Executive.  Claims for expenses more than three months in 

arrears will not be paid unless approved by the Chief Executive.   

 

It is the responsibility of the Chief Executive and designated line managers to ensure that 

officers’ claims are justified and comply with the approved scheme.  The timetable for and 

format of expense claims will be determined by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.  All 

expense claims will be certified by both the claimant and their line manager.  In certifying 

an expenses claim, officers must satisfy themselves that the expenses were properly and 

necessarily incurred, that the amounts claimed are properly payable by the Authority and 

supported by the appropriate receipts. 

 

Expenditure on staff expenses paid by procurement cards in excess of that permitted by 

the appropriate scheme of allowances must be reimbursed to the Authority immediately 

unless agreed with the appropriate Line Manager or the Chief Executive.   

 

The Finance manager/S151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that claims are properly 

evidenced and authorised and comply with the standing orders and financial regulations of 

the Authority and for making arrangements to reimburse claims through the Authority’s 

payroll provider. 

 

4.12 Taxation 

The Finance Manager/S151 Officer will advise the Chief Executive on all taxation issues that 

affect the Authority, in the light of legislation and guidance issued by HM Revenue and 

Customs and other appropriate bodies, obtaining external advice as required.   

 
The Finance Manager/S151 Officer will make arrangements for the maintenance of the 

Authority’s taxation records and for making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and 

submitting tax returns by their due date. The Finance Manager/S151 Officer will ensure that 

proper systems exist for accounting for both PAYE and VAT both internally and to the 

Page 145



relevant external agencies, supplying representatives of these agencies with the information 

they may require in order to administer and police the collection of taxes.  Pay-overs of 

monthly payroll deductions and employer contributions will be reviewed and authorised by 

the Finance Manager, Delivery Director or Chief Executive. 

 

4.13 Financial year-end procedures   

The Finance Manager/S151 Office is responsible for establishing a close-down plan for the 

financial year end and issuing guidance and instructions to all staff with financial 

responsibilities.  Budget managers are responsible for ensuring that these instructions are 

complied with in a timely manner for their area of budgetary responsibility. 

 

4.14 Prepayments 

Where it is necessary in exceptional circumstances for payment to be made in advance of 

receipt of goods and services, adequate checks should be undertaken to ensure that the 

supplier is financially sound and that the arrangement represents best value for the 

Authority. 

 

4.15 Controlled Financial Stationery 

Controlled stationery is the term used for those forms whose storage, issue and use is 

controlled by pre-numbering. The arrangements for procuring, storing, and issuing 

financial controlled stationery will be the responsibility of the Finance Manager/S151 

Officer. 

 

5.0 The Control of Resources 
 

It is important that the Authority’s assets are safeguarded, maintained and efficiently used 

for the delivery of the Authority’s statutory purposes.   

 

5.1 Physical Assets 

These include buildings, land, equipment, fittings, furniture, stocks, records (both manual 

and computerised), cash and other items owned or leased by the Authority.  The Authority 

is responsible for establishing an asset management strategy and plan and maintaining a 

comprehensive asset register. 

 

The Chief Executive is responsible for establishing and maintaining a terrier of all land and 

buildings owned by or leased to the Authority, recording details of: 

 

o Acquisition date 

o Purpose 

o Managing Department 

o Location and GIS reference 

o Purchase/Lease details 

o Nature of interest 

o Rents payable 

o Details of Tenancies granted 

 

Land, and other capital assets defined as such by the CIPFA Statement of Recommended 

Practice may only be acquired in accordance with the Capital Programme approved by the 

Page 146



National Park Authority and accounted for in accordance with the Authority’s accounting 

policies. 

 

Staff are responsible for ensuring that the assets assigned to their areas of responsibility are 

properly secured, maintained, recorded and operated in accordance with health and safety, 

disabled access, data protection and other legislation.  The Chief Executive, Delivery 

Director and Service Managers are also responsible for the maintenance of an accurate 

inventory of the assets held within their areas of responsibility in an appropriate format.  

The inventory should be checked at least annually and action taken in relation to any 

discrepancies found. Procedures and controls established for the protection of 

computerised data, stores and cash must be followed and any losses or damage properly 

reported for insurance and accounting purposes.   

 

The Chief Executive is responsible for maintaining proper security and protecting 

information held on the Authority’s corporate computer systems as laid down in the 

Authority’s IT policy and required by legislation.  The Chief Executive is also responsible 

for ensuring that all legal documents of title to land owned or leased by the Authority are 

securely stored. 

 

The Finance Manager/S151 Officer is responsible for establishing and administering proper 

procedures to account for stock, cash and imprests and for accounting for the assets owned 

by the Authority in accordance with the current CIPFA Statement of Recommended 

Practice.   

 

5.2 Personal Use of Authority Assets 

Subject to certain specified exemptions, Authority equipment is solely for use on the 

business of the Authority. Instances in which staff are entitled to make personal use of 

Authority equipment are strictly limited to the following and must reimburse the Authority 

if required to do so in accordance with established procedures and policies 

 

o Private telephone calls and data use (land lines and mobiles). These must be kept to a 

reasonable minimum.  

o Other office equipment (e.g. photocopiers or printers, or computers) where the 

personal use is authorised by the Chief Executive or appropriate line manager.  

o Clothing and footwear provided by the Authority are provided principally for use in 

carrying out official duties although reasonable personal use is acceptable. 

 

Authority vehicles are not to be used for private purposes except in the limited 

circumstances permitted by HMRC regulations, such as home-to-work travel in vehicles 

defined by HMRC as vans. The VAT and Income Tax regime covering pool cars and other 

employer-owned or leased vehicles is complex and private use by staff may result in costs 

to the authority and taxable benefits to staff.  The Chief Executive and line managers must 

seek advice from the Finance Manager/S151 Officer before authorising any private use. 

 

The personal use of Information Technology is subject to the Authority’s IT policies 

 
5.3 Imprests 

Imprest holders are responsible for ensuring that the cash they hold for defraying minor 

expenses is properly accounted for in accordance with the procedures laid down and is 

kept separate from cash income.  They are required to certify the balances held when an 

Page 147



imprest claim is made and for the total amount of their imprest as at the 31 March each 

year. 

 

5.4 Asset Disposal 

Surplus property of whatever nature, other than land and buildings, may be disposed of only 

by arrangements agreed by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer and will, as appropriate, be 

by competitive quotation, open sale, tender or public auction wherever practicable.  

Disposals of land and buildings are subject to the approval of the Authority.  Re-use of 

assets and recycling opportunities should be considered; the principles of achieving best 

value for  the Authority and promoting sustainability should be followed.   

 

5.5 Insurance and Risk Management 

 

All organisations face risks to people, property and continued operation. Risk is the 

possibility of loss, damage, injury or failure to achieve objectives caused by an action or 

event. Risk management is the planned and systematic approach to the identification, 

evaluation and control of risk. Its objectives are to secure the assets and continued financial 

and operational well-being of the organisation. It is concerned with evaluating the measures 

an organisation already has in place to manage identified risks and recommending the actions 

necessary to control these risks. 

 

Members are responsible for approving the Authority’s risk management strategy, reviewing 

the Risk Register and promoting a culture of risk management throughout the Authority. 

 

The Chief Executive is responsible for:- 

 

5.5.1 Preparing and promoting the Authority’s risk management policy and ensuring that 

staff are aware of their responsibilities in relation to risk management. 

 

5.5.2 Developing risk management controls, including the establishment of effective 

procedures to identify, assess, prevent or contain material risk, compliance monitoring, and 

evaluation of effectiveness. 

 

5.5.3 Including all appropriate employees of the Authority in a suitable fidelity guarantee 

insurance. 

 

5.5.4 Arranging the full range of corporate cover of identified insurable risks through 

external insurance where appropriate and negotiating all claims in consultation with other 

officers as necessary. 

 

5.5.5 Ensuring that administrative processes are established to investigate claims, recover 

insured losses and maintain appropriate records. 

 

5.5.6 Ensuring that disaster recovery and business continuity plans are in place for the 

Authority. 

 
Managers are responsible for:- 

 
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm

Page 148



5.5.7  Notifying the Chief Executive immediately of any loss, liability or damage that may 

lead to a claim against the Authority, together with any information or explanation required 

by the Chief Executive or the Authority’s insurers. 

 

5.5.8  Risk management within their areas of responsibility, having regard to advice from 

the Chief Executive. 

 

5.5.9 Notifying the Chief Executive promptly of any new risks, property, vehicles or 

equipment which require insurance and of any alterations affecting existing insurances. 

 

5.5.10  Reviewing and re-evaluating risks at least annually. 

 

5.5.11 Consulting the Chief Executive and the Authority’s legal services provider on the 

terms of any indemnity the Authority is requested to give. 

 

5.5.12 Ensuring that employees or others covered by the Authority’s insurances do not 

admit liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the assessment of 

liability in respect of any insurance claim. 

 

All employees must provide prompt notification in accordance with agreed procedures of 

any loss, liability or damage or any event likely to lead to a claim and to supply information 

and explanations as required by the responsible Officer or the Authority’s insurers. 

 

5.6 Intangible Assets: Treasury Management 

The Authority has adopted the Prudential Code and a Treasury Management Policy which 

lays down proper practices for managing and reporting on the balances held by the 

Authority.  It is the responsibility of the Finance Manager/S151 Officer to ensure a sound 

system of treasury management is in place and to report to the Audit and Scrutiny 

Committee on the funds held, interest earned and the impact of capital financing on the 

funds available for revenue expenditure if required. The primary consideration in the 

investment of the Authority’s surplus funds should be to maintain the security of the funds 

and minimise the risk of loss.  The National Park Authority is responsible for annually 

considering and approving the Authority’s borrowing limits and prudential indicators and 

also for monitoring the Authority’s performance against the prudential indicators, as 

reported by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer. 

 

All transfers of funds between the Authority’s bank accounts and the issue of payment 

instructions to the Authority’s banker in the form of cheques and electronic transfers must 

be made under arrangements approved by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.  All cheques 

are signed by officers authorised by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer and cheques with a 

value exceeding £1000 are signed by two officers.  The Finance Manager/S151 Officer is 

responsible for ensuring that a safe and efficient system is in place for controlling access to 

the authority’s accounts, to blank cheques and credit cards and that the cash book is 

promptly and regularly reconciled to the bank statements.  Changes to the bank mandate 

will be submitted to the Authority for approval. 

 
5.7 Staffing 

The staff of the Authority represent its most significant item of expenditure. In order to 

function effectively, the Authority must recruit and retain high quality, well motivated, 

appropriately qualified and experienced staff. 

Page 149



 

o The Chief Executive, as Head of Paid Service, shall provide overall management of 

staff.  This includes ensuring that an appropriate evaluation system for determining 

the remuneration of each post is in place, in consultation with the HR Officer. 

 

o The Chief Executive shall ensure that budget provision exists for all current and 

proposed posts.  The Finance Manager/S151 Officer shall act as an adviser to the 

Chief Executive, Delivery Director and Service Managers on areas such as National 

Insurance and Pension Contributions and will produce and revise a staffing budget 

on the basis of the information supplied by the Chief Executive, Delivery Director 

and Service Managers.  

  

o The Chief Executive, in consultation with the HR Officer shall ensure that 

appropriate arrangements operate to notify the Authority’s payroll provider in a 

timely manner and in the format agreed with the Finance Manager/Section 151 

Officer of all matters affecting the payment of staff, such as changes in personnel, 

absences, policies, regradings and secondments. 

 

o In cases of restructuring involving redundancy and early retirement, Authority 

decisions shall be informed by costing obtained by the HR Officer from the 

Authority’s payroll and pension providers in a format agreed by the Chief Executive 

and the Finance Manager/S151 Officer.  A calculation of the budgetary implications 

of any changes to the establishment presented to the Authority for decision must 

be reviewed and approved in advance by the Finance Manager/S151 Officer and HR 

Officer.  

 

 

Page 150



Local Development Plan 2: Consultation draft Preferred Strategy

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 25th June 2019

Report Author Helen Lucocq

Job title Principal Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report Officers are recommending that the Preferred Strategy as 
appended to this report be published for the purposes of 
public consultation for an 8-week period commencing July 4th 
2019.  

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The SIA process has highlighted the positive impact 
implementation of the Preferred Strategy is predicted to have 
on a range of objectives relating to the future well-being of 
the National Park and its resident communities.  The 
consultation on this document will provide all interested 
parties the opportunity to contribute to the development of 
the Strategy as part of the LDP process ensuring 
opportunities for collaborative working.

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Single Integrated Assessment

Enclosure 2 Equality Assessment

Enclosure 3 Preferred Strategy for Consultation

Enclosure 4 Initial Consultation Report

Enclosure 5 Initial SA Report

Enclosure 6 Habitats Regulation Assessment of the 
Preferred Strategy

Links; -

Review Report

Page 151

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3883&ID=3883&RPID=1673741&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1


Delivery Agreement

Topic Papers

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) It is recommended that Members:

a) approve the Preferred Strategy for a period of 8 
weeks public consultation

b)approve the publication of the following documents 
for observation

1. Initial Consultation Report

2.  Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report

3. Habitats Regulations Assessment of the 
Preferred Strategy

1.1 Introduction 

The NPA is statutorily obliged to review the Local Development Plan (LDP) every 4 years.  The 
first part of the current review commenced in December 2017 and concluded the need to 
develop a replacement Local Development Plan for the area (see the Review Report for more 
detail). This replacement LDP is referred to as LDP2.  The process and timescales for 
producing LDP2 are set out in the Delivery Agreement as agreed by the Welsh Government.  

In accordance with Regulation 15 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) 
(Wales) Regulations 2005 (as amended 2015) the Authority must publish Pre-Deposit 
documents for consultation as an initial stage in the development of a replacement LDP.  The 
term Pre-Deposit documents collectively refers to the following documents:-

 Preferred Strategy for Consultation (Enclosure 3)

 Initial Consultation Report (CR)(Enclosure 4)

 Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report (SA)(Enclosure 5)

 Habitats Regulation Assessment of the Preferred Strategy (HRA)(Enclosure 6)

The purpose of this consultation is to provide key stakeholders and members of the public with 
an understanding of:-

Page 152

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3882&ID=3882&RPID=1673746&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3877&ID=3877&RPID=1673749&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3883&ID=3883&RPID=1673741&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3883&ID=3883&RPID=1673741&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3882&ID=3882&RPID=1673746&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1


 The emerging vision and objectives for future development in the National Park 
and the board strategic levels and locations of growth  necessary to support the 
vision through The Preferred Strategy

 How the proposals of the Preferred Strategy contribute towards defined 
sustainability objectives through the Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report

 An assessment of the likely significant effects on protected areas for nature 
conservation in and around the National Park as a result of the proposals within 
the Preferred Strategy through the Habitats Regulation Assessment of the Preferred 
Strategy

1.2 The Preferred Strategy

As part of the Review of the existing Local Development Plan the existing Strategy was 
assessed for its continued relevance to direct development in the National Park for a further 15 
years.  This review process concluded that it would be prudent to undertake an assessment of 
options and alternatives to consider alternative approaches which might better enable the 
Authority to, in particular, maintain a 5 year housing land supply into the future.

Accordingly officers commenced work on the process of developing a Preferred Strategy.  The 
Preferred Strategy has been prepared in accordance with the following sources of evidence and 
guidance:-

 The results of stakeholder and member consultation (set out in the Initial Consultation 
Report, Enclosure 4 to this report)

 All baseline Evidence, which includes a review of relevant national and regional guidance 
(see Evidence Base supplementary information to this report) – Topic Papers

 The Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment)
 The Review Report

The Preferred Strategy is a high level first step in the delivery of the more detailed ‘Deposit’ 
LDP (publication anticipated in summer 2020).  The Preferred Strategy is best thought of as a 
framework document, defining the 15 year vision for development in the National Park. The 
Preferred Strategy seeks to demonstrate, at a strategic level, how the vision could be achieved 
through the identification of:-

 Levels of growth necessary to meet housing and employment needs 
 Broad indication of the distribution of growth to demonstrate how the vision translates 

spatially
 Strategic topic based policies necessary to implement the vision 
 Identification of development sites which contribute to the implementation of the 

Preferred Strategy (this element is discussed in more detail in the Candidate Site 
Report, a separate item to this agenda)

The vision for the Preferred Strategy is proposed as the following;

Page 153

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3877&ID=3877&RPID=1673749&sch=doc&cat=14409&path=14409&$LO$=1


‘Our vision is for the Brecon Beacons to comprise connected, accessible and inspiring places for 
everyone.  An exemplar of resilient landscapes, vibrant culture, thriving communities and green 
enterprise enjoyed and fostered by people who visit, live and work in the National Park.'

In order to realise this, the proposed Preferred Strategy takes a three-fold approach to the 
future development of the National Park: -

1. Providing aspirational growth levels concentrated in the towns of the National Park
2. Setting ambitious policy interventions aimed at developing a Valued and Resilient Brecon 

Beacons
3. Empowering Communities for future action

The following section of the report provides an overview of each of the policy strands the 
Preferred Strategy proposes: -

1. Growth

The Preferred Strategy sets out an aspirational housing requirement of 1,720 homes for the 
plan period, with 65% of the homes being provided within the Principle Settlements of the 
National Park.  A large proportion of the required housing growth can be provided within the 
existing housing land supply.  The residual housing requirement being largely met through 
mixed use development sites on previously developed land in Brecon. Some Greenfield sites 
will be provided around Key Settlements for the provision of no less than 70% Affordable 
Housing where there are certain mechanisms for delivery.

In accordance with the principle requirements of Planning Policy Wales, to create strong 
linkages between jobs and houses, it is proposed that the 3Ha of employment land identified as 
necessary is similarly provided within the existing key settlements, with a focus on utilising 
previously developed land.

2. Policy Interventions

Stakeholder involvement and the review of evidence identified a number of challenges facing the 
National Park which has led to the development of a range of policy interventions.  The 
following table (table 1) sets out how it is proposed that LDP 2 addresses key issues:-

Page 154



Summary of Key Issues relevant to the Brecon 
Beacons National Park
Local Development Plan

Proposed Policy Intervention

a. National Park 
Purposes and 
Special 
Qualities

The effect of development 
and visitor pressure on the 
NP, its special qualities, 
and physical and natural 
features including the 
landscape, geodiversity, 
biodiversity and cultural 
heritage.

 Sustainable Placemaking 

Policy seeking to concentrate development within principle settlements to limit landscape 
impacts

 Environmental Protection

Policy seeking to protect environmental assets and making a requirement of major 
development to provide a Green Infrastructure Plan as part of their planning application.

 Historic Environment

Policy seeking to ensure the conservation of all elements of the Historic Environment, 
including elements of intangibles cultural heritage inherent in place.

b. Sustainability 
and Climate 
Change

The requirement to adapt 
to and mitigate against the 
effects of climate change 
through sustainable 
development and 
renewable energy 
production.  

 Climate Change

Policy requiring all development to be resilient and adaptable to the likely effects of climate 
change, and in the case of Major Development seeking to ensure carbon neutrality in 
construction and operation from 2023

 Sustainable Development

Policy seeking to ensure development delivers benefits towards the four pillars of 
sustainability without compromising the resilience of future generations.

 Renewable Energy

To develop a renewable energy strategy based on place utilising community based energy 
master planning

P
age 155



Summary of Key Issues relevant to the Brecon 
Beacons National Park
Local Development Plan

Proposed Policy Intervention

 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources

Ensuring that all future development proposals utilise natural resources in a way and at a 
rate that maintains and enhances the resilience of ecosystems and the benefits they 
provide.  

 Waste

Requiring development proposals to demonstrate that waste production has been 
minimized and reuse/recycling of waste materials facilitated

c. Potential/ 
Capacity for 
growth

The capacity for growth in 
terms of the following:

- Environmental 
Constraints

- Infrastructure
- Utilities
- Public service 

provision.

 Sustainable Infrastructure

Enabling proposals that provide sustainable benefits to National Park Communities 

 Major development in the National Park

Enshrining the Silken Principle into Policy for the Brecon Beacons

 Sustainable transport and active travel

Addressing infrastructure constraints within existing communities through the support for 
active travel within development schemes 

d. Housing, 
including 
Affordable 
Housing

The need to provide a 
mix of dwelling types to 
meet the housing, 
employment and 
demographic needs of the 
National Park and in 
particular to meet 
affordable housing 

 Housing Requirement

Providing housing growth at an aspirational level to meet policy drivers around 
demographic change

 Affordable Housing

Maximising the provision of affordable housing through the planning system through a 

P
age 156



Summary of Key Issues relevant to the Brecon 
Beacons National Park
Local Development Plan

Proposed Policy Intervention

needs. range of interventions

e. Economic 
Development, 
including 
Employment 
opportunities 

Need for circular and 
sustainable economic 
development, local 
employment 
opportunities and links 
with housing provision in 
a time of significant 
uncertainty.

 Vital and Viable Retail Centers

The retail strategy of the LDP is to maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the 
identified retail centers and to support proposals which contribute to the regeneration of 
the Town Centres

 Economic Well being

Development proposals which are aimed at improving the economic and social well-being 
of the National Park’s communities will be permitted where they are located in areas 
which minimise the need to travel or are well connected to areas of residential population 
through sustainable forms of transport.  Providing aspirational levels of employment land to 
meet emerging employment interventions supported by housing growth having taken into 
account the environmental capacity of the National Park.

 Farm Diversification

Permissive policy aimed at supporting our farming communities within a post-EU economy

 Sustainable Tourism

Supporting proposals for sustainable tourism and outdoor recreation development which 
promote opportunities for the enjoyment and understanding of the National Park, whilst 
ensuring their contribution to the conservation of the Park’s natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage. 

f. Thriving 
Communities

Need for natural growth 
of rural villages to allow 

 Sustainable Communities

P
age 157



Summary of Key Issues relevant to the Brecon 
Beacons National Park
Local Development Plan

Proposed Policy Intervention

for increased community 
vitality and quality of life 
by enabling placemaking 
through place-planning.

Policy aimed at supporting community sustainability, Or permissive policies aimed at 
enabling development which would have a positive impact on community sustainability

Table 1: Policy Interventions

P
age 158



3. Empowering Communities

The NPA has been engaged in Place Plan development since the adoption of the first Local 
Development Plan in 2013.  Our experience with this community-led planning work has 
provided impetus for the next iteration of the LDP to further capitalise on the strength of our 
communities.  Accordingly in order to meet small scale community aspirations for local needs 
growth, LDP2 will provide opportunities to prepare and review Place Plans to identify and plan 
for new housing, employment land, renewable energy schemes and active travel.1  

1.3 Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment

The Preferred Strategy has been subject to Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA) as per requirements of the LDP Regulations and EU Directive 20001/42/EC

Sustainability Appraisal incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment. The evidence collected 
through the SA process demonstrates that the Preferred Strategy should balance the need to 
mitigate the effects of climate change and environmental impact against the need to provide 
opportunities for key social and economic growth whilst enabling opportunities for community 
vitality.  All elements have been subject to detailed assessment through the drafting process, 
helping to refine the Preferred Strategy to better achieve sustainability objectives.

Habitats Regulation Assessment. The initial screening assessment is contained in Appendix F of 
the appended HRA. On the basis of objective information, likely significant effects of the 
preferred strategy cannot be ruled out on any of the European sites considered.  The process is 
iterative and the deposit plan will need also need to be screened. If at that stage Likely 
Significant Effects cannot be ruled out, an appropriate assessment will need to be undertaken to 
determine whether the Deposit LDP, alone or in combination with other plans or projects, will 
have an adverse effect on the integrity of any of the European sites considered.

1.4 Risk

Publication of pre-deposit documents is a statutory obligation on the Authority.  The timeline 
for publication has been agreed with the Welsh Government in the published Delivery 
Agreement (BBNPA 2018).  Compliance with the Delivery Agreement is a Welsh Government 
Key Performance Indicator and any slippage from the timetable would reflect as the Authority 

1 It is acknowledged that Place Plan can include these elements as well as a range of actions for future action 
identified by the community.  Please refer to the guidance produced by the NPA with the Design Commission for 
Wales:  https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Place-Plan-Toolkit-Shape-My-Brecon-Beacons.pdf

Page 159

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Place-Plan-Toolkit-Shape-My-Brecon-Beacons.pdf


failing in this area.  The Authority has already faced a 4 week delay due to the need to revisit 
some of the economic forecast evidence (referred to as acceptable slippage)

Moreover, there is substantial risk arising from delay in the adoption of LDP2.  The existing 
LDP runs until December 2022, after which it will no longer be considered to be the adopted 
development plan for the area.  At present we are anticipating adoption of LDP2 in March 
2022, obviously if this were to be delayed beyond December 2022 there is the potential for the 
area to be without an adopted development plan. The Authority would then be without the key 
framework document against which it could consider and determine planning applications.  

1.5 Conclusion

It is considered that the suite of Pre-Deposit documents provide a robust response to National 
policy drivers and the challenges facing the future of the National Park. 

Officers are seeking Member approval to publish the proposals for the purposes of public 
consultation and comment. Officers will consider all the comments received and the Preferred 
Strategy will be brought back to members for final approval at a later date.  It will then form the 
framework for the development of the detailed proposals and policies of the pre-Deposit 
LDP2.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

It is recommended that Members:

a) approve the Preferred Strategy for a period of 8 weeks public consultation

b) approve the publication of the following documents for observation

1. Initial Consultation Report

2.  Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report

3. Habitats Regulations Assessment of the Preferred Strategy

Page 160



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 1

The Single, Integrated, Impact Assessment (SIIA) toolkit incorporating Welsh Language, Equalities, Well Being of Future Generations Act, Risk Management and Resources, supporting effective decision 
making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation.  There are a number of pieces of legislation that the National Park Authority is subject to, which require us to carefully consider how we make 
decisions:

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 

This specifies that the Authority must have due regard to: 
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and those who do not;
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not.
And must:
 Remove or minimise disadvantages experienced by people due to 

their protected characteristics
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups.
 Encourage people with protected characteristics to participate in 

public life or in other activities where their participation is 
disproportionately low. 

The Act describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and 
promoting understanding between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Meeting the duty may involve 
treating some people more favourably than others, as long as this 
does not contravene other provisions within the Act.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act will from April 2016 require all 
public bodies to demonstrate that we are improving social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing, whilst also looking to the future, 
planning for the long term and ensuring that we don’t compromise the 
ability of future generations to be able to do the same.  This is called 
sustainable development.

The Act sets out 7 Wellbeing Goals:  
 A Prosperous Wales
 A Resilient Wales
 A Healthier Wales
 A More Equal Wales
 A Wales of Cohesive Communities
 A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language
 A Globally Responsible Wales

We have to demonstrate how we are contributing to all of these goals 
and following the 5 Sustainable Development principles:
Long term, Integration, Collaboration, Involvement and Prevention

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

 Gives the Welsh language official status in 
Wales 

 Establishes the principle that the Welsh 
language should be treated no less 
favourably than the English language

 Requires public authorities to comply with 
standards relating to Welsh language 
provision

The Policy Making Standards relate to assessing 
the impact of policies and decisions on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and on treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language. 
The Authority must therefore consider the 
Welsh Language when we are developing 
policies and strategies or when considering new 
ways of providing services.

Integrated Risk Assessment (Legislative Frameworks) - Whilst there is no formal legislation which stipulates that we must formally manage our risks, it is good practice to undertake risk management, a 
process whereby we assess, evaluate and take action on risks in order to increase the probability of success and reduce the likelihood of failure. This process should include regular monitoring to ensure 
control of our identified risks where required.  The outputs from effective risk management include compliance, assurance and enhanced decision making.  These outputs provide benefits by way of 
improvements in the efficiency of our operations, successful delivery of our projects and the implementation of our corporate objectives.

Risk management is a continuous process that supports the development and implementation of our corporate planning and budget setting processes.  Plans typically focus on a desired future, which is 
underpinned by a set of reasonable assumptions.  However, each of these assumptions carries a level of uncertainty and risk.  Using identified risks in the corporate planning and budget setting 
processes will ensure that we make informed decisions based on the current level of risk, and are fully aware of how the risks could either have a negative impact on our ability to deliver our objectives, 
or expose opportunities that we can exploit.  Achieving our targeted performance is dependent upon our ability to manage our risks.  As we deal with a changing legislative and policy framework we 
need to become shrewder about the risks we take so we can sustain our services with a continually reducing budget.  Equally importantly we must be aware of the risks to avoid to ensure we protect our 
customers, reputation and financial stability.

P
age 161



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 2

Service Area Planning Report Author Helen Lucocq Director who has approved 
this assessment Julian Atkins

Summary of Recommendation
Officers are seeking member approval to consult on the Preferred Strategy (and associated documents) as part of the development of a replacement Local Development Plan for the 
area.

1.   How does your recommendation impact on the Authority’s Corporate Goals?

Authority Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

i. Managing Park landscapes to maximise 
conservation and public benefits

The Preferred Strategy seeks to enable 
development in a manner which limits 
impacts on the landscape through 
distribution of development and strategic 
policy 

+ The landscape will be better protected from adverse impacts 
of development

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity The conservation and enhancement of 
biodiversity is a high level planning objective 
of the Preferred Strategy.  Strategic policy is 
included to implement this objective

+
The enhancement of biodiversity will become a primary 
material consideration in the determination of future 
planning applications.

iii. Providing opportunities for outdoor 
access and recreation

This is not a direct objective of the Preferred 
Strategy, however through its action it is 
considered that there will be no negative 
impacts as a result of the implementation of 
the Strategy

N

iv. Raising awareness and understanding of 
the Park

The narrative of the Preferred Strategy 
provides a clear demonstration of the 
purposes of the National park and how that 
relates to the development of the area.  
Through the act of publishing this document 
all stakeholders  will have a greater 
awareness of the National Park its purposes 
and duty and how that relates to growth of 
the area

+
Through the publication of the Preferred Strategy key 
stakeholders will have a greater understanding of the role 
and function of the National Park as a Planning Authority.

v. Building and maintaining sustainable 
communities, towns and villages

The Preferred Strategy aims to facilitate 
sustainable place making whilst enabling 
communities to undertake community led 

+ The realisation of the preferred strategy is predicted to build 
the resilience of community sustainability

P
age 162



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 3

Authority Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

planning through the place plan process.  
Strategic objectives and policy also seek to 
enhance community sustainability, 
preventing development which would 
negatively impact community sustainability 

vi. Sustainable economic development The Preferred Strategy sets out the following 
Strategic Objective “Through working in 
partnership to conserve, enhance and 
promote the National Park, to foster the 
economic well-being of local communities”  
This is supported by policy relating to the 
development of economic well-being and 
protection of existing assests relating to 
economic development.  Moreover growth 
levels within the Plan are aspirational in order 
to sustain a sustainable labour force.

+ The strategy has enabling policy to support development 
aimed at sustainable economic development

2.  How does your recommendation impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals?

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

A prosperous Wales:
Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated people, generates 
wealth, provides jobs.

The Preferred Strategy contains policy to 
support the development of a sustainable 
economy within the National Park.  Levels of 
growth are aimed at arresting rural 
depopulation, retaining young people, 
providing greater viability to retain and 
develop educational facilities 

+

A resilient Wales:
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems that 
support resilience and can adapt to change (eg climate 
change).

TheThe Preferred Strategy has strategic 
objectives as follows:-

•To ensure Sustainable Development is 
carried out
•To ensure the Sustainable Management of 
Natural Resource

+

P
age 163



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 4

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

 •To conserve and enhance thethe wildlife of 
the National Park

Further to this there are strategic policies 
relating to 

- Sustainable development
- Sustainable Management of natural 

resources
Climate change

- Biodiversity

A healthier Wales:
People’s physical and mental well-being is maximised and 
health impacts are understood.

The Preferred Strategy has strategic 
objectives as follows:-

• Through working in partnership to 
conserve, enhance and promote the 
National Park, to foster the social well-being 
of local communities.

Further to this the policy of the National Park 
seeks to promote active travel and forms of 
development which will contribute to more 
attractive and sustainable places thus 
contributing to residents sense of wellbeing.

It is considered that through the 
implementation of the objective the 
Preferred Strategy will contribute to the 
physical and mental well-being of our 
communities – for detail on this please refer 
to the Well-being Topic Paper

+

A Wales of cohesive communities:
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and well connected.

TheTheThe Preferred Strategy has at its core 
the concept of sustainable place making, 
aimed at promoting attractive, safe and well 

+

P
age 164



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 5

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

connected communities.

The Strategy enshrines the concept of place 
planning to empower communities to define 
their own future within the development plan 
process. 
  

A globally responsible Wales:
Taking account of impact on global well-being when 
considering local social, economic and environmental well-
being.

The Preferred Strategy as well as promoting 
sustainable tourism, seeks to ensure that all 
future major development schemes are 
globally responsible in terms of the carbon 
take in both construction take and use. 

+

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language:
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are promoted and 
protected.

The Preferred strategy seeks to support a 
diverse and resilient cultural life within the 
National Park.  Both strategic objectives and 
policy have been developed to promote and 
enhance the cultural heritage of the National 
Park including the Welsh Language.  The 
Preferred Strategy is underpinned by an 
evidence base that looks at both these 
elements in detail.

+

A more equal Wales:
People can fulfil their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances.

Does the recommendation 
affect a large amount of 
people? Please give any 
evidence

Does the recommendation 
affect a small group of people 
in a significant way? Please 
give any evidence

How will the recommendation take into account the 
differing needs of protected characteristics or address any 
negative impact? Please give details

Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage or civil partnership
Race
Religion or Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation

TheTheThe proposed 
preferred strategy will in its 
implementation affect the 
entire population of the 
National Park.  It is 
considered that there will 
be no adverse impact on 
any individual as a result of 

NoNoNo

The aging population of the National Park is considered in 
detail in the evidence underpinning the Preferred Strategy.  
Consideration will be made in the detailed development of 
the LDP as to how we can meet the needs of  older residents 
in future development.

P
age 165



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 6

A more equal Wales:
People can fulfil their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances.

Does the recommendation 
affect a large amount of 
people? Please give any 
evidence

Does the recommendation 
affect a small group of people 
in a significant way? Please 
give any evidence

How will the recommendation take into account the 
differing needs of protected characteristics or address any 
negative impact? Please give details

Pregnancy and Maternity the strategy based on any of 
the protected 
characteristics.

3.  How does your recommendation impact on the Sustainable Development Principles?

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Balancing short term 
need with long term 
and planning for the 
future.

The Preferred Strategy has a 15 year vision, the actions of 
which are reviewed every 4 years.  +

Working together 
with other partners 
to deliver.

The Preferred Strategy paves the way for a more 
collaborative partnership focused approach to community 
led planning

+

 Involving those 
with an   interest 
and seeking their 
views.

TheTheThe Preferred Strategy has been developed in 
collaboration with stakeholders andandand will continue 
to be developed in consultation with our partners.

+

Putting resources 
into preventing 
problems 
occurring or 

The preferred strategy has been developed with the aim 
of addressing a range of known issues +

P
age 166



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 7

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

getting worse.

Positively 
impacting on 
people, economy 
and environment 
and trying to 
benefit all three.

Through the Sustainability Appraisal it is acknowledged 
that there are competing interests in relation to the pillars 
of sustainability.  Where negative impacts are identified 
mitigative policies have been identified.  

+
For more detail in relation to this element please refer to the full 
Sustainability Appraisal that supports the development of the 
Local Development Plan

4.  Welsh Language

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

Standard 88
What effects will the policy have (positive or negative) on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

N
SlightSlightSlight positive impact identified through the 
potential action of Place Plans in areas of welsh language 
strength.  Supporting these 

Standard 89
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that the policy decision would 
have positive effects or increased positive effects on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

 

+
PotentiallyPotentiallyPotentially future identification of 
settlements where the welsh language is strong to 
undertake place plans as a priority

Standard 90
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that it would not have adverse 
effects or would have reduced adverse effects on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

N

5. Resource Implications  

P
age 167



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 8

Resource Please give details
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Financial
Funding is secured within existing budgets

+

The Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012:  Will this mean 
procurement over £172,514 
without using a recognised 
framework?

NoNoNo

+

Staffing
There will be no additional staff resource 

+

6. Governance and Improvement

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

Improvement: How will the decision be 
monitored and evaluated to lead to future 
improvements?

The results of the consultation will be reported to 
KAWGs, Policy Forum, and NPA for decision.
The 

+

Governance: Will the decision lead to 
improved governance? 

N/AN/A
N

Privacy:  Will  there be any implications for 
personal information relating to individuals:

Personal information relating to individuals will be 
gathered as part of the consultation.
Data privacy Impact Assessment has been 
undertaken for the whole Local Development 
Process .  Possible risks have been identified, 
although these risks are identified as minimal and 
low, Officers are continuing to work with the Data 
Protection Officer to review consultation systems 
to ensure personal information is managed in an 
appropriate manner

Ongoing Work is ongoing in relation to this area, and will 
continue to be so for the entirety of the LDP process.

7. What are the risks associated with this recommendation?

P
age 168



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 9

Description of risk Impact 
(severity)

Probability 
(deliverability)

Inherent 
Risk Summary of possible controls Target 

Impact
Target 
Probability Target Risk

Due to cost of publication the consultation will be 
mostly conducted using web based digital resources.  
There is a risk associated with this eg.  Server failure 
leading to unavailability of key documents.   

3 1 3
PaperPaperPaper based resources 
provided in key locations to ensure that 
documents can be viewed

22 1 22

Consultation events have the potential to raise 
expectations in relation what is possible within the 
planning process.   

2 2 4

Work with Planning Aid Wales to deliver 
traningtraining sessions with 
communities about the limitations of the 
Planning System

1 2 2

Does it have potential to impact on another service area?
Communities

8.  Is there additional evidence to support the Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIA)?

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?
Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment)
Habitats Regulation Assessment
LDP Topic Papers (Housing, Affordable Housing, Biodiversity, Drainage, Employment, Heritage, Minerals, Retail, Waste, Well-being, Welsh Language, Employment Land Review, 
Housing Head Room Assessment)

9.  Impact Assessment Summary and Judgement

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in Committee Report)
The SIA process has highlighted the positive impact implementation of the Preferred Strategy is predicted to have on a range of objectives relating to the future well-being of the 
National Park and its resident communities.  The consultation on this document will provide all interested parties the opportunity to contribute to the development of the Strategy as 
part of the LDP process ensuring opportunities for collaborative working.

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

1

Template for a full equality impact assessment

Name of the 
strategy, service or 
policy

Local Development Plan 2: Preferred Strategy

Description of 
strategy, service or 
policy.

Principle strategy of the emerging Replacement LDP2.  LDP2 will upon 
adoption become the development plan for the National Park area, 
with all planning decisions being made against its requirements.  The 
Preferred Strategy

 Provides a vision for the development of the Authority area for 
the next 15 years.  

 Provides an evidenced based assessment of growth needs to 
underpin the future LDP2, 

 Defines  how this growth should be distributed spatially and 
 Defines strategic policies aimed at delivering the vision.

Name, Job Title, 
Department and 
phone number of 
staff completing 
the assessment 
form

Helen Lucocq 
Principal Planning Officer (Policy)
Planning
01874 620429

Name and date of 
committee to 
which the report is 
being presented 
(NPA, PAROW or 
Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee )

National Park Authority  25th June 2019

Step one: identify the strategy, policy or service aims

What are the main aims, purposes and outcomes of the strategy, service or policy and how 
does it fit in with the wider aims of the Authority?
The main outcome of the Preferred Strategy is to ensure that there is sufficient land 
identified to meet development needs of the next 15 years (2018-2033) whilst not 

Page 171



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

2

impacting on National Park Purposes and Duty

List the main activities of the strategy, service or policy (for strategies list the main policy 
areas)
The strategy is intended to guide development, it is principally a planning document, 
however it has wider implications through its implementations for all areas of the 
Authority’s work.

Who are the key stakeholders?

All those who live, work and enjoy the Naitonal Park.  Key Stakeholders include but are not 
limited to 

 The Welsh Government
 Natural Resources Wales
 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water
 Constituent Unitary Authorities (of note Highways, Housing, Education, 

Regeneration)
 Neighbouring Authorities
 Local Businesses
 Home Builders
 Planning Agents 
 Community Councils
 Residents

Who will be responsible for the strategy, service or policy and how will progress be 
measured?

Adoption of the final policy will be a decision of the National Park Authority following 
independent examination via a Welsh Government appointed Planning Inspector.

Implementation of the Strategy will be undertaken by the Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee and via decisions taken in accordance with the Authority’s approved Scheme of 
Delegation.

There will be a defined programme of monitoring both of the strategy itself and its 
implementation which will be reported to the NPA and submitted to the Welsh Government 

Page 172



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

3

for approval.  Planning Policy Officers will be primarily responsible for monitoring.

Step two: consider the data and research

What data is available to inform the impact assessment?

Check available data research, studies, reports, audits, surveys, feedback etc., concerning  
each equality target group (ethnicity, religion/belief, disability, gender, sexual orientation, 
age and welsh language.

Age
Data available from Stats Wales 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Projections/National-
Park/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-year-nationalparkarea

Disability
Data available from Stats Wales 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability

Gender 
reassignment

Not known

Marriage or 
civil 
partnership

Data available from StatsWales
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Marital-status

Pregnancy https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Births-Deaths-and-
Conceptions/Conceptions

Race Data available from StatsWales
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Ethnicity

Religion / 
Belief

Data available from StatsWales
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Religion

Sex / Gender 
(including 
transgender)

Data available from StatsWales 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/populationestimates-by-gender-
nationalpark

Sexual Data available from StatsWales 

Page 173

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-year-nationalparkarea
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-year-nationalparkarea
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/National-Park/populationprojectioncomponentsofchange-by-year-nationalparkarea
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Marital-status
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Births-Deaths-and-Conceptions/Conceptions
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Births-Deaths-and-Conceptions/Conceptions
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Ethnicity
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Religion
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/populationestimates-by-gender-nationalpark
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/populationestimates-by-gender-nationalpark
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/National-Park/populationestimates-by-gender-nationalpark


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

4

orientation https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation

Welsh 
language

Data available from StatsWales
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language

Where, if any, are the gaps in the information required?  What reasons are there for any 
lack of information?  List the reasons below.

Not much data is available by NPA area, and will required disaggregation from UA data, this 
is done by applying a ratio of population, which is exceptionally imprecise understanding of 
the actual characteristics of the area.

Is additional information required?  If yes, what is needed and how will it be carried out?

It is not considered at this stage that additional information is necessary

Step three: analysis of the strategy, service or policy

Does or could the strategy, service or policy have any 
influence on any of the equality strands in relation to:

 Promoting equality
 Elimination discrimination
 Achieving equality

Yes No

Age Indirectly  

Disability Indirectly 

Gender reassignment X

Marriage or civil partnership X

Page 174

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

5

Pregnancy X

Race X

Religion / Belief X

Sex / Gender (including transgender)
X

Sexual orientation X

Welsh language
X

Step four: assess the likely impact on equality

Could the strategy, service or policy in the way it is planned / delivered have a negative 
impact on any of the equality target groups (i.e. it could disadvantage them) or could it have 
a positive impact on any of the groups, contribute to promoting equality, equal 
opportunities or improve relations?

Group affected Positive impact Negative impact Reason

Age X
Improved 
opportunities for 
lifetime homes

Disability
Improved 
opportunities for 
improvements to 
housing stock to 
better meet the 
needs of those living 
with disability

Gender No predicted impacts

Page 175



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

6

reassignment

Marriage or civil 
partnership

No predicted impacts

Pregnancy No predicted impacts

Race No predicted impacts

Religion / Belief No predicted impacts

Sex / Gender 
(including 
transgender)

No predicted impacts

Sexual orientation
No predicted impacts

Welsh language x

Through sustainable 
place making policy, 
opportunity exists to 
strengthen 
communities where 
the Welsh Language 
forms a part of the 
cultural heritage of 
place.

If you have indicated there is a negative 
impact on any group, is that impact:

Yes No

Lawful? i/e/ it is not discriminatory under 
anti-discriminatory legislation

Intended?

Page 176



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

7

Could you minimise or improve any negative impact? Explain how.

Step five: consider the alternatives

Can changes be made to the strategy, service or policy?

There are no predicted negative impacts in relation to protected characteristics

Can the strategy, service or policy be implemented in a different way?

The strategy responds to the evidence of need for the area. 

Implementation is through the statutory planning function.  

Is it possible to consider a different strategy, service or policy which still achieves your aim, 
but avoids any adverse impact?

Page 177



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

8

Step six: involve and consult relevant stakeholders

What previous or planned consultation on this strategy, service or policy has taken place / ill 
take place wit groups / individuals from equality target groups?  If there has already been 
consultation, what does it indicate about negative impacts and how people view this 
strategy, service or policy?

Equalities target group Summary of function carried out or planned

Age
It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Disability It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Gender reassignment
It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Marriage or civil 
partnership

It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Pregnancy It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Page 178



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

9

Race It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Religion / Belief It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Sex / Gender (including 
transgender)

It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Sexual orientation It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

Welsh language It is proposed to consult on the Preferred Strategy in line with the 
requirements of the adopted Community Involvement Strategy.  It 
is not considered that this process will directly negatively impact 
on any protected group

If there are any gaps in your previous or planned consultation and research, are there any 
experts / relevant groups that can be contacted to get further views or evidence on this 
issue.  Please list them and explain how you will obtain their views.

Planning Aid Wales have been commissioned to facilitate workshops at three venues within 
the National Park.

Step seven: making the decision

The following matrix may assist you to make the decision on whether to adopt the strategy, 
service or policy and what actions my be needed.

Page 179



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

10

What is the potential risk on the effect of equality? (indicate one)

Highly likely to have an 
adverse impact on equality

High Risk

May possibly have an 
adverse impact on equality

Moderate Risk

Probably will not have an 
adverse effect

Low Risk

Highly likely to promote 
equality of opportunity and 

good relations

High Potential

May have the potential to 
promote equality and good 

relations

Moderate Potential

Probably will not promote 
equality and good relations

Low Potential

Summarise the findings and give an overview on whether the function or policy will 
promote equality and diversity

There will be no direct adverse effects on equality or diversity as a result of the Preferred 
Strategy, potential positive effects have been identified from policy and objectives to create 
sustainable places.

X

Page 180



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

11

Step eight: equality impact assessment action plan

Category Actions Target date Person responsible

Practical changes required to 
reduce adverse impact

Measures to improve access to / 
take up of services and 
understanding of the policy / 
strategy.

Dissemination of information on 
the EIA

Involvement and consultation

Assessment and analysis

Procurement and partnerships

Monitoring, evaluating and 
reviewing (including publishing 
the results)

P
age 181



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Equality Impact Assessment form

12

Step nine: For the record

Date EIA completed
12th June 2019

Signature of Manager

Signature of Director

Note for Directors:

Directors must ensure that:

 The policy, strategy or service has been informed by the outcome of the EIA

 That you have gathered all relevant evidence and used any feedback from previous 
involvement / consultation and / or consulted and involved stakeholders

 Have an action plan (if required) to reduce and (potential) adverse impact

Page 182



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA)

Page 183



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

2
Page 184



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

iii

Foreword 

By 2033, at the end of the plan period, the National Park will be 75th years old. We must 
continue to secure the special qualities of the National Park so that they may be understood 
and enjoyed by future generations.

The Welsh Government sees National Parks as becoming exemplars in the sustainable 
management of natural resources1; an approach based on maintaining and enhancing the 
resilience of ecosystems and the benefits they provide. In the National Park, these benefits 
include a nationally important cultural service i.e. the distinctive natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage (special qualities), important for the understanding and enjoyment of everyone. 

Biodiversity underpins ecosystem resilience2, our natural environment, our physical and mental 
well-being and the multiple benefits that healthy, functioning ecosystems provide3. Given the 
challenges of climate change and biodiversity loss, it has been suggested we may soon face a 
tipping point beyond which reversing nature’s decline is unlikely4.  As a result, because we 
depend on the natural world, our very existence is threatened and immediate action is 
required5. Recently recognising this, the Welsh Government has declared a ‘climate 
emergency’6. 

The National Park Authority is committed to a transformational ecosystems approach7 towards 
development planning which seeks to ensure the National Park’s designation actively supports 
the well-being of residents, creates opportunities for employment and remains a valued place 
for the benefit of all of Welsh society and visitors from around the world.

Preparing a new Local Development Plan alongside the National Park Management Plan offers 
the opportunity to set an aspirational and distinctive local policy to meet these challenges and 
secure the landscape for future generations. Publication of this preferred strategy marks a key 
stage in the emergence of this policy. 

Please do share your opinions.

Page 185



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

iv

Contents 

1. Introduction 1

2. Summary of the key issues 2

3. Vision and high-level planning objectives 4

4. Strategic and spatial choices 5

4. The preferred strategy
Strategic and Spatial Choices
The Key Diagram
A Distinctive and Natural National Park 
An Active and Social National Park 
A Productive and Enterprising National Park

8

5. Strategic policies
Strategic and Spatial Choices
- Major development in the National Park
- Sustainable development in the National Park
- Sustainable management of natural resources
- Climate change
- Good design
- Sustainable placemaking
- Key diagram

A Distinctive and Natural National Park 
- Environmental protection
- Historic environment

An Active and Social National Park 
- Sustainable communities
- Housing requirement
- Affordable housing
- Sustainable transport and active travel
- Sustainable infrastructure
- Vital and viable retail centres

A Productive and Enterprising National Park
- Economic well-being
- Farm diversification
- Sustainable tourism
- Employment land requirement

25

Page 186



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

v

- Safeguarding employment sites
- Renewable energy
- Waste
- Minerals

9. Glossary and definition of terms 33

11. Endnotes & Bibliography 35

Page 187



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

1

1 Introduction

1.1 The Brecon Beacons National Park supports a rich mosaic of different habitats and 
landscapes which are the product of the interaction over millennia of nature, geology, 
the elements, human activity and land management practices.  Sustainably managing the 
varying (and sometimes conflicting) demands on natural resources arising from the 
development needs of those who live and work in the National Park, and of visitors, is a 
significant challenge facing the National Park Authority (NPA) and its delivery partners. 

1.2 The Local Development Plan (LDP) (2018-2033) represents and defines the NPA’s 
approach for ensuring sustainable development is carried out in the National Park. Its 
preparation follows the recommendation of a formal review of the existing LDP (2006 – 
2022) (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2018). 

1.3 By the time the LDP is adopted, Wales’ first National Development Plan (known as the 
National Development Framework (NDF)) will have been published by the Welsh 
Government. Together with Planning Policy Wales, the NDF will identify the National 
Park’s role and contribution towards meeting Wales’ national well-being goals through 
the planning system.

1.4 At a time of significant challenge, uncertainty, and change, preparing a medium-long term 
plan, which will ultimately give rise to permanent changes, requires a keen appreciation 
of environmental and geo-political factors affecting the National Park and of the National 
Park’s linkages with surrounding regions and populations. 

1.5 As far as possible, the existing and emerging legal and policy context, which has 
informed the preferred strategy, is included within the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal 
(ISA).

1.6 By the time the LDP is adopted, the NPA will be under a duty8 to pursue the sustainable 
management of natural resources (SMNR) when exercising its functions; a significant 
change.

1.7 The SMNR objective is “to maintain and enhance the resilience of ecosystems and the 
benefits they provide and, in so doing meet the needs of present generations of people 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs, and 
contribute to the achievement of the well-being goals.” 

1.8 This new duty means that, in exercising its planning functions, the NPA will need to 
demonstrate how it is pursuing the SMNR objective by using natural resources in a way 
and at a rate that promotes achievement of the SMNR objective, by taking other action 
that promotes achievement of the SMNR objective and by not taking action that hinders 
achievement of the SMNR objective.

Page 188



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

2

2 Summary of key issues

2.1 Key issues relevant to the LDP are summarised in Table 1 (below). Once published, 
issues arising from the NDF and Natural Resources Wales’ Area Statements will also be 
considered. The latter will be very important; transposing the messages from the 
NRW’s State of Natural Resources Report (2016) to the regional level and identifying 
local delivery of priorities of the Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy (NRP).

2.2 These key issues demonstrate the need for the LDP to ensure all development is 
appropriately located and is well designed to meet needs and delivers a sustainable 
sense of place.

Table 1.

Summary of Key Issues relevant to the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Local Development Plan

a. National Park Purposes and 
Special Qualities

The effect of development and visitor 
pressure on NP and its special qualities and 
physical and natural features including the 
landscape, geodiversity, biodiversity and 
cultural heritage.

b. Sustainability and Climate 
Change

The requirement to adapt to and mitigate 
against the effects of climate change 
through sustainable development and 
renewable energy production.  

Sustainability to underpin the BBNPA LDP.

c. Potential/ Capacity for 
growth

The capacity for growth in terms of the 
following:

- Environmental Constraints
- Infrastructure
- Utilities
- Public service provision.

d. Housing, including 
Affordable Housing

The need to provide a mix of dwelling 
types to meet the housing, employment and 
demographic needs of the National Park and 
in particular to meet affordable housing 

Page 189



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

3

Summary of Key Issues relevant to the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Local Development Plan

needs.

e. Economic Development, 
including Employment 
opportunities 

Need for circular and sustainable economic 
development, local employment 
opportunities and links with housing 
provision in a time of significant uncertainty.

f. Thriving Communities Need for natural growth of rural villages to 
allow for increased community vitality and 
quality of life by enabling placemaking 
through place-planning.

Table 1 summarises key issues relevant to the Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (2018 – 2033). It is drawn from the National Park Management Plan 
(2015 – 2020) (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2015), the State of the Park 
Report (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2014), the LDP Review Report (2018) 
(Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2018), the emerging Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2019), the Nature Recover Action 
Plan  (Brecon Beacons National Park Local Nature Partnership, 2019) and SWOT 
analyses undertaken during recent involvement events (Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority, 2019).  

Page 190



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

4

3 Vision and high-level planning objectives

Vision

3.1 The Welsh Government’s ambition for Wales’ National Parks that they are landscapes 
for everyone; an exemplar in the sustainable management of natural resources, 
biodiversity recovery and sustainable green energy generation. Furthermore, the Welsh 
Government expects National Parks to be places where opportunities for 
decarbonisation and the Welsh language are embraced and the economic potential of 
landscape is realised through sustainable economic development, tourism and outdoor 
recreation. 

3.2 To achieve this ambition, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s shared LDP 
(2018-2033) and emerging Management Plan vision is as follows: 

‘Our vision is for the Brecon Beacons to comprise connected, accessible and inspiring 
places for everyone.  An exemplar of resilient landscapes, vibrant culture, thriving 
communities and green enterprise enjoyed and fostered by people who visit, live and 
work in the National Park.'

High-level planning objectives

3.3 To achieve this vision and address the key issues, an integrated suite of high-level 
planning objectives are set out below. They are to be considered alongside the National 
Placemaking Outcomes, established in Planning Policy Wales9.

 To ensure Sustainable Development is carried out
 To ensure the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources
 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the National Park
 To conserve and enhance the wildlife of the National Park
 To conserve and enhance the cultural heritage of the National Park
 To promote opportunities for understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of the National Park
 Through working in partnership to conserve, enhance and promote the National 

Park, to foster the economic well-being of local communities
 Through working in partnership to conserve, enhance and promote the National 

Park, to foster the social well-being of local communities.

Page 191



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

5

4 Strategic and Spatial Choices for the National Park

Options

4.1 To deliver the vision and high-level planning objectives, the merits of three strategic 
development options have been assessed against sustainability objectives10 as follows. 

Strategy Option A: Sustainable Placemaking

4.2 Focused on the principles of sustainable placemaking, this strategy would seek to 
concentrate development within the principal settlements (Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay-
on-Wye and Talgarth), concentrating on the use of previously developed land and to 
meet development needs within existing development boundaries.  Elsewhere, 
community-led growth would be enabled in and adjoining existing development 
boundaries. This distribution of housing growth would support well-being by locating 
the majority of any population near to facilities and public services, whilst also catering 
for community growth aspirations where there are clear benefits of doing so. 

4.3 A moderate level of housebuilding (approximately 1,500 homes) is supported, facilitating 
an estimated 6-7% increase in the population of the National Park over the plan period. 
Taking into account completions in the plan period to date and allowances for small and 
large windfall sites, such a level of growth would not require any additional greenfield 
sites to be allocated over and above those in the existing LDP (2007 – 2022). This level 
of housebuilding is at the upper end of what has historically been achieved in the 
National Park. 

4.4 Such a strategy represents an aspirational approach to population and household growth 
and would represent an increase significantly in excess of the latest Welsh Government 
household and population projections. Depending on the type and tenure of housing 
delivered, this level of growth would result in a greater number of working aged 
population than if no intervention were made. If the type and tenure of housing 
delivered is not carefully managed, such a level of growth could exacerbate the existing 
demographic imbalance, i.e. older age groups being overrepresented. As each of the 
principal settlements are in Powys, this strategy would also help to address the 
projected depopulation of the County11.

4.5 This option balances development within sustainable settlements with allowing 
opportunities for localised growth in the smaller settlements and rural areas. Having 
assessed the option against sustainability objectives, no significant negative impacts are 
predicted. However, a number of uncertainties have been identified, which would 
require site specific policies to address flood risk, sustainable management of natural 
resources, biodiversity benefits, conservation and enhancement of heritage assets, 
sustainable design, housing, and service and infrastructure provision.

Page 192



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

6

Strategy Option B: Prioritising Economic Growth

4.6 This strategy would locate development within settlements where there is most 
demand, with a wide range of sites identified to provide developers a range and choice 
on which to build, particularly in the south-eastern areas of the National Park. This 
strategy would offer the opportunity for, and be likely to require, improvements to 
existing facilities and public services in settlements accommodating growth.

4.7 A high level of growth would be supported by this strategy, facilitating in excess of a 
10% increase in the population of the National Park over the plan period, requiring 
approximately 2,500 homes to be built. This is in excess of what was achieved during 
any plan period since the NPA became a local planning authority (LPA) in 1996.

4.8 In terms of growth, such a strategy represents an aspirational approach and would see 
the population and number of households increase significantly in excess of the latest 
2014-based Welsh Government household and population projections. Depending on 
the type and tenure of housing delivered, this level of growth could significantly impact 
the demographic profile of the National Park. It would result in a greater number and 
proportion of working aged population than if no intervention were made and the 
projections were realised. If the type and tenure of housing delivered is not managed 
carefully, or if jobs growth does not materialise, such a level of growth could greatly 
exacerbate the existing demographic imbalance in the National Park and increase 
commuting.

4.9 Having been assessed against sustainability objectives, this option has uncertain social 
benefits arising from increased housing and employment opportunities. There are also 
negative impacts predicted which relate to the location of growth and sustainable use of 
land; areas of demonstrated market need (eastern A40 corridor to the A465) are 
functioning floodplains helping to mitigate flood risk and support wildlife.  There are also 
predicted negative impacts on the historic landscape and built environment. Accordingly, 
pursuing this option risks conflict with the first purpose of the NPA.

Strategy Option C: East/West Diversity and Difference

4.10 Recognising the development pressures in the eastern areas of the National Park and 
that the LDP (2007-2022) has not yet delivered any meaningful growth west of 
Sennybridge, this strategy would intervene to provide more opportunities for mixed 
development in the smaller settlements in the west.  These settlements are more 
dispersed in nature, are far more distant from public services and facilities and, 
consequently, have not be considered appropriate locations for any significant 
development in recent plan periods. In the eastern areas of the National Park, 
development would be concentrated in the main towns, which would emulate the 
positive elements of option A.

Page 193



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

7

4.11 A moderate level of housebuilding (approximately 1500 homes) would be supported, 
facilitating an estimated 6-7% increase in the population of the National Park over the 
plan period. Taking into account completions in the plan period to date and allowances 
for small and large windfall sites, such a level of growth would not actually require any 
additional greenfield sites to be allocated, in the east of the National Park, over and 
above those in the existing LDP (2007 – 2022). This level of housebuilding is at the 
upper end of what has historically been achieved in the National Park.

4.12 In terms of growth, such a strategy represents an aspirational approach significantly in 
excess of the Welsh Government’s household and population projections. Depending 
on the type and tenure of housing delivered, this level of growth would impact the 
demographic profile of the National Park, particularly in the west, and would result in a 
greater number and proportion of working aged population than if the projections were 
realised. Alternatively, if the type and tenure of housing delivered is not carefully 
managed, such a level of growth could exacerbate the existing demographic imbalance in 
the National Park.

4.13 Having been assessed against sustainability objectives, this option provides the 
opportunity for significant community benefits and is predicted to support and enhance 
culturally specific ways of life, especially in the Western areas of the National Park that 
are strongly Welsh Speaking. However, in supporting the more dispersed nature of the 
strategy, there are predicted to be increased environmental impacts specifically in 
relation to the sustainable use of land and the sustainable location of growth.

Page 194



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

8

5 The Preferred Strategy 

5.1 This section describes the preferred strategy for the LDP (2018-2033), intended to 
achieve the LDP vision and deliver on the high-level planning objectives. Strategic 
policies are set out in Section 6. These are intended to deliver the strategy and provide 
a framework for developing detailed policies where necessary.

5.2 The preferred strategy is closely aligned to the sustainable placemaking option (Option 
A), described in the previous section, and includes elements of the other two options 
considered.

Strategic and Spatial Choices. 

See strategic policies on:-

- Major development in the National Park;
- Sustainable development in the National Park;
- Sustainable management of natural resources;
- Climate change;
- Good design;
- Sustainable sense of place; and,
- Key diagram.

Well-being

5.3 In recognition of the National Park designation, strategic policy supports Silkin Principle, 
that development of national (UK) significance should only ever be located within the 
National Park in exceptional circumstances. Strategic policy also supports the 
commitment to ensuring the well-being of future generations enshrined in Welsh 
legislation. This is likely to result in significant change during the plan period, not only to 
the way our built environment and landscape looks, but in the way our built 
environment and landscape is managed. 

5.4 Fundamental to well-being is tacking the challenges of climate change and biodiversity 
loss. We face the stark reality that the LDP period 2018 – 2033 takes us beyond the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s 2030 target for 1.5 ºC (Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change, 2019).  In the context of our ‘Climate emergency’12 and the 
Welsh Government’s acceptance of the UK Climate Change Committee’s 
recommendation for Wales to achieve 95% net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 
(Committee on Climate Change, 2019), the preferred strategy is to support the Welsh 
Government’s ambition13 to achieve net zero emissions no later than 2050 and 
response to the threats identified in the UK Government’s latest Climate Change Risk 
Assessment (Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 2017) as outlined in its 

Page 195



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

9

draft Climate Change Adaptation Plan for Wales (Welsh Government, 2018) and 
Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales  (Welsh Government, 2019).

5.5 The preferred strategy for halting and revering biodiversity decline, outlined in 
paragraphs 5.19 – 5.27, is essential in addressing the climate emergency. This is 
recognised in the Climate Change Adaptation Plan for Wales (Welsh Government, 
2018) and the Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy (Welsh Government, 
2017), which draws on Natural Resources Wales’ State of Natural Resources Report 
(Natural Resources Wales, 2016) in identifying National Priorities which support climate 
change adaptation – delivering nature based solutions, increasing renewable energy and 
resource efficiency, and taking a place-based approach.

5.6 Natural Resources Wales’ State of Natural Resources Report (Natural Resources 
Wales, 2016) calls for specific actions in terms of ecosystem resilience and benefits 
across the well-being goals: 

 Increasing green infrastructure in and around urban areas; Increased canopy 
cover and well located woodland [expansion] for greatest ecosystem service 
value; 

 Maintaining, enhancing and restoring floodplains and hydrological systems to 
reduce flood risk and improve water quality and supply; 

 Restoring our uplands and managing them for biodiversity, carbon, wter, flood 
risk and recreational benefits; and,

 Support for development of resilient ecological networks.

Design

5.7 Welsh Government’s Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (2018) (Welsh Government, 
2018) recognises good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people 
want to work, live and socialise. Ensuring good design is critical to the success of 
meeting the LDP’s vision and high-level planning objectives. The strategy requires high 
quality design in all new development and when refurbishing and regenerating the 
existing built environment. The benefits of good design extend beyond the physical 
development boundary by addressing the functional relationship between a development 
site and its wider surroundings. Strategic policy for design sets the strategic expectation 
for development to maximise potential to add social, economic, cultural and 
environmental value. 

5.8 By the time the LDP is adopted, all new development should achieve zero carbon in 
operation14, enabling opportunities for new employment and local supply chains. To 
avoid costly retrofit in the future and ensure household energy bills are no higher than 
needed, all development must achieve a very high energy performance, with the low 
amount of energy required generated from renewable sources including low-carbon 
heating systems (Committee on Climate Change, 2016)15. Accordingly, all development 

Page 196



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

10

will need to demonstrate efforts to meet carbon neutrality in construction and 
operation.

Sustainable sense of place and the distribution of population growth

5.9 The National Park covers 1,347 square kilometres, so distributing new housing 
development, and thereby facilitating population growth in sustainable locations, is of 
critical importance to delivering a strategy facilitating development which contributes to 
a sustainable sense of place. The ‘Sustainability Index’ indicates the National Park’s 
towns are the most sustainable places for growth within the National Park. They offer 
opportunities to access essential services, facilities and social opportunities by walking 
and cycling. Brecon offers Welsh medium primary education and is identified as the 
‘Primary Key Settlement’. There are four towns within the National Park; Brecon, 
Crickhowell, Hay-on-Wye and Talgarth, each has a Town Council and has undertaken 
place planning work identifying local issues and actions to tackle them. Whilst directing 
growth to these towns, the strategy is to take a place based approach, recognising the 
individual constraints to, and opportunities for, development, including the level of 
homebuilding recently accommodated. Each of these towns is identified as a ‘Key 
Settlement’. The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation16, reflects the relative accessibility 
of services outside towns, requiring those living in more rural areas to travel additional 
distances. Since bus services are limited in their regularity and frequency and can be 
expensive, directing significant amounts of development towards such communities 
exacerbates the reliance on road and private vehicles and risks social exclusion, further 
stretching public services, and planning only for those able to afford transport dependant 
lifestyles. 

5.10 Each of the National Park’s towns are in the county of Powys where, according to the 
Welsh Government’s 2014-based principal population projection, the population of the 
county outside the National Park will decrease by 9,694 over the next 25 years. 
Directing the majority of growth to Powys can reasonably be considered to help sustain 
the level of services provided in the County, of direct benefit to the National Park’s 
population.

  
5.11 Other settlements within the National Park support strong communities, some of which 

have also started to prepare place plans. Whilst access to services and facilities are 
more limited within these settlements, community aspirations for their future 
development are also important if their vitality is to be supported. These communities 
have the opportunity to prepare and review place plans to identify and plan for 
community-led growth and opportunities to improve Active Travel within and between 
them. 

5.12 Away from existing settlements, dispersed rural communities exist within the open 
countryside where Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10  (Welsh Government, 2018) is 
clear that new development, particularly home building, must be strictly controlled. 

Page 197



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

11

Nevertheless, where it is essential that development proceeds, this will be supported. 
Technical advice on these instances is outlined in the Welsh Government’s Technical 
Advice Note 6: Sustainable Rural Communities (Welsh Government, 2010). 

Regional working

5.13 Regionally, improving links between settlements in the National Park and surrounding 
centres of population are important to enable the population of the National Park 
access to key services, and to enable access into the National Park by visitors and those 
travelling to work from elsewhere. The need for development in the National Park to 
cater for the development needs of adjoining settlements, such as Abergavenny, will be 
reasonably considered. Two significant developments outside the National Park are 
planned within the new plan period; the South Wales Metro and the relocation of 
services from Neville Hall Hospital in Abergavenny to the Grange University Hospital 
near Cwmbran. These are likely to strengthen Brecon’s strategic link with Merthyr 
Tydfil (Prince Charles Hospital will become the nearest general hospital to Brecon) and 
will support the case for improvements to public transport between the centres.

5.14 Strategic policies implement this strategy. The key diagram illustrates the preferred 
strategy of facilitating development which contributes to a sustainable sense of place 
(Figure 1).

Figure 1: The Key Diagram illustrating the distribution of development in the 
National Park (See over).

Page 198



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

12

P
age 199



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

13

A Distinctive and Natural National Park

See strategic policies on:-

- Environmental protection; and,
- Historic environment.

Environmental capacity 

5.15 The accompanying Strategic Environmental Assessment (reported as part of the 
Integrated Sustainability Appraisal) (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2019) 
ensures decisions taken on the LDP are informed by the predicted consequences of 
pursuing it. The assessment includes a consideration against topics such as landscape, 
biodiversity and cultural heritage and has enabled potential impacts on these ‘features’ 
to be identified and for judgements to be made as to whether any are likely to be 
significant. The assessment enables consideration of ‘environmental capacity’ (Jacobs, 
1997).

Landscape

5.16 The Brecon Beacons National Park was designated in 1957 on the grounds of its natural 
beauty and the opportunities it offers for open-air recreation. Its varied landscapes are 
the result of its natural geology and topography, superimposed by thousands of years of 
human activity and management of the land. More recently the National Park has 
attracted designations as an International Dark Sky Reserve; The Fforest Fawr UNESCO 
Global Geopark; and Blaenavon Industrial Landscape is designated by UNESCO as a 
World Heritage Site. 

5.17 Eight landscapes within, or partly within, the National Park are recognised as being of 
outstanding (o) or special historic (s) interest in Wales by Cadw in partnership with the 
International Council on Monuments and Sites (Cadw, 1998)  (Cadw, 1999) (Cadw, 
2007). Each is supported by a historic landscape characterisation report, available from 
the relevant archaeological trust.

 Black Mountain and Mynydd Myddfai (o)
 Blaenavon (o)
 Middle Wye Valley (o)
 Middle Usk Valley (s)
 East Fforest Fawr and Mynydd-y-Glog (s)
 Clydach Gorge (s)
 Tywi Valley (largely outside) (o)
 Merthyr Tydfil (largely outside) (o)

Page 200



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

14

5.18 There are five broad landscape types within the National Park: Uplands, Upland Valleys, 
Settled Valleys, Lowlands and Mountains and Valleys. Within these landscape types, 15 
Landscape Character Areas (LCA) have been identified, each with its own character, 
identity and ‘sense of place’ derived from the particular combinations of natural and 
cultural elements within it. 

5.19 The Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape Character Assessment (Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority, 2012) describes each of these LCA, profiling their location and 
context; historical development; distinctive characteristics; LANDMAP components; 
settlements; key views; special qualities; sensitivities; contribution to ecosystem services 
and green infrastructure and forces for landscape change.

5.20 Each LCA profile also provides a management strategy and recommended management 
guidelines to protect and strengthen its landscape character. The preferred landscape 
strategy is to use these guidelines to inform the location and design of development in 
each character area. 

5.21 Such an approach recognises that whilst the landscapes of the National Park contain a 
record of their evolutionary processes over millennia, the development of landscape is a 
dynamic process17, and many forces for change continue to act on the landscape today. 

Biodiversity

5.22 The Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy (NRP) (Welsh Government, 2017) 
recognises the need to reverse the decline of biodiversity by taking an approach focused 
on the sustainable management of natural resources across all policy areas; to 
proactively develop resilient ecological networks to maintain and enhance the wider 
resilience of Wales’ ecosystems and to reducing and better manage the pressures and 
demands on ecosystems and natural resources. The NRP explains “Taken together, 
Planning Policy Wales and the National Development Framework will set the national 
planning context which will support the delivery of the Natural Resources Policy at the 
national level.”

5.23 Furthermore, to ensure the resilience and coherence of the Natura 2000 network, 
Regulation 41 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 provides 
for Nature conservation policy in planning contexts by enabling local development plans 
to include policies encouraging the management of features of the landscape, which, by 
virtue of their linear and continuous structure (such as rivers with their banks or the 
traditional systems of marking field boundaries) or their function as “stepping stones” 
(such as ponds or small woods), are essential for the migration, dispersal and genetic 
exchange of wild species.

5.24 Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (Welsh Government, 2018) includes a section on 
‘Biodiversity and Ecological Networks’ and takes the Convention for Biological 

Page 201



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

15

Diversity’s definition of biodiversity and ecosystems. It explains that development plan 
strategies, policies and individual development proposals must take into account the 
need to: 
 promote the conservation of biodiversity, in particular the conservation of wildlife 

and habitats; 
 ensure action in Wales contributes to meeting international responsibilities and 

obligations for biodiversity and habitats; 
 ensure statutorily designated sites are properly protected and managed; 
 safeguard protected species and existing biodiversity assets from impacts which 

directly affect their nature conservation interests and compromise the resilience of 
ecological networks and the components which underpin them, such as water and 
soil; and, 

 seek enhancement of and improvements to ecosystem resilience by improving 
diversity, condition, extent and connectivity of ecological networks.

5.25 The National Park’s ecosystems support nationally and internationally important habitats 
and species, as well as species found nowhere else including unique, endemic plant 
species (e.g. Ley’s Whitebeam18 and Attenborough’s Hawkweed19) which demonstrate 
their ecological value. Within the National Park there are 11 Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC), covering 3,211 hectares of land, 64 biological Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI), covering 25,540 hectares of land, 8 National Nature Reserves 
(NNR) and many more areas of land managed for nature by environmental organisations 
and individuals such as the Wildlife Trust of South and West Wales and the National 
Trust. However, the current condition of biodiversity in the National Park, both inside 
and outside designated sites requires immediate action, 38/48 SAC features (79%) are in 
unfavourable conservation status (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2019) and 
comparable evidence for SSSI features in BBNP show 90% under inappropriate 
management, 55% of SSSI features in unfavourable condition and 77% on land within 
SSSIs owned by BBNPA (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2014). Across 
Wales, no habitats can be said to have all the features required for resilience meaning 
their capacity to provide ecosystem services and benefits may be at risk (Natural 
Resources Wales, 2016).   

5.26 Habitats and species are a vital part of what underpins our natural environment. The 
National Park’s dynamic natural ecosystems provide a multiplicity of benefits and 
services to people, from the provision of food, to water regulation and purification, 
pollination and erosion control. Humans also benefit from a variety of cultural services 
provided by healthy ecosystems, including spiritual enrichment and recreational 
experiences. The natural environment plays a fundamental role in our quality of life, our 
health and our well-being. It is our natural habitat too. 

5.27 Aligned with the delivery of natural resource management on a landscape scale, Wales’ 
protected landscapes20 (which including the National Park) have a significant role to play 
in delivering the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. The Brecon Beacons Local Nature 

Page 202



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

16

Partnership’s Nature Recovery Action Plan (Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Nature Partnership, 2019) has adopted a working ethos of “connectivity” (ecological, 
physical and intellectual/spiritual) to guide its delivery. This encompasses an aspiration to 
build more resilient, better-connected nature recovery networks that are ‘bigger, better 
and more joined up’, as well as improve the connectedness of research and surveillance 
efforts and recognises that the largest losses to biodiversity are endured outside of the 
designated sites network, in the wider countryside (Natural Resources Wales, 2016) 
(Natural Resources Wales, 2019).

5.28 By complementing and supporting delivery of the Nature Recovery Action Plan, the LDP 
will seek to build ecosystem resilience and adaptability through the planning system by: 
 Requiring development to provide a net benefit for biodiversity with no significant 

loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or nationally, whilst respecting the 
representativeness, rarity and distinctive features and diversity of habitat type units 
and patterns.

 Ensuring the scale and location of development and land-use facilitates the creation 
and restoration of green networks, appropriate linkages between habitats and 
maintains and enhances the size and shape of other green infrastructure features.

 Ensuring development does not compromise the condition of ecosystems, their 
ecological viability, naturalness, in particular threatened habitat types and sites 
previously assessed and identified as being of ecological value.

 Contributing to the development of functional habitat and appropriate ecological 
networks across landscapes, building on existing connectivity and quality and 
encouraging habitat creation and restoration to support migratory species passage / 
cover, including by enlarging habitat areas, buffering designated sites or other 
biodiversity assets or corridors (including transport and river corridors) and 
creating 'stepping stones' to strengthen the ability of habitats and ecological 
networks to adapt.

5.29 This places greater emphasis on securing high standards of locational choice, detailed 
siting and design of development, to drive biodiversity ‘benefits’ and ensure that 
appropriate mitigation and, where necessary compensation, is secured in full. As 
standard development will be required to deliver biodiversity net benefits, green 
infrastructure and sustainable drainage in a way which integrates and connects 
appropriately with adjacent landscapes and ecosystems, green energy and sustainable 
transport solutions.

5.30 The National Park supports the aspiration of Natural Resources Wales (Natural 
Resources Wales, 2018) that “Maintaining and enhancing biodiversity and building 
ecosystem resilience are a routine requirement of new development and the regulation 
and management of natural resource use across all sectors in Wales.” 

Page 203



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

17

Archaeology

5.31 Archaeological sites of local, regional, national and international importance are present 
in the National Park.  Many of these are exceptionally well preserved, surviving as visible 
and upstanding features in the landscape, contributing to the National Park’s special 
qualities and sense of place.  These sites have survived for many hundreds or thousands 
of years; they are a valuable but finite and non-renewable resource, which need to be 
carefully managed and conserved to ensure that they survive for current and future 
generations to enjoy.

5.32 Such sites range from Iron Age Hillforts to industrial workings, from prehistoric burial 
sites to medieval castles, and from stone circles to World War II remains. Some 357 are 
designated as Scheduled Ancient Monuments. 

5.33 Most archaeological sites within the National Park, however, are undesignated. This 
does not mean that these sites are not important; they still need to be well understood, 
carefully managed and conserved for the benefit of current and future generations and it 
is the preferred strategy of the LDP to do so.

Built heritage

5.34 A wealth of built heritage is present within the National Park, including a wide range of 
important architecture, including Norman castles and mediaeval farmhouses, 
concentrations of 17th and 18th century buildings within the towns, and a scatter of 
very fine rural buildings that often retain original features.  The National Park has nearly 
2000 Listed Buildings, 4 Conservation Areas as well as many thousands of buildings and 
numerous settlements that are regionally or locally important.

5.35 The LDP strategy is to conserve and enhance our historic buildings, townscapes and 
settlements, by ensuring that new developments in our historic areas or alterations to 
our historic buildings are sustainable and in keeping, and that no important information 
about the past is lost.  This is not to prevent change but to ensure that the important 
features of our historic buildings and the distinctive character of our settlements is 
preserved for future generations to enjoy.

5.36 Strategic policies implement this strategy to ensure a distinctive and natural National 
Park.   

An Active and Social National Park

See strategic policies on:-

- Housing requirement;
- Affordable housing;

Page 204



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

18

- Sustainable communities;
- Sustainable transport and active travel;
- Sustainable infrastructure; and,
- Vital and viable retail centres.

Population and housing needs

5.37 An aspirational housing requirement of 1,720 homes for the plan period (115 p.a.) is 
proposed as an appropriate level of growth to support the preferred strategy of 
facilitating development which contributes to a sustainable sense of place within the 
National Park. With planned flexibility of 10% added to new allocations to ensure the 
housing requirement is delivered, the plan will provide for a total of 1,777 homes. This 
level of housebuilding is outlined in the housing requirement strategic policy. This 
approach seeks to enable the redevelopment and best-use of previously developed land, 
whilst also mitigating the level of commuting into the National Park by attempting to 
draw a sufficient working-age population to support, as a minimum, the existing number 
of jobs in the National Park.

5.38 Modelling for a similar scenario (figure 2) indicates the population of the National Park 
would grow by approximately 8% or 2,743 people to 36,543 by 2032. To offer some 
context, since 1971 the population of the National Park has only increased by 
approximately 15% or 4,329 people (over 47 years). 

5.39 Figure 2 shows the results of modelling to changes in the age structure of the 
National Park’s population by delivering a housing requirement of 1,670 
homes (i.e. 50 fewer than the 1,720 proposed).  

Page 205



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

19

5.40 The age pyramid (figure 2) shows the National Park’s population towards the end of the 
plan period as having fewer working age people between 45 and 60 years of age, a 
significant increase in the population over 70 years old and small increases in the 
number of children. The implications an aging population profile will need to be catered 
for by all public service providers and particularly those providing health and social care. 

Components and distribution of housing supply

5.41 Many of the 1,720 homes required over the new plan period (2018-2033) have either 
been built, are under construction, or are agreed as deliverable by 2023 in the Joint 
Housing Land Availability Study.  

5.42 Given reasonable levels of windfall development (Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority, 2019), which are likely to account for approximately 29% of new homes built 

Page 206



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

20

during the remaining plan period, very few new development allocations are required to 
deliver the strategy. 

5.43 Having received candidate site submissions (Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 
2019), it appears the residual housing requirement can be largely met on previously 
developed land in the Primark Key Settlement, Brecon. To enable a sustainable sense of 
place the strategy also supports development on previously developed land in other key 
settlements: i.e. Crickhowell Hay-on-Wye and Talgarth. The NPA considers that such 
an approach is consistent with the definition and objective of the sustainable 
management of natural resources.   

Table 2

Components of Housing Supply Brecon Tal / Hay/ Crick Other Total
A Total completions (small and large) 01.04.18 – 

31.03.19
2 41 46 89

B Under construction (large sites) 0 0 12 12
C Units with planning permission or included in 

Category 2 of JHLAS (31.03.18)
223 257 63 543

D Strategy compliant candidate 
sites/allocations (added flexibility @10%)

316 
(+32)

104
(+10)

0 420 
(+42)

E Candidate sites/ to meet cross border needs 
in Abergavenny

0 0 154
(+15)

154

F Large windfall sites (=>5) 14 years remaining 61* 7* 134* 202*
G Small windfall sites (<5) 14 years remaining 48* 57* 195* 300*
H Approximate housing provision 650 466 604 1720
I Approximately proportion by planning area 38% 27% 35%

Table 2: Indicative distribution of growth for 15 years (2018 – 2033), taking 
into account the latest housing land supply information and evidenced 
allowances*21 for small and large windfall sites. 

5.44 As can be seen (Table 2), the majority of the housing requirement (65%) will be 
delivered in the Key Settlements of the National Park, with Brecon as the Primary Key 
Settlement, attracting much of this. 

5.45 Within Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay-on-Wye and Talgarth, housing development will be 
supported within existing development boundaries on appropriate previously developed 
land to meet regeneration needs. Sites will also be allocated for the delivery of 
affordable housing. Exception sites will be enabled outside, but adjoining, the 
development boundary of settlements to enable the provision of affordable housing, 
where there is additional evidenced need. 

Page 207



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

21

5.46 For cross-boundary purposes, the National Park Authority also considers it is necessary 
to allocate land to facilitate the expansion of Abergavenny. Such development will need 
to meet the National Park’s design standards, and integrate fully with Active Travel 
routes within the town. 

Affordable housing

5.47 The delivery of affordable housing is a key issue both locally and nationally (Independent 
Review of Affordable Housing Supply, 2019). The predicted level of need for, and 
strategic viability of, affordable housing is yet to be established. Currently, the need for 
affordable housing within the National Park is not being met by delivery through 
development. Strategic policy on affordable housing seeks to ensure an appropriate level 
and mix of affordable housing in all proposed residential developments. Schemes 
incorporating co-operative housing and housing for older persons will be supported. 

5.48 Although yet to be established, the affordable housing target figure will also be set in 
strategic policy. This figure will be based on the housing requirement of 1,720 homes. It 
will relate only to those affordable homes secured through the planning system and will 
include contributions from committed sites, new allocations, and windfall sites. 

Sustainable communities

5.49 The strategy is also to support sustainable sense of place in communities across the 
National Park. Development supporting sustainable communities, sustainable transport 
and active travel, town centres, appropriate retailing and community infrastructure is 
encouraged by strategic policies.

A Productive and Enterprising National Park

See strategic policies on:-

- Economic well-being;
- Farm diversification;
- Sustainable tourism;
- Employment land requirement;
- Safeguarding employment sites;
- Renewable energy;
- Waste; and,
- Minerals.

Sustainable economic development

5.50 Over the plan period, the way the rural economy responds to uncertainty, technological 
and societal change and the climate crisis is likely to have a deep and profound impact 

Page 208



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

22

on the National Park’s landscape, biodiversity, local communities and the economic 
structure. The latest Experian forecasts (Experian, 2019) indicate jobs in the agricultural, 
forestry and fishing sector are likely to reduce by more than any other sector during the 
plan period. The Welsh Government’s analysis of geographic and environmental 
implications of Brexit is stark.22 Post-Brexit scenario modelling indicates increasing 
under-employment (not unemployment) in the agricultural sector23. The preferred 
strategy is to continue to support rural business in a new era where climate change 
mitigation and adaptation, landscape conservation, nature recovery, woodland 
expansion, flood prevention and delivery of other ecosystem services will be critical 
business outcomes. Detailed policy will need to be flexible and supportive of 
demonstration and pilot projects and to enable training and development opportunities.

5.51 The economic strategy of the LDP is to support local economic benefits, whether by 
employment or entrepreneurship, within the constraints and opportunities presented by 
the National Park’s purposes and the duty to fulfil these purposes in ways that support 
social and economic well-being, and the requirement to maintain and enhance the 
resilience of ecosystems and the benefits they provide. There is also an imperative that 
the National Park Authority ensures the global impacts of local economic activity are 
minimised. This means supporting green growth and innovation and a more resource 
efficient economy and ensuring that the emerging Mid Wales Growth Deal facilitates 
this approach.

5.52 National Park status comes with significant economic benefits – particularly around 
brand recognition and a strong visitor economy. Management principle 9 for IUCN 
Category V Protected Areas, however, recognises that economic activities that do not 
need to take place within a protected landscape should be located outside it, 
emphasising the importance of improving links between settlements in the National Park 
and surrounding centres of population. 

5.53 This strategy will be realised by developing detailed policies enabling networks of small 
and micro-businesses to generate high added value products and services, whilst 
incorporating the full value of their environmental impacts into their business models 
and maximising their benefit to the local circular economy.  Businesses that can help to 
mitigate the impacts of climate change, support sustainable management of the 
landscape, enhance biodiversity and contribute to nature recovery, and that work with 
and for natural assets to generate green growth will be encouraged. The NPA 
recognises that partnership working is essential if this is to be realised. 

Sustainable tourism development

5.54 For tourism, it has already been accepted within the NPA’s Sustainable Tourism Strategy 
(Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 2017), that businesses in close proximity to 

Page 209



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

23

but not within the formal boundary are part of the economically driven ‘destination’. 
The preferred strategy is to direct tourism development towards sustainable 
settlements wherever possible. A recent increase in the number of applications for 
glamping development needs to be carefully managed if they are not, cumulatively, to 
impact on the natural beauty of the landscape. Furthermore, the Welsh Government’s 
access proposals24 may also lead to additional pressure for tourism related development 
in the National Park, which will also need to be managed appropriately. 

Employment land needs

5.55 There will always be greater opportunities for large economic developments outside the 
National Park given better road access, larger development sites and more access to 
labour. Nevertheless, the role of existing employment land is important locally and so 
strategic policy seeks to safeguard them. A very low level of need for additional B Class 
employment land (approximately 1.5 - 3 Ha.) within the National Park has been identified 
(Lichfields, 2019) and strategic policy makes provision for this.  

Sustainable renewable energy development

5.56 Higher levels of energy conservation, reduced energy demand and more localised 
renewable energy generation and distribution are needed to meet realistic demand. This 
is particularly the case since energy diversification is currently limited by the finite 
capacity of the National Grid, which has also restricted entry of new schemes25. 
Facilitating appropriate renewable energy development is also an important way of 
mitigating climate change whilst supporting economic opportunity for communities.

5.57 The LDP strategy is to support sustainable renewable energy development in the 
National Park, i.e. that which respects the recently established principle (The Planning 
Inspectorate, 2019) that there is no potential for large-scale wind and solar farm 
developments in a National Park because of their designation as a protected landscape. 
Accordingly, the strategy is to support community energy master planning and to rely 
on criteria based policy to determine proposals. This approach has recently been found 
sound in Snowdonia National Park, where the NPA did not consider it practical to 
undertake the detailed site surveys necessary to establish the spatial disposition of 
potential sites for future microgeneration (The Planning Inspectorate, 2019).

Minerals

5.58 Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (Welsh Government, 2018) clarifies there is no 
requirement for a land-bank of non-energy minerals to be maintained within National 
Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). Furthermore that Minerals 
development should not take place in National Parks and AONB except in very 
exceptional circumstances. The strategy is therefore to ensure all mineral applications 
are examined rigorously against the tests for minerals development set out in Planning 

Page 210



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

24

Policy Wales. In the case of extensions to existing quarries and other mineral extraction 
sites, the extent to which the proposal would achieve an enhancement to the local 
landscape and provide for nature conservation and biodiversity will be a key 
consideration. 

Waste

5.59 The National Park is within two waste planning monitoring areas, South East Wales and 
South West Wales. The latest position for each are in the latest planning monitoring 
reports. In the South East Region the current regional position is that there is no further 
need for landfill capacity. Any proposals for further residual waste treatment should be 
carefully assessed to ensure that the facility would not result in overprovision (Flintshire 
County Council, 2016). In the South West Region, the predicted remaining landfill 
capacity points to just over 10 years (Welsh Government, 2016). As the National Park 
is a protected landscape and at the periphery of the Region, any new waste provision 
will not be accommodated within the National Park. 

Page 211



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

25

6 LDP strategic policies

6.1 The following section contains the strategic policies to deliver the preferred strategy for 
the LDP (2018-2033). They also set the context for the development of detailed policies 
to manage development in the National Park over the plan period. 

Strategic and spatial choices

Major development in the National Park

Major development proposals which are more national (i.e. UK) than local in character 
will be determined against the Silkin Principle which considers:-

a) The need for the development;
b) The cost of and scope for developing elsewhere outside of the National Park or 

meeting the need in some other way; and
c) The consequences of any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and 

recreational opportunities, and the extent to which mitigation is possible.

Sustainable development in the National Park

Within the context of the National Park’s contribution to well-being and delivery of 
Sustainable Management of Natural Resources, and having regard to the Sandford 
principle, all development and use of land within in the National Park must:

1. Conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 
National Park;

2. Promote opportunities for understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of 
the National Park;

3. Maintain and enhance the resilience of ecosystems and the benefits they provide by 
applying the principles of sustainable management of natural resources;

4. Deliver benefits for each of the 4 pillars of sustainability, giving as equal as possible 
weight to each, without harm to any; and

5. Meet the needs of current generations without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 

Where options pursued to meet short-term needs may have a detrimental long-term 
effect, appropriate mitigation and enhancement must be delivered to ensure 
sustainability. In exceptional circumstances, compensation may also need to be secured. 

Sustainable management of natural resources

Page 212



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

26

All development and use of land in the National Park must use natural resources in a 
way, and at a rate, that maintains and enhances the resilience of ecosystems and the 
benefits they provide. Proposals which could hinder the resilience of ecosystems will be 
refused.

The NPA will require all new development to make best possible use of land through:

a) The appropriate redevelopment to regenerate buildings proven to be unfit for 
purpose in locations compatible with the Settlement strategy; 

b) The prioritisation of use of previously developed land within development 
boundaries in preference of Greenfield sites; and

c) Dwelling densities that make best use of the available land, achieving minimum 
dwelling densities relevant to the settlement.

Climate change

All development must;

1. Be resilient and adaptable to the likely effects of climate change;
2. Limit and mitigate the causes of climate change; 
3. Contribute to carbon neutrality;
4. Reduce the need for travel or transport; AND
5. In the case of Major Development schemes, achieve zero carbon in operation by 

2023 and carbon neutral in construction and operation from then on.

Good design

Development must contribute to the creation of attractive and sustainable places 
through high quality, sustainable and inclusive design. All proposals must demonstrate 
good design. The use of local artisanship and local materials, alongside contemporary 
design materials with high production values will be encouraged.

Sustainable sense of place

Sustainable sense of place will be facilitated by:

a) Directing new development land allocations to Brecon, Crickhowell, Talgarth, Hay-
on-Wye and appropriate brownfield sites;

b) Facilitating appropriate community-led development within and adjoining sustainable 
settlements (via Place Plans adopted as SPG);

c) Strictly controlling new home building away from existing settlements or areas 
allocated for development in the open countryside; 

Page 213



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

27

d) Enabling sustainable economic activity with direct benefits to the local economy, and 
development supporting the creation of resilient ecological networks where a 
Countryside location is proven to be necessary and essential. 

A Distinctive and Natural National Park

Environmental protection 

All proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park 
must demonstrate that the proposed development does not have an unacceptable 
impact on, nor detract from, or prevent the enjoyment of:-

1. The special qualities of the National Park as identified in the National Park 
Management Plan;

2. Biodiversity and natural resources both within and beyond designated sites; 
3. The water environment; 
4. Geodiversity, including the Fforest Fawr European Geopark;
5. The network of Green Infrastructure including public open space and recreation 

facilities; and 
6. Soil and air quality. 

All development proposals defined as Major Development must be accompanied by a 
Green Infrastructure plan.

Historic environment

All proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park 
must demonstrate that the proposed development does not have an unacceptable 
impact on, nor detract from, or prevent the enjoyment of;

1. The Historic environment and cultural heritage, including but not limited to 
Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site, Registered Historic Parks 
Gardens and Historic Landscapes; and, 

2. The character of the historic environment including historic buildings, conservation 
areas; archaeological features and the intangible aspects of cultural heritage inherent 
in place.

An Active and Social National Park

Housing requirement

Page 214



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

28

To support sustainable placemaking and sustain the number of jobs in the National Park, 
1,720 additional homes are required over the plan period. To ensure these are 
delivered, provision is made for 1,805 additional homes.

Affordable housing

The LDP will contribute to the provision of affordable housing through:-

a) The building of Affordable Housing on development sites which result in the net gain 
of five or more new dwellings at a level determined viable and at a tenure that meets 
the housing need of the settlement;

b) A financial contribution to the National Park’s Fund for Affordable Housing on 
housing sites which deliver less than 5 whole units at a level determined viable for 
the future provision of affordable housing off-site;

c) Enabling the identification of housing sites for no less than 50% Affordable Housing 
through community-led Place Plans;

d) Exceptionally allowing the development of 100% Affordable Housing on sites forming 
infill or a logical extension to all Settlements within the National Park; and

e) Allocating sites for 100% Affordable Housing within existing key settlements. 

Sustainable communities

All new development must support community sustainability. Development which could 
impact negatively on the future sustainability of a community will not be permitted.

Sustainable transport and active travel

To ensure that during the LDP period, land use planning opportunities are taken to 
improve and promote accessibility and to reduce the need to travel by private car by:

a) Permitting facilities to improve public transport by helping to link between travel 
modes or providing facilities for passengers;

b) Encouraging low impact/zero carbon travel and connectivity between settlements;
c) Ensuring new development is well designed by providing appropriate access for 

pedestrians, cyclists and encouraging the provision of new pedestrian and cycle 
infrastructure;

d) Refusing proposals that will result in transport impacts which cannot be satisfactorily 
mitigated;

e) Where necessary, permitting proposals that assist in delivering improved traffic and 
parking management that are proven necessary for the enhancement of the 
sustainable transport network; and

Page 215



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

29

All development proposals defined as Major Development must be accompanied by a 
sustainable Travel Plan prepared to the satisfaction of the NPA.

The NPA will achieve the above without the need for the development of new roads; 
however the NPA acknowledges that in highly exceptional cases new roads may be 
necessary to improve safety standards and to help to achieve wider sustainable 
transport objectives. Development proposals for new roads will be judged in 
accordance with the strategic direction of the three regional transport plans and the 
wider sustainability objectives of the LDP.

Sustainable infrastructure

Development proposals relating to the provision of new infrastructure will be permitted 
where they:

a) Are proven to be essential to the future sustainability of, or provide sustainable 
benefits for, National Park resident communities;

b) Are located so as not to compromise in any way the wildlife, natural beauty, cultural 
heritage or environmental assets of the National Park; and

c) Do not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of communities.

In enabling essential infrastructure development, the NPA will look favourably on 
proposals which provide innovative solutions to constraints upon provision. 

Vital and viable retail centres

The retail strategy of the LDP is to maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the 
identified retail centres and to support proposals which contribute to the regeneration 
of the Town Centres by;

a) Safeguarding existing retail uses in the Retail Centres (Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay-on-
Wye, Talgarth);

b) Strengthening the retailing economy of the settlement and contribute to its vitality 
and viability;

c) Maintaining and enhancing the diversity of uses in the identified Retail Centres; and
d) Supporting the evolution of town centres as retail, social and service centres in the 

face of changing consumer behaviour and preferences.

The Retail Centres will be identified on the Proposals Map.

A Productive and Enterprising National Park

Page 216



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

30

Economic well-being

Development proposals which are aimed at improving the economic and social well-
being of the National Park’s communities will be permitted where they are located in 
areas which minimise the need to travel or are well connected to areas of residential 
population through sustainable forms of transport; and

a) Provide employment opportunities within Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay-on-Wye and 
Talgarth appropriate to the form and character of the settlement and landscape 
setting; or

b) Support proposals for sustainable tourism; or
c) Support rural enterprise and the agricultural and land management sectors, both 

directly and through farm diversification; or
d) Support town centres, and/or rural and farm shops; or
e) Provide employment opportunities within green services, including appropriately 

scaled renewable energy generation and carbon minimisation schemes; or
f) Where they occur on allocated mixed use sites that require a development brief; 

and
g) Support an increasingly circular economy; and
h) Contribute to the conservation and enhancement of the National Park’s natural 

beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage.

Farm diversification

The NPA will enable proposals which would result in the sustainable diversification of 
farming enterprises.  Such proposals should be appropriate to their location in design 
and function.  For all proposals for farm diversification, applicants will need to 
demonstrate the future sustainability of the business proposed and its relation to the 
agricultural and rural land management enterprises. Proposals which could be better 
accommodated on land within a defined settlement will be resisted.  

Sustainable tourism

The NPA will support proposals for sustainable tourism and outdoor recreation 
development which promote opportunities for the enjoyment and understanding of the 
National Park, whilst ensuring their contribution to the conservation of the Park’s 
natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage. 

Development proposals should either be:-

Page 217



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

31

a) Located within defined settlement boundaries and/or make re-use of previously 
developed land.  Such proposals should be designed so the nature and scale of the 
development is in keeping with the settlement’s size and function; or

b) Located on previously developed land within countryside locations, and of a scale 
and function appropriate to its location; or in exceptional cases only,

c) Located on greenfield sites within the countryside where a countryside location is 
demonstrated to be essential to the functioning of the development and evidence is 
provided to demonstrate wider sustainability benefits from the future operation of 
the scheme. 

Employment land requirement

To facilitate sustainable economic development and provide a range and choice of land 
for new economic development (B1, B2, B8), up to 3Ha. of employment land will be 
allocated.

Safeguarding existing employment sites

To facilitate sustainable economic development and sustain the amount of land available 
supporting B1, B2 & B8, the following business parks and industrial sites will be 
safeguarded:

- Brecon Enterprise Park, Brecon;
- Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon;
- Talgarth Business Park, Talgarth;
- Elvicta Business Park, Crickhowell;
- Granda Park Industrial Estate, Crickhowell;
- Wye Valley Business Park, Hay-on-Wye;
- Greenfield Industrial Estate, Hay-on-Wye; and,
- Gilwern Park Industrial Estate, Gilwern

Renewable energy

There is no potential for large-scale windfarm and solar farm developments in the 
National Park because of its designation as a protected landscape. 

Sustainable renewable energy schemes will be supported where they are identified 
within a community-scale energy master plan and / or place-plan and meet all other 
relevant policies of this plan. Cumulatively, these will contribute (TBC) MW of installed 
capacity in the National Park over the plan period. 

Page 218



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

32

Other Renewable Energy Schemes will be considered against the tests set out in criteria 
based policy. 

Waste

The NPA will not allocate land for a Regional Waste Facility or related development.

All development proposals will need to demonstrate that provision has been made for 
reducing the production of waste and that, the maximum possible reuse and recycling of 
waste materials is facilitated.

The NPA will support where appropriate, and where a need is identified, local waste 
management facilities to support the circular economy. 

Minerals

Although the National Park Authority is not required to maintain a land-bank for 
crushed rock or aggregates, appropriate mineral resources will be safeguarded from 
sterilisation.

The National Park Authority will seek to reduce the impact of mineral extraction and 
related operations during the period of working through any review of minerals 
permissions applications received. 

Page 219



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

33

 7. Glossary and definition of terms

7.1 Where defined outwith this document, the glossary identifies the definition and source 
of terms used. The glossary is supplemented with the definition of other terms 
established in the document. 

Term Meaning and source
Affordable housing As defined in Technical advice note (TAN) 2: 

planning and affordable housing.
Area Statement As defined in Environment (Wales) Act 2016, 

Section 11.
Candidate Site Meaning provided in Glossary of the Welsh 

Government Local Development Plan Manual 
(Edition 2).

Ecosystem services Benefits derived from Wales’ natural resources 
including those identified on page 3 of the 
Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy.

Ecosystems approach As defined by the Convention on Biological 
Diversity.

Good design As defined in section 2 of Technical advice note 
(TAN) 12: design (2016).

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal Integrated plan assessment including the 
environmental report required by The 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004.

Joint Housing Land Availability Study Annual study monitoring the supply of housing 
land within the National Park.

LANDMAP Maintained by Natural Resources Wales. An 
important information resource, methodology, 
and monitoring baseline for the landscapes of 
Wales.

Local Development Plan Meaning as defined by Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Section 62.

Local Planning Authority Meaning as defined by Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, Section 1 (as amended).

Major development As defined in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 
Order 2012.

National Development Framework The NDF will set out the Welsh Government’s 
policies on development and land use in a 
spatial context, and replace the Wales Spatial 
Plan.

National Park Authority As defined in Environment Act 2005, Section 64.
National park purposes As defined in Environment Act 2005, Section 61.

Page 220



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

34

Natural beauty Natural beauty as defined in the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Management Plan 2010-
2015.

Plan period 01/04/2018 – 31/12/2033
Previously developed land As defined on page 38 of Planning Policy Wales 

Edition 10 (2018).
Silkin principle As set out in paragraph 1.4 of the BBNP 

Management Plan 2010 - 2015
Special qualities As set out in Table 3.1 (Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority, 2010) of the BBNP Management 
Plan 2010 – 2015.

Sustainability index Detailed assessment of the Sustainability of the 
National Park settlements was undertaken in 
support of this Preferred Strategy.  Please refer 
to the ‘Sustainability Index’ NPA 2017.

Sustainability objectives As defined in the Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal.

Sustainable development As defined in Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015, Section 2.

Sustainable management of natural resources As defined in the Environment (Wales) Act 2016
Sustainable placemaking Sustainable placemaking principles in PPW.
Well-being goals In section 4 of the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (anaw 2).

Page 221



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

35

Endnotes:

1 Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for AONBs and National Parks. July 
2018. (Page 3).

2 Sanderson Bellamy, Angelina and Galliford, H. J. 2018. Biodiversity and the area-based 
approach in Wales: how can the sustainable management of natural resources (SMNR) 
framework deliver nature recovery? Summary and key findings. [Project Report]. Cardiff 
University and the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds.

3 Healthy ecosystems clean our water, purify our air, maintain our soil, regulate the climate, 
recycle nutrients and provide us with food. They provide raw materials and resources for 
medicines and other purposes. They are at the foundation of all civilisation and sustain our 
economies. It's that simple: we could not live without these “ecosystem services”.

4 Ian Boyd, DEFRA Chief Scientist advised the 2018 British Ecological Society Symposium, 
“Securing Our Natural Environment for Future Generations,” that the world has just 30 years 
to reverse nature’s decline in order to avoid a catastrophic collapse in natural systems.

5 A Peoples Manifesto for Wildlife. 2018. 

6 Environment Minister Lesley Griffiths declared a climate emergency in Wales on 29th April 
2019. 

7 Implementing the principles for the sustainable management of natural resources (Section 4 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 which are based on the 12 principles of the ecosystem 
approach established by the Convention on Biological Diversity.

8 Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for AONBs and National Parks. July 
2018. (Page 3).

9 Figure 4, Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (2018).

10 Full details of this assessment and of the options are available in the Initial Sustainability 
Appraisal which is available for inspection and comment alongside this document.

11 Welsh Government 2014-based population projections.

12 Minister for Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs, Lesley Griffiths declared a climate 
emergency in Wales on 29th April 2019.

13 Minister for Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs, Lesley Griffiths on 11th June 2019.

Page 222



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

36

14As required by the Energy Performance of Buildings Directive    
https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-efficiency/energy-performance-of-buildings/nearly-
zero-energy-buildings

15 As advised by the UK Committee on Climate Change in its 2016 Report: Next steps for UK 
heat policy (2016) https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Next-steps-for-UK-
heat-policy-Committee-on-Climate-Change-October-2016.pdf

16 Welsh index of multiple deprivation https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-
Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation

17 A recent report on the impacts of projected climate change on landscape character and 
qualities, highlights that by 2050, the changing climate of Wales is likely to have significant direct 
and indirect impacts on landscape character, local distinctiveness and quality. Furthermore, the 
Welsh Government’s ‘Brexit and our land’ consultation proposes that future farm payments are 
likely to be focussed on broader development themes, including the sustainable management of 
natural resources and climate change, providing the opportunity to deliver not only food but a 
landscape richer in wildlife. The way in which these changes impact on the cultural landscape, 
and the way it is viewed by both residents and visitors, is uncertain. 

The Environment & Rural Affairs Monitoring and Modelling Programme (ERAMMP) has been 
established by the Welsh Government to design, implement and deliver a programme of 
monitoring and modelling to understand the health and resilience of Wales’ land-based natural 
resources (including areas of interface with the freshwater and marine environments) and 
associated flows of ecosystems services. This includes undertaking modelling and analysis on the 
EU exit process and the design and evaluation of programmes delivering to the Welsh 
Government’s Natural Resources Policy (NRP).

18 Sorbus leyana.

19 Hieracium attenboroughianum.

20 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and National Parks in Wales.

21 See population and housing topic paper.

22 Notes from Welsh Government workshop on analysis of geographic and environmental 
implications of Brexit.

23 Welsh Government’s Brexit Team analysis on Geographical Implications and Environmental 
Analysis of Brexit Scenarios - Workshop with Wales’ Designated Landscapes (29/01/2019).

Page 223

https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-efficiency/energy-performance-of-buildings/nearly-zero-energy-buildings
https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-efficiency/energy-performance-of-buildings/nearly-zero-energy-buildings
https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-efficiency/energy-performance-of-buildings/nearly-zero-energy-buildings
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Next-steps-for-UK-heat-policy-Committee-on-Climate-Change-October-2016.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Next-steps-for-UK-heat-policy-Committee-on-Climate-Change-October-2016.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Next-steps-for-UK-heat-policy-Committee-on-Climate-Change-October-2016.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

37

24 Hannah Blythyn AM, Deputy Minister for Housing & Local Government Written Cabinet 
Statement 4th April 2019: Government Response: Taking Forward Wales’ Sustainable 
Management of Natural Resources Consultation – Access Proposals.

25 Mid Wales Growth Deal Regional Energy Planning Workshop 29/04/19

Bibliography

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2010). Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2010 
- 2015: Managing change togethr. Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. Retrieved May 29, 
2019, from https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/BBNP_Management_Plan_2010-15_ENG_CD_updatedlogos.pdf

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2012). Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape Character 
Assessment. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-
strategy-and-policy/landscape-character-assessment/

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2014). Brecon Beacons National Park State of the Park Report 
2014. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/BBNP-SOPR-A4-Landscape-Low-Res-ENGLISH.pdf

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2015). A Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National 
Park 2015 - 2020. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/BBNP-Management-Plan-PROOF-03-03-16-English.pdf

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2017). Brecon Beacons Sustainable Tourism Strategy 2017 - 
2022. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://www.beacons-
npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism/sustainable-tourism-strategy/

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2018). Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan 
Review Report. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/Review-Report-ENDORSED-FOR-CONSULTATION-2.pdf

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2018). Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2018. Retrieved 
May 29, 2019, from https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/joint-
housing-land-availability-study-jhlas/

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2019). Candidate sites register. 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2019). Integrated Sustainability Appraisal - Preferred Strategy. 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2019). Population and housing topic paper. 

Page 224



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

38

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2019). Report of Consultation - Preferred Strategy. 

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Nature Partnership. (2019). A Future with Nature at its Heart: A 
Nature Recovery Action Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park 2019 - 2024. 

Cadw. (1998). Register of landscapes of outstanding historic interest in Wales. Cadw: Welsh Historic 
Monuments.

Cadw. (1999). Powys register of landscapes, parks and gardens of special historic interest in Wales . 
Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments.

Cadw. (2007). Additional and revised entries to the register of landscapes, parks and gardens of special 
historic interest in Wales. Cadw: Welsh Assembly Government.

Committee on Climate Change. (2016). Next Steps for UK heat policy. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Next-steps-for-UK-heat-policy-
Committee-on-Climate-Change-October-2016.pdf

Experian. (2019). Brecon Beacons National Park employment forecast. 

Flintshire County Council. (2016). Waste Planning Monitoring Report South East Wales April 2016. 
Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-01/south-
east-wales-report-2016.pdf

Independent Review of Affordable Housing Supply. (2019). Independent Review of Affordable Housing 
Supply Final Report. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-
housing-supply-report_0.pdf

Jacobs, M. (1997). Making Sense of Environmental Capacity. London School of Economics, Department 
of Geography. CPRE.

Lichfields. (2019). Brecon Beacons National Park Employment Land Review. 

Natural Resources Wales. (2016). The State of Natural Resources Report (SoNaRR). Retrieved May 29, 
2019, from https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/the-state-
of-natural-resources-report-assessment-of-the-sustainable-management-of-natural-
resources/?lang=en

Natural Resources Wales. (2018). Vital nature: Making the connections between biodiversity and the 
people and places of Wales. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from 
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/strategies-and-plans/vital-nature-making-the-
connections-between-biodiversity-and-the-people-and-places-of-wales/?lang=en

Page 225



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2018- 2033) - Preferred Strategy

Version: Draft for NPA: Date 25/06/2019. 

39

Natural Resources Wales. (2019). Report No: 342: LANDMAP Landscape Habitats Statistics. 

The Planning Inspectorate. (2019). Repoert on the examination into the Snowdonia National Park 
Authority Local Development Plan Review 2016 - 2031. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from 
https://www.snowdonia.gov.wales/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/1461074/516234-Revised-
Eryri-LDP-Inspectors-Report.pdf

Welsh Government. (2010). Technical Advice Note 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities. 
Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/policy/100722tan6en.pdf

Welsh Government. (2016). South West Wales Region Interim Waste Planning Monitoring Report March 
2015. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from https://gov.wales/waste-planning-monitoring-report-
south-west-wales-april-2016

Welsh Government. (2017). Natural Resources Policy. Retrieved from 
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/170821-natural-resources-policy-en.PDF

Welsh Government. (2018). Planning Policy Wales Edition 10. Retrieved May 29, 2019, from 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-12/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf

Page 226



 

Page 227



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Stage 1 – Delivery Agreement ......................................................................................................... 4 

3. Stage 2 – Pre-Deposit Participation................................................................................................. 5 

3.2 Sustainability Appraisal .............................................................................................................. 5 

3.3 Topic Papers ............................................................................................................................... 6 

3.4 Call for Candidate Sites .............................................................................................................. 7 

3.5 Members and Officers Workshops ............................................................................................ 8 

3.6 Community Engagement Workshops ......................................................................................15 

3.7 Planning Agents Meeting .........................................................................................................18 

4. Stage 3 – Pre-Deposit Consultation ............................................................................................... 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

3 | P a g e  
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Local Planning Authorities in Wales have a statutory duty to prepare a Local Development Plan 

(LDP) for their areas within the framework set out by national planning policy in Planning Policy 

Wales. Under Section 28(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 planning 

applications must be decided in accordance with the adopted LDP for the area.  

1.2 The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) first commenced work on their LDP in 2007 

which was then adopted by the National Park Authority for use as Development Control in 

December 2012. The Plan has since been subject to annual monitoring and reviews.  

1.3 In accordance with Local Development Plan regulation 41, a review of the BBNPA LDP 

commenced in December 2017. A ‘Review Report’ has been published which determines that the 

existing LDP should be reviewed in full which the BBNPA are now in the process of doing so. 

Meanwhile the adopted LDP (December 2013) remains extant and will continue to be the policy 

framework by which planning applications are determined up until December 2022.  

1.4 A ‘Delivery Agreement’ was also produced and published which is a public document of the 

BBNPA, incorporating its project plan and its policy for involving the community in LDP 

preparation. It is an agreement between the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and the 

Welsh Government (WG) and related specifically to the LDP. The Delivery Agreement details the 

following: 

 Project Management Timetable: A realistic timetable detailing the various stages of the 

preparation and delivery of the LDP and how the process of the plan preparation will be 

project managed. This timetable will also state the resources that will be required at each 

stage. 

 Community Involvement Scheme (CIS): The CIS sets out the BBNPA’s principles, strategy and 

mechanics for early and continuous community and stakeholder engagement throughout the 

LDP process.  

1.5 In accordance with LDP Regulation, the Initial Consultation Report forms one of the documents 

to be placed on deposit with the LDP and specifically refers to the Community Involvement 

Scheme (CIS), contained in the Delivery Agreement.  It identifies those who were engaged in 

developing the LDP (regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) 

(Wales) Regulations 2005); a justification of any deviation from the CIS; the main issues raised 

through consultation (regulation 15) and how the responses have affected the policies and 

proposals in the LDP.  This report will be updated once the Plan has been placed on deposit in 

order to take into consideration all the deposit plan representations.  The updated report will 

then be presented to the inspector at submission stage. 

1.6 A number of methods have been used to encourage people to participate and make comments 

on the key strategic direction of the Plan, including key stakeholders, developers and agents, as 

well as members of the public and voluntary organisations.  The methods used for participation 

and consultation range from a series of panels, meetings and area workshops, to a number of 

letters, press releases and articles. 

Page 229



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

4 | P a g e  
 

1.7 The Planning Department maintain a consultee database with all consultees engaged during pre-

deposit participation and consultation stage.  To date there are almost 700 contacts on the 

database; all will be contacted as part of the deposit plan consultation.   

1.8 The following sections of the Initial Consultation Report are ordered chronologically by each key 

stage of the LDP’s preparation as presented below, this report will concentrate on the stages 1-3: 

Key Stage Timescale 

Stage 1 Delivery Agreement  Jun 2018 – 
Sept 2018 

Stage 2 Pre-Deposit Participation  Oct 2018 – 
Jun 2019 

Stage 3 Pre Deposit Public Consultation Jun 2019 – 
Jul 2019 

Stage 4a Deposit Preparation  Jul 2019 – 
Aug 2020 

Stage 4b Deposit Plan Consultation Jul 2020 – 
Aug 2020 

Stage 5 Focussed Changes Consultation 
and Submission 

 

 

2. Stage 1 – Delivery Agreement  
2.1 A draft Delivery Agreement was published alongside the Review Report for an eight week 

consultation from Thursday 5th July until Thursday 30th August 2018. A total of 43 

representations were received. Some of the main issues arising from the consultation are 

summarised below in bold typeface followed by the Authority’s response to each:  

a) Concern is raised that the consultation for the Local Development Plan Review has been 

undertaken prematurely given that the evidence base is yet to be finalised 

Officers are satisfies that the evidence base in relation to the principal issues for review is up 

to date. Further evidence will be gathered as part of the review process. 

 

b) Suggestions to review the status of Settlement Hierarchy’s within the Plan  

Assurance that the settlement assessment is a matter for the review. 

 

c) The implications of new legislation such as the Well-being of Future Generations Act, the 

Environment (Wales) Act and the Active Travel Act needs to be taken into consideration 

The LDP will be reviewed in the context of the relevant Acts and Legislation. 

 

Page 230



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

5 | P a g e  
 

d) Considers a broader definition of employment to include non B-class uses (such as C2 

nursing / retirement homes etc.) would generate additional employment and support the 

rural economy and future needs of communities. 

We are reviewing our evidence base in relation to Employment Policy and would welcome 

discussions around these matters and the issues in delivering employment land.  

2.2 Additional, more site and policy specific comments were received which have all been noted and 

will be considered as part of the review. The Authority aims to follow the agreed timetable 

within the Delivery Agreement. The LDP Regulations require the Delivery Agreement to be 

continually reviewed and if there are any signs of slippage, then this will require amendments to 

the Agreement and further approval by Welsh Government.   

2.3 Further to the public consultation, the Delivery Agreement and Review Report were taken to 

National Park Authority and approved by members on the 21st September 2018 which was then 

submitted to Welsh Government for agreement.  

3. Stage 2 – Pre-Deposit Participation  
3.1 The Pre-Deposit Participation Stage includes developing, assessing and appraising a vision and 

objectives for the LDP, identifying strategic options for future growth and agreeing a draft  

Preferred Strategy for consultation. Within this stage, we called for Candidate Sites which 

gives landowners and the public an opportunity to tell us about land that they wish to be 

considered for development. 

3.2 Sustainability Appraisal 
3.2.1 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is a 

statutory process of all policy development in accordance with EU and UK legislation.  It is an 

active and iterative process which seeks to evaluate the social, environmental and economic 

effects of a plan from conception through every stage to final adoption, implementation and 

monitoring.   The aim of such a process of appraisal is to ensure that all actions arising from a 

plan contribute to the delivery of Sustainable Development.  Sustainability Appraisal when 

undertaken successfully should be an integral component of plan development utilised to inform 

decision-making. 

3.2.2 A Sustainability Appraisal comprises a series of sustainability objectives and indicators against 

which all policy is scrutinised to understand future implications for sustainable development. 

Both the National Park Management Plan (NPMP) and the Local Development Plan (LDP) are 

being subject to SA.  Initially, the SA Scoping Report forms the first stage of the required 

Sustainability Appraisal that informs and accompanies the first steps towards developing a new 

NPMP and LDP for the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

3.2.3 The SA Scoping Report identifies the scope and level of detail of information to be included in the 

Sustainability Appraisal. It sets out the context, objectives and approach of the assessment to 

facilitate the Sustainability Appraisal process being proportionate and relevant to the Plans being 

assessed.  

Page 231



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

6 | P a g e  
 

3.2.4 The report was sent to members at the National Park Authority (NPA) on the 14th December 

2018 for approval. Members approved the Report to be sent out for public consultation for a 

period of five weeks subject to final amendments by a Member Champion and for a Non-

Technical Summary of the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report to be produced and 

accompany the report.   

3.2.5 Following the NPA, the report was sent out to all consultees on the database to include key 

agencies that hold environmental responsibilities; these agencies include Cadw and Natural 

Resources Wales. Other environmental organisations, partners and residents were invited to 

make comments. The purpose of this is to obtain feedback on the scope of content and level of 

detail of the Sustainability Appraisal in the next stage. Consultation was open for five weeks from 

20th December 2018 to 31st January 2019. The report was made available to view on the NPA’s 

website and in the National Park’s Offices and public libraries within the Park.  

3.2.6 During this period, the Authority received comments from 13 consultees which were taken into 

account prior to the final publish of the report.  

 

3.3 Topic Papers 
3.3.1 A key principle of the Local Development Plan system in Wales is the requirement for all policy 

and strategy within an LDP to be founded on a robust evidence base.  This evidence base should 

address the principle socio-economic and environmental factors effecting the plan area.  This 

evidence base should be the building blocks of policy formation and as such will be open to 

scrutiny during the examination phase of LDP production.  It is therefore critical that in drafting 

our LDP we are certain that the content is derived from a credible and relevant evidence base. 

3.3.2 Accordingly in order to proceed with the review of the Local Development Plan Officers are 

producing a suite of topic papers to define the evidence base.  These topic papers, centring on 

key issues for the reviewed LDP, will set out: 

 the (wider) policy context relating to each topic;  

 the available evidence; the objectives for the LDP to achieve in relation to the topic and 

 The proposed policy position for the LDP to take.  

3.3.3 Papers are being produced and continually updated on the following topics:  

 Housing   Biodiversity 

 Employment   Heritage 

 Strategic Development Options  Environmental Capacity  

 Retail  Water Quality 

 Tourism  Well-being and Future Generations Act  

 Renewable Energy  Waste  

 Welsh Language   Minerals 

 Open Space  Infrastructure  

 Flood Risk  

 

Page 232



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

7 | P a g e  
 

3.3.4 Papers prepared by the Authority have sought to involve relevant stakeholders in the 

preparation and other papers have been commissioned where there is a lack of 

capacity/expertise by BBNPA officers.  

 

3.4 Call for Candidate Sites  
3.4.1 As part of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority revision of the existing LDP and as part of 

evidence gathering for the plan, an invitation to the public, land-owners and developers was sent 

out on 5th November 2018 to submit development land, which if successful, will be included in 

the forthcoming LDP for various land uses including residential (including affordable housing), 

employment, tourism, waste and community uses.  

3.4.2 The invitation was sent to all consultees on the database which includes agents, community 

councils, general public etc. A press notice was published in the local newspaper on 1st 

November 2018. A LDP newsletter enclosing the invitation was also published on our website 

and social media on the 1st November 2018.  

3.4.3 The Stage 1 Candidate Site forms together with a methodology paper was published on our 

website which was available for anyone to download and use. The Initial Call for Candidate Sites 

remained open until the 7th January 2019.  

3.4.4 Following the deadline of the Initial Call for Candidate Sites, a total of 117 submissions were 

received as per graph below representing the number of Candidate Sites Submissions per 

settlement, the sites then became subject to individual assessment and filtering:  

 

3.4.5 The sites were included into a register which will be published alongside the Preferred Strategy 

for public consultation on the 4th July 2019.  Both publications will be made available on our 

website and to view at the National Park offices and public libraries within the Park.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

B
re

co
n

A
b

er
ga

ve
n

n
y

B
w

lc
h

C
ra

i

C
ri

ck
h

o
w

el
l

D
ef

yn
n

o
g

Fe
lin

d
re

G
ilw

e
rn

G
la

n
am

m
an

G
la

n
gr

yw
n

e
y

G
ly

n
 T

aw
e

G
o

vi
lo

n

G
w

yn
fe

H
ay

 o
n

 W
ye

H
ir

w
au

n

Li
b

an
u

s

Ll
an

b
ed

r

Ll
an

el
ly

 H
ill

Ll
an

fi
h

an
ge

l

Ll
an

fr
yn

ac
h

Ll
an

ga
tt

o
ck

Ll
an

go
rs

Ll
an

gy
n

d
ir

Ll
an

ig
o

n

Ll
an

sp
yd

d
id

Ll
an

ti
lio

 P
er

th
o

le
y

M
am

h
ila

d

P
en

ce
lli

P
en

d
er

yn

P
en

n
o

rt
h

P
o

n
ts

ti
ci

ll

Se
n

n
yb

ri
d

ge

Ta
lg

ar
th

Tr
al

lo
n

g

Tr
ap

p

Tr
et

o
w

e
r

Number of Candidate Site Submissions per settlement

Page 233



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

8 | P a g e  
 

3.5 Members and Officers Workshops  
3.5.1 On the 18th January and 22nd March 2019 at Policy Forum, workshops were held to run through 

the LDP’s review process and Strategic Development Options. The Members and Key Area 

Working Group Officers were presented with ‘Top 10 Facts’ posters of various key areas such as 

Socio-Economic Issues, Sustainable Economic Development Issues, Biodiversity and Landscape 

Issues, Heritage Issues and finally, Sustainable Communities Issues.  

3.5.2 These posters were used to provide a starting point of discussion of the main key issues of the 

National Park and how the Local Development Plan can help mitigate some of these issues. 

BBNPA officers used these discussions to construct a SWOT analysis from each poster. A 

summary of this analysis is outlined within the following tables:   

HERITAGE 

Strengths 
Wealth of Heritage Assets 
Archaeology/listed building 
Globally significant 
National Protection 
Attractive 
Community 
Cultural Heritage 
Local History 
Cultural Diversity – linked to place 
Interested people 
Planning opportunities/supportive planning system 
Partners 
World Heritage Site 
Values of the National Park / National Park Value 
 

Opportunities 
Y Gaer – Cultural Hub 
Staff 
Education  
Campaign for a million Welsh Speakers by 2025 
Brecon Improvement District 
Planning Powers for public realm improvement 
Work with partners 
Place Plans 
Summer shows 
Volunteers 
Tourism 
Sense of place and community 
Local historical and museum societies  
Using our heritage to develop sustainable economic 
development opportunities 
E.g. Food trails, culture, language, business 
Interpretation – social media 
Landowners interested 
Additional conservation areas 
Innovative design and craftsmanship 
National Trust Membership 
 

Weaknesses 
Education –  
Cultural capacity 
Cultural diversity – no one size fit all  
“time warp” 
Missing spark 
Absent landlords own significant numbers of heritage 
assets 
Limited funding opportunities 
Knowledge of heritage assets within the community 
Incentivise land/perpetuity owners to improve the 9% 
of listed buildings categorised as being ‘at risk’ 
Lack of coherent Strategy 
Not meeting expectations 
Resource and our ability to service the heritage of the 
area 
 
 

Threats 
Fragility of cultural heritage 
Nebulous concepts difficult to define/actively protect 
Loss of traditional events/community egg 
eisteddfodau, Welsh Chapel 
Incoming population 
Loss of Welsh language 
Planning system 
Capacity to accept change 
Staffing resource – too few to meet need 
Disappearance of Welsh Culture 
Value of historical sites to be respected-development 
possibilities considered, to stop deterioration in the 
future 
 

Page 234



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

9 | P a g e  
 

Landscape and Biodiversity SWOT 
 

Strengths 
Consultation on protected species 
Agricultural change egg. Loss of Glastir 
Containment policy 
Statutory legislation 
Own land which gives us power 
Assets (ref Table 1 of NRAP) 
Bat population 
SAC River systems, their waterfalls and their 
catchments 
Blanket Bog 
Spectacular landforms 
BIS 
Internal resources 
Existing policy and staff 
 
 

Weaknesses 
Over protection of some areas – no flexibility 
Monitoring Data  
Declining insect species 
Nature doesn’t work in legislative boxes 
How do we know strengths are effective 
Lack of integration across Key areas 
Lack of SMART objectives 
Lack of focus 
Failure to priorities 
No landscape specialist 
Data gaps within key evidence sources 
Uncertainty around the condition of key ecosystems 
Lack of resilience to climate change 
Lack of agenda setting 
Appeasement of interest 
Lack of tangible monetary value in nature conservation 
 
 

Opportunities 
Woodland creation vs Conifer Felling 
Greater social awareness e.g. Plastics 
Aging population/generation change 
Opportunities through education 
Re-stocking rivers? 
Brexit 
Amenity spaces need to be included 
Climate change 
Good design of building biodiversity and development 
Planning gain – ecologically valid 
NP Purposes and Duty  
IUCN Category 5 status 
NP land management 
ROWIP  
Health and wellbeing agenda 
Evidence led policy development 
Emerging Policy Context e.g. Valued and Resilient 
Nature Recovery Areas 
Farming – New Social Contract/New Vitality 
Welsh Government Policy especially decarbonisation 
Planning seeking biodiversity net gain  
 
Upland farming benefits to flood risk mitigation, water 
management and carbon storage/carbon market 
 

Threats 
Section 6 duty report  
Clean water shortage 
Invasive Species 
Climate change 
Humans – population impact 
Agricultural change 
Soil fauna (status unknown/probably declining) 
Preservation of cultural practice e.g. hill farming 
Farming 
Brexit 
Climate Change 
Tourism Economy 
Devaluing carbon 
Intensive livestock farming and emissions 
Uncertainty  
 
 
 

  

Page 235



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

10 | P a g e  
 

Resilient Communities SWOT 
 

Strengths 
Access to land 
Safety 
Existing examples/Case Studies 
Community cohesion e.g. Crickhowell 
Community strength and capacity 

Weaknesses 
Market led by profitability  
Access to health facilities 
Bus travel 
Further education 
Living and working in a National Park 
Lack of ‘young’ community – out migration of the 
young 
Too much push for key settlements rather than smaller 
ones 
Sustainable transport 
 

Opportunities 
Schools providing prescriptions  
Extra health care provision within development 
Active travel 
Shared transport 
Demand response transport 
Housing stock 
Build more middle sized properties 
Multi occupancy housing 
Well-being and future generations 

Threats 
School closures 
No banks and other key services 
Universal credit 
Retail 
Live/work balance 
Strain to employment contracts 
Employment Opportunities 
Lack of funding 
Brexit 
House Prices 
Access to rail travel 

 

Sustainable Economic Development SWOT 
 

Strengths 
Construction sector – lots of jobs 
Special quality of Park / Attractive place to live 
Sense of community 
Lots of capital/disposable income in the area 
Social enterprise/capital  
Walkable Towns 
Abundance of Natural Resources 
Entrepreneurial opportunities (self-employed) 
Local distinctiveness 
Renewable energy opportunities 
 
 
 
 

Weaknesses 
Broadband improvements and accessibility 
Access to further education provision 
Universal Credit 
Transport 
Internet buying 
Farming labour skills (availability and value of) 
Public Sector Employment Pressures 
General education provision  
Housing affordability for workforce 

Opportunities 
Engagement of local businesses in decision making  
Development of retirement apartments/co-housing 
options/sheltered housing 
Mixed tenure housing (affordable) 
Innovative housing solutions e.g. Land trusts 
Farm Diversification 
Loss of Severn Bridge Tolls 
Transportation 
Huge development opportunities in Brecon 
Charitable Trusts 
Commercialisation of farming 
Community energy projects  
 

Threats 
Climate change 
Brexit 
Economy dependent on retail 
Seasonality of our economy 
Threat to food industry – increase in carbon footprint 
Pressure on community facilities 
Capacity and funding of social care for the elderly 
Jobs density and uncertainty around Brecon 
Predominance of low-skilled employment  
Dependency on Public Sector 

Page 236



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

11 | P a g e  
 

3.5.3 Members were then presented with Strategic Development Options (SDO) for the LDP which 

were presented in the form of maps of BBNPA and what each option would look like in terms of 

development and a brief description of the anticipated positive and negative effects of each 

option. Members were all given two ‘sticky dots’ and were asked to spend some time and have a 

discussion and then vote on which option(s) they most and least preferred for the revised LDP.  

3.5.4 Members had the choice of 8 SDO’s to review, which included:  

1. Brownfield Plus  

2. Market Led 

3. Community Vitality 

4. Containment  

5. East/West Split  

6. Employment Growth Strategy  

7. Climate Change  

8. Sustainable Living in NP Context.  

3.5.5 Members were again given two ‘sticky dots’ and were asked to vote on their most and least 

preferred option, the voting preferences were as followed:  

Strategic Option Summary Positive  Negative 

Brownfield plus 
This strategy would focus on the delivery of housing on previously developed sites with the 
aim of concentrating development in the most sustainable locations in terms of access to 
services and facilities, jobs and transport links.  Growth outside of Brecon would be based 
around community derived need with a level of flexibility to bring forward housing to meet 
local need defined through Place Plan development. 

3 (14%) 0 

Market led 
This strategy allows for a moderate to high level of growth.  Development in this strategy 
would be located where there is most demonstrated demand.  This strategy would include a 
significant increase in commercial opportunities across the Park.  Regeneration areas would 
be identified to accommodate significant growth. 
 

0 10 (48%) 

Community vitality 
This strategy is based on the traditional ‘predict and provide’ methods of preparing 
development plans.  It involves providing development land to meet the need identified in the 
population/ household projections.  It also involves locating development where there is a 
requirement, including natural growth in those areas excluded from the LDP settlement 
hierarchy due to lack of facilities and services.  This strategy will involve the dispersal of 
growth to maintain community vitality. 
 

1 (5%) 0 

Containment 
This strategy would ensure that development over the Plan period is located within existing 
settlement boundaries as defined in the existing LDP.  This will result in no further expansion 
of the existing urban areas.  This strategy is underpinned by the conservation issues that face 
the National Park and is not based on the traditional development plan method of ‘predict 
and provide’. 

 

1 (5%) 4 (19%) 

East West Split 
Recognising the development pressures in the East of the Park and the failure of the current 
LDP to deliver any growth West of Sennybridge.  This strategy would aim to provide more 
opportunities for mixed development in the smaller settlements in the west (small scale 

1 (5%) 1 (5%)  

Page 237



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

12 | P a g e  
 

Strategic Option Summary Positive  Negative 

employment and housing).  These western settlements are more dispersed in nature, far 
more reliant on the private car and score poorly against our established sustainability matrix, 
traditionally would not be considered appropriate locations for development. The aim would 
be to relax these traditional controls and allocate land for the provision of small- medium 
sized growth. 
In the East of the park we would apply traditional sustainability criteria seeking to focus 
development in the main towns with some small scale growth in the outlying settlements. 
 

Employment Growth Strategy 
Taking a lead from the aspirations of the Growing Mid Wales programme, this strategy would 
aim to allocate a high level of housing and employment land in an attempt to stimulate the 
economy in key sectors, most notably local food production, green energy and research and 
development.  This strategy would aim to provide significant opportunities for economic 
development, and provide additional housing land to meet the demand generated from the 
additional jobs created 
 

0 6 (28%) 

Climate change 
This strategy would focus primarily on the principles of sustainability to ensure that the 
National Park is resilient and responsive to drivers of change and proactive in limiting and 
mitigating the effects of climate change.   
 

11 (52%) 0 

Sustainable living in NP Context (LDP1 Strategy) 
A hybrid options which aims to provide a sustainable future for resident communities whilst 
acknowledging the need to ensure that development in the National Park is resilient and 
adaptable to the likely effects of climate change 
 

4 (19%) 0 

 

Summary of Voting Preferences 

SD Option 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

Brownfield plus            

Market led            

Community vitality            

Containment            

East West Split            

Growing Mid Wales            

Climate change            

Sustainable living in 
NP Context 

           

 

3.5.6 As a result of the workshop, there was a refinement of the eight options that were originally 

proposed and which resulted in the proposition of three Strategic Development Options (SDO) 

which comprised Brownfield plus, East/West Split and Growing Mid Wales. The following table 

summarises how each option has been synthesised from the national policy context; NP specific 

issues; SWOT analyses, and Member preferences for growth:  

Page 238



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

13 | P a g e  
 

Summary of Option Previous 
iterations 

Identified Issues the Option 
seeks to address 

Sustainable Place Making 
 
Focused on the principles of Sustainable Place 
Making this strategy would seek to concentrate 
future requirements for growth within the 
Principle settlements, concentrating on the use of 
previously developed to meet development 
needs.  Outside of the principle towns, the 
Authority will seek to enable community led 
growth focusing on community resilience and 
resource efficiency.   
 

 
 
 

This strategy 
takes the 
significant 
element of the 
Brownfield plus 
strategy as 
presented to 
members, and 
combines this 
with the Climate 
Change 
resilience 
strategy, seeking 
to both 
maximise 
emphasis on 
development of 
brownfield sites 
within the 
Principle Key 
Settlement 

 Meet National Planning 
Policy objectives by 
focusing development on 
brownfield sites within 
our principle key 
settlements 

 Responds to the 
candidate site 
submissions – provides 
opportunity for master 
planning for Brecon to 
enable development of 
exemplar sustainable 
development e.g. Heat 
networks 

 Seeks to address climate 
change mitigation 
through concentrated 
development forms 
whilst enabling exemplar 
sustainable development 
through community 
projects 

 Aims to maximise 
opportunities for 
community resilience by 
enabling community led 
development in outlying 
areas, exploring 
opportunities for 
innovative approaches to 
housing, employment 
delivery to meet local 
need. 

 Concentration on key 
settlement will sustain 
and limit impacts on 
existing infrastructure 
and services 

 Will work towards the 
conservation of 
traditional NP qualities 
including landscape and 
biodiversity` 

 

Prioritising Economic Growth 
 

This strategy is a 
combination of 
the Market led 
Growth Strategy 
and the Growing 
Mid Wales 
strategy.  

 Maximising development 
opportunities for job 
creation with the aim of 
providing new 
opportunities to retain 
economically active 

Page 239



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

14 | P a g e  
 

This strategy allows for a moderate to high level 
of growth.  Development in this strategy would be 
located where there is most demonstrated 
demand.  This strategy would include a significant 
increase in commercial opportunities across the 
Park.  Regeneration areas would be identified to 
accommodate significant growth.  Employment 
opportunities would be focused on Brecon. 
Housing development could be largely dictated to 
by the market.  

 
 
  

Although these 
both scored 
poorly with 
Members 
preference 
voting,  this 
hybrid strategy 
provides an 
opportunity to 
respond to key 
issues raised 
within the 
Sustainable 
Economic 
Development 
and Resilient 
Communities KA 
especially 
around 
supporting the 
economy, 
retaining young 
people  

individuals within the 
park. 

 More housing options 
available to meet 
development of mixed 
communities. 

 Responding to the 
development land 
submitted  

 Enabling housing market 
growth at a higher scale 
will increase affordable 
housing provision 

 Development 
opportunities to 
regenerate key areas 
(Brecon/Talgarth) 
especially in relation to 
retail areas 

 Greater density of people 
to provide more 
opportunity for 
infrastructure and service 
improvements. 

 Economic Strategy to 
focus on enabling the 
Mid Wales Growth Deal 
as considered 
appropriate within a NP 
context 

 

East/West Diversity and Difference 
 
Recognising the development pressures in the 
East of the Park and the failure of the current LDP 
to deliver any growth West of Sennybridge.  This 
strategy would aim to provide more opportunities 
for mixed development in the smaller settlements 
in the west (small scale employment and 
housing).  These western settlements are more 
dispersed in nature, far more reliant on the 
private car and score poorly against our 
established sustainability matrix, traditionally 
would not be considered appropriate locations for 
development. The aim would be to relax these 
traditional controls and allocate land for the 
provision of small- medium sized growth. 
 

This strategy 
takes the 
East/West split 
option forward 
utilising 
elements of the 
current LDP 
strategy to 
provide a more 
dispersed 
settlement 
pattern  

 Responding to the issues 
around resilience of our 
traditional welsh 
communities in the West 
of the Park and the 
preservation of cultural 
heritage. 

 Responding to emerging 
development options 
provided through the 
Candidate Site 
submissions seeking to 
develop areas in the 
West of the park 
(currently not serviced)  

 Providing opportunities 
for community scaled 
development in areas 
that traditionally aren’t 
catered for (contrary to 
National Policy) 

Page 240



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

15 | P a g e  
 

In the East of the park we would apply traditional 
sustainability criteria seeking to focus 
development in the main towns  

 Supporting small 
communities, to preserve 
services and facilities  

 Seeking to build 
community capacity 

 Focus on supporting the 
rurality of the Park 

 

 

3.6 Community Engagement Workshops  
3.6.1 Community Councils and Ward Members within the National Park were contacted and invited to 

attend a workshop either on the 28th February or the 14th March 2019.  13 Community Councillors 

and Ward Members attended the workshop on the 28th February and a further 12 Community 

Councillors and Ward Members attended the workshop on the 14th March 2019.  

3.6.2 The Community Councillors and Ward Members were given a presentation on the process of the LDP 

Review and information on the various stages at which they will be able to get involved with. 

Following the presentation, the Councillors and Ward Members were asked to then read through the 

various ‘top 10’ posters as previously presented to members and help the BBNPA to write a SWOT 

analysis on each issues poster, the results of the analysis are summarised in the following tables:   

Heritage SWOT 

Strengths 
Conservation Areas  
Rich built heritage asset  

Opportunities 
Promotion and awareness of Heritage  
Look to Snowdonia NP for stats  
Support the redevelopment of derelict homes in 
Llanelly Hill because it respects the traditional pattern 
of development in the area 
 

Weaknesses 
Cost of heritage impact assessments  
Objectivity on decisions on Listed Buildings 
Failing on interpretation of our heritage assets  
 

Threats 
Potentially inaccurate information on posters  
Inappropriately located development  

Landscape and Biodiversity SWOT 
 

Strengths 
Protected landscape  
 

Weaknesses 
Cost of species surveys  
 

Opportunities 
Look to Snowdonia NP for stats 
Concentrate development within exiting settlements – 
for services  
Use exception sites for Affordable housing  

Threats 
Potentially inaccurate information on posters 
Forestry  
Climate change  
Brexit  
Decline in biodiversity  

Page 241



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

16 | P a g e  
 

 

Resilient Communities SWOT 
 

Strengths 
Landscape of NP – green/fresh air/walking/healthy 
Eisteddfod  
Societies/Clubs in the NP 
Volunteering numbers  
Local communities  
Canal system 
Going in the right direction of providing affordable 
housing  
Average house prices in Brecon is encouraging  
Promotion of well-being  
Dial-a-ride scheme  
 

Weaknesses 
Lack of broadband in rural areas 
Not attractive for younger people 
Poverty, high amount of people receiving social welfare 
Promotion of heritage  
Promotion of Welsh language  
Viability assessment acting as a loop hole in the system 
for not providing affordable housing  
Young people not being interested in NP landscapes  
Current LDP created clustered settlements 
Need more social housing  
Low wages  
High house prices  
Lack of employment  
Market led development  
Affordable housing contribution putting off developers 
Lack of community space  
Lack of government funding  
Second homes/holiday homes  

Opportunities 
Need more social housing  
Green energy (low scale) 
Promotion of heritage  
Promotion of Welsh language – look at Ireland as an 
example  
Technology  
Destination tourism i.e. Zip World 
Sustainable development i.e. rainwater harvesting, 
green infrastructure  
Localisation of the grid  
Business starter units  
Live/working areas 
Community care hubs 
Utilise existing facilities for extra-curricular activities 
i.e. for sports, arts 
Design social networks – for one bedroom homes  
To merge demographics (under 25s to share 
stories/issues with over 50s, may reduce crime) 
Community cars running on green energy (match 
funded sponsorship)  
Community garden/allotment  
More charging points for electric cars  
Government funded broadband schemes available  
Prescription health cares – doctors prescribing more 
outdoor activities 
Community shared space 
 
 

Threats 
Low wages  
Age profile in population  
Provision of carers  
Fall away in working population 
Severn bridge tolls going – increasing housing prices in 
East of NP  
Critical mass of people  
NP turning into retirement home  
Local Authority/Councils lack of funding  
Householder designs – fragmented  
Threat to emergency services – being rural 
Second homes/holiday homes  
Bus service – ruralness  
House prices to East of park  
Top end teachers are leaving due to lower wages  
Boarder Counties – English planning laws (Hay-on-wye) 

Sustainable Economic Development SWOT 
 

Strengths 
Nice place to live  
Destination 
A465/A40/A470 
Access to Abergavenny/Ebbw Vale train station 

Weaknesses 
Cost to care (scarcity)  
Value of jobs within tourism  
Lack of opportunities for B-use  
Highways capacity  

Page 242



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

17 | P a g e  
 

Well connected  
Growth deal 
Members encouraging radical thinking  
Festival – brings visitors to the local area (providing 
income, but is it staying local?) 
Attractiveness of area – value exploit  
Ability to develop rural barns for housing 
 

Low wage economy  
Quality housing – linked to jobs  
Public sector cuts 
Broadband quality and access  
Infrastructure – WG Active Travel agenda 
Money not staying local  
Quality of employment  
Retail for tourism  
 

Opportunities 
Farm diversification 
Re-use of rural buildings on farm for B-class/workshop 
storages  
Retirement villages  
Land value in comparison of South-East 
Brownfield Sites  
Affordable Housing  
PCC building rates  
Destination tourism  
Broadband  
Care industry  
Electric vehicles  
Local business knowledge 
Clean high tech products  
Green energy  
Natural resources  

Threats 
Broadband provision 
Business rates  
Aging population 
‘Incompatible neighbours’  
No jobs  
Lack of housing for young people  
Ability to develop rural barns for housing  
High land values  
Powys County Council – Economic Development team 
– funding cuts to council  
Infrastructure  

 

3.6.3 Community Councillors and Ward Members were also asked to consider the three proposed SDO 

(Brownfield plus, East/West Split and Growing Mid Wales) and were given two ‘sticky dots’ and 

asked to vote for their most and least preferred option. The results can be viewed below, 

however to summarise, there were no clear preference for any of the options which will then be 

considered when setting our Preferred Strategy.  

Strategic Option Summary Positive  Negative 
Brownfield plus 
 
This strategy would focus on the delivery of housing on previously developed sites 
with the aim of concentrating development in the most sustainable locations in 
terms of access to services and facilities, jobs and transport links.  Growth outside of 
Brecon would be based around community derived need with a level of flexibility to 
bring forward housing to meet local need defined through Place Plan development. 

3.03 
(9%) 

3.3 
(9%) 

East West Split 
 
Recognising the development pressures in the East of the Park and the failure of the 
current LDP to deliver any growth West of Sennybridge.  This strategy would aim to 
provide more opportunities for mixed development in the smaller settlements in the 
west (small scale employment and housing).  These western settlements are more 
dispersed in nature, far more reliant on the private car and score poorly against our 
established sustainability matrix, traditionally would not be considered appropriate 
locations for development. The aim would be to relax these traditional controls and 
allocate land for the provision of small- medium sized growth. 
In the East of the park we would apply traditional sustainability criteria seeking to 
focus development in the main towns with some small scale growth in the outlying 
settlements. 
 

6.3 (17%) 7.3 
(20%)  

Page 243



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

18 | P a g e  
 

Strategic Option Summary Positive  Negative 
Employment Growth Strategy 
 
Taking a lead from the aspirations of the Growing Mid Wales programme, this 
strategy would aim to allocate a high level of housing and employment land in an 
attempt to stimulate the economy in key sectors, most notably local food 
production, green energy and research and development.  This strategy would aim 
to provide significant opportunities for economic development, and provide 
additional housing land to meet the demand generated from the additional jobs 
created 
 

8.3 
(23%) 

8.3 
(23%) 

 

Summary of Voting Preferences 

SD Option 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

Brownfield plus                 

East West Split                 

Growing Mid 
Wales 

                

 

3.7 Planning Agents Meeting  
3.7.1 BBNPA’s officers invited local planning agents within the National Park and surrounding areas to 

a meeting on the 30th April 2019 to inform them of the Local Development Plan review. The 

agents received a presentation from a BBNPA officer based on the process of the LDP review and 

the progress that has been made to date. The presentation also indicated where the 

opportunities for engagement and input will occur. The meeting was then open for discussion 

and to share any views/suggestions that may be considered within the LDP.  

 

4. Stage 3 – Pre-Deposit Consultation   
4.1 As part of the process for the Local Development Plan review, the Authority is required to 

publish and consult upon a Preferred Strategy (PS). The PS outlines the broad approach that the 

replacement LDP intends to take in order to ensure that the National Park’s designated 

landscape is protected and developed on in a sustainable manner over the plan period. The PS 

provides the framework of the strategic policies that will subsequently be included within the 

Deposit LDP (2018-2033).  

4.2 National Park Authority Members and Ward Members within the 7 constituent Authorities of the 

Park were invited to attend National Park Authority Policy Forum on the 7th June 2019 to provide 

an opportunity for all Members to discuss policy development for the National Park area. The 

meeting on the 7th June will focus on the proposed LDP Preferred Strategy including a 

presentation by Planning Consultants Litchfield’s on the National Park’s projected housing need. 

Page 244



Initial Report of Consultation June 2019  
 

19 | P a g e  
 

4.3 Policy Forum provides a great opportunity for Members to be part of the discussions that help 

inform National Park Authority Officers of future decisions with the benefit of local knowledge.  

4.4 The Preferred Strategy will be taken to members at the National Park Authority on the 25th June 

2019 together with the Candidate Site Register and various Topic Papers to seek approval for the 

documents to be sent out for public consultation on the 4th July 2019 for an 8 week period.  

4.5 The Preferred Strategy and Candidate Site Registers will be made available to view on the 

National Park’s Website and Offices, as well as public libraries within the Park. A public notice 

will also be published within the local newspaper (Brecon & Radnor) notifying the current 

consultations.  

4.6 Following the consultations, there will be an opportunity to submit further Candidate Sites that 

are in line with the Preferred Strategy which will be advertised through the Authority’s website 

and social media platforms together with a public notice and a letter sent out to all consultees on 

the database.  

 

 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Assessment of vision and high-level planning objectives, strategic options and policies against the SA/SEA framework as outlined in Table 5 of the Baseline Scoping Report.

Compatibility Analysis: Vision and suite of high-level planning objectives with Sustainability Objectives.

 Sustainability objective Vision and suite of high-level planning objectives (see page 4 of the preferred strategy)

1. Climate Change Compatible

2. Renewable Energy Compatible

3. Flood Risk Compatible

4. Natural Resources Compatible

5.Geodiversity Compatible
6. Biodiversity Compatible

7. Historic Landscape and Built Heritage Compatible

8. Cultural Heritage Compatible
9. Landscape Compatible

10. Special Qualities Compatible

11. Sustainable Use of land Compatible

12. Sustainable Design Compatible

13. Infrastructure Compatible
14. Transport Compatible
15. Waste Compatible
16. Minerals Compatible
17. Housing Compatible

18. Affordable Housing Compatible

19. Health and Wellbeing Compatible

20. Location of Growth Compatible

21. Strengthening Skills Compatible

22. Economy Compatible
23. Employment Compatible
24. Tourism Compatible

25. Farm Diversification Compatible

26. Retail and Town Centres Compatible

P
age 247



Table 1: Overview of assessment of spatial options.

 
Option A: Sustainable Place Making
(see page 5 of the preferred strategy)

Option B: Prioritising Economic Growth
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

Option C: East/West Diversity and Difference
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

1. Climate Change + + ?

2. Renewable Energy + + 0

3. Flood Risk ? ? ?

4. Natural Resources ? ? ?

5.Geodiversity 0 0 0
6. Biodiversity ? ? ?

7. Historic Landscape and Built Heritage ? - -

8. Cultural Heritage + ? +
9. Landscape + ? ?

10. Special Qualities + ? ?

11. Sustainable Use of land + - -

12. Sustainable Design ? ? ?

13. Infrastructure ? ? ?
14. Transport + ? +
15. Waste + + 0
16. Minerals 0 0 0
17. Housing + + +

18. Affordable Housing + + +

19. Health and Wellbeing + ? ?

20. Location of Growth + - -

21. Strengthening Skills + + +

22. Economy + + +
23. Employment + + +
24. Tourism + + +

25. Farm Diversification 0 + 0

26. Retail and Town Centres + + +

P
age 248



Table 2: Overview of assessment of growth options.

 
Low Level of Growth
(see page 5 of the preferred strategy)

Medium Level of Growth
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

High Level of Growth
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

1. Climate Change - - ?

2. Renewable Energy + - -

3. Flood Risk ? ? -

4. Natural Resources + ? -

5.Geodiversity 0 0 0

6. Biodiversity ? ? ?

7. Historic Landscape and Built Heritage + - -

8. Cultural Heritage ? ? ?

9. Landscape 0 ? ?

10. Special Qualities 0 ? ?

11. Sustainable Use of land ? ? ?

12. Sustainable Design ? ? ?
13. Infrastructure 0 - ?

14. Transport - + +

15. Waste 0 0 0

16. Minerals 0 0 0

17. Housing - 0 +

18. Affordable Housing - + +
19. Health and Wellbeing 0 + +
20. Location of Growth ? ? ?
21. Strengthening Skills - 0 +
22. Economy ? + +

23. Employment - + +

24. Tourism - + +
25. Farm Diversification - + +
26. Retail and Town Centres - + +

P
age 249



Table 3: Overview of assessment of strategic policies (pages 25 – 32 of the preferred strategy).

SAO/SP

M
ajor developm

ent in 
the N

ational Park

Sustainable 
developm

ent in the 
N

ational Park

Sustainable 
m

anagem
ent of natural 

resources

Clim
ate change

Good design

Sustainable sense of 
place

Environm
ental 

protection

Historic environm
ent

Housing requirem
ent

Affordable housing

Sustainable 
com

m
unities

Sustainable transport 
and active travel

Sustainable 
infrastructure

Vital and viable retail 
centres

Econom
ic w

ell-being

Farm
 diversification

Sustainable tourism

Em
ploym

ent land 
requirem

ent

Safeguarding existing 
em

ploym
ent sites

Renew
able energy

W
aste

M
inerals

1 + + 0 ++ + + 0 0 - 0 + + + + + ? ? ? 0 + 0 +

2 0 0 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 + ? 0 ? 0 + 0 0

3 + 0 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0

4 + ++ ++ ++ 0 - ++ 0 - 0 0 + + 0 0 ? - ? 0 - 0 ++

5 + + + + - 0 ++ ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ?

6 + ++ ++ + 0 0 + 0 ? 0 + ? + 0 - ? ? ? 0 - 0 0

7 + ++ 0 ? + ? + ++ - 0 0 ? + + + ? 0 ? 0 - 0 +

8 + ++ 0 ? + + ++ ++ ? + + ? + ? 0 ? 0 ? 0 + 0 0

9
10

+ ++ 0 0 + ? ? + ? 0 0 + + 0 + ? 0 ? 0 - + 0

11 ? 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 0 ? ?  0 ? ? + - - - ? + - 0 -

12 0 0 0 ++ ++  0 0 ? ? 0 + + ? 0 0 ? 0 ? 0 0 + 0

13 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 ? 0 + 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 0 + + 0 0

14 0 0 0 ++ 0 + 0 0 ? 0 0 + 0 + + - ? ? + 0 ? +

15 0 0 0 + 0 + + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + ++ +

16 0 0 0 + - 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + ?

17 0 0 0 ? 0 ++ 0 0 ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 - + + + 0 0

18 0 0 0 ? - + + 0 ++ ++  0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 + 0 0

19 0 + + + + 0 0 + + + ? + + +  0 + + + + + 0 0

20 0 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 ? ? ? + + 0 + + - ? ? + + 0 0

21 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 + + 0 + 0 0 0 + + + + + 0 +

22 ? + + ? + + 0 0 ++ + 0 + + + ++ + ++ ++ ++ + + +

23 ? + + ? + + 0 0 ++ + 0 + + + ++ + ++ ++ ++ + + +

24 + + 0 ? 0 + 0 + + 0 0 + 0 + ++ + ++ 0 0 + + ?

25 0 0 + ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 ? + + ++ ++ + + 0 + + +

26 0 0 0 0 + + 0 ? + 0 + + + + ? 0 ++ ? ? + + 0

P
age 250



Table 4: Detailed assessment of spatial options.

 

Option A: Sustainable Place Making
(see page 5 of the preferred strategy)

Option B: Prioritising Economic Growth
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

Option C: East/West Diversity and Difference
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

1. Climate Change Strategy focuses on building community resilience with 
an emphasis on reducing vulnerability to climate change.

Focus of economic growth on green energy may have 
significant positive benefits in the areas ability to develop 
resilience against the likely and predicted effects of climate 
change.

Having less restrictive policy for development in the West 
of the park may enhance long term climate vulnerability, 
however the restriction in the east may slightly restrict 
ability to reduce vulnerability to the effects of climate 
change.

2. Renewable Energy Option encourages use of locations with access to 
services and facilities.  Reducing private car reliance.  
Restrictive growth pattern will limit increases in GHG 
emissions from new housing and associated activities 
(recreation and employment),   Concentration of 
development within Brecon will increase opportunities 
for district schemes.

Focus of economic growth on green energy may have 
significant positive benefits in the areas ability to develop 
locally appropriate renewable energy schemes.

No predicted impacts.

3. Flood Risk Impacts largely dependent on the location of 
development sites.

Impacts largely dependent on the location of development 
sites.

Impacts largely dependent on the location of development 
sites.

4. Natural Resources Impacts largely dependent on the location of 
development sites. Focus of development in Brecon 
could have adverse effects on the River Usk.

Impacts largely dependent on the location of development 
sites.  Focus of development in Brecon could have adverse 
effects on the River Usk.

Impacts largely dependent on the location of development 
sites.

5.Geodiversity No predicted impacts. No predicated impacts. No predicted impacts.

6. Biodiversity Dependent on location of development sites. However 
under this strategy the impacts on the area's 
biodiversity is likely to be minimised.

Dependent on the location of development sites.   This 
higher levels of growth in this option increases the 
likelihood that adverse effects on biodiversity may result.

Dependent on location of growth, release of greenfield sites 
in the West of the park could result in loss of biodiversity.

7. Historic Landscape and Built 
Heritage

There will be pressure on the character of Brecon as a 
result of concentrating development needs, although 
predicted potential significant benefits to outlying areas 
in terms of promoting sense of place through 
community led developments.

Dependent on the location of development sites. There 
may be significant impact if development were to impact 
on traditional settlement character and built form.  Listed 
buildings and conservation areas may be adversely 
affected.  Growth in key settlements may adversely affect 
local character and townscape.  Limited growth in areas 
not so attractive to the market will be protected from 
significant loss of character.

Dependent on location of development sites.  Growth in 
the West may impact on the historic dispersed settlement 
pattern of the West, impacting on the Historic Landscape 
pattern.  However areas of the east may see limited growth 
protecting the settlement character, listed buildings and 
conservation areas.

8. Cultural Heritage The strategy proposes to support community level 
growth which could have a potential positive impact on 
community cultural resilience. 

Potentially the level of growth associated with this option 
could work against cultural cohesiveness, however could 
provide opportunities for growing the Welsh Language.

The west of the Park is arguably more culturally cohesive 
than the East which has seen a larger influx of in-migration.  
Potentially growing the West could impact on this 
cohesiveness, impacting the intangible nature of living and 
working there.

9. Landscape Dependent on location of development sites.  However 
under this strategy the concentration of new 
development within Brecon on brownfield sites will 
limit impacts on the landscape and special qualities.

Dependent on location of development sites. The higher 
levels of growth proposed under this option are more 
likely to result in landscape impacts.

Dependent on location of development sites.  Development 
of greenfield sites is likely to have adverse effects on local 
landscapes. 

P
age 251



10. Special Qualities Dependent on location of development sites.  However 
under this strategy the concentration of new 
development within Brecon on brownfield sites will 
limit impacts on the landscape and special qualities.

Dependent on location of development sites. The higher 
levels of growth proposed under this option are more 
likely to result in landscape impacts.

Dependent on location of development sites.  Development 
of greenfield sites is likely to have adverse effects on local 
landscapes. 

11. Sustainable Use of land Strategic development option seeks to concentrate 
development on brownfield site, with limited release of 
greenfield land.

There is insufficient PDL within the NP to meet the 
objectives of this option, predicted significant release of 
greenfield sites to meet development needs.

Potential negative impacts predicted due to the necessity to 
release greenfield sites in the West of the Park.

12. Sustainable Design Dependent on location of development sites. Dependent on location of development sites. Dependent on location of development sites.

13. Infrastructure Greater critical mass of people within the Key 
settlement to provide opportunities to maintain and 
enhance existing services.  Unplanned growth outside 
of key settlements means infrastructure providers are 
less able to forward plan services to meet additional 
need.

Greater critical mass of people across the park to 
maintain existing services, and provide impetuous for 
improvements.  However there is also potential for 
significant pressures on existing infrastructure.    

Greater critical mass of people across the park to maintain 
existing services, and provide impetuous for improvements.  
However there is also potential for significant pressures on 
existing infrastructure especially on the West of the Park 
which is more dispersed in character.

14. Transport Concentration of Development within Brecon will be 
supported by active travel.

Over-reliance on private vehicles will become an 
increasing limiting factor, especially in more rural 
locations. Increasing opportunities for remote working but 
limited to areas with good digital infrastructure. Potential 
for rollout of electric vehicles to be transformative, 
particularly where renewable generation exists. 

Potential positive effects.  Dispersal of development across 
the Park may help to maintain the viability of public 
transport especially to the West of the park.  In turn 
increasing access to the Park and its attractions for visitors. 

15. Waste Concentration of Development within Brecon will 
increase the viability of existing recycling facilities. 

Potential for growth in energy from waste developments 
as part of green economy.

No predicted impacts.

16. Minerals No predicted impacts. No predicated impacts. No predicted impacts.

17. Housing Option provides opportunities for community led 
housing opportunities, aimed at improving community 
taxability.

Opportunities for the expansion of existing communities.  
Potential to improve housing opportunities and support 
existing communities.

Opportunities for the expansion of existing communities 
especially in the West which hasn't seen development 
opportunities over the last plan period.  Potential to 
improve housing opportunities and support existing 
communities.

18. Affordable Housing Option provides opportunities for community led 
housing opportunities, aiming at high levels of local 
needs housing.

Option would engender a higher level of growth, 
providing higher levels of affordable housing through the 
market.  Option seeks to increase the local economy 
within the park, potentially impacting on future need for 
affordable housing.

Option would provide better opportunities for distributing 
affordable housing across the National Park.

19. Health and Wellbeing Option concentrates development on PDL sites in 
Brecon, enabling concentration of services and facilities 
to promote and sustain health and wellbeing of resident 
population.  However this may limit opportunities in 
outlying areas.

More housing could mean a greater population able to 
access health and wellbeing befits of the National Park, 
including working age populations.  Market led 
development would need policy intervention to ensure 
positive impacts for Health and Wellbeing.

More housing opportunities in the West of the Park could 
have positive impacts on opportunities for our communities 
to access health and wellbeing benefits.  Market led 
development would need policy intervention to ensure 
positive impacts for Health and Wellbeing.

20. Location of Growth This option concentrates development on the most 
sustainable settlement within the National Park 
supporting the vibrancy of the area with the greatest 
population density.  The option would support 
community viability and vibrancy by supporting 
community led growth in outlying areas.  

This option seeks to enable the market to guide the 
location of development.  Predicted development patterns 
see growth along the A40 corridor and focus on the 
Settlements of Gilwern and Govilon.  These settlements 
have less services and facilities and jobs to cater for 
community need than Brecon.  Potentially this approach 
would result in the creation of dormitory towns in the 
South East of the Park.

Option provides growth in West in dispersed settlements 
poorly served by infrastructure, services, facilities and public 
transport options.  Growth may improve options to build 
social capitol within these communities, especially if linked 
to improved employment opportunities.  However growth 
in the west will add to the use of the private car.

P
age 252



21. Strengthening Skills Some potential for community support for mixed 
demographic in smaller communities with potential to 
support smaller schools.

Increasing population leading to increasing school and FE 
cohorts triggering wider range of appropriate options 
locally.

Support for mixed demographic in smaller communities 
with potential to support smaller schools.

22. Economy Option could restrict development of new rural 
businesses.  However the focus of development witan 
Brecon could potentially grow the localised economy, 
with benefits filtering to the outlying areas.

Option would allow development of new employment 
opportunities in areas of need in industries supported by 
the Mid-Wales Growth deal.

Potential positive effects.  Dispersal of development across 
the Park may provide opportunities for new employment 
development in the West of the Park.

23. Employment Option could restrict development of new rural 
businesses.  However the focus of development within 
Brecon could potentially grow the localised economy, 
with benefits filtering to the outlying areas.

Option would allow development of new employment 
opportunities in areas of need in industries supported by 
the Mid-Wales Growth deal.  Support unit greater 
diversity in employment opportunities.

Option could restrict development of new rural businesses.  
However the focus of development within Brecon could 
potentially grow the localised economy, with benefits 
filtering to the outlying areas.

24. Tourism Positive impact.  Some issues of land allocation away 
from principal settlements.

Positive impact providing more opportunities for 
development to support tourism industry. 

Positive impact.  Poor public transport an issue but no 
more than elsewhere.  

25. Farm Diversification No predicted impacts. Support for local food production could provide greater 
opportunities for farm diversification and agriculture in 
general.

No predicted impacts.

26. Retail and Town Centres Increasing population of the primary key settlement 
increases customer base for retail centres.  Community 
led growth in outlying settlements could support retail 
outside of towns.

Support for local food production may have positive 
knock on impacts in relation to retail specialisms within 
town centres.

supporting rural population in west of NP in hinterland to 
Llandeilo and Llandovery helps support continued vitality of 
these as retail centres serving the wider population.

P
age 253



Table 5 Detailed assessment of growth options.

 
Low Level of Growth
(see page 5 of the preferred strategy)

Medium Level of Growth
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

High Level of Growth
(see page 6 of the preferred strategy)

1. Climate Change Slightly restricts ability to reduce vulnerability to the 
effects of climate change. Aging population may be 
most vulnerable to impacts of climate change

Slightly restricts ability to reduce vulnerability to the effects 
of climate change. Aging population may be most vulnerable 
to impacts of climate change

Retention of younger working population may provide 
communities better placed to meet the challenges of 
climate change, however the higher levels of growth may 
result in greater impacts as a result of development

2. Renewable Energy Low levels of growth will limit the increases in GHG 
emissions from new housing and associated activities 
(recreation, employment etc.)

Moderate levels of growth will result in equivalent growth 
in emissions of GHG from new housing and associated 
activities.

High level of growth will result in higher levels of new 
GHG emissions from new housing and associated 
activities. However densities are such that CHP becomes 
more viable.

3. Flood Risk Dependent on site locations, however lower levels of 
growth will put less pressure on the NPA to release 
flood vulnerable development land

Dependent on site locations, moderate levels of growth will 
put some pressure on the NPA to release flood vulnerable 
development land

Dependent on site locations, however higher levels of 
growth will put significant pressure on the NPA to release 
flood vulnerable development land

4. Natural Resources Low levels of growth will limit adverse effects on soil 
condition, potentially have no significant impact on air 
or water quality.

Predicted effects are uncertain, and potentially dependent 
on site locations, however moderate levels of growth could 
increase traffic movements that could have impacts on air 
quality.  

Potential for increase in local air quality impacts from 
increased density of developed forms as a result of higher 
growth.  Similarly impacts on water quality as a result of 
sewerage treatment issues from increasing load on the 
network, especially in towns in close proximity to SACs.

5.Geodiversity No predicted effects No predicted effects No predicted effects

6. Biodiversity Dependent on location of development sites Dependent on location of development sites. Dependent on location of development sites.  The higher 
levels of growth in this option increase the likelihood that 
adverse effects on biodiversity may result.

7. Historic Landscape and Built 
Heritage

Dependent on the location of development sites.  
Lower levels of growth will have less of an impact on 
settlement patterns within the historic landscape.

Dependent on the location of development sites.  Medium 
levels of growth have the potential to impact on listed 
buildings and conservation areas.

Dependent on the location of development site.  Listed 
buildings, conservation areas and archaeological sites may 
be affected.  High levels of growth may adversely affect 
local character.

8. Cultural Heritage Limiting growth opportunities, may have a significant 
impact on the areas ability to retain population and 
continue cultural traditions such as the Welsh 
Language.

Medium levels of growth may work to support cultural 
identity without providing for in migration which could 
lessen cultural coherence.

Higher level of growth could potentially impact on cultural 
cohesiveness, however retention of working age people 
could be of benefit in relation to building strong 
communities.

9. Landscape Low levels of housing with no expansion of 
development boundaries is likely to avoid adverse 
effects on the landscape and special qualities.

Site dependent, however medium levels of growth has the 
potential for landscape change, potentially impacting on the 
special qualities of the NP.

Site dependent, however higher levels of growth puts 
more pressure on the release of sites for development.  
This could potentially have detrimental impact on the 
landscape and special qualities.

10. Special qualities Low levels of housing with no expansion of 
development boundaries is likely to avoid adverse 
effects on the landscape and special qualities.

Site dependent, however medium levels of growth has the 
potential for landscape change, potentially impacting on the 
special qualities of the NP.

Site dependent, however higher levels of growth puts 
more pressure on the release of sites for development.  
This could potentially have detrimental impact on the 
landscape and special qualities.

11. Sustainable Use of land Site dependent.  Lower levels of growth provide more 
opportunities to limit development to PDL

Site dependent.  Medium levels of growth means that there 
is more pressure on greenfield

Site dependent. Higher levels of growth means that there 
is more pressure on the release of greenfield sites

P
age 254



12. Sustainable Design Site dependent. Lower levels of growth limit 
economies of scale to provide innovative solutions to 
housing need.

Site dependent. Site dependent. Higher levels of growth means that there 
is more scope for innovation in housing design / 
economies of scale to provide Renewables / Community 
Heat Power.

13. Infrastructure lower levels of growth should be accommodated 
within existing infrastructure plans and should have no 
predicted effects.

Medium levels of growth may exert pressure on existing 
utility network without development density to make 
upgrading financially viable.  

Whereas high levels of growth will place pressure on the 
existing network, the density may be sufficient to provide 
the economies of scale necessary for upgrades to the 
system.  Development may be of sufficient scale to 
support community level renewables.

14. Transport Possible school closures leading to increased travel 
distances for schooling.

Increased potential for viable numbers for alternative 
transport systems.  However, without any intervention this 
option would see an increase in use of private transport.

Increased potential for viable numbers for alternative 
transport systems.  However, without any intervention 
this option would see an increase in use of private 
transport.

15. Waste No predicted effects. Increased waste countered by increased potential for viable 
local innovative solutions.

increased waste countered by increased potential for 
viable local innovative solutions.

16. Minerals No predicted effects. No predicted effects. No predicted effects.

17. Housing Meets housing need based on demographic 
projections, however development options will be 
limited.  Less provision of AH through market led 
development.

Potential oversupply of housing based on demographic 
projections.  Some opportunity for a range of sizes and 
tenures. 

Oversupply of housing based on demographic projections.  
Greater opportunities to provide a range of dwelling 
types. Greater provision of AH through the market..

18. Affordable Housing Limited opportunities for growth will restrict 
opportunities for the provision of Affordable Housing 
through the market. 

Some opportunities for a range of sizes and tenures;   More 
potential for the delivery of affordable housing through 
market development.

Extended opportunities for a range of sizes and tenures.  
Growth levels could provide a significant level of 
affordable housing through market development.

19. Health and Wellbeing No predicted effects. More housing could mean a greater population able to 
access health and wellbeing befits of the National Park, 
including working age populations.

More housing could mean a greater population able to 
access health and wellbeing befits of the National Park, 
including working age populations.  Greater density of 
development, has the potential for impacts on health and 
wellbeing if not managed through policy intervention in 
relation to design.  However this is identified as mostly 
positive.

20. Location of Growth Dependent on location of development sites. Dependent on location development sites. Dependent on location of development sites.

21. Strengthening Skills Potential school closures. Sub-viable numbers for FE 
provision , increasing need to travel for range of FE.

Some minor positive benefits, scale of growth may affect 
levels of developer contributions which could affect 
educational provisions. 

Potential for increasing cohorts for FE and subsequent 
increase in provision locally.  May have minor effect in 
enhancing local SD skills in construction and renewable 
energy supply chains.

22. Economy Option could restrict development of new rural 
businesses this option does not allow for additional 
housing that may be required for people to work in 
the area.  

Housing growth at this scale may have some positive impact 
on economic development.

Housing growth at this scale is predicted to have a 
positive impact on economic growth.

23. Employment Option could restrict development of new rural 
businesses.  Restriction in housing will limit 
opportunity to create strong links between 
employment and housing.

Option provides some opportunity to create better links 
between housing and employment.  Site dependent.

Option provides some opportunity to create better links 
between housing and employment.  Site dependent.

24. Tourism Lower housing growth could put pressure on existing 
housing market for the provision of holiday let/second 
homes/air bnb use.

Option provides some opportunity to retain local people to 
service the tourism industry with some capacity within the 
existing housing market to provide accommodation.

Option provides positive opportunities to service the 
tourism industry. Greater capacity within the housing 
market to meet need for second homes/holiday homes.

P
age 255



25. Farm Diversification Lower growth levels will have an impact on the 
retention of young people to service farm 
diversification.

Medium level of growth provides some opportunity to 
retain local people to service farm diversification.

Option provides positive opportunities to service farm 
diversification.

26. Retail and Town Centres Lower levels of growth could impact on the viability 
of town centres.

Medium levels of growth could potentially provide some 
support for town centres, especially if development is linked 
to towns.

High levels of growth could potentially provide support 
for town centres, especially if development is linked to 
towns.

P
age 256



Table 6: Detailed assessment of strategic policies (pages 25 – 32 of the preferred strategy).

Major development in the national park

Assessment Summary Given the restrictive nature of this policy it will have positive effects against many of the environmental objectives.  
Uncertain objectives are identified around economic objectives, although acknowledging the potential benefits of the policy 
to the tourism industry. 

1. Climate Change The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  +

2. Renewable Energy No predicted effects 0
3. Flood Risk The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 

only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to increased flood risk therefore this policy should have a positive effect on this objective.

+

4. Natural Resources The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to an increased take on natural resources and therefor this policy should have a positive effect on this 
objective.

+

5.Geodiversity The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to loss or damage of geodiversity assets and therefore this policy should have a positive effect on this 
objective

+

6. Biodiversity The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to loss or damage of biodiversity and therefore this policy should have a positive effect on this objective

+

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to negative effects on the historic environment and therefore this policy should have a positive effect on 
this objective

+

8. Cultural Heritage The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to negative effects on the historic environment and therefore this policy should have a positive effect on 
this objective

+

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

The policy should ensure that major development that would have a detrimental effect on the environment will 
only place in exceptional circumstances.  It is assumed that a detrimental effect on the environment includes 
leading to negative effects on the landscape and special qualities of the park therefore this policy should have a 
positive effect on this objective

+

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

Site specific, uncertain of potential impacts ?

12. Sustainable Design No direct effects predicted 0
13. Infrastructure No predicted effects, although there is the possibility that this policy may hamper the delivery of ICT 

infrastructure (e.g. masts) and additional sewerage treatment capacity 0

14. Transport No predicted effects 0
15. Waste No predicted effects 0
16. Minerals No predicted effects 0
17. Housing No predicted effects 0
18. Affordable 
Housing

No predicted effects 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

No predicted effects 0

20. Location of 
Growth

No predicted effects 0

21. Strengthening 
Skills

No predicted effects 0

22. Economy Restricting major developments within the Park could have adverse effects on the local economy.  However, 
conversely if major developments were to be allowed these could have adverse effects on the tourism sector 
which plays an important role in the parks economy.

?

23. Employment Restricting major developments within the Park could have adverse effects on the local economy and jobs 
creation.  However, conversely if major developments were to be allowed these could have adverse effects on 
the tourism sector which plays an important role in the parks economy.

?

24. Tourism Restricting major development within the park will preserve the attractiveness of the environment, contributing 
towards the appeal of the area to tourism. +

25. Farm 
Diversification

No predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

No predicted effects 0

Page 257



Sustainable development in the national park

Assessment Summary This policy has been assessed as having mainly positive effects against the SA/SEA objectives as it seeks to enable 
development that supports the two purpose of the National Park whilst at the same time assisting the social and economic 
wellbeing of local communities. Significant positive effects have been predicted in relation to biodiversity, cultural heritage, 
landscape, population and the economy.

1. Climate Change Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable development which is predicted to have positive benefits to the ability 
of the Park's ability to adapt to a changing climate +

2. Renewable Energy Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

3. Flood Risk Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

4. Natural Resources Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable management of natural resources significantly contributing to 
achieving this objective. ++

5.Geodiversity Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable management of natural resources contributing to achieving this 
objective. +

6. Biodiversity Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable management of natural resources whilst protecting and enhancing 
ecosystem resilience, and as such will go some way to achieving this objective ++

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Policy seeks to conserve and enhance the cultural heritage of the National Park, which includes the Historic 
Landscape and  Built Heritage ++

8. Cultural Heritage Policy seeks to conserve and enhance the cultural heritage of the National Park, which includes the Historic 
Landscape and  Built Heritage ++

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Policy seeks to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the National Park ++

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

No direct predicted effects 0

12. Sustainable Design Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

13. Infrastructure Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

14. Transport Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

15. Waste Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0
17. Housing Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 

an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development  Especially criterion V. 0

18. Affordable 
Housing

Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development  Especially criterion V. 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Policy enshrines the principles of the WBFGA through criterion V which is predicted to have a positive impact on 
the objective to promote sustainably managed opportunities for health and wellbeing. +

20. Location of 
Growth

Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 0

21. Strengthening 
Skills

No direct predicted effects 0

22. Economy Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective in so much as it seeks multiple benefits 
for each of the pillars of sustainability (criterion IV) +

23. Employment Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective in so much as it seeks multiple benefits 
for each of the pillars of sustainability (criterion IV) +

24. Tourism Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective in so much as it seeks to promote 
opportunities for understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park. (criterion II) +

25. Farm 
Diversification

No direct predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

No direct predicted effects 0

Page 258



Sustainable management of natural resources

Assessment 
Summary 

This policy has been assessed as having mainly positive effects against the SA/SEA objectives as it seeks to enable development 
that supports the sustainable management of Natural Resources.  Significant positive effects have been identified in relation to 
the policies contribution to meeting objectives towards Natural Resources and Biodiversity.

1. Climate Change Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of SMNR

0

2. Renewable Energy Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of SMNR

0

3. Flood Risk Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential effect as 
an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 

0

4. Natural Resources Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable management of natural resources significantly contributing to 
achieving this objective.

++

5.Geodiversity Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable management of natural resources contributing to achieving this 
objective.

+

6. Biodiversity Policy enshrines the principles of sustainable management of natural resources whilst protecting and enhancing 
ecosystem resilience, and as such will go some way to achieving this objective

++

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

No direct predicted effects 0

8. Cultural Heritage No direct predicted effects 0

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

No direct predicted effects 0

11. Sustainable Use 
of land

No direct predicted effects 0

12. Sustainable 
Design

No direct predicted effects 0

13. Infrastructure No direct predicted effects 0

14. Transport No direct predicted effects 0

15. Waste No direct predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing No direct predicted effects 0

18. Affordable 
Housing

No direct predicted effects 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Nature based solutions can support health and wellbeing.  This policy is predicted to have indirect positive impacts 
as a result of establishing SMNR principles into all new development

+

20. Location of 
Growth

No direct predicted effects 0

21. Strengthening 
Skills

No direct predicted effects 0

22. Economy Policy enshrines principles of SMNR into all new development which is predicted to provide benefits to the local 
economy, whilst also ensuring that proposals  for new economic development will provide improved 
environmental performance

+

23. Employment Policy enshrines principles of SMNR into all new development which is predicted to provide benefits to the 
development of a sustainable agricultural economy

+

24. Tourism Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential indirect 
effect engendered from the benefits to the environment from SMNR, which could improve attractiveness of the 
area to Tourism.

0

25. Farm 
Diversification

Policy enshrines principles of SMNR into all new development which is predicted to provide benefits to the 
development of a sustainable and diversified agricultural economy

+

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

No direct predicted effects 0

Page 259



Climate change

1. Climate 
Change

Policy makes climate change a primary consideration for all development proposals. ++

2. Renewable 
Energy

In the policy imperative to ensure development responds to the challenge of climate change adaptation and carbon 
neutrality it is predicted that development will increase the use of renewable energy sources in design and 
operation.

++

3. Flood Risk Mitigating impacts in relation to climate change will necessitate development to be designed to minimise future risk 
to increased flood events.

++

4. Natural 
Resources 

Policy imperative to limit and mitigate causes of climate change is predicted to have positive impacts in relation to 
the consumption of and sustainable management of Natural Resources.

++

5.Geodiversity Policy is considered to limit impacts on Geodiversity through encouraging use of sustainable construction methods 
limiting the need to utilise geological reserves within the NP

+

6. Biodiversity Positive effects are predicted as a result of environmental benefits policy will engender. +

7. Historic 
Landscape and 
Built Heritage

Policy will require development to utilise modern technologies, and renewable energy systems to meet the 
challenge of the policy, potentially leading to conflict with existing built heritage and historic landscape, however this 
is dependent on detailed site based considerations. 

?

8. Cultural 
Heritage

Potentially policy will bring about challenges to lifestyle choices inherent within our existing cultures and cause some 
conflict with existing concepts of what development provides.  However there are also predicted benefits in terms 
of enabling development to provide more sustainable lifestyles to support existing communities.

?

9. Landscape
10. Special 
Qualities

Although the policy may facilitate development forms which challenge traditional built form, it is considered that this 
will not in of itself have any direct impact on these objectives 0

11. Sustainable 
Use of land

No direct effects predicted. 0

12. Sustainable 
Design

The policy will ensure that future development, in working towards carbon neutrality, will provide significant 
positive outcomes in relation to this objective 

++

13. Infrastructure No direct effects predicted. 0

14. Transport Policy seeks to ensure that development limits the need for travel and transport by unsustainable modes. ++

15. Waste Policy direction towards carbon neutrality, especially in operation, will provide considerable benefits towards this 
objective, especially around sustainable waste assimilation.

+

16. Minerals Policy is considered to limit pressure on existing mineral operation through encouraging sustainable resource use in 
construction.

+

17. Housing Potential impacts in relation to the future viability of housing schemes potentially hindering market delivering 
housing needed to meet demographic needs. However there are significant benefits in terms of the future 
affordability of living within the park making such houses more desirable at point of sale.

?

18. Affordable 
Housing

Potential impacts in relation to the future viability of affordable housing development on market housing sites from 
(potential) increased costs of construction (unproven at this point), however positive impacts are predicted in 
relation to benefits to the affordability of operation of such buildings in their future occupation.

?

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Positive benefits are predicted from providing development which contributes to the future well-being of our 
communities, by addressing likely and predicted impacts of climate change.

+

20. Location of 
Growth

Positive benefits are predicted in relation to this objective, policy directs development towards sustainable locations, 
limiting future impacts on areas more vulnerable to the future impacts of climate change

+

21. Strengthening 
Skills

No direct effects predicted. 0

22. Economy Uncertain effects in relation to this objective, although it is considered that there are potential economic benefits 
around the operation of carbon neutral buildings, and future proofing development to meet the challenges of climate 
change, added initial costs associated with such development may limit the range of developers/businesses looking to 
develop within the National Park.

?

23. Employment Uncertain effects in relation to this objective, although it is considered that there are potential economic benefits 
around the operation of carbon neutral buildings, and future proofing development to meet the challenges of climate 
change which may increase job opportunities – The added initial costs associated with such development may limit 
the range of developers/businesses looking to locate within the Park, potentially impacting on the range and number 
of future jobs

?

24. Tourism Uncertain effects in relation to this objective, may create significant opportunities around eco-tourism, however 
may limit the development of traditional forms of Holiday Accommodation.  Will provide significant benefits in 
relation to the future sustainability of tourism operation within the Park. 

?

25. Farm 
Diversification

Potential positive impacts around opportunities for development to provide climate change mitigation, will prove 
challenging for traditional forms of agricultural development requiring planning permission (will not apply to forms of 
agricultural development benefiting from PD)

?

26. Retail and 
Town Centres

No direct effects predicted. 0

 

Assessment 
Summary

There are mixed effects predicted as a result of the implementation of this policy.  Significant positive environmental effects are 
predicted as a result of the requirement for resource and energy efficiency under this policy.  However the economic impacts of 
higher than standard construction methods have uncertain impacts in relation to the provision of housing, and other economic 
generating development.

Further evidence should be gathered in relation to actual costs of developing to proposed construction standards and its impact on 
affordable housing.  Evidence should also be gathered around costs of operation of carbon neutral buildings.

Page 260



Good design 

Assessment Summary Policy in general provides positive benefits to a range of sustainability objectives.  Significant positive effects are 
predicted in relation to objectives around Sustainable Design.  Assessment has highlighted that there is an 
incompatibility between policy aspirations for improved design standards and viability of market provision of 
Affordable Housing.  

Further evidence should be gathered in relation to actual costs of developing to proposed design standards and its impact on 
affordable housing.

1. Climate Change Policy places a requirement on development to contribute to the creation of sustainable places which by 
definition will promote increased resilience and responsiveness to climate change adaptation measures

+

2. Renewable Energy No direct predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources Requirement for the contribution to sustainable places may have some indirect positive impacts on this 
objective

0

5.Geodiversity Policy may have negative impact on the Geodiversity of the Park if resources are put under pressure to 
provide locally sourced stone etc.

-

6. Biodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

7. Historic Landscape and 
Built Heritage

Policy requires all development to provide good design to the benefit of the Built Heritage and Historic 
Landscape

+

8. Cultural Heritage Policy requires all development to provide good design to the benefit of Cultural Heritage +

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Policy requires all development to contribute to the creation of attractive places, which is predicted to have 
positive effects on Landscape and Special Qualities

+

11. Sustainable Use of land No direct predicted effects 0

12. Sustainable Design Policy requires development to demonstrate quality, sustainable and inclusive design ++

13. Infrastructure No direct predicted effects 0

14. Transport No direct predicted effects 0

15. Waste No direct predicted effects 0

16. Minerals Policy seeking development to respond to cultural traditions may put pressure to expand mineral operations 
within the park

-

17. Housing no direct predicted effects 0

18. Affordable Housing Higher design standards may impact on AH viability -

19. Health and Wellbeing Creation of attractive, sustainable and accessible places will provide positive benefits to resident 
communities health and wellbeing

+

20. Location of Growth No direct predicted effects 0

21. Strengthening Skills requirement for local craftsmanship could provide a basis to improve local skill set in this area +

22. Economy Policy supports local craftsmanship aiming at supporting the local economy +

23. Employment Policy supports local craftsmanship which could generate more jobs within this area of the local economy +

24. Tourism No direct predicted effects 0

25. Farm Diversification No direct predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Policy will contribute to the creation of attractive retail centres +

Page 261



Sustainable sense of place

Assessment 
Summary

The Spatial Strategy as expressed through this policy provides a good balance between focusing development in the key 
settlements whilst allowing for demonstrated local needs to be met in smaller settlements and rural areas. The growth in key 
settlements utilising previously development land will help to support certain regeneration needs in the towns and improve levels 
of community vitality, with associated social and economic benefits. It will also help to service the needs of surrounding areas. 
The strategy prevents the general dispersal of development across the wider Park countryside. Significant positive effects have 
been predicted in relation to the housing objective. Through the moderate levels of growth proposed there will inevitably be 
increases in levels of land and resource use as well as increased greenhouse gas emissions from increased activities. However by 
focusing growth in the key settlements, the wider effects on the special qualities of the National Park should be minimised and 
through concentration of growth the strategy should also reduce the need to travel, particularly by private car. 

1. Climate Change
Predicted positive impacts from directing future development to most sustainable settlements, most resilient to the 
impacts of climate change 

+

2. Renewable 
Energy

No direct predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural 
Resources 

Concentration of development within key settlements may  have potential impacts on soil, water and air quality -

5.Geodiversity N direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

7. Historic 
Landscape and 
Built Heritage

There will be pressure on the character of Brecon as a result of concentrating development needs, although  potential 
significant benefits to outlying areas in terms of promoting sense of place through community led developments

?

8. Cultural 
Heritage

Policy introduces potential for community led growth which could help support the cultural heritage of the National 
Park including strength of the Welsh Language.

+

9. Landscape

10. Special 
Qualities

Concentrating development within key settlements may help limit impacts on the wider National Park Landscape and 
Special Qualities bringing about positive benefits.  However, growing principle settlements in an inappropriate manner 
may have significant impacts on the Landscape and could potentially undermine achievement of this objective.  
Understanding implications of policy is site dependent.

?

11. Sustainable Use 
of land

Strategic development option seeks to concentrate development on brownfield site, with limited release of greenfield 
land.

++

12. Sustainable 
Design

Positive effects predicted as a result of the provisions for community led growth and emphasis on place based 0

13. Infrastructure

Greater critical mass of people within the Key settlement to provide opportunities to maintain and enhance existing 
services.  Unplanned growth outside of key settlements means infrastructure providers are less able to forward plan 
services to meet additional need.

?

14. Transport Concentration of Development within Brecon will be supported by active travel. +

15. Waste Concentration of development within key settlements will provide opportunities to support existing waste facilities +

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing
Policy is considered to have a positive impact in relation to the development of integrated and viable and vibrant 
communities.  

++

18. Affordable 
Housing

Greatest need for affordable housing is known to be within Brecon, the policy of constricting development where 
there is greatest need will go some way to achieving this objective

+

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to this objective, however this is only potential effect as 
indirect result of policy direction to provide development within locations which have good siting opportunities to 
access the countryside for the benefit of health and wellbeing

0

20. Location of 
Growth

This policy concentrates development on the most sustainable settlement within the National Park supporting the 
vibrancy of the area with the greatest population density.  The policy also supports community viability and vibrancy by 
supporting community led growth in sustainable outlying areas.  

++

21. Strengthening 
Skills

Policy has potential to support this sustainability objective through greater concentration of people within key 
settlements, supporting the viability of existing education facilities.  

+

22. Economy

Policy is restrictive of development within reopen countryside limiting to National Policy objectives, there is some 
scope for rural development within the more sustainable settlements.  However the concentration   of development 
within existing towns such as Brecon could potentially grow the localised economy, with benefits filtering to the 
outlying areas.

+

23. Employment

Policy is restrictive of development within reopen countryside limiting to National Policy objectives, there is some 
scope for rural development within the more sustainable settlements.  However the concentration   of development 
within existing towns such as Brecon could potentially grow the localised economy, with benefits filtering to the 
outlying areas.

+

24. Tourism

Policy directs new development to the most sustainable settlements best supported by sustainable transport, thereby 
ensuring that new tourism development is located so as to limit impacts on NP special qualities, Potentially provides 
benefits to local economies 

+

Page 262



25. Farm 
Diversification

No direct predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Policy supports development within the main retail centres, supporting their viability and vitality. +

Page 263



Environmental protection

Assessment Summary Overall this policy is considered to have positive effects in a range of objectives.  No further action is identified as 
necessary.

Effectiveness of the policy in meeting SA objectives in implementation should form part of future monitoring regimen. 

1. Climate Change No predicted effects 0

2. Renewable Energy No predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk No predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources Policy seeks to protect geodiversity from harmful impacts of development ++

5.Geodiversity The policies actively support the protection and enhancement of biodiversity within the Park,
including protection of important wild species both within and outside of designated sites, protecting the water 
environment,  preventing habitat fragmentation, 

++

6. Biodiversity Protection of open spaces should have a positive impact on the historic environment and built heritage siting 
within it.

+

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Protection of important open spaces should contribute to a community's ability to hold outdoor events such as 
agricultural shows etc.

+

8. Cultural Heritage Policy seeks to protect the special qualities (and by extension landscape quality) ++

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Policy seeks to protect important green infrastructure from development however does not prevent the release 
of greenfield land to development ?

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

No predicted effects 0

12. Sustainable Design No predicted effects 0

13. Infrastructure No predicted effects 0

14. Transport No predicted effects 0

15. Waste Positive impacts identified through objective to conserve important geodiversity +

16. Minerals No predicted effects 0

17. Housing No predicted effects 0

18. Affordable Housing The policy ensures that all developments will protect public open space and recreation facilities. +

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

No predicted effects 0

20. Location of Growth No predicted effects 0

21. Strengthening Skills No predicted effects 0

22. Economy No predicted effects 0

23. Employment No predicted effects 0

24. Tourism No predicted effects 0

25. Farm Diversification No predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

No predicted effects 0

Page 264



Historic environment

Assessment Summary In summary this policy has demonstrated the potential for positive and significant positive effects in relation to a range of 
objectives, unsurprisingly objectives in relation to heritage matters are seen as well served by policy objectives.  There are 
uncertain effects identified with the impact of the concentrated nature of the spatial strategy.  This could potentially be 
addressed through detailed site survey and master planning of principle settlements.

Negative effects are predicted in relation to minerals, however the Mineral policy has been developed to address potential 
conflicts and limit opportunities for new mineral extraction.

1. Climate Change No direct effects predicted 0

2. Renewable Energy No direct effects predicted 0

3. Flood Risk No direct effects predicted 0

4. Natural Resources No direct effects predicted 0

5.Geodiversity Conservation of historic buildings may put pressure on existing geological reserves for building stone ?

6. Biodiversity No direct effects predicted 0

7. Historic Landscape and 
Built Heritage

 The policy ensures that all developments will protect 
historic landscapes. The policy also ensures the protection and enhancement of identified special
landscapes and cultural heritage, including archaeological features and historic landscapes.

++

8. Cultural Heritage The policy  ensures the protection and enhancement of the cultural heritage of the park, including intangible 
features associated with a place

++

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Historic landscapes and elements of the special qualities relating to cultural heritage are protected through this 
policy

+

11. Sustainable Use of land No direct effects predicted 0

12. Sustainable Design potential conflict between sustainable design concepts and the protection of historical assets ?

13. Infrastructure No direct effects predicted 0

14. Transport No direct effects predicted 0

15. Waste No direct effects predicted 0

16. Minerals Potential pressure for locally sourced stone in order to serve the building conservation aspirations of this 
policy.  Resulting in increased mineral operations within the park

-

17. Housing No direct effects predicted 0

18. Affordable Housing No direct effects predicted 0

19. Health and Wellbeing Policy protection of cultural heritage is predicted to have a positive impact on objectives around cohesive 
communities and the welsh language

+

20. Location of Growth Encouraging development within the sustainable locations identified (Brecon, Talgarth, Crickhowell, Hay) will 
also mean concentrating development on locations with some of the richer and significant architectural and 
archaeological value.  Although impacts of development arising from objective is recognised and controlled 
through the policy.  The extent to which it can be fully mitigated will be site specific.

?

21. Strengthening Skills Potential for increased demand in skilled tradespeople to undertake specialist work on buildings of historic 
significance.

0

22. Economy No direct effects predicted 0

23. Employment No direct effects predicted 0

24. Tourism Potential tourism benefits and attraction in relation to a well conserved historic environment. +

25. Farm Diversification Farm diversification often relies on the conversion of existing redundant rural buildings, this policy is seen as 
enabling to the sympathetic re-use of such buildings where this would like to their conservation.

+

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Many of the retail centres are also conservation areas.  Policy will ensure that the character of these areas are 
maintained and enhanced providing a more attractive (productive) retail environment.  Potential additional cost 
implications in relation to town centre renovations which could be prohibitive to improving the retail 
environment.

?

Page 265



Housing requirement

Summary 
Assessment

The policy position is predicted to bring positive and significantly positive benefits in relation to socio-economic sustainability 
objectives.  The impacts of the level of housing required is uncertain or in some instances considered to bring about negative 
impacts. 

Mitigative policy to be developed to address potential impacts of higher levels of housing development on the environment, specifically as 
relates to Climate Change adaptation and Biodiversity.

1. Climate Change Retention of younger working population may provide communities better placed to meet the challenges of climate change, 
however the higher levels of growth may result in greater impacts as a result of development. Higher levels of new GHG 
emissions from new housing and associated activities.

-

2. Renewable Energy No direct effects predicted as a result of this requirement. 0

3. Flood Risk Dependent on site locations, however levels of growth will put significant pressure on the NPA to release flood vulnerable 
development land.  Indirect impacts of increasing areas of development on flood risk should also be taken both positive and 
negative given WG requirement for SuDs 

?

4. Natural Resources Potential for increase in local air quality impacts from increased density of developed forms as a result of higher growth.  
Similarly impacts on water quality as a result of sewerage treatment issues from increasing load on the network, especially in 
towns in close proximity to SACs

-

5.Geodiversity No direct effect predicted 0

6. Biodiversity Dependent on location of development sites.  The higher levels of growth in this option increase the likelihood that adverse 
effects on biodiversity may result.  

?

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Dependent on the location of development site.  Listed buildings, conservation areas and archaeological sites may be 
affected.  Medium to high levels of growth may adversely affect local character.

-

8. Cultural Heritage Levels of growth could potentially impact on cultural cohesiveness, however retention of working age people could be of 
benefit in relation to building strong communities.

?

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Site dependent, however higher levels of growth puts more pressure on the release of sites for development.  This could 
potentially have detrimental impact on the landscape and special qualities.

?

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

Site dependent. Higher levels of growth means that there is more pressure on the release of greenfield sites. ?

12. Sustainable Design Site dependent. Levels of growth means that there is more scope for innovation in housing design / economies of scale to 
provide Renewables / Community Heat Power.

?

13. Infrastructure Whereas levels of growth will place pressure on the existing network, the density may be sufficient to provide the 
economies of scale necessary for upgrades infrastructure provision.  Development may be of sufficient scale to support 
community level renewables

?

14. Transport Increased potential for viable numbers for alternative transport systems.  However, level of growth, will be an increase in 
transport activity within the park. 

?

15. Waste increased waste countered by increased potential for viable local innovative solutions 0

16. Minerals No direct effects predicted 0

17. Housing Oversupply of housing based on demographic projections.  Greater opportunities to provide a range of dwelling types. 
Greater provision of AH through the market.

++

18. Affordable 
Housing

Extended opportunities for a range of sizes and tenures.  Growth levels could provide a significant level of affordable housing 
through market development

++

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Potential for a greater population to be able to access health and wellbeing benefits of the National Park, including working 
age populations.  Greater density of development, has the potential for impacts on health and wellbeing if not managed 
through policy intervention in relation to design.  However this is identified as mostly positive.

+

20. Location of 
Growth

Dependent on location of development sites ?

21. Strengthening 
Skills

Potential for increasing cohorts for FE and subsequent increase in provision locally.  May have minor effect in enhancing 
local SD skills in construction and renewable energy supply chains.

+

22. Economy Housing growth at this scale is predicted to have a positive impact on economic growth ++

23. Employment Housing level is the minimum set out within the Headroom Assessment necessary to maintain existing levels of employment. 
Option provides some opportunity to create better links between housing and employment.  

++

24. Tourism Option provides positive opportunities to service the tourism industry. Greater capacity within the housing market to meet 
need for second homes/holiday homes

+

25. Farm 
Diversification

Option provides positive opportunities to service farm diversification +

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Higher levels of growth could potentially provide support for town centres, especially if development is linked to towns +

Page 266



Affordable housing

Summary Assessment Assessment has identified significant positive effects in relation to Housing and Affordable housing, and positive effects in 
relation to Health and wellbeing and cultural heritage.  It is considered that many of the objectives will not be impacted by 
this policy objective and site specific issues are identified in relation to the sustainable use of land.  There will be need for 
potential mitigation from any release of greenfield site, subject to more detailed site investigations and consideration against 
GI Strategy (emerging)

1. Climate Change No direct predicted effects 0

2. Renewable Energy No direct predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources No direct predicted effects 0

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

No direct predicted effects 0

8. Cultural Heritage Opportunities to increase affordable housing stock has potential positive benefits.  Strengthening communities 
where cultural heritage is under threat retaining young people and families.

+

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

No direct predicted effects 0

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

Potential negative impacts could arise as a result of policy position enabling extensions to settlements for the 
provision of affordable housing, potentially this could result in the release of greenfield sites. 

?

12. Sustainable Design No direct predicted effects 0

13. Infrastructure No direct predicted effects 0

14. Transport No direct predicted effects 0

15. Waste No direct predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing Policy will ensure that a range of housing types are provided to meet housing need ++

18. Affordable Housing Policy aims to maximise the delivery of affordable housing and will go some way to realising this objective ++

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Proposal will provide housing for those in the community who are in need, helping contribute to the well-being 
goal of a more equal Wales

+

20. Location of Growth Potential negative impacts in relation to this objective engendered through criterion (d) exception sites, 
however this will be site specific

?

21. Strengthening Skills Policy will provide housing potentially leading to the retention of young people and families, strengthening 
opportunities for local school and HE facilities.

+

22. Economy Policy will provide housing potentially leading to the retention of an economically active individuals. +

23. Employment Positive impacts observed in relation to economy have the potential to result in the retention and creation of 
jobs within the area.

+

24. Tourism No direct predicted effects 0

25. Farm Diversification No direct predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

No direct predicted effects 0

Page 267



Sustainable communities

Summary Assessment This policy has been identified as having positive effects against sustainable community (social) objectives given that it 
provides a policy imperative for development to contribute towards sustainable communities.

1. Climate Change Policy has some predicted positive effects in relation to this objective especially in relation to the 
development relating to future community sustainability

+

2. Renewable Energy Policy is predicted to have some positive impacts in relation to this objective, however this is only indirect as 
a result of requirement for community sustainability 

0

3. Flood Risk Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential 
effect as an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 

0

4. Natural Resources Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential 
effect as an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development 

0

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Policy requires development to support the environmental sustainability of communities, this is predicted to 
bring about biodiversity conservation enhancements

+

7. Historic Landscape and 
Built Heritage

No direct predicted effects 0

8. Cultural Heritage Policy requires development to support the cultural sustainability of communities and considered to generate 
positive outcomes against this objective

+

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

No direct predicted effects 0

11. Sustainable Use of land no direct predicted effects 0

12. Sustainable Design Policy seeks to support community sustainability +

13. Infrastructure Policy aims to protect the future sustainability of a community and protect essential facilities from adverse 
impact

+

14. Transport No direct Predicted effects 0

15. Waste Policy seeks to support local essential services and facilities which would include waste facilities and gives 
opportunity for the development of community based waste solutions

+

16. Minerals no direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing Policy is predicted to have some positive impact in relation to the objective however this is only potential 
effect as an indirect result of policy direction towards principles of sustainable development

0

18. Affordable Housing  0

19. Health and Wellbeing Potential positive impacts from focus of development on community sustainability ?

20. Location of Growth Policy seeks to protect the viability of local communities through ensuring development contributes to future 
environmental and cultural sustainability 

+

21. Strengthening Skills No direct predicted effects 0

22. Economy No direct predicted effects 0

23. Employment No directed predicted effects 0

24. Tourism No direct predicted effects 0

25. Farm Diversification No direct predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town Centres Positive benefits to retail centres predicted from policy direction to support community vitality +

Page 268



Sustainable transport and active travel

Summary Assessment Policy has been assessed as having largely positive effects against sustainable economic objectives, and uncertain 
impacts in relation to environmental factors. Positive effects are identified from the promotion of public transport, 
walking and cycling.

1. Climate Change Policy aims to reduce the need to travel by private car.  Potential positive effects in relation to delivering this 
objective

+

2. Renewable Energy Policy should bring about energy efficiency in relation to transport.  +

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources Positive predicted effects in relation to air quality from reduced carbon based travel +

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Potential indirect positive effects from policy however these are uncertain and cannot be directly quantified ?

7. Historic Landscape and 
Built Heritage

Impacts will be site specific ?

8. Cultural Heritage Uncertain impacts in relation to this policy - enabling facilities to improve public transport may provide 
positive impacts e.g. increasing access options to cultural events

?

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

The policy imperative to increase sustainable transport options and prohibit new road building (other than in 
exceptional circumstances) should provide positive benefits in relation to achieving these objectives

+

11. Sustainable Use of land No direct predicted effects, although potentially greenfield land may be required in relation to criteria (a) 
and (d)

?

12. Sustainable Design Policy aims to improve sustainable accessibility as a result of all new development +

13. Infrastructure no direct predicted effects 0

14. Transport Policy provides positive impacts in relation to this objective, more detail could be provided in relation to 
new and evolving technologies.

+

15. Waste No direct predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing No direct predicted effects 0

18. Affordable Housing No direct predicted effects 0

19. Health and Wellbeing Policy seeks to ensure that new development will have improved accessibility from non-private modes which 
should contribute to positively to a range of wellbeing goals, e.g. cohesive communities, equality, resilience 

+

20. Location of Growth Policy seeks to ensure new development promotes sustainable transport modes +

21. Strengthening Skills Potential positive impacts resulting from development being better connected to larger settlements by 
sustainable transport to increase accessibility to a wide range of HE

+

22. Economy Improved accessibility and reduced need to travel by private car will have positive benefits to support a 
thriving locally based economy in the park

+

23. Employment Policy aims to ensure all development is well connected through sustainable transport modes to services and 
facilities.  This potentially could increase access to existing jobs.

+

24. Tourism Policy seeks to improve and promote accessibility by means other than the private car.  This potentially will 
ensure that there will be access to tourism facilities and attractions through a choice of travel options.  

+

25. Farm Diversification Uncertain how this policy could support farm diversification, other than ensuring future schemes are 
connected via sustainable transport modes

?

26. Retail and Town Centres Improved accessibility and reduced need to travel by private car will have positive benefits to support a 
thriving locally based retail economy in the park

+

Page 269



Sustainable infrastructure

Summary Assessment The policy has been assessed as having positive effects against a range of SA objectives, with a significant 
positive effect identified in relation to infrastructure provision.  

1. Climate Change Policy aims to ensure that all new infrastructure development provides sustainable benefits to 
the community, this is predicted as improving the resilience of communities to the likely effects 
of climate change 

+

2. Renewable Energy Policy will enable the provision of infrastructure necessary to service Renewable Energy 
schemes, potentially encouraging the installation of such schemes.

+

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources Criterion (b) will result in the potential protection and enhancement of environmental assets as 
a result of future infrastructure development.

+

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Criterion (b) will result in the potential protection and enhancement wildlife as a result of 
future infrastructure development.

+

7. Historic Landscape and Built 
Heritage

Criterion (b) will result in the potential protection and enhancement cultural heritage as a 
result of future infrastructure development.

+

8. Cultural Heritage Criterion (b) will result in the potential protection and enhancement cultural heritage as a 
result of future infrastructure development

+

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Criterion (b) will result in the potential protection and enhancement natural beauty as a result 
of future infrastructure development

+

11. Sustainable Use of land Site dependent ?

12. Sustainable Design Site dependent ?

13. Infrastructure Policy enables the development of essential infrastructure to meet community need.  Policy is 
considered to provide significant positive impacts in relation to this objective.

++

14. Transport No direct predicted effects 0

15. Waste No direct predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing No direct predicted effects 0

18. Affordable Housing No direct predicted effects 0

19. Health and Wellbeing Policy will provide positive benefits around cohesive communities. +

20. Location of Growth No direct predicted effects 0

21. Strengthening Skills No direct predicted effects 0

22. Economy Improved infrastructure is predicted to have positive benefits on the economy +

23. Employment Improved infrastructure is predicted to have positive benefits in relation to the retention and 
creation of jobs through better servicing the employment offer 

+

24. Tourism No direct predicted effects 0

25. Farm Diversification Improved infrastructure is predicted to improve opportunities for sustainable diversification of 
rural activity

+

26. Retail and Town Centres Improved infrastructure is predicted to improve the viability of the retail offer and 
attractiveness of Town Centre for the location of businesses

+

Page 270



Vital and viable retail centres

Summary Assessment Concentrating retail within defined areas will help to maintain the character of town centres and support the tourism sector, 
with associated spin-offs in other areas of the tourist economy.  An improved retail offering within the main towns will also 
help reduce the need to travel to other centres.  Positive impacts have been identified in relation to sustainable economic 
development objectives.

1. Climate Change Protecting and enabling retail uses appropriate to the size of the settlements will help to reduce the need to travel, 
both locally for everyday needs and also to access wider retail needs in the larger settlements within the Park.

+

2. Renewable Energy No direct predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk Site specific issue, areas of retail and town centres are located within areas of identified flood ?

4. Natural Resources No direct predicted effects 0

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

7. Historic 
Landscape and Built 
Heritage

Protection of the retail areas will help to maintain the character of town centres.
+

8. Cultural Heritage  The protection of town centres should contribute to retaining the character and „sense of place‟ of the identified 
retail centres.  Concern is raised in relation to the protection of retail outside of town centres, e.g. Village and Rural 
shops and the role these play within the cultural heritage of the area

?

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

No direct predicted effects 0

11. Sustainable Use 
of land

Concentrating provision of retail development within existing town centres should limit the requirement for the 
release of greenfield sites to service retail need

+

12. Sustainable 
Design

No direct effects predicted 0

13. Infrastructure No direct effects predicted 0

14. Transport Retail function is concentrated on those areas of the National Park best serviced by public transport.  +

15. Waste No direct effects predicted 0

16. Minerals No direct effects predicted 0

17. Housing No direct effects predicted 0

18. Affordable 
Housing

No direct effects predicted 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Strengthening town centres is considered to provide positive benefits towards well-being goals of cohesive 
communities.

+

20. Location of 
Growth

Retail function is concentrated on those areas of the park assessed to be most sustainable +

21. Strengthening 
Skills

No direct effects predicted 0

22. Economy Maintaining and enhancing the retail offering within the Park will help to provide opportunities for those working in the 
retail sector. In addition the provision of a strong and locally distinctive retail sector should have spin-offs in other 
areas of the local economy if it attracts more visitors to the Park

+

23. Employment Maintaining and enhancing the retail offering within the Park will help to provide opportunities for those working in the 
retail sector. In addition the provision of a strong and locally distinctive retail sector should have spin-offs in other 
areas of the local economy if it attracts more visitors to the Park

+

24. Tourism The provision of a strong and locally distinctive retail sector should have spin-offs in other areas of the local economy if 
it attracts more visitors to the Park to the benefit of the tourism economy.

+

25. Farm 
Diversification

Strengthening the retail economy within the National Park will provide opportunities for spin-off development as farm 
diversification

+

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Policy seeks to protect and enhance existing retail centres to the benefit of the future vibrancy and viability.  Policy 
does not address in of itself the need to support the evolution of town centres.

+

Page 271



Economic well-being

Summary 
Assessment

In summary it is considered that this policy will have an overall significant impact in the achievement of a range of SA objectives.  
Unsurprisingly significant benefits are identified in relation to the economy, employment tourism and farm diversification elements.  
However positive effects are identified in areas in relation to climate change and renewables.

Minor negative effects are predicted in relation to biodiversity and sustainable use of land, It is considered that the biodiversity strategic 
policy should provide mitigation necessary to address this identified issue.  

The LDP should develop detailed policy in relation to development in the countryside.

1. Climate 
Change

The policy encourages development in sustainable locations  supported by sustainable transport initiatives and promotes 
development forms within the 'green' economy

+

2. Renewable 
Energy

Policy provides for the development of appropriately scaled renewable energy schemes +

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural 
Resources 

no direct predicted effects 0

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Potential negative impacts arising from the siting of rural development.  -

7. Historic 
Landscape and 
Built Heritage

Policy requires development to be appropriate to the form of the character and landscape setting
+

8. Cultural 
Heritage

 No direct predicted effects 0

9. Landscape
10. Special 
Qualities

Policy requires development to be appropriate to the form of the character and landscape setting
+

11. Sustainable 
Use of land

potential requirement for the release of greenfield land to support rural enterprise, sustainable tourism and development 
serving 'green' economy

-

12. Sustainable 
Design

No direct predicted effects 0

13. Infrastructure Policy enables development within green services which could include provision of sustainable infrastructure +

14. Transport Policy seeks to concentrate new economic development within Primary and Key Settlements, best supported by sustainable 
transport

+

15. Waste No direct predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No direct predicted effects 0

17. Housing No direct predicted effects 0

18. Affordable 
Housing

No direct predicted effects 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Policy could result in positive benefits to community health and wellbeing regarding community cohesion and prosperity 
through increasing opportunities for 

0

20. Location of 
Growth

Policy provides economic  development to be located within sustainable settlements, or supported by sustainable transport +

21. Strengthening 
Skills

No direct predicted effects 0

22. Economy Policy enables development which will contribute directly to the development of the economy.  Options support both town 
based and rural development

++

23. Employment Policy enables development which would support and enhance the existing employment offer within the NP ++

24. Tourism Policy makes provision to support sustainable tourism ++

25. Farm 
Diversification

Policy supports farm diversification and farm shops ++

26. Retail and 
Town Centres

Policy supports development within town centres. Caution whether farm shops located outside of the towns will negatively 
impact in any meaningful way on retail function of town centre

?

Page 272



Farm diversification

Assessment 
Summary

In summary the assessment has determined that the effects this policy will have are largely site specific.

This suggests that detailed policy should be developed for the Deposit LDP, supported by detailed guidance on the implementation of a 
successful farm diversification scheme.  Ideally this should be developed in concert with NRW/Farming representatives.

Detailed policy in relation to Farm Diversification should specify the requirement to re-use existing buildings over the development of new 
structures where possible, and ensure that grouping of structures occurs where this is viable to the nature of the diversification.  

Emerging work in relation to farmyard characterisation should inform detailed policy development.

1. Climate 
Change

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development.  Mitigative policies in relation to climate change could 
address potential for negative impact. ?

2. Renewable 
Energy

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development.  Potentially farm diversification of the future may provide 
a range of renewable energy proposals. ?

3. Flood Risk Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development.  Mitigative policies in relation to flood risk could address 
potential for negative impact. ?

4. Natural 
Resources 

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development.  Mitigative policies in relation to natural resources could 
address potential for negative impact. ?

5.Geodiversity No direct effects predicted 0
6. Biodiversity Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development.  Mitigative policies in relation to biodiversity could 

address potential for negative impact. ?

7. Historic 
Landscape and 
Built Heritage

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development.  Mitigative policies in relation to the historic landscape 
could address potential for negative impact.  Where traditional vernacular farm buildings are brought back into positive use as 
part of the diversification proposal this could have a positive impact on achievement of the objective.

?

8. Cultural 
Heritage

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development. Potential benefits to the support of traditional farming 
communities ?

9. Landscape
10. Special 
qualities

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development. Potential negative impacts in relation to landscape 
through new development in open countryside, however re-use of traditional buildings could have positive impacts on these 
objectives.

?

11. Sustainable 
Use of land

Potentially this policy will require the release of green field sites in open countryside contrary to the aims of this objective. -

12. Sustainable 
Design

Site specific dependent on the nature and location of the development. ?

13. 
Infrastructure

No direct effects predicted 0

14. Transport The rural nature of most farming enterprises means that implementation of this policy will most likely increase the use of private 
car use. -

15. Waste No direct effects predicted 0
16. Minerals No direct effects predicted 0
17. Housing No direct effects predicted 0
18. Affordable 
Housing

No direct effects predicted 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Potentially policy will support the viability and wellbeing of farming communities +

20. Location of 
Growth

It is very likely that enabling development through this policy will require development in countryside locations, contrary to the 
objectives of this policy. -

21. 
Strengthening 
Skills

Opportunities to diversify the rural economy will build and diversify the skills base within the area.
+

22. Economy Provides opportunities to provide positive support to the rural economy, diversification lending to overall resilience. +
23. 
Employment

Policy implementation could result in the preservation of farm workers in struggling farming units, and potentially create 
employment opportunities. +

24. Tourism Diversification and tourism are heavily intertwined.  Policy provides support to grow the tourism industry +
25. Farm 
Diversification

Policy provides significant opportunities to meet this objective ++

26. Retail and 
Town Centres

No direct effects predicted 0

Page 273



Sustainable tourism

Summary 
Assessment 

Development of the tourism sector will help support the park’s economy and promote the vitality of some settlements 
thereby having a positive effects against social objectives.  However the increase in visitor numbers could have adverse effects 
in terms of climate change, natural resources.  Similarly the pressure tourism development can have on the existing housing 
market is identified

Mitigative policy relating to local needs housing within the Deposit LDP could address some of the adverse social impacts identified.

1. Climate Change Uncertain effects predicted, likely to be an increase in GHG emissions as a result of increased visitors traveling to the 
area by public car. 

?

2. Renewable Energy No predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk Unknown effects, large areas of the NP are within the NRW flood zone, will require policy specific to avoidance of 
flood risk to avoid any future negative impact

?

4. Natural Resources Potential negative impacts from increases on tourism numbers leading to soil erosion and increased emissions -

5.Geodiversity No predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Increased visitor numbers may lead to increased disturbance of habitats, however policy seeks to ensure future 
development proposals take place without impact on wildlife

?

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Potential negative impacts on Historic Landscapes and Built Heritage are considered and mitigated for within the 
policy. 

0

8. Cultural Heritage Potential negative impacts on cultural heritage recognised within policy and accounted for. 0

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Potential negative impacts on Historic Landscapes and Built Heritage are considered and mitigated for within the 
policy. 

0

11. Sustainable Use 
of land

The policy may result in the release of greenfield sites to support tourism development especially in outlying 
settlements.

-

12. Sustainable 
Design

no predicted effects 0

13. Infrastructure No predicted effects 0

14. Transport Policy aims at providing development in accordance with needs of tourism, does not relate superficially to that being 
accessible by sustainable transport.  These two may not necessarily be compatible.  Other policies in the plan may 
provide mitigation for identified negative impacts

?

15. Waste no predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No predicted effects 0

17. Housing Potential negative effects from increasing tourism numbers putting pressure on existing (and new) houses for tourism 
accommodation

-

18. Affordable 
Housing

Increasing visitor numbers will overly inflate the housing market leading to greater levels of need for affordable 
housing.

-

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Increasing opportunities for visitors through development of attractions, opening up access etc., will also provide 
benefit to resident communities’ health and wellbeing.  

+

20. Location of 
Growth

Policy aims to contribute towards the vitality of local communities through provision of development that would 
contribute to sustainable economic development.  Policy does require that future development respects Purposes. 
However policy does not limit such development to locations defined by LDP as sustainable

?

21. Strengthening 
Skills

Increase of visitor numbers as envisioned through this policy position should lead to a need for a skilled workforce to 
service the provision.

+

22. Economy Policy is aimed at supporting a flourishing tourism economy in the park ++

23. Employment Policy should result in the creation of additional jobs within sustainable tourism ++

24. Tourism Policy enables the development of proposals to increase opportunities for understanding and enjoyment of the park 
without harm to the special qualities for which the Park was designated.  It is considered that the policy goes some 
way to support a sustainable tourism within the NP.

++

25. Farm 
Diversification

Policy supports appropriately scaled development for tourism accommodation.  Past applications for farm 
diversification schemes seem to focus on tourism development as an achievable diversification development.

+

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Policy aims at increasing visitor numbers in a manner appropriate to the National Park which should have a positive 
impact on the future vitality and viability of our Town Centres.

++

Page 274



Employment land requirement

Summary Assessment In summary this policy is considered to have significant positive effects in relation to Economy and Employment 
objectives. With a range of other positive effects identified through the benefits allocation of land for employment 
could bring.

There are uncertain effects in relation to retail and town centre, and this could be mitigated in terms of ensuring that 
employment land is reserved for those uses that benefit from an out of town centre location, without impacting on 
retail health of the town centres.  Monitoring should be developed in relation to this element for LDP2, and regular 
updates to the ELR undertaken.

1. Climate Change Impacts largely dependent on the uses that come forward on the allocations ?

2. Renewable Energy Impacts largely dependent on the uses that come forward on the allocations.  ?

3. Flood Risk Site dependent ?

4. Natural Resources Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward on the development land.  Other policies within the 
plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

5.Geodiversity No predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

7. Historic Landscape and 
Built Heritage

Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

8. Cultural Heritage Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact.  Positive impacts are identified if 
some of the development land within the requirement is provided in smaller communities

?

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

11. Sustainable Use of land Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

12. Sustainable Design Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward ?

13. Infrastructure No predicted effects 0

14. Transport Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

15. Waste No predicted effects 0

16. Minerals No predicted effects 0

17. Housing Level of employment land identified is considered to be supported by the level of housing within the plan.  
This will go some way to providing for vibrant and viable communities

+

18. Affordable Housing No predicted effects 0

19. Health and Wellbeing Additional employment land will contribute to well-being goals around prosperity +

20. Location of Growth Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impact

?

21. Strengthening Skills Additional employment land could potentially provide opportunities around on the job training linked to 
government objectives around increasing numbers of apprenticeships.

+

22. Economy Level of employment land identified meets the future employment needs of the National Park as quantified in 
the 2017 ELR, which is predicted to sustain and enhance the economic performance of the NP

++

23. Employment Level of employment land identified meets the future employment needs of the National Park as quantified in 
the 2017 ELR

++

24. Tourism No predicted effects (may be indirect benefits) 0

25. Farm Diversification Employment land may support the future diversification of the rural economy +

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Impacts dependent on the proposals that come forward and location of the development land.  Other 
policies within the plan could potentially mitigate for any adverse impacts.

?

Page 275



Safeguarding existing employment site 

Summary Assessment The protective nature of this policy is predicted having positive and significant positive impacts on objectives relating to 
sustainable economic development.

1. Climate Change Policy seeks to retain the location and extent of existing employment uses.  Therefore there are no direct 
environmental benefits or negative impacts identified.

0

2. Renewable Energy Policy seeks to retain the location and extent of existing employment uses.  Therefore there are no direct 
environmental benefits or negative impacts identified.

0

3. Flood Risk Some of the sites are located within the C2 flood zone as identified by NRW ?

4. Natural Resources Policy seeks to retain the location and extent of existing employment uses.  Therefore there are no direct 
environmental benefits or negative impacts identified.

0

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Policy seeks to retain the location and extent of existing employment uses.  Therefore there are no direct 
environmental benefits or negative impacts identified.

0

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Policy seeks to retain the location and extent of existing employment uses.  Therefore there are no direct 
environmental benefits or negative impacts identified.

0

8. Cultural Heritage No direct predicted effects 0

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Policy seeks to retain the location and extent of existing employment uses.  Therefore there are no direct 
environmental benefits or negative impacts identified.

0

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

Policy position seeks to protect existing areas of development for the provision of Employment land.  Position 
will contribute positively to the achievement of this objective

+

12. Sustainable Design Policy will not in of itself contribute to the delivery of this objective. 0

13. Infrastructure Providing certainty for the location of employment uses is predicted to have benefits for future infrastructure 
provision, through providing certainty of location and density of employment uses.

+

14. Transport All existing sites are in settlements with the best provision of public transport.  +

15. Waste Safeguarding existing uses will support existing local waste facilities +

16. Minerals no predicted effects 0

17. Housing Policy doesn't directly support this objective, however indirect benefits are predicted on the viability of future 
housing schemes if existing employment uses are safeguarded, protecting future markets from workers etc.

+

18. Affordable Housing No direct predicted effects 0

19. Health and Wellbeing Safeguarding existing uses could help support job security which will have positive impacts on resident workers 
mental and physical wellbeing

+

20. Location of Growth Existing sites are located in settlements assessed to be the most sustainable locations +

21. Strengthening Skills Safeguarding employment land potentially could lead to the retention of families and young people contributing 
to the viability of retaining schools and HE facilities within the locality

+

22. Economy Policy will ensure that current economic activity is protected and maintained during the plan period ++

23. Employment Policy aimed at protecting employment levels into the future. ++

24. Tourism No direct predicted effects 0

25. Farm Diversification No direct predicted effects 0

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

All existing sites contain some element of retail.  The extent which this impacts on the existing retail centre is 
not known.  Policy implementation should be monitored into the future to ensure no new retail occurs 

?

Page 276



Renewable energy

Summary 
Assessment

This policy has been predicted to have positive effects against SA/SEA objectives on greenhouse emissions.  There is 
uncertainty related to whether hydro power will impact on water resources, quality, and biodiversity, the local and historic 
environment due to the visual impacts that may result from the installation of renewable energy equipment.

Detailed policy should address these potential concerns. 

1. Climate Change Policy aims at supporting the development of schemes to support community energy schemes.  This is predicted 
to have positive impacts in relation to future resilience to climate change. The limitation of scale will potentially 
prevent more viable schemes being developed.

+

2. Renewable Energy Policy aims at supporting appropriately scaled renewable energy schemes.  The limitation of scale will potentially 
prevent more viable schemes being developed.

+

3. Flood Risk Potential changes in water flow (and future flood risk) as a result in increased Hydro schemes emerging through 
policy position 

?

4. Natural Resources Some toenail impacts identified in relation to impacts on water from new hydro schemes impacting on abstraction, 
flow and minor changes to water quality

-

5.Geodiversity No predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity Potential negative impacts on biodiversity, e.g. Hydro schemes and fish migration patterns -

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Potential negative impacts from the development of renewable energy schemes on Historic Landscape and Built 
Heritage as schemes are potential incongruous in form with traditional development.  Impacts are limited to a 
certain degree from the restrictions in scale the policy asserts

-

8. Cultural Heritage Proposals for community level development may help ensure sustainability of communities into the future +

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Some potential negative impacts arising from new renewable energy development within the landscape, although 
impacts are mitigated to a significant degree from restrictions in scale asserted by the policy.

-

11. Sustainable Use 
of land

Policy is very likely to result in the release of greenfield sites in areas away from Primary and Key Settlements -

12. Sustainable 
Design

Policy aims to improve the energy efficiency of whole communities, but may not of itself have any direct impact on 
the sustainability of all future development

0

13. Infrastructure Policy could bring about improvements to infrastructure, especially in relation to CHP etc. +

14. Transport No predicted effects 0

15. Waste Potential increase in energy from waste facilities to serve community CHP as a result of this policy +

16. Minerals No predicted effects 0

17. Housing Policy seeks to encourage community master planning which could through its action improve social cohesion +

18. Affordable 
Housing

Community level renewable energy schemes should improve the affordability of occupation +

19. Health and 
Wellbeing 

Community level renewable energy schemes should go some way to meeting well-being goals for our resident 
communities

+

20. Location of 
Growth

Policy does not limit development to sustainable locations.  It is considered that it will have direct benefit to the 
vibrancy and vitality of local communities that take up energy planning/community scale schemes

+

21. Strengthening 
Skills

Increase in renewable energy provision within the NP will require a skilled work force to install and service the 
development

+

22. Economy Increase in renewable energy provision within the NP will boost economic performance of NP, both through 
energy generation and installation of the schemes

+

23. Employment Policy could generate additional employment in renewable energy sectors within the NP to install and service such 
developments.

+

24. Tourism Policy could provide opportunities for existing tourism facilities to install Renewable Energy systems making these 
businesses more sustainable into the future

+

25. Farm 
Diversification

Policy unlocks opportunity for farm diversification schemes around energy generation. +

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

Increase in the provision of renewable energy options within the NP may help reduce running costs for existing 
retailers and businesses located within Town Centres, increasing future viability

+

Page 277



Waste

Summary Assessment Due to the generally restrictive nature of this policy, it has been assessed as having either positive or neutral 
effects against the range and majority of objectives.  Allowing for the provision of local waste facilities will reduce 
the distance that certain waste streams will need to be transported for processing and will also encourage the up-
take in recycling.  The requirement that all development will need to provide for recycling directly supports the 
SA objective on natural resources, waste and the circular economy.

1. Climate Change No direct predicted effects 0

2. Renewable Energy No direct predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk No direct predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources Policy assertion that no new provision for regional waste facilities is considered to remain status quo in 
terms of impacts on natural resources from waste management

0

5.Geodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

6. Biodiversity No direct predicted effects 0

7. Historic Landscape and Built 
Heritage

No direct predicted effects 0

8. Cultural Heritage No direct predicted effects 0

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Policy assertion that no new provision for regional waste facilities is considered to have positive impacts 
on the landscape and special qualities

+

11. Sustainable Use of land no direct predicted effects 0

12. Sustainable Design Policy requires all new development to demonstrate sustainable management of waste, through 
reduction and recycling

+

13. Infrastructure No direct predicted effects 0

14. Transport restriction of scale of facilities provided within the park has the potential for the transportation of waste 
outside of the area, potentially increasing the need for fossil fuel based transport

?

15. Waste Policy requires all new development to demonstrate sustainable management of waste, through 
reduction and recycling

++

16. Minerals Policy promotes the recycling of all materials this could equally apply to mineral resources in 
development

+

17. Housing No direct predicted effects 0

18. Affordable Housing No direct predicted effects 0

19. Health and Wellbeing No direct predicted effects 0

20. Location of Growth No direct predicted effects 0

21. Strengthening Skills No direct predicted effects 0

22. Economy Policy should encourage resource efficiency in design and operation of businesses, thus improving viability 
of economic development

+

23. Employment Policy should encourage resource efficiency in design and operation of businesses, thus improving viability 
of existing and future jobs

+

24. Tourism Policy will improve the resource efficiency of the tourism industry +

25. Farm Diversification Policy will improve the resource efficiency of future farm diversification projects adding to their 
sustainability and financial viability

+

26. Retail and Town Centres Policy will improve the resource efficiency of retail and town centre development +

Page 278



Minerals

Summary Assessment The generally restrictive nature of these policies means that the effects that have been predicted are largely neutral or 
positive.  There is uncertainty against the geodiversity objective as minerals workings can result in important geodiversity 
‘find’.  

1. Climate Change Encouraging local supply where that sustainability benefits will reduce the need for large-scale importing of mineral 
products, therefore reducing GHG emissions associated with fossil fuel based transport.

+

2. Renewable Energy No predicted effects 0

3. Flood Risk No predicted effects 0

4. Natural Resources Safeguarding mineral resources from sterilisation will make them available for extraction by future generations. 
Supporting the provision and use of secondary and recycled aggregates will help to reduce the demand for primary 
aggregates and directly support this objective.

++

5.Geodiversity Restrictions on mineral extraction will mean that there are limited opportunities for geodiversity
features to become exposed. However to counter this, areas of high geodiversity value will be
protected from damage that could be caused by new or continued extraction.

?

6. Biodiversity Only development with proven sustainability benefits will be enabled through this policy.  Negative impacts from 
new quarrying is accounted for within the policy.

0

7. Historic Landscape 
and Built Heritage

Potential negative impacts from new quarrying for local stone accounted for within policy. Potential benefits from 
having local stone available may contribute significantly to the conservation and enhancement of built heritage

+

8. Cultural Heritage Only development with proven sustainability benefits will be enabled through this policy.  Negative impacts from 
new quarrying is accounted for within the policy.

0

9. Landscape
10. Special Qualities

Only development with proven sustainability benefits will be enabled through this policy.  Negative impacts from 
new quarrying is accounted for within the policy.

0

11. Sustainable Use of 
land

Potential for development of  greenfield land to provide local stone -

12. Sustainable Design No predicted effects 0

13. Infrastructure No predicted effects 0

14. Transport Local stone quarrying will reduce the need to transport minerals from outside of the National Park, therefore 
reducing distance travelled by large fossil fuel powered vehicles.

+

15. Waste +

16. Minerals Policy safeguards existing mineral reserves, although will result in likely increase (albeit at small scale and where 
proven sustainability benefits) of mineral operations within the park

?

17. Housing No predicted effects 0

18. Affordable Housing No predicted effects 0

19. Health and 
Wellbeing

Potential impacts from new quarrying for local stone accounted for within policy. 0

20. Location of Growth Only development with proven sustainability benefits will be enabled through this policy.  Negative impacts from 
new quarrying is accounted for within the policy.

0

21. Strengthening 
Skills

Increases in opportunities for local stone quarrying may provide opportunities for locally based on the job training. +

22. Economy Opportunities for new or extended quarrying for local stone extraction could have a positive impact on the 
mineral industry within the Park

+

23. Employment Opportunities for new or extended quarrying for local stone extraction could have a positive impact on the 
mineral industry within the Park providing job creation within this area.

+

24. Tourism New quarrying at any scale could affect the attractiveness of the area for future tourism. ?

25. Farm 
Diversification

Potential opportunities for farm diversification in relation to the recovery and processing of mineral products +

26. Retail and Town 
Centres

No predicted effects 0

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 281



CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY i

1 INTRODUCTION 1

2 SCOPING 1

2 SCREENING 2

3 FUTURE WORK 3

APPENDICES 
 Appendix A: the conservation objectives of European 

Sites 
 Appendix B: the condition of each of the designated 

features of the sites
 Appendix C: information on the range of mobile 

designated features 
 Appendix D: issues relevant to site condition
 Appendix E: plans and projects, considered for their 

potential to have in combination effects
 Appendix F: initial screening assessment

Page 282



i

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The EU Habitats and Wild Birds Directives1, aim to protect and improve Europe’s most important 
habitats and species. They primarily achieve this by requiring: 

 The designation and protection of a network of land and marine habitats (“European sites”), and; 
 The protection of certain animals and plants of European importance (“European protected species” 

or “EPS”) and all naturally occurring wild birds. These species are referred to as “protected species”.

The Directives are mainly transposed in Wales by the “Habitats Regulations”2 and the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 19813. 

Of relevance to the emerging Local Development Plan (LDP), the Habitats Regulations require the 
assessment of “plans or projects” that may have a “likely significant effect” on a European site. 

When undertaking the assessment, the Directives require a precautionary approach, if there is doubt 
about the impacts of proposed activities, precautionary decisions should be taken to protect relevant 
sites and species. The absence of information is not a basis to assume no negative effect.

Ultimately, the LDP may be adopted if the National Park Authority (NPA) can objectively state the 
plan will not have an “adverse effect on the integrity of a European site”. If the plan or project will 
have adverse effects, or if there is uncertainty over its effects, it can only be adopted if certain 
“derogations” apply and compensatory measures are adopted which ensure the coherence of the 
network of European sites is protected.

A full background is provided in the European Union’s Natura 2000 and spatial planning (August 2017)4.

This initial screening report acts to identify the potential focus of an appropriate assessment of the 
Deposit LDP.

1 Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and 
flora (“the Habitats Directive”) and Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds (“the Wild Birds Directive”).
2 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).
3 Part 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“WCA”) (as amended) primarily transposes the species 
protection requirements of the Wild Birds Directive in England and Wales.
4http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/knowledge/pdf/Natura_2000_and_spatial_planning_final_for_publicati
on.pdf

Page 283



1

1.0 INTRODUCTION  

1.1 The Habitats Regulations require a stepwise, iterative approach, to the assessment of emerging 
plans, such as the LDP. Put simply, at each formal stage of consultation on the LDP, screening 
followed by an appropriate assessment, where necessary, is required. The report details the 
approach and findings of the initial screening of the emerging LDP preferred strategy. It will 
be undertaken again as the full draft “Deposit” LDP is being prepared. 

1.2 This report considers the question - can “likely5 significant6 effects” (LSE) of the emerging LDP 
(alone or combined with other plans or projects) on one or more European site(s) be ruled 
out?

1.3 This determination must be made on a precautionary basis, and the LDP must be assumed to 
have a likely significant effect unless such effects can be ruled out.

1.4 If the answer to the above question is no, then the NPA will have to undertake what is known 
as an ‘appropriate assessment’ to inform its determination on whether the Deposit LDP will 
adversely affect the integrity7 of those European sites for which “likely significant effects” 
cannot be ruled out.

2.0 SCOPING

2.1 To reach the likely significant effect decision, the NPA must assess the likely effects of the plan 
or project on a European site. An “effect” includes anything which would impact upon a 
European site. Temporary, permanent, direct and indirect effects need to be considered. 

2.2 To inform this decision, the NPA, as the responsible authority, has:

a) Identified European sites within 15km of the plan area 
b) Identified the conservation objectives, designated features and condition of these sites
c) Identified other plans or projects which could give rise to in combination effects.

2.3 The following European sites are located either wholly or partially within the Brecon Beacons 
National Park.

 Blaen Cynon Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
 Brecon Beacons SAC
 Coed Y Cerrig SAC
 Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC
 Cwm Cadlan SAC
 Cym Clydach Woodlands SAC
 Llangorse Lake/ Lyn Syfaddan SAC
 River Usk SAC
 River Wye SAC

5 European case law has interpreted the threshold of “likelihood” of significant effects at a low level. 
Accordingly, a plan or project must be considered to be “likely to have a significant effect” where, “it cannot 
be excluded on the basis of objective information that the plan or project will have significant effects on the 
site concerned”. Paragraph 44 of Case C-127/02 (Waddenzee).
6 European case law has ruled that the question of whether an effect would be “significant” is linked to the 
site’s conservation objectives. Paragraphs 46-48 of Case C-127/02 (Waddenzee). A plan or project with effects 
which do not impact on a European site’s conservation objectives would not be considered to be “significant” 
for the purpose of this decision.
7 Integrity is described as the sites’ coherence, ecological structure and function across the whole area that 
enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or levels of populations of species for which it was 
classified (ODPM, 2005). 

Page 284



2

 Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC
 Usk Bat Sites SAC.

2.4 The following European sites are located outside but, either wholly or partially, within 15km 
of the Brecon Beacons National Park.

 Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC
 Cernydd Carmel SAC
 Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen SAC
 Drostre Bank SAC
 Mynydd Eppynt SAC
 Rhos Goch SAC
 River Tywi SAC.

2.5 The Habitats Regulations Assessment of the existing Local Development Plan8 scoped twelve 
European sites scoped into the Screening Assessment (all of those in para. 2.4 above plus the 
River Tywi SAC in para. 2.5 above) and ultimately identified that there was potential for likely 
significant effects at five European sites [Blaen Cynon SAC, Llangorse Lake SAC, River Usk 
SAC, River Wye SAC and Usk Bat Sites SAC]. However, the recent ‘People over wind’ ruling9 
has established that mitigation cannot be taken into account when considering the screening 
test for likely significant effects and so for this iteration of the LDP, all of the sites have been 
scoped into the initial screening assessment. 

3.0 SCREENING

3.1 Where available, the following information has informed the initial screening of the preferred 
strategy of the LDP:

 the conservation objectives (Appendix A) 
 the condition of each of the designated features of the sites (Appendix B)
 information on the designated features and habitats (Appendix C) 
 issues relevant to site condition (Appendix D)
 plans and projects, considered for their potential to have in combination effects (Appendix 

E). 

3.2 Two key questions have informed the screening of the preferred strategy:

A. Does the strategy direct a quantum or type of development towards, or encourage development 
in, a European site or an area where development may indirectly affect a European site?

B. Does the strategy facilitate development, the location of which is unknown, but which could be 
within a European site or an area where development may indirectly affect a European site?

3.3 The NPA recognises that “in combination” effects may mean that likely significant effects 
cannot be ruled out even though the preferred strategy, by itself, would not have a significant 
effect. 

3.4 The initial screening assessment is contained in Appendix F. On the basis of objective 
information, likely significant effects of the preferred strategy cannot be ruled out on any of 
the following European sites.

 Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC

8 Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report Deposit LDP, Enfusion & C4S (September 2010)
9 Court of Justice of the European Union ruling in the Case C323/17 (13/04/2018)

Page 285

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf;jsessionid=9ea7d2dc30dd4a0be052f3b04c09819ffb09262871e7.e34KaxiLc3qMb40Rch0SaxyNbxn0?text=&docid=200970&pageIndex=0&doclang=EN&mode=req&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=636343


3

 Blaen Cynon SAC
 Brecon Beacons SAC
 Cernydd Carmel SAC
 Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC
 Coed Y Cerrig SAC
 Cwm Cadlan SAC
 Cym Clydach Woodlands SAC
 Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen SAC
 Drostre Bank SAC
 Llangorse Lake/ Lyn Syfaddan SAC
 Mynydd Eppynt SAC
 River Usk SAC
 River Wye SAC
 Rhos Goch SAC
 River Tywi SAC
 Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC
 Usk Bat Sites SAC

4.0 FUTURE WORK

4.1 Following consultation on the preferred strategy, the NPA will undertake this screening again 
and will, where necessary, prepare an appropriate assessment to determine whether the 
Deposit LDP, alone or in combination with other plans or projects, will adversely affect the 
integrity of any of the European sites identified in paragraph 3.4 above. 

Page 286



1

Appendix A - the conservation objectives

Designated site 
with link to 
Natura 2000 
standard data 
form

Designation Primary Broad 
Natura 2000 
Category

Secondary Natura 
2000 category(ies)

Core 
management 
plan/ 
conservation 
objectives (link)

Aberbargoed 
Grasslands

SAC Grassland/heathland Link

Blaen Cynon SAC Grassland/heathland Bog Link
Brecon Beacons SAC Upland Grassland/heathland Link
Cernydd 
Carmel

SAC Grassland/heathland Bog Link

Coedydd Nedd 
a Mellte 

SAC Grassland/heathland Woodland Link

Coed y Cerrig SAC Alluvial forest Link
Cwm Cadlan SAC Grassland/heathland Bog Link
Cwm Doeithe 
Mynydd Mallaen

SAC Woodland Grassland/heathland Link

Cwm Clydach 
Woodlands 

SAC Woodland Grassland/heathland Link

Drostre Bank SAC Grassland/heathland 
Woodland 

Grassland/heathland 
Woodland 

Link

Llangorse Lake/ 
Llyn Syfaddan 

SAC Lake Link

Mynydd Eppynt SAC Upland Link
River Usk SAC Riparian Link
River Wye SAC Riparian Bog Link
Sugar Loaf 
Woodlands 

SAC Woodland Link

Usk Bat Sites SAC Bats Grassland/heathland, 
Bogs, Upland

Link

Rhos Goch SAC Bog Grassland Link
River Tywi SAC Riparian Link

An indication of the conservation objectives within the core management plans is provided below. 

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site 
contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by maintaining 
or restoring:

 The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and habitats of qualifying species. 
 The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural habitats.
 The structure and function of the habitats of qualifying species. 
 The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and the habitats of qualifying 

species rely.
 The populations of qualifying species. 
 The distribution of qualifying species within the site.

Page 287

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030071.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030071.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/670637/Aberbargoed%20Grasslands%20Core%20SAC%20plan%20jan08.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0030092
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671043/Brecon%20Beacons%20SAC%20plan%20_Eng_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030096.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671043/Brecon%20Beacons%20SAC%20plan%20_Eng_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030070.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030070.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671239/Cernydd%20Carmel%20SAC%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030141.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030141.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671444/Coedydd%20Nedd%20a%20Mellte%20SAC%20plan%2018%20April%202008%20_English_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012766.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671319/Coed%20y%20Cerrig%20%20SAC%20%20Management%20Plan%20_English_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013585
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675014/cwm-cadlan-sac-plan-english.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030128.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030127.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030127.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675017/cwm-clydach-sac-plan-english.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012878.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/671765/Drostre%20Bank%20SAC%20Plan%20Jan%2008%20_A_.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-screening-report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-screening-report.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/672671/Llangorse%20lake%20core%20management%20plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030221.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673042/Mynydd%20Epynt%20SAC%20%20Management%20Plan%20April%202008%20_English_A_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0013007.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673384/River_Usk%20SAC%20core%20plan.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0012642.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/673364/River%20Wye%20SAC%20Core%20Management%20Plan%20approved.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030072.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0030072.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/674063/Sugar_Loaf_Woodlands_core_management_plan_Mar_2008%20_A_.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0014784.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/674281/Usk%20Bat%20Sites%20Management%20Plan%20Feb%2008.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/n2kforms/UK0014792.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/682684/rhos-goch-sac-core-management-plan-english.pdf
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013010
https://naturalresources.wales/media/670732/Afon_Tywi_-_Man%20Plan%20English.pdf


1

Appendix B - the condition of each of the designated features of the sites (bold indicates a priority habitat).

Site Name Site Code Site 
Type Grid Ref Feature name (formal) Feature name (informal) Broad 

environment
Feature 
Type Feature category Feature condition: Most recent 

assessment
Date of 

most recent 
assessment

Aberbargoed Grasslands UK0030071 SAC ST163992
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia (R) Marsh fritillary butterfly. (R) Terrestrial Species Butterflies Unfavourable: Un-classified May-09

Aberbargoed Grasslands UK0030071 SAC ST163992

Molinia meadows on calcareous, 
peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils 
(Molinion caeruleae) Purple moor-grass meadows. Terrestrial Habitat

Fen, marsh and 
swamp Unfavourable: Un-classified Jun-14

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Alosa (R) Allis shad. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified May-12

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Lampetra planeri (R) Brook lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-11

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Cottus gobio (R) Bullhead. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Lutra lutra (R) Otter. (R) Freshwater Species Mammals Favourable: Maintained Mar-10

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Lampetra fluviatilis (R) River lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-11

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Petromyzon marinus (R) Sea lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-11

Afon Tywi/ River Tywi UK0013010 SAC SN687263 Alosa fallax (R) Twaite shad. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified May-12

Blaen Cynon UK0030092 SAC SN946066
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, Hypodryas) 
aurinia (R) Marsh fritillary butterfly. (R) Terrestrial Species Butterflies Unfavourable: Un-classified Sep-08

Brecon Beacons/ Bannau Brycheiniog UK0030096 SAC SO024211 European dry heaths Dry heaths. Terrestrial Habitat Dwarf shrub heath Unfavourable: Un-classified Jul-10

Brecon Beacons/ Bannau Brycheiniog UK0030096 SAC SO024211
Calcareous rocky slopes with 
chasmophytic vegetation

Plants in crevices in base-rich 
rocks. Terrestrial Habitat Inland rock Unfavourable: Un-classified Jul-10

Brecon Beacons/ Bannau Brycheiniog UK0030096 SAC SO024211
Siliceous rocky slopes with 
chasmophytic vegetation Plants in crevices on acid rocks. Terrestrial Habitat Inland rock Unfavourable: Un-classified Jul-10

Brecon Beacons/ Bannau Brycheiniog UK0030096 SAC SO024211

Hydrophilous tall herb fringe 
communities of plains and of the 
montane to alpine levels Tall herb communities. Terrestrial Habitat Inland rock Unfavourable: Un-classified Jul-10

Cernydd Carmel UK0030070 SAC SN592161 Active raised bogs Active raised bogs. Terrestrial Habitat Bogs Unfavourable: Un-classified Jul-16

Cernydd Carmel UK0030070 SAC SN592161 European dry heaths Dry heaths. Terrestrial Habitat Dwarf shrub heath Destroyed: Partially Jul-16

Cernydd Carmel UK0030070 SAC SN592161
Northern Atlantic wet heaths 
with Erica tetralix

Wet heathland with cross-
leaved heath. Terrestrial Habitat Dwarf shrub heath Destroyed: Partially Sep-16

P
age 288



2

Cernydd Carmel UK0030070 SAC SN592161
Tilio-Acerion forests of 
slopes, screes and ravines

Mixed woodland on base-
rich soils associated with 
rocky slopes. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Favourable: Un-classified Jul-13

Cernydd Carmel UK0030070 SAC SN592161 Turloughs Turloughs. Freshwater Habitat
Standing open 
water and canals Favourable: Un-classified Sep-11

Coed y Cerrig UK0012766 SAC SO291210

Alluvial forests with Alnus 
glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior 
(Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, 
Salicion albae)

Alder woodland on 
floodplains. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Favourable: Maintained May-12

Coedydd Nedd a Mellte UK0030141 SAC SN919093
Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, 
screes and ravines

Mixed woodland on base-rich 
soils associated with rocky 
slopes. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Unfavourable: Un-classified Sep-16

Coedydd Nedd a Mellte UK0030141 SAC SN919093
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and 
Blechnum in the British Isles Western acidic oak woodland. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, mixed 
and yew woodland Unfavourable: Un-classified Sep-16

Cwm Cadlan UK0013585 SAC SN961098 Alkaline fens Calcium-rich springwater-fed fens. Terrestrial Habitat
Fen, marsh and 
swamp Unfavourable: Un-classified Sep-16

Cwm Cadlan UK0013585 SAC SN961098

Molinia meadows on calcareous, 
peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils 
(Molinion caeruleae) Purple moor-grass meadows. Terrestrial Habitat

Fen, marsh and 
swamp Unfavourable: Declining Sep-16

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / Coedydd 
Cwm Clydach UK0030127 SAC SO207123

Atlantic acidophilous beech forests 
with Ilex and sometimes also Taxus in 
the shrublayer (Quercion robori-
petraeae or Ilici-Fagenion) Beech forests on acid soils. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, mixed 
and yew woodland Favourable: Maintained Jul-15

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / Coedydd 
Cwm Clydach UK0030127 SAC SO207123 Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests

Beech forests on neutral to rich 
soils. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, mixed 
and yew woodland Favourable: Maintained Jul-15

Cwm Doethie – Mynydd Mallaen UK0030128 SAC SN747458 European dry heaths Dry heaths. Terrestrial Habitat Dwarf shrub heath Unfavourable: Recovering Sep-12

Cwm Doethie – Mynydd Mallaen UK0030128 SAC SN747458
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and 
Blechnum in the British Isles Western acidic oak woodland. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, mixed 
and yew woodland Unfavourable: Un-classified Aug-12

Drostre Bank UK0012878 SAC SO096312

Alluvial forests with Alnus 
glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior 
(Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, 
Salicion albae)

Alder woodland on 
floodplains. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Favourable: Maintained Jun-15

Drostre Bank UK0012878 SAC SO096312

Molinia meadows on calcareous, 
peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils 
(Molinion caeruleae) Purple moor-grass meadows. Terrestrial Habitat

Fen, marsh and 
swamp Unfavourable: Un-classified Jun-15

Llangorse Lake/ Llyn Syfaddan UK0012985 SAC SO131262

Natural eutrophic lakes with 
Magnopotamion or Hydrocharition-
type vegetation

Naturally nutrient-rich lakes or 
lochs which are often dominated 
by pondweed. Freshwater Habitat

Standing open water 
and canals Unfavourable: No-change Aug-11

Mynydd Epynt UK0030221 SAC SN883400
Drepanocladus (Hamatocaulis) 
vernicosus (R) Slender green feather-moss. (R) Terrestrial Species Non-vascular Plants Favourable: Un-classified Aug-09

Rhos Goch UK0014792 SAC SO197483 Active raised bogs Active raised bogs. Terrestrial Habitat Bogs Unfavourable: No-change Aug-15

Rhos Goch UK0014792 SAC SO197483

Alluvial forests with Alnus 
glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior 
(Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, 
Salicion albae)

Alder woodland on 
floodplains. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Favourable: Maintained Sep-14

Rhos Goch UK0014792 SAC SO197483 Bog woodland Bog woodland. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Favourable: Recovered Sep-14

P
age 289



3

Rhos Goch UK0014792 SAC SO197483

Molinia meadows on calcareous, 
peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils 
(Molinion caeruleae) Purple moor-grass meadows. Terrestrial Habitat

Fen, marsh and 
swamp Favourable: Un-classified Jun-14

Rhos Goch UK0014792 SAC SO197483 Transition mires and quaking bogs
Very wet mires often identified by 
an unstable `quaking` surface. Terrestrial Habitat

Fen, marsh and 
swamp Unfavourable: No-change Jul-15

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Alosa alosa (R) Allis shad. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Salmo salar (R) Atlantic salmon. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Lampetra planeri (R) Brook lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Nov-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Cottus gobio (R) Bullhead. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Lutra lutra (R) Otter. (R) Freshwater Species Mammals Favourable: Recovered Mar-10

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Lampetra fluviatilis (R) River lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Nov-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182

Water courses of plain to montane 
levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis 
and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation

Rivers with floating vegetation 
often dominated by water-
crowfoot. Freshwater Habitat Rivers & streams Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Petromyzon marinus (R) Sea lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Nov-12

River Usk/ Afon Wysg UK0013007 SAC SO214182 Alosa fallax (R) Twaite shad. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Alosa alosa (R) Allis shad. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Salmo salar (R) Atlantic salmon. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Lampetra planeri (R) Brook lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Cottus gobio (R) Bullhead. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Dec-16

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Lutra lutra (R) Otter. (R) Freshwater Species Mammals Favourable: Recovered Mar-10

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Lampetra fluviatilis (R) River lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368

Water courses of plain to montane 
levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis 
and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation

Rivers with floating vegetation 
often dominated by water-
crowfoot. Freshwater Habitat Rivers & streams Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Petromyzon marinus (R) Sea lamprey. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

P
age 290



4

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Alosa fallax (R) Twaite shad. (R) Freshwater Species Fish Unfavourable: Un-classified Jan-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Transition mires and quaking bogs
Very wet mires often identified by 
an unstable `quaking` surface. Terrestrial Habitat

Fen, marsh and 
swamp Unfavourable: Declining Jul-12

River Wye/ Afon Gwy UK0012642 SAC SO547368 Austropotamobius pallipes (R)
White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) 
crayfish. (R) Freshwater Species Other invertebrates Unfavourable: Un-classified Sep-16

Sugar Loaf Woodlands UK0030072 SAC SO295166
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and 
Blechnum in the British Isles Western acidic oak woodland. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, mixed 
and yew woodland Unfavourable: Un-classified Apr-09

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd 
Ystlumod Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145 Blanket bogs Blanket bog. Terrestrial Habitat Bogs Unfavourable: Un-classified Sep-10

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd Ystlumod 
Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145 Caves not open to the public Caves not open to the public. Terrestrial Habitat Inland rock Favourable: Maintained Nov-12

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd Ystlumod 
Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145

Degraded raised bogs still capable of 
natural regeneration Degraded raised bog. Terrestrial Habitat Bogs Unfavourable: Un-classified Oct-16

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd Ystlumod 
Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145 European dry heaths Dry heaths. Terrestrial Habitat Dwarf shrub heath Unfavourable: Un-classified Mar-12

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd Ystlumod 
Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145 Rhinolophus hipposideros (R) Lesser horseshoe bat. (R) Terrestrial Species Mammals Favourable: Maintained Nov-12

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd 
Ystlumod Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145

Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, 
screes and ravines

Mixed woodland on base-rich 
soils associated with rocky 
slopes. Terrestrial Habitat

Broad-leaved, 
mixed and yew 
woodland Favourable: Maintained Aug-12

Usk Bat Sites/ Safleoedd Ystlumod 
Wysg UK0014784 SAC SO190145

Calcareous rocky slopes with 
chasmophytic vegetation

Plants in crevices in base-rich 
rocks. Terrestrial Habitat Inland rock Favourable: Maintained Jul-12

P
age 291



1

Appendix C - information designated features and habitats

Otter: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/1435

Suggested buffer of 5km (In addition tributaries of the SAC need to be considered). JNCC 
Conserving Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 10.

 Pollution from a wide range of substances including PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyls) 
and heavy metals, e.g., lead, cadmium and mercury. Full impacts of these effects are 
unclear due to the complex way in which they interact in the aquatic environment 

 Water abstraction, which can concentrate pollutants and reduce food availability 
 Loss and lack of wetland habitats associated with rivers, leading to the loss of resting 

and breeding sites. Development pressures, wetland drainage, intensified riparian 
management, agricultural cultivation along riverbanks, river engineering and flood 
prevention measures 

 Loss of suitable resting and breeding sites due to lack of appropriate management of 
riverside pollards

 Disturbance from people, dogs and livestock and water based recreation activities 
such as angling and boating 

 Accidental death: road and rail casualties
 Poor habitat and water quality reducing the sustainability of fish stocks.

Lesser horseshoe bat: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/1545

Suggested buffer of 15km. Schofield, H. (2010) Lesser Horseshoe Conservation Handbook. 
Bat Conservation Trust.

 Loss of Roost sites including old buildings during the summer and caves, mines and 
other cave-like places for hibernation in the winter. 

 Fragmentation of habitat. Summer and winter roosts are usually less than 5- 10 km 
apart. The bats are vulnerable to the loss or disturbance of both summer and winter 
roost sites and the removal of linear habitat corridors 

 The species is particularly sensitive to light. Increased lighting in commuting/foraging 
areas can cause the bats to abandon the site 

 Loss of foraging/feeding habitat. The species prefers sheltered valleys with extensive 
deciduous woods or dense scrub, close to roost sites. Where habitat is fragmented, 
linear features such as hedgerows are important corridors between roosts and 
foraging areas.

Marsh fritillary butterfly: http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/134

Suggested buffer of 2km. Butterfly Conservation.

 Increased fragmentation and isolation of habitats
 Inappropriate management of sites including changes in grazing stock and practice 

leading to loss of food plant (devil’s bit scabious Succissa pratensis) overgrazing, 
Burning and mowing

 Adults tend to be sedentary and remain in a series of linked metapopulations, forming 
numerous temporary subpopulations, which frequently die out and recolonise. Where 
unable to do this, populations do not seem to be able to persist in habitat fragments. 
It is therefore essential to conserve a cluster of sites in close proximity

 Afforestation and development on habitats.

Page 292

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/1435
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/1545
http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/134


2

Allis shad: http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/405

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 3.

 Pollution
 Overfishing
 River obstructions to migration 
 Deposition of fine sediments reducing quality of spawning sites
 Disturbance through vibrations from development etc.

Thwaite shad: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/409

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 3.

 Pollution 
 Overfishing 
 River obstructions to migration e.g. weirs or dams 
 Deposition of fine sediments reducing quality of spawning sites 
 Disturbance through vibrations from development etc.

Bullhead: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/488

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 4.

 Deposition of fine sediments in disturbed catchments
 Fragmentation of populations
 Channel management
 Fisheries management
 Pollution.

River lamprey: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/520

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 5.

 Pollution
 River obstructions to migration e.g. weirs or dams
 Reduction in quality of spawning sites.

Brook lamprey: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/523

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 5.

 Pollution
 River obstructions to migration e.g. weirs or dams
 Reduction in quality of spawning sites.

Sea lamprey: http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/569

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 5.

Page 293

http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/405
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/409
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/488
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/520
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/523
http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/569


3

 Pollution
 River obstructions to migration e.g. weirs or dams
 Reduction in quality of spawning sites.

White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) crayfish: https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/43

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 1.

 Pollution
 Increasing siltation and eutrophication of rivers
 River engineering for hydro-schemes, flood defence purposes and fishery 

improvements
 Competition from non-native crayfish species
 Crayfish plague.

Atlantic salmon: http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/608

Suggested buffer of 2km (5km where issue relates to general water quality). JNCC Conserving 
Natura 2000 Rivers – Ecology series 7.

 Pollution
 River obstructions to migration e.g. weirs or dams
 Physical degradation of spawning and nursery habitat.

Slender green feather-moss: 

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/species.asp?FeatureIntCode=S1393

Occurs in at least five flush complexes within this upland range in south central Wales. The 
flush habitats are generally situated within expanses of grass moorland.

 Destruction of habitat, 
 Heavy grazing of flushes by sheep at upland sites

Habitats

European dry heaths https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10084

Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic 
vegetation

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10166

Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic 
vegetation

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10165

Hydrophilous tall herb fringe communities of 
plains and of the montane to alpine levels

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10133

Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and 
Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, 
Salicion albae)

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10198

Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and 
ravines

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10192

Page 294

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/43
http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/608
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/species.asp?FeatureIntCode=S1393
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10084
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10166
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10165
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10133
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10198
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10192


4

Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in 
the British Isles

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10194

Alkaline fens https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10151

Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or 
clayey-silt-laden soils (Molinion caeruleae)

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10131

Atlantic acidophilous beech forests with Ilex and 
sometimes also Taxus in the shrublayer 
(Quercion robori-petraeae or Ilici-Fagenion)

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10186

Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10187

Natural eutrophic lakes with Magnopotamion or 
Hydrocharition-type vegetation

http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10067

Water courses of plain to montane levels with 
the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-
Batrachion vegetation

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10077

Transition mires and quaking bogs https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10145
Blanket bogs https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/263
Caves not open to the public https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10170
Degraded raised bogs still capable of natural 
regeneration

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10143

Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and 
ravines

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10192

Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic 
vegetation

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10165

Active raised bogs https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10142
Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10082
Turloughs https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10070
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in 
the British Isles

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10194

Bog woodland https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10197
Transition mires and quaking bogs https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/1637

Page 295

https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10194
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10151
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10131
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10186
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10187
http://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10067
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10077
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10145
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/263
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10170
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10143
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10192
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10165
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10142
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10082
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10070
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10194
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/10197
https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/1637


1

Appendix D - issues relevant to site condition*

Site Name Issue Issue Sub Category Issue Status
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Agriculture and Land management Herbicide/ pesticide use Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Invasive Species Freshwater non-native Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Other Industries and Development Aggregate extraction Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Other Industries and Development Quarrying and mining Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Pollution and waste Water pollution - diffuse sources Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Pollution and waste Water pollution - discharge(s)/point source (inc. 

thermal, radioactive and oil)
Under control

Afon Tywi / River Tywi Water management and issues Acidification Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Water management and issues Freshwaterfish stocking Under control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Water management and issues Inland flood defence and erosion control Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Water management and issues Modified water courses Needs control
Afon Tywi / River Tywi Water management and issues Water abstraction Needs control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Drainage Under control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Grazing insufficient grazing Needs control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Under control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Grazing type and/or timing (inc shepherding) Needs control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Habitat loss and fragmentation Needs control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Scrub invasion Needs control
Blaen Cynon Agriculture and Land management Weed control Needs control
Blaen Cynon Forestry and woodland management Tree planting, past and present Needs control
Blaen Cynon Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Under control
Blaen Cynon Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control
Blaen Cynon Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control

P
age 296



2

Blaen Cynon Pollution and waste Water pollution - discharge(s)/point source (inc. 
thermal, radioactive and oil)

Needs control

Brecon Beacons / Bannau 
Brycheiniog

Access & Recreation Access/Use - erosion/disturbance/damage Needs control

Brecon Beacons / Bannau 
Brycheiniog

Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control

Brecon Beacons / Bannau 
Brycheiniog

Agriculture and Land management Grazing type and/or timing (inc shepherding) Needs control

Brecon Beacons / Bannau 
Brycheiniog

Agriculture and Land management Scrub invasion Under control

Brecon Beacons / Bannau 
Brycheiniog

Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Under control

Brecon Beacons / Bannau 
Brycheiniog

Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control

Coed Y Cerrig Agriculture and Land management Grazing insufficient grazing Needs control
Coed Y Cerrig Agriculture and Land management Habitat loss and fragmentation Needs control
Coed Y Cerrig Agriculture and Land management Scrub invasion Under control
Coed Y Cerrig Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Under control
Coed Y Cerrig Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Access & Recreation Access/Use - erosion/disturbance/damage Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Earth Science Feature Issue Feature obscured Under control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Pollution and waste Waste impacts - dumping spoil, leachate, sludge, 

etc
Under control

Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Cutting/ Mowing - insufficient Needs control

P
age 297



3

Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Drainage Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Fertilizer use Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Grazing insufficient grazing Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Grazing type and/or timing (inc shepherding) Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Scrub invasion Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management stock feeding Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Agriculture and Land management Weed control Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Other Industries and Development Quarrying and mining Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control
Cwm Cadlan Species feature issues Structural problems, renovation issues, 

buildings, bridges, caves
Under control

Cwm Cadlan Water management and issues Water abstraction Needs control
Cwm Clydach Woodlands / 
Coedydd Cwm Clydach

Agriculture and Land management Cutting/ Mowing - insufficient Under control

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / 
Coedydd Cwm Clydach

Agriculture and Land management Habitat loss and fragmentation Needs control

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / 
Coedydd Cwm Clydach

Agriculture and Land management Predation and pest control Needs control

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / 
Coedydd Cwm Clydach

Forestry and woodland management Deer grazing/ browsing Under control

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / 
Coedydd Cwm Clydach

Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control

Cwm Clydach Woodlands / 
Coedydd Cwm Clydach

Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control

Llangorse Lake / Llyn 
Syfaddan

Access & Recreation Access/Use - erosion/disturbance/damage Needs control

Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Agriculture and Land management Drainage Needs control

P
age 298



4

Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Agriculture and Land management Fertilizer use Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Agriculture and Land management Grazing type and/or timing (inc shepherding) Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Agriculture and Land management Scrub invasion Under control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Invasive Species Freshwater non-native Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Under control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Pollution and waste Water pollution - diffuse sources Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Water management and issues Ditch management Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Water management and issues Modified water courses Needs control
Llangorse Lake / Llyn Syfaddan Water management and issues Siltation Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Agriculture and Land management Habitat loss and fragmentation Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Forestry and woodland management Insufficient tree management Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Invasive Species Freshwater non-native Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Pollution and waste Waste impacts - dumping spoil, leachate, sludge, 

etc
Under control

River Usk/Afon Wysg Pollution and waste Water pollution - diffuse sources Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Pollution and waste Water pollution - discharge(s)/point source (inc. 

thermal, radioactive and oil)
Under control

River Usk/Afon Wysg Pollution and waste Water quality - Sediment pollution Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Water management and issues Inland flood defence and erosion control Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Water management and issues Water abstraction Needs control
River Usk/Afon Wysg Water management and issues Weirs and other in-channel structures Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Access & Recreation Access/Use - erosion/disturbance/damage Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Access & Recreation Boats - not powered Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Agriculture and Land management Grazing insufficient grazing Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control

P
age 299



5

River Wye / Afon Gwy Agriculture and Land management Grazing type and/or timing (inc shepherding) Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Agriculture and Land management Habitat loss and fragmentation Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Agriculture and Land management Scrub invasion Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Earth Science Feature Issue Feature obscured Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Forestry and woodland management Insufficient tree management Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Invasive Species Freshwater non-native Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Other Industries and Development Aggregate extraction Under control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Other Industries and Development Infrastructure - maintenance Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Pollution and waste Water pollution - diffuse sources Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Pollution and waste Water pollution - discharge(s)/point source (inc. 

thermal, radioactive and oil)
Needs control

River Wye / Afon Gwy Pollution and waste Water quality - Sediment pollution Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Water management and issues Freshwater fisheries management Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Water management and issues  Freshwaterfish stocking Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Water management and issues Inland flood defence and erosion control Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Water management and issues Modified water courses Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Water management and issues Water abstraction Needs control
River Wye / Afon Gwy Water management and issues Water levels (inc barriers to natural hydrology 

and altered water flow)
Needs control

Sugar Loaf Woodlands Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control
Sugar Loaf Woodlands Forestry and woodland management Insufficient tree management Needs control
Sugar Loaf Woodlands Forestry and woodland management Tree planting, past and present Needs control
Sugar Loaf Woodlands Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Under control
Sugar Loaf Woodlands Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Needs control
Sugar Loaf Woodlands Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control

P
age 300



6

Sugar Loaf Woodlands Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control
Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd 
Ystlumod Wysg

Agriculture and Land management Grazing insufficient grazing Under control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Agriculture and Land management Grazing overgrazing Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Agriculture and Land management Grazing type and/or timing (inc shepherding) Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Climate change Climate change Under control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Forestry and woodland management Insufficient tree management Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Forestry and woodland management Woodland management and tree felling Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Invasive Species Terrestrial - native and archaeophyte Under control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Invasive Species Terrestrial - non-native Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Pollution and waste Air pollution Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Species feature issues Structural problems, renovation issues, 
buildings, bridges, caves

Needs control

Usk Bat Sites / Safloedd Ystlumod 
Wysg

Water management and issues Ditch management Needs control

*Note: Awaiting similar information from Natural Resources Wales on the following sites: 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC; Cernydd Carmel SAC; Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen SAC; Drostre Bank SAC Mynydd Eppynt SAC; Rhos Goch SAC.

P
age 301



7

Appendix E - plans and projects, considered for their potential to have in combination effects

National plans

Wales National Marine Plan (Consultation Draft 2017). 

HRA: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-02/habitats-en.pdf

Wales National Development Framework: Preferred Spatial Option (2018).

HRA: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180430-preliminary-hra-
screening-report.pdf

National projects

Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan – Project Pipeline Update 2018

wales-infrastructur
e-investment-plan-project-pipeline-2018.xlsx

National Park plans 

 National Park Management Plan (2015 – 2020)
 National Park Local Development Plan (2007 – 2022)
 National Park Nature Recovery Action Plan (2019)
 Sustainable Tourism Strategy (2017 – 2022) and Destination Action Plan (2017 – 2020)
 Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2018 Draft).
 Brecon Beacons Visitor Management Plan (2015)
 Brecon Beacons Interpretation Plan (2007)
 Local Biodiversity Action Plan (2001)

National Park projects

 Black mountains land use partnership: http://www.blackmountains.wales/
 Explosive Times: Gunpowder works project: HRA (see below).

BBNP Coedydd 
Nedd a Mellte SAC Gunpowder works Woodland Management Plan HRA.docx

Key Local Development Plans

LPA LDP status LDP strategic allocations in proximity to BBNP
Powys The LDP (2011-

2026) is 
adopted.

Hay on Wye shares its borders with Powys and Brecon Beacons National 
Park. It is identified as a Town within Powys’ emerging LDP, which is at the top 
of the settlement hierarchy, and where the majority of development is 
directed. Land is allocated at Hay-on-Wye for a mixed use site for 49 homes 
and 2.4 ha of employment land (ref: P21 MUA1). The emerging LDP notes that 
there is a requirement for a joint development brief between Powys Council 
and BBNPA to ensure the site contributes to joint policy aspirations.  
Ystradgynlais lies in close proximity to BBNP border, and is identified as a 
Town within Powys’ LDP settlement hierarchy. A number of housing 
allocations are proposed at Ystradgynlais, amounting to a total of 515 
dwellings. There is also an allocation for 2.31 ha of employment land. 
A Local Growth Zone is identified for Three Cocks, Bronllys, Talgarth and 
Brecon area, which spans the boundary with the BBNP. 

Page 302

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-02/habitats-en.pdf
http://www.blackmountains.wales/


8

LPA LDP status LDP strategic allocations in proximity to BBNP
Monmouthshire LDP (2011-

2021) adopted 
in February 
2014.
LDP review 
formally 
commenced in 
October 2017.

Abergavenny lies adjacent to BBNP’s border and is identified as a Main Town 
within the LDP, and along with the other two Main Towns, is the main focus 
for new housing development. 
A large strategic site is allocated within Abergavenny – Deri Farm, Mardy for 
250 dwellings (8.7ha) (ref: SAH1), which lies immediately adjacent to BBNP 
border. A planning application for 250 dwellings was submitted in November 
2014 and is currently under consideration (ref: DC/2014/01360).
The majority of employment land provision (37 ha) is directed to Magor. 
Around 5-6 ha of employment land is allocated at Abergavenny. However, this 
relates to the protection of existing sites, and there are no new employment 
land allocations within, or adjacent to, Abergavenny. 

Carmarthenshire LDP (2006-
2021) adopted 
December 
2014.

The Service Centres of Llandeilo and Llandovery lie within proximity to the 
BBNP boundary. A total of 263 dwellings have been allocated within, and 
around Llandeilo, with the majority (215 dwellings) being allocated at Llandeilo 
Northern Quarter. The LDP also allocates 2.33 ha of employment land in and 
around Llandeilo. However, there are no strategic allocations within Llandeilo. 
A total of 111 dwellings have been allocated within and around Llandovery. 
These are distributed across three allocations, none of which are identified as 
strategic allocations. No employment land has been allocated to Llandovery. 
Brynamman lies within proximity to the BBNP boundary. It is identified as a 
Local Service Centre, and has a level of growth of 107 dwellings, which has 
been distributed across 5 allocations. No employment land has been allocated 
within, or around Brynamman. 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf

LDP (2006-
2021) adopted 
March 2011.
The formal LDP 
review 
commenced in 
2015.

Hirwaun, which is identified as a Key Settlement, lies within proximity to the 
BBNP boundary. A large mixed-use strategic site is identified on land south of 
Hirwaun for 400 dwellings, 36 ha of employment, a new primary school, a 
retail store, medical / community centre. Planning permission has been granted 
for 2,000 sqm retail development within the local centre element of the site.

Merthyr Tydfil LDP (2006-
2021) adopted 
May 2011. 
A full review 
commenced in 
May 2015. 
Examination in 
2019.

The majority of new development is targeted towards the Merthyr Tydfil area, 
which is classed as the Primary Growth Area. This area comprises a number of 
surrounding communities, some of which lie within proximity to the BBNP 
boundary. These include the communities of Swansea Road, Twyncarmel and 
Trefechan. In total, land is allocated for the provision of approximately 3,134 
dwellings in the Primary Growth Area. 
All of the employment land sites are located within the Primary Growth Areas. 
However, none of the allocations are within close proximity to the BBNP 
boundary.

Page 303



9

Appendix F - initial screening assessment

Can “likely significant effects” (LSE) of the emerging LDP (alone or combined with other plans or 
projects) on European sites be ruled out?

Two key tests (A & B below) have informed the screening of the preferred strategy:

A. Does the strategy direct a quantum or type of development towards, or encourages 
development in, a European site or an area where development may indirectly affect a 
European site?

B. Does the strategy facilitate development, the location of which is unknown, but which could 
be within a European site or an area where development may indirectly affect a European site?

European site Initial screening of preferred strategy
Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 

development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within or an area where development 
may indirectly affect the Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 
alone or in combination with other plans or projects.

Blaen Cynon SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Blaen Cynon SAC or an area 
where development may indirectly affect it alone or 
combined with other plans or projects. 

Brecon Beacons SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Brecon Beacons SAC or an 
area where development may indirectly affect it alone or 
combined with other plans or projects.

Cernydd Carmel SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within or an area where development 
may indirectly affect the Cernydd Carmel SAC alone or 
in combination with other plans or projects.

Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC 
or an area where development may indirectly affect it 
alone or combined with other plans or projects.

Coed y Cerrig SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Coed y Cerrig SAC or an area 
where development may indirectly affect it alone or 
combined with other plans or projects.

Cwm Cadlan SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Cwm Cadlan SAC or an area 
where development may indirectly affect it alone or 
combined with other plans or projects.

Cwm Clydach Woodlands SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Cym Clydach Woodlands 
SAC or an area where development may indirectly affect 
it alone or combined with other plans or projects.

Page 304



10

Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within or an area where development 
may indirectly affect the Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen 
SAC alone or in combination with other plans or 
projects.

Drostre Bank SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within or an area where development 
may indirectly affect the Drostre Bank SAC alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects.

Llangorse Lake/ Lyn Syfaddan SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Llangorse Lake/ Lyn Syfaddan 
SAC or an area where development may indirectly affect 
it alone or combined with other plans or projects.

Mynydd Eppynt SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within or an area where development 
may indirectly affect the Mynydd Eppynt SAC alone or 
in combination with other plans or projects.

River Usk SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy directs 
development towards Brecon and Crickhowell.

River Wye SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy directs 
development towards Hay-on-Wye and Talgarth.

Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy would not 
preclude the limited expansion of Abergavenny, subject 
to detailed considerations.

Usk Bat Sites SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within the Usk Bat Sites SAC or an area 
where development may indirectly affect it alone or 
combined with other plans or projects.

River Tywi SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within an area hydrologically connected 
to the River Tywi SAC and therefore may indirectly 
affect it alone or combined with other plans or projects.

Rhos Goch SAC LSE cannot be ruled out because the strategy facilitates 
development, the location of which is unknown, but 
which could be within or an area where development 
may indirectly affect the Rhos Goch SAC alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects.

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Development Plan 2:  Candidate Site Registers

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 25th June 2019

Report Author Helen Lucocq

Job title Principal Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide members with an overview of the sites submitted 
as part of the call for candidate sites for LDP2, and to seek 
approval to publish the findings of first phase assessment for 
consultation.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Please refer to the SIA for the LDP2 Preferred 
Strategy

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Candidate Site Register (Sites passed at first 
phase assessment)

Enclosure 2 Candidate Site Register (sites failed at first 
phase assessment)

Enclosure 3 Candidate Site Assessment Methodology

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) It is recommended that Members:

a) approve the findings of the first phase assessment 
(Enclosures 1 & 2)

b) agree that Candidate Site Registers  are published 
for the purpose of public consultation.

Page 307

Agenda Item 13

mailto:Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.1 Introduction or Background

As part of the process of producing the next Local Development Plan, the Authority is obliged 
to issue a call for Candidate Sites with the objective of identifying land available to meet future 
development needs.  The NPA issued this call between November 2018 and January 2019.

A total of 117 sites were submitted to the Authority for consideration.  The majority of these 
sites were submitted as proposed housing sites.

1.2 Proposals

Initial Assessment has been undertaken of all candidate sites submitted.  In accordance with the 
agreed assessment methodology (Enclosure 3 to this report), this assessment comprises high 
level screening to determine the extent to which sites could be delivered without 
unsurmountable constraints (predominately in relation to flood risk areas), and would be 
compliant with the proposed Preferred Strategy.  

Sites which meet these high level criteria are considered to have passed phase 1 assessment.  A 
register of these sites is set out at Enclosure 1 to this Report.

Sites which do not meet these criteria are considered to have failed phase1 assessment, and will 
not be considered further within the process.  The register of these sites is set out at Enclosure 
2 of this Report.

Officers are seeking member approval in relation to the findings of the assessment with a view 
to publishing the Candidate Site Registers for public and stakeholder comment.  This 
consultation is proposed to take place alongside consultation on the Preferred Strategy.

As part of this consultation, Officers will be seeking further information from promotors of 
successful sites in order to undertake phase 2 assessment, this information, alongside SA/SEA 
and HRA, will be utilised to determine whether sites should be allocated within LDP2, 

There will also be an opportunity for landowners and interested parties to submit additional 
sites to phase 2 assessment where they consider that they contribute to the Preferred Strategy.  
This element of the candidate site process will be advertised separately as part of the 
engagement work Officers will be undertaking over the summer.

All comments received on the candidate site registers will be reported to the National Park 
Authority.

1.3 Implications

This is a significant stage in the development of LDP2 as understanding what is land available for 
future development both influences and implements how the area will grow over the next 
fifteen years.  

Page 308



1.4 Risk

As part of the LDP process it is vital that any site submitted to the Authority is subject to 
rigorous assessment to ensure its future development is both sustainable and deliverable, 
contributing to the areas overall sense of place. Where sites are taken through to the LDP 
contrary to the findings of the assessment they would, more than likely, be determined as being 
unsound through the examination process.

Further to this, public consultation is a fundamental component of ensuring rigor in our 
assessment.   The consultation phase will provide members of the public and stakeholders 
opportunity for early engagement in the development of LDP2, with their comments providing 
evidence to future assessment of sites.  Failure to undertake such a consultation is not only 
contrary to the established practice of LDP production but could undermine the soundness of 
any future allocations.

1.5 Conclusion

The submission, assessment and consultation on candidate sites forms a central component in 
establishing a sound Local Development Plan.

For the National Park’s replacement Local Development Plan, Officers are proposing that the 
sites set out at Enclosure 1 of this report would provide opportunities to aid the 
implementation of the Preferred Strategy.  Officers are therefore recommending that we 
pursue more detailed assessment of such sites in accordance with the methodology provided at 
enclosure three of this report.  It is proposed that such an assessment should commence with 
an eight week public consultation enabling interested parties to comment.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

It is recommended that Members:

a) approve the findings of the first phase assessment (Enclosures 1 &  2)

b) agree that Candidate Site Registers are published for the purpose of public 
consultation.

Page 309



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Local Development Plan 
Candidate Site Register – First Phase Assessment 

 

SITES PASSED AT FIRST PHASE ASSESSMENT 

 
May 2019 

 

  

P
age 311



Local Development Plan – Candidate Site first phase assessment – Sites passed first phase assessment 

The replacement Local Development Plan will identify land to address the National Park’s development needs, including proposals for housing, 

employment, retail and community facilities.  The first stage of this process involved an initial call for candidate sites to assist the National Park 

Authority in understanding what land is available to inform the replacement LDP Preferred Strategy. The Welsh Government (WG) advises that 

early consideration should be given to engagement with interested parties on potential sites to be included within the LDP. 

A total of 117 candidate sites were submitted for a range of uses, including residential, employment and recreation uses. As such, and in 

accordance with WG guidance the National Park advertised its invitation to all interested parties to put forward candidate sites for 

consideration within the emerging LDP.  The invitation to submit sites for consideration within the LDP opened in November 2018 and closed 

on the 7th January 2019. 

All sites submitted to the National Park were compiled onto the 1st Stage Candidate Site Register.  A high level site assessment process takes 

place to consider factors such as insurmountable constraints, and particular attention has been given to ‘greater than local constraints’ (i.e. the 

constraints imposed by Welsh Government and NRW etc.). An assessment of the general location of the sites was also considered in 

accordance to the National policy objective to locate new development close to existing settlements, all those sites which were submitted in 

areas of open countryside, demonstrably separated from existing settlements were removed from the register as incompatible with National 

Policy Guidance.  

This initial sifting process will help to inform the Preferred Strategy and, a further sift might was also necessary as a Preferred Strategy started to 

emerge. All Candidate sites submitted to the Authority have been assessed against set sustainability criteria to determine their suitability for 

future development. Those sites that fail this initial assessment have not be considered suitable for further consideration as part of the LDP 

process and have been filtered out.   

 

The following sites are those which have been submitted to the authority for consideration and have passed the first phase 

of assessment. 

These sites will be taken forward to the second phase of assessment. 

 

 

P
age 312



The second phase of assessment will involve a detailed consideration of all sites put forward.  We will appraise sites for their suitability 

within the following key areas 

Contribution to Preferred Strategy – assessing the extent to which the location of the site is consistent with the broad spatial 

distribution and scale of growth as set out in the Preferred Strategy and Strategic Policies. 

 

Environment – considering the nature of the proposed site in relation to the particularity of environmental constraints, including issues of 

environmental designations, flood risk and potential of development to improve the existing situation 

 

Vitality and viability – to assess the extent to which any development would be able to contribute towards the development of vital and 

viable communities, through improved relationships to employment opportunities. 

 

Accessibility – How will the site be accessed, particular regard will be given to the sites location in relation to alternative sustainable 

transport methods such as public transport, walking and cycle routes  

 

Landscape character – The capability of the landscape context to accommodate further development, including a consideration of the 

impact development would have on the special qualities of the National Park including cultural heritage within the built environment. 

 

Continuity - Considering whether a proposal will present an extension to an existing land use of benefit to meeting the objectives of the 

preferred strategy. 

 

Development Potential – considering the likely use of the proposed site and the potential in real terms of the site being available for 

development within the plan period. 

 

Climate change Mitigation – Assessing the nature of the site for vulnerability to the effects of climate change including issues of flooding 

and drainage and orientation to maximise resource efficiency, including the potential for onsite provision of renewable energy. 

 
Further information can be gained by contacting the Strategy and Policy team by email: strategy@breconbeacons.org or tel: 01874 620479 

 

 

  

P
age 313

mailto:strategy@breconbeacons.org


List of Candidate Sites passed initial assessment 

Hold down the Ctrl key and click on the site name for further details 

CS No Site 

2CS003 Hay Road, Talgarth 

2CS008 Land off the B4246, Govilon 

2CS009 Former Brick Works, Hirwaun 

2CS010 Brecon Beacons College, Penlan, Brecon 

2CS015 Pen y Dre, Brecon Road, Crickhowell 

2CS020 Land at Ty Clyd, Govilon 

2CS021 Land at Ty Clyd Close, Govilon, Abergavenny 

2CS026 Pant yr Eos, Bwlch, Brecon 

2CS034 Cwmfalldau Fields, Brecon 

2CS035 Sennybridge TMP, Sennybridge, Brecon 

2CS036 Brecon Barracks, Brecon 

2CS043 Land adjacent to Elvicta Business Park, Crickhowell 

2CS055 Land North of Camden Crescent, Cae Prior, Brecon 

2CS060 Land North of Heol y Ffynnon, Brecon 

2CS073 Land adjoining Brecon Pharmaceuticals, Hay-on-Wye 

2CS079 Former Army Camp, Cwrt y Gollen, Crickhowell 

2CS081 Land at Llwyndu, Abergavenny 

2CS084 Maen-du, nr Maes y Ffynnon, Brecon 

2CS085 Site at Brecon High School, Cerigochion Road, Penlan, Brecon 

2CS089 Site at Neuadd Brycheiniog and Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon 

2CS088 Site at Pont Willim, Pontwilym, Brecon 

2CS090 Land at Upper House Farm, Great Oak Road, Crickhowell 

2CS092 Land at Old School and Community Centre, School Street, Talgarth 

2CS094 Former Youth Centre, 4 Cradoc Road, Brecon 

2CS102 CS93 - Existing LDP Allocation - Slwch House Fields, Dorlangoch, Brecon 

P
age 314



2CS114 Victorian Primary School, Back Lane, Talgarth 

2CS115 Talgarth CP School Sports Field, Woodlands Ave, Talgarth 

2CS117 De-comissioned PCC Highways Depot, Hay Road, Talgarth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 315



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

 

2CS081 

Abergavenny 

Boarders 

Land at Llwyndu, Abergavenny 9.3 SO 293155 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 316



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS010 Brecon Brecon Beacons College, Penlan, Brecon 5.2 SO 051291 Education & Community  Mixed Use Site 

 

 

 

P
age 317



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS034 Brecon Cwmfalldau Fields, Brecon (Allocated within LDP for 

66 dwellings) 

2.3 SO 039280 Agricultural Land Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 318



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS036 Brecon Brecon Barracks, Brecon 2.2 SO 050281 Brownfield  Residential (conversion of existing 

buildings) 

 
 

 

P
age 319



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS055 Brecon Land North of Camden Crescent, Cae Prior, Brecon 

(Allocated within LDP for 38 dwellings) 

2 SO 051286 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 320



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS060 Brecon Land North of Heol Y Ffynnon, Brecon (Partly 

allocated within LDP for 33 dwellings) 

2.14 SO 038295 Agricultural Residential and Open Space 

 
 

P
age 321



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS084 Brecon Maen-du, nr Maes y Ffynnon, Brecon 4 SO 039296 Agricultural and 

Woodland 

Residential and Open Space 

 
 

P
age 322



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS085 Brecon Site at Brecon High School, Cerigochion Road, Penlan, 

Brecon 

6.95 SO 050290 Educational Residential or Mixed Use 

 
 

 

P
age 323



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS088 Brecon Site at Pont Willim, Pontwilym, Brecon 1.47 SO 043297 Community Use Residential and Open Space 

 

P
age 324



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS089 Brecon Site at Neuadd Brycheiniog and Plas y Ffynnon, 

Cambrian Way, Brecon 

3.92 SO 051282 Two office blocks (B1) and 

associated car parks and landscaped 

surrounds 

Residential or Mixed Use 

 
 

P
age 325



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS094 Brecon Former Youth Centre, 4 Cradoc Road, Brecon 0.36 SO 040290 Youth Centre with car park Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 326



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS102 Brecon CS93 - Existing LDP Allocation - Slwch House Fields, 

Dorlangoch, Brecon 

0.8 SO 066278 Agricultural Residential – Housing  

 
 

P
age 327



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS026 Bwlch Pant yr Eos, Bwlch, Brecon 0.047 SO 145224 Residential Garden   Residential – 2 Bedroom retirement dwelling 

(Development Boundary Review) 

 
 

 

P
age 328



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS043 Crickhowell Land adjacent to Elvicta Business Park, 

Crickhowell 

0.9 SO 223178 Agricultural B8 Storage and Distribution   

 
 

 

P
age 329



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS015 Crickhowell Pen y Dre, Brecon Road, Crickhowell 0.37 SO 216187 Orchard and Garden Land Residential – 3 dwellings 

(Development Boundary 

Review) 

 
 

P
age 330



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS079 Crickhowell Former Army Camp, Cwrt y Gollen, Crickhowell 

(Allocated within LDP) 

24.4 SO 232168 Former Army Camp Mixed Use – residential, 

commercial and open space  

 
 

P
age 331



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS090 Crickhowell Land at Upper House Farm, Great Oak 

Road, Crickhowell  

3.13 SO 220186 Agricultural  Residential  

 
 

P
age 332



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS008 Govilon Land off the B4246, Govilon (Partly 

allocated within LDP for housing) 

1.92 SO 271140 Agricultural  Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 333



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS020 Govilon Land at Ty Clyd, Govilon (Allocated 

within LDP for Housing) 

1.54 SO 270140 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 334



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS021 Govilon Land at Ty Clyd Close, Govilon, Abergavenny 0.37 SO 269141 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 335



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS073 Hay-on-Wye Land adjoining Brecon Pharmaceuticals, Hay-on-Wye 

(allocated within LDP for housing) 

0.34 SO 220418 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

P
age 336



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS009 Hirwaun Former Brick Works, Hirwaun 2 SN 960060 Agricultural  Residential  

 
 

P
age 337



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS035 Sennybridge 

& Defynnog 

Sennybridge TMP, Sennybridge, Brecon 1.86 SN 918286 Military Storage / 

Workshop 

Residential or Employment (B1/B2/B8 Uses) 

(Employment) 

 
 

 

P
age 338



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS003 Talgarth Hay Road, Talgarth 1 SO 155342 Storage Mixed Residential  

 
 

 

 

P
age 339



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS092 Talgarth Land at Old School and Community Centre, School 

Street, Talgarth 

1.25 SO 

156338 

Former Primary School 

with playing field and 

community center  

Residential and 

Open Space 

 
 

P
age 340



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS114 Talgarth Victorian Primary School, Back Lane, 

Talgarth 

0.21 SO 155339 Former Community 

Centre  

Economic Development/Community Use 

 
 

 

P
age 341



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS115 Talgarth  Talgarth CP School Sports Field, 

Woodlands Ave, Talgarth 

0.4 SO 155339 Former School Sports Field  Retention as Public Open Space 

 
 

 

P
age 342



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS117 Talgarth De-comissioned PCC Highways Depot, Hay 

Road, Talgarth 

0.6 SO 154341 De-commissioned PCC 

Highways Depot 

Retained for Economic Development  

 
 

P
age 343



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Local Development Plan 
Candidate Site Register – First Phase Assessment 

 

SITES FAILED AT FIRST PHASE ASSESSMENT 

 
May 2019 

 

  

P
age 345



Local Development Plan – Candidate Site first phase assessment – Failed Sites 

The replacement Local Development Plan will identify land to address the National Park’s development needs, including proposals for housing, 

employment, retailing and community facilities.  The first stage of this process involved an initial call for candidate sites to assist the National 

Park Authority in understanding what land is available to inform the replacement LDP Preferred Strategy. The Welsh Government (WG) advises 

that early consideration should be given to engagement with interested parties on potential sites to be included within the LDP. 

A total of 117 candidate sites were submitted for a range of uses, including residential, employment and recreation uses. As such, and in 

accordance with WG guidance the National Park advertised its invitation to all interested parties to put forward candidate sites for 

consideration within the emerging LDP.  The invitation to submit sites for consideration within the LDP opened in November 2018 and closed 

on the 7th January 2019. 

All sites submitted to the National Park were compiled onto the 1st Stage Candidate site register.  A high level site assessment process takes 

place to consider factors such as insurmountable constraints, for example C2 flood risk, and particular attention has been given to ‘greater than 

local constraints’ (i.e. the constraints imposed by Welsh Government and NRW etc.). An assessment of the general location of the sites was 

also considered in accordance to the National policy objective to locate new development close to existing settlements, all those sites which 

were submitted in areas of open countryside, demonstrably separated from existing settlements were removed from the register as 

incompatible with National Policy Guidance.  

This initial sifting process will help to inform the Preferred Strategy and, a further sift might was also necessary as a Preferred Strategy started to 

emerge. All Candidate sites submitted to the Authority have been assessed against set sustainability criteria to determine their suitability for 

future development. Those sites that fail this initial assessment have not be considered suitable for further consideration as part of the LDP 

process and have been filtered out.   

 

The following sites are those which have been submitted to the authority for consideration and have failed at the first 

phase of assessment. 

These sites will not be taken any further forward in the Local Development Plan. 

Further information can be gained by contacting the Strategy and Policy team by email: strategy@breconbeacons.org or tel: 01874 620479 

  

P
age 346

mailto:strategy@breconbeacons.org


List of Candidate Sites passed initial assessment   

Hold down the Ctrl key and click on the site name for further details 

CS No Site 

2CS001 Pharos Field, Hay-on-Wye 

2CS002 Pharos Field, Hay-on-Wye 

2CS004 Land on west side of Chestnut Cottage, Mamhilad, Pontypool 

2CS005 School Lane Govilon, Abergavenny 

2CS006 Penpentre Field (North), Defynnog 

2CS007 Penpentre Field (South), Defynnog 

2CS011 Little Dyffryn Farm, Ty Mawr Road, Gilwern 

2CS012 Land Lying to the North of Mill Cottage, Crickhowell Road, Gilwern 

2CS013 Cae Meldon, Ty Mawr Road, Gilwern 

2CS014 Former Playing Fields, Darenfelin Primary School, Llanelly Hill 

2CS016 Houses and Paddock at east end of Gilwern, Aberbaiden, Gilwern 

2CS017 Land at the end of Blaenavon Road, Govilon 

2CS018 Paddock at Ty Newydd, Govilon, Abergavenny 

2CS019 4 Houses and Land on the East Boundary of Govilon, Merthyr Road, Govilon 

2CS022 Land off Regent Street, Talgarth 

2CS023 Land Next to Captain's Field, Llanfrynach, Brecon 

2CS024 Penrhadwy Farm, Ponsticill, Merthyr Tydfil 

2CS025 Land at Llangenny Lane (Phase 2), Crickhowell, Brecon 

2CS027 Houses to the East of Govilon, Blaenavon Road, Govilon 

2CS028 Depot for A.L.D Plant Hire, Llantilo Pertholey, Mardy, Abergavenny 

2CS029 Land at the Rear of Ysgol y Bannau, Brecon 

2CS030 Land North of Beacons Park and Pont Willim, Brecon 

2CS031 Land at Aberbran, Brecon 

2CS032 Site 1 Land at Pentre-bach, Trallong, Brecon 

2CS033 Site 2 Land at Trallong, Brecon 

P
age 347



2CS037 Land adjacent and to the South of Talgarth Farm, Llandyfan, Ammanford 

2CS038 Second Land at and to the South of Talgarth Farm, Llandyfan, Ammanford 

2CS039 Site 1 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch Farm, Glanamman, Ammanford 

2CS040 Site 2 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch Farm, Glanamman, Ammanford 

2CS041 Site 3 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch Farm, Glanamman, Ammanford 

2CS042 Site 4 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch Farm, Glanamman, Ammanford 

2CS044 The Rectory Field adjacent to Rectory Cottage, Llangattock, Crickhowell 

2CS045 Land at Ty Mawr, North of Cae Meldon, Gilwern, Abergavenny 

2CS046 Land at Ty Mawr, South of Cae Meldon, Gilwern, Abergavenny 

2CS047 Duffryn Mawr, Lower Common, Gilwern 

2CS048 Land West of New Talgarth Primary School. Hay Road, Talgarth 

2CS049 Land at the Legar, Llangattock, Crickhowell 

2CS050 Plot between Glynden House and Sennybridge Training Camp, Sennybridge 

2CS051 Land at Cwm Crawnon Road, Llangynidr 

2CS052 Land adjacent to Llanspyddid Village, Llanspyddid, Brecon 

2CS053 Site 2 - Land adjacent to Llanspyddid Village, Llanspyddid, Brecon 

2CS054 Buckland Hall, Bwlch 

2CS056 Land East of Wood Villas, Felindre 

2CS057 Land to the rear of Clos Castell, Llangynidr 

2CS058 Land adjoining Oak View, Pencelli 

2CS059 Land adjacent to Old Post Office, Crai 

2CS061 Park Lands off Beachwood Road, Llangattock, Crickhowell 

2CS062 Coed yr Ynys Caravan Park, Llangynidr, Crickhowell 

2CS063 Land on Eastend of Ynys Villa, Cwm Crawnon Road, Llangynidr 

2CS064 Land adjoining New Llangors Primary School, Llangors 

2CS065 Land South of Orchard View, Llangors 

2CS066 Land to the rear of Waunberllan, Llanfrynach 

2CS067 Land off St Catwgs Close, Llangattock 

2CS068 Land opposite Lower Terrace, Llangattock 

2CS069 Land at Pen y Dre Caravan Park, Pen y Dre Farm, Llanvihangel 

P
age 348



2CS070 Pen y Dre Yard and adjoining land, Llanvihangel Crucorney 

2CS071 Land at Crossways, change of settlement boundary, Pen y Dre Farm, Llanvihangel Crucorney 

2CS072 Land to the rear of Brooklands, Hay on Wye 

2CS074 Duffryn Mawr, Lower Common, Gilwern 

2CS075 Land West of Pont Faen, Llanbedr, Crickhowell 

2CS076 Land at Trapp, Carmarthenshire 

2CS077 Land at Cynghordy Farm, Pennorth, Brecon 

2CS078 Land at Churchmeadow, Govilon 

2CS080 Land South of Merthyr Road (B4246) and East of Elms Road, Govilon 

2CS082 Land at Heol Callwen, Glyntawe 

2CS083 Canal and River Trust Land at Govilon, The Wharf, Govilon 

2CS086 Land adjacent to Caer af Allen, Libanus 

2CS087 Land adjacent to St Peter's Close, Llanbedr, Crickhowell 

2CS091 Land adjacent to Old School Site, Llangorse 

2CS093 Land adjacent to Digeddi Villas, Llanigon 

2CS095 Marpela, Common Road, Gilwern 

2CS096 Land North of A479, Tretower 

2CS097 Site A, land in North-East of Crai, Crai 

2CS098 Site B, land in North-East of Crai, Crai 

2CS099 Land North of Malford Grove, Gilwern 

2CS100 Land adjacent to Pontwilyn, Brecon 

2CS101 Land at Slwch House Fields, Dorlangoch, Brecon 

2CS103 Land adjacent to Cradoc Road, Brecon 

2CS104 Land adjacent to The Plas, Llangorse, Brecon 

2CS105 Land at Standard Street, Crickhowell 

2CS106 Land at Ffynnonau, Great Oak Road, Crickhowell 

2CS107 Land off Cradoc Road, Brecon 

2CS108 Land North of Abergavenny Road, Gilwern 

2CS109 Land South of Vaynor Road, Vaynor, Pontsticill 

2CS110 Land to the West of Bryncapel, Gwynfe, Llangadog 

P
age 349



2CS111 Land south-west of Pontsticill House, Vaynor Road, Vaynor, Pontsticill 

2CS112 Land East of Pontpren, Penderyn 

2CS113 De-commissioned Talgarth CP School Site, Back Lane, Talgarth 

2CS116 Two Rivers, Glangrwyney 

 

 

  

P
age 350



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS031 Aberbran Land at Aberbran, Brecon 0.41 SN 984295 Agricultural   Residential – 2/3 Houses  

 
 

 

P
age 351



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS029 Brecon Land at Rear of Ysgol y Bannau, Brecon 2.51 SO 053290 Agricultural Residential 

 

 

P
age 352



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS030 Brecon Land North of Beacons Park and Pont Willim, Brecon 10.63 SO 043298 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 353



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS100 Brecon Land adjacent to Pontwilyn, 

Brecon 

2.25 SO 041296 Agricultural Residential (up to 50 dwellings) 

 
 

P
age 354



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS101 Brecon Land at Slwch House Fields, Dorlangoch, Brecon  1.87 SO 066278 Agricultural Mixed Use (Residential and 

Commercial) 

 

P
age 355



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS103 Brecon Land adjacent to Cradoc Road, Brecon 1.40 SO 036292 Agricultural Residential (30-40 Dwellings) 

 
 

 

P
age 356



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS107 Brecon Land off Cradoc Road, Brecon 1.4 SO 036292 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

 

P
age 357



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS110 Capel-

Gwynfe  

Land to the West of Bryncapel, Gwynfe, 

Llangadog 

0.12 SN 722219 Agricultural Residential – 3 affordable housing 

for local needs  

 
 

 

P
age 358



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS059 Crai Land adjacent to Old Post Office, Crai 0.17 SN 895243 Agricultural Residential (up to 6 dwellings) 

 
 

 

P
age 359



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS097 Crai Site A, land in North-East of Crai, Crai 0.32 SN 896244 Agricultural  Residential  

 
 

P
age 360



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS098 Crai Site B, land in North-East of Crai, Crai 1.23 SN 896244 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 361



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS025 Crickhowell Land at Llangenny Lane (Phase 2), 

Crickhowell, Brecon 

2.08 SO 223180 Agricultural Residential – approx. 50 dwellings  

 
 

P
age 362



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS105 Crickhowell Land at Standard Street, Crickhowell 0.81 SO 322218 Agricultural  Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 363



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS106 Crickhowell Land at Ffynnonau, Great Oak Road, 

Crickhowell 

6.3 SO 221292 Agricultural  Residential 

 
 

P
age 364



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS056 Felindre  Land East of Wood Villas, Felindre 1.36 SO 186366 Agricultural Residential – approx. 20 dwellings 

 
 

 

P
age 365



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS011 Gilwern Little Dyffryn Farm, Ty Mawr Road, Gilwern 1.61 SO255151 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 366



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS012 Gilwern Land Lying to the North of Mill 

Cottage, Crickhowell Road, Gilwern 

1.69 SO 245149 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 367



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS013 Gilwern Cae Meldon, Ty Mawr Road, Gilwern 4.04 SO 254149 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 368



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS016 Gilwern Houses and Paddock at east end of Gilwern, 

Aberbaiden, Gilwern 

0.27 SO 257144 Residential and 

Agricultural 

Residential 

 
 

P
age 369



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS045 Gilwern Land at Ty Mawr, North of Cae Meldon, 

Gilwern, Abergavenny 

3.42 SO 249153 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 370



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS046 Gilwern Land at Ty Mawr, South of Cae Meldon, Gilwern, Abergavenny 11.26 SO 251150 Agricultural Mixed Use – Residential & Light 

Industrial/ Office B1 Use Class  

 
 

P
age 371



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS047 Gilwern Duffryn Mawr, Lower Common, Gilwern 2.83 SO 249158 Residential and 

Agricultural 

Commercial – Wedding Venue  

 
 

 

P
age 372



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS074 Gilwern Duffryn Mawr, Lower Common, Gilwern  2.75 SO 249156 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

 

P
age 373



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS095 Gilwern Marpela, Common Road, Gilwern 0.41 SO 247149 Residential 

Garden 

Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 374



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS099 Gilwern Land North of Malford Grove, Gilwern 0.73 SO 242149 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

 

P
age 375



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS108 Gilwern Land North of Abergavenny Road, Gilwern 6.2 SO 256147 Agricultural Residential – approx. 

150 dwellings 

 
 

P
age 376



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS039 Glanamman Site 1 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch Farm, Glanamman, 

Ammanford 

0.17 SN 665146 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 377



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS040 Glanamman Site 2 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch Farm, 

Glanamman, Ammanford 

0.33 SN 665146 Agricultural  Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 378



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS041 Glanamman Site 3 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch 

Farm, Glanamman, Ammanford 

0.35 SN 667145 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

P
age 379



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS042 Glanamman Site 4 - Land to the North of Abernantgoch 

Farm, Glanamman, Ammanford 

0.20 SN 667145 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 380



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS116 Glangrwyney  Two Rivers, Glangrwyney 2 SO 236163 Agricultural Land – 

also car boot sale 

field  

Campsite  

 
 

P
age 381



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS082 Glyntawe Land at Heol Callwen, Glyntawe 0.12 SN 848166 Agricultural Residential – 2/4 Dwellings 

 
 

 

P
age 382



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS005 Govilon School Lane, Govilon, Abergavenny 1.03 SO 269135 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 383



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS017 Govilon Land at the end of Blaenavon Road, Govilon 0.1 SO 275139 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

 

P
age 384



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS018 Govilon Paddock at Ty Newydd, 

Govilon, Abergavenny 

0.5 SO 272140 Agricultural  Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 385



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size   

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS019 Govilon 4 Houses and Land on the East Boundary of Govilon, 

Merthyr Road, Govilon 

1.2 SO 272139 Residential, Amenity & 

Agricultural 

Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 386



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS027 Govilon Houses to the East of Govilon, Blaenavon Road, 

Govilon 

3 SO 276138 Residential  Residential  

 
 

P
age 387



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS078 Govilon Land at Churchmeadow, Govilon 1.63 SO 264139 Agricultur

al 

Residential – approx. 30 dwellings  

 
 

 

P
age 388



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS080 Govilon Land South of Merthyr Road (B4246) and East of 

Elms Road, Govilon 

5.87 SO 271138 Agricultural 

and 

Woodland  

Residential, Open Space/Leisure and Nature 

Conservation/Woodland Walk 

 
 

P
age 389



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS083 Govilon Canal and River Trust Land at Govilon, The Wharf, 

Govilon 

0.76 SO 271137 Waterways and 

Boat Storage 

Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 390



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS001 Hay-on-Wye Pharos Field, Hay-on-Wye 0.25 SO 229418 Disused Community Land Residential – 8 dwellings 

 
 

 

P
age 391



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS002 Hay-on-Wye Pharos Field, Hay-on-Wye 0.38 SO 229418 Disused Community Land Residential – approx. 10/12 dwellings if funds 

can’t be raised for community hall 

 
 

 

P
age 392



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS072 Hay-on-Wye Land to the rear of Brooklands, Hay on Wye 0.74 SO 233422 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 393



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS086 Libanus Land adjacent to Caer af Allen, Libanus (Allocated as 

‘Existing Community Use’ within LDP) 

0.2 SN 992260 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 394



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS075 Llanbedr Land West of Pont Faen, Llanbedr, Crickhowell 0.76 SO 237202 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 395



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS087 Llanbedr Land adjacent to St Peter's Close, Llanbedr, 

Crickhowell 

0.38 SO 239201 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 396



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS037 Llandyfan Land adjacent and to the South of Talgarth 

Farm, Llandyfan, Ammanford 

0.65 SN 650159 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 397



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS038 Llandyfan Second Land at and to the South of Talgarth Farm, 

Llandyfan, Ammanford 

0.25 SN 650158 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 398



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS014 Llanelly Hill Former Playing Fields, Darenfelin Primary School, 

Llanelly Hill 

 SO 219123 Former School and 

Playing Field  

Residential  

 
 

P
age 399



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS069 Llanvihangel 

Crucorney 

Land at Pen y Dre Caravan Park, Pen y Dre Farm, 

Llanvihangel 

0.47 SO 324203 Residential Caravan 

Site 

Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 400



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS070 Llanvihangel 

Crucorney 

Pen y Dre Yard and adjoining land, Llanvihangel 

Crucorney 

0.35 SO 323202 Commercial Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 401



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS071 Llanvihangel 

Crucorney 

Land at Crossways, change of settlement boundary, 

Pen y Dre Farm, Llanvihangel Crucorney 

1.86 SO 323200 Residential  Residential  

 
 

P
age 402



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS023 Llanfrynach  Maen-du, nr Maes y Ffynnon, Brecon 0.31 SO 077257 Agricultural  Residential  

 
 

P
age 403



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS066 Llanfrynach Land to the rear of Waunberllan, 

Llanfrynach 

1.11 SO 073259 Agricultural Residential  

 

P
age 404



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS044 Llangattock The Rectory Field adjacent to Rectory Cottage, 

Llangattock, Crickhowell 

1.10 SO 207178 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 405



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS049 Llangattock Land at the Legar, Llangattock, Crickhowell 6.67 SO 217177 Agricultural – Keeping 

of Horses  

Agricultural – Keeping of Horses  

 
 

 

P
age 406



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS061 Llangattock Park Lands off Beachwood Road, Llangattock, 

Crickhowell 

1.41 SO 211174 Agricultural Residential  

 

P
age 407



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS067 Llangattock Land off St Catwgs Close, Llangattock 0.18 SO 210179 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 408



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS068 Llangattock Land opposite Lower Terrace, 

Llangattock 

0.61 SO 208184 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

P
age 409



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS064 Llangors Land adjoining New Llangors Primary School, Llangors 0.78 SO 133276 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 410



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS065 Llangors Land South of Orchard View, Llangors 0.45 SO 133281 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 411



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS091 Llangors Land adjacent to Old School Site, Llangors 0.1 SO 134276 Ornamental/Landscap

ed amenity land and 

car park 

Residential 

 
 

P
age 412



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS104 Llangors Land adjacent to The Plas, Llangors, Brecon 0.61 SO 137275 Agricultural Residential – approx. 10 dwellings 

 
 

 

P
age 413



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS051 Llangynidr Land at Cwm Crawnon Road, Llangynidr 1.25 SO 153196 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 414



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS057 Llangynidr Land to the rear of Clos Castell, Llangynidr 1.24 SO 154196 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 415



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS062 Llangyndir Coed yr Ynys Caravan Park, Llangynidr, Crickhowell 0.85 SO 149201 Static Caravan Site Residential  

 
 

P
age 416



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS063 Llangynidr Land on Eastend of Ynys Villa, Cwm 

Crawnon Road, Llangynidr 

1.05 SO 154197 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 417



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS093 Llanigon Land adjacent to Digeddi Villas, Llanigon 0.21 SO 213401 Community Use 

(recreation ground) 

Residential 

 
 

P
age 418



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS052 Llanspyddid Land adjacent to Llanspyddid Village, 

Llanspyddid, Brecon 

1.9 SO 013282 Agricultural Mixed Use – Residential, 

community facilities, open space 

 
 

P
age 419



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS053 Llanspyddid Site 2 - Land adjacent to Llanspyddid Village, 

Llanspyddid, Brecon 

1.1 SO 013282 Agricultural  Mixed Use – Residential, 

community facilities, open space 

 
 

P
age 420



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS028 Llantilo 

Pertholey 

Depot for A.L.D Plant Hire, Llantilo 

Pertholey, Mardy, Abergavenny 

0.77 SO 309167 Commercial 

Depot 

Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 421



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS004 Mamhilad Land on west side of Chestnut Cottage, 

Mamhilad, Pontypool 

0.41 SO 310051 Unused - 

Agricultura

l  

Small scale residential 

 
 

P
age 422



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS058 Pencelli Land adjoining Oak View, Pencelli (partly 

allocated within LDP for housing) 

0.65 SO 093250 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

P
age 423



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS112 Penderyn Land East of Pontpren, Penderyn 1.4 SN 951081 Agricultural with 

cottages to the south 

Residential – approx. 25 dwellings  

 
 

P
age 424



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS077 Pennorth Land at Cynghordy Farm, Pennorth, Brecon 

(allocated within LDP for housing) 

0.41 SO 115259 Agricultural 

with buildings  

Residential 

 
 

P
age 425



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS024 Ponsticill  Penrhadwy Farm, Ponsticill, Merthyr 

Tydfil 

7.89 SO 054111 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 426



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS109 Pontsticill Land South of Vaynor Road, Vaynor, 

Pontsticill 

0.7 SO 053108 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 427



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS111 Ponsticill Land south-west of Pontsticill House, Vaynor 

Road, Vaynor, Pontsticill 

SO 053107 0.3 Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 428



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid 

Ref 

Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS006 Sennybridge 

& Defynnog 

Penpentre Field (North), Defynnog 0.34 SN 

927276 

Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 429



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS007 Sennybridge 

& Defynnog 

Penpentre Field (South), Defynnog 0.39 SN 

927275 

Agricultural Residential 

 
 

 

P
age 430



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS050 Sennybridge 

& Defynnog 

Plot between Glynden House and Sennybridge Training Camp, 

Sennybridge 

0.33 SN 923293 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 431



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS022 Talgarth Land off Regent Street, Talgarth 0.54 SO 155334 Agricultural Residential  

 
 

 

P
age 432



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS048 Talgarth Land West of New Talgarth Primary School. Hay Road, Talgarth 1.83 SO 153343 Agricultural Residential – approx. 

50 dwellings  

 
 

 

P
age 433



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size 

(Ha) 

Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS113 Talgarth De-commissioned Talgarth CP School Site, 

Back Lane, Talgarth 

0.55 SO 155339 Former Primary School Residential – 100% affordable 

 
 

P
age 434



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS032 Trallong Site 1 Land at Pentre-bach, Trallong, 

Brecon 

0.30 SN 969296 Agricultural Residential – 3/4 

dwellings  

 
 

 

P
age 435



CS ID 

No. 

Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current 

Use 

Proposed Use 

2CS033 Trallong Site 2 Land at Trallong, Brecon 0.25 SN 967296 Agricultural  Residential – 3/4 

dwellings  

 
 

 

P
age 436



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed Use 

2CS076 Trapp Land at Trapp, 

Carmarthenshire 

0.084 SN 653189 Former Residential 

Curtilage  

One dwelling and introduction of development limits for all 

parts of Trapp 

 
 

 

P
age 437



CS ID No. Location Site Name & Address Size (Ha) Grid Ref Current Use Proposed 

Use 

2CS096 Tretower Land North of A479, Tretower 0.41 SO 186214 Vacant Industrial Workshop Residential  

 
 

P
age 438



1 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Development Plan 

 

Candidate Sites 

Proposed Assessment Methodology 

 

November 2018 

 

 

Page 439



2 
 

Candidate Sites – Proposed Assessment Methodology 

Introduction 

This paper establishes a methodology for evaluating the suitability of potential development sites for 

inclusion in the revised Local Development Plan (LDP) for the Brecon Beacon National Park Authority 

(BBNPA). This document will be used as part of the evidence base to support the Authority’s approach 

towards identifying those sites included within the revised LDP and those not included.  

Candidate Sites and the Local Development Plan 

The LDP, through the Candidate Sites process, will identify land to address development needs for 

various land uses, including but not limited to the following: 

 Residential 

 Employment 

 Education 

 Recreation and Leisure 

 Other Community Facilities 

 Retail 

 Tourism 

 Gypsy and Travellers 

 Minerals and Resources 

 Renewable Energy Technology 

The evidence gathering exercise is an important process and submissions must be accompanied with 

an appropriate level of information to justify the proposed site’s inclusion in the LDP.   

Threshold for Candidate Sites 

Where a site is being proposed for residential use only, the threshold for submission of a candidate 

site is 3 dwellings or more. There is no minimum threshold for all other land use site submissions.  

Overview of the Proposed Methodology 

The proposed methodology involves a two stage call for candidate sites: 

Stage 1 involves an initial call for sites which will help the Authority in setting their Preferred Strategy.  

The initial call will simply involve a submission from the public, landowners/developers and will be a 

red line plan showing the boundary of the proposed site along with some basic information.  The initial 

call will benefit the Authority as it will give a picture of the land available to help inform a Preferred 

Strategy, but it will also assist landowners/developers in that they are not spending time and money 

on making candidate site submissions which could be contrary to a Preferred Strategy. 

Once the Stage 1 initial call for sites has ended, a candidate sites register will be opened.  The candidate 

sites register is simply a record of submitted sites. The sites submitted during this stage will inform 

the preparation of the Preferred Strategy. Following the initial call for sites and using the candidate 

sites register, the Authority will then set its Preferred Strategy.   

At this stage there will be a high level assessment (i.e. initial sift) of all sites submitted in order to help 

inform the Preferred Strategy.  The initial sift will involve an assessment of sites against current 

Page 440



3 
 

constraints, with particular attention given to ‘greater than local constraints’ (i.e. the constraints 

imposed by Welsh Government/NRW etc. which are not local constraints).  A further sift might then 

be necessary to check compatibility with any emerging Preferred Strategy.  Any sites which are 

assessed as having insurmountable constraints to development (such as residential proposals in C2 

flood zone) will be filtered out and not pursued any further. The Authority may alert the submitter 

that the site(s) will not be pursued any further.   

Once the Preferred Strategy has been set, the Stage 2 Further Call for Candidate Sites and Detailed 

Information can then begin.  Developers/landowners will be aware of the LDP Preferred Strategy at 

this stage.  At Stage 2, detailed information for those sites submitted during the initial call for sites that 

are compatible with the Preferred Strategy should be submitted in order to provide evidence on a 

site’s deliverability and viability.  Stage 2 is also an opportunity for developers and landowners to 

submit completely new sites, providing they are compatible with the Preferred Strategy.  Following 

the conclusion of Stage 2, the candidate sites register will be updated with any new sites received, 

published and comments may be invited.   

All candidate sites which have been accompanied with a full set of detailed information will then be 

assessed, including against the sustainability appraisal (SA) framework.  Any comments received will 

be summarised as part of the assessment.  All sites that progress through this stage will be considered 

for inclusion in the Deposit LDP.  The SA/SEA work will need to be continually updated in order to 

reflect the different stages of this process.  It will need to address how the Authority arrived at its 

Preferred Strategy and the Preferred Strategy will need to be assessed against the SA/SEA Framework 

itself.  The individual sites submitted as part of Stage 1 do not necessarily need to be assessed against 

the SA/SEA Framework as these will be part of the market evidence used to shape the Preferred 

Strategy.  The market evidence will help the Authority to identify where the market is seeking to 

provide sites, which will be a consideration in devising the Preferred Strategy. All candidate sites 

remaining in the process at Stage 2 will all be subject to SA/SEA.      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 441



4 
 

An overview of the process can be viewed below: 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Update and Publish Candidate Sites Register  

 

Stage 2: Further Call for Candidate Sites and Detailed Information                                     

(12 weeks) 

 

 

Stage 3: Assessment (Stages 3A and 3B) including SA/SEA Assessment 

 

Stage 1: Initial Call for Sites (9 weeks) 

 

Deposit LDP 

 

Opening of Candidate Sites Register and Initial High Level Assessment of Sites 

 

LDP Preferred Strategy 

 

Sites in conformity with Emerging LDP 

Preferred Strategy 

 

Sites with insurmountable constraints – 

End of the process 

 

Page 442



5 
 

Stage 1: Initial Call for Sites 

As noted above, the initial call will assist the Local Authority in understanding what land is available to 

define their Preferred Strategy, but it will also assist the developers/landowners in that they are not 

spending time and money on making candidate site submissions which are clearly going to be contrary 

to a Preferred Strategy.   

Appendix 1 sets out the information that a developer/landowner will be expected to provide as part 

of this stage. This will then allow the Authority to identify the broad locations on a map to inform 

their Preferred Strategy.   

Opening of Candidate Sites Register 

Following the initial call for sites, the Authority must compile a Candidate Sites Register and publish it 

on the Authority’s website and make the document available for inspection at the designated deposit 

points.  The Candidate Sites Register must include a clearly defined outline of the site on an OS base 

plan along with the following information: 

 Site: 

 Total size (ha): 

o Greenfield (ha): (Gross/Net) 

o Brownfield (ha): (Gross/Net) 

 Submitted by: 

 Current site use: 

 Proposed use: 

The Candidate Sites Register will be open to the public; however it will be open for information 

purposes only.   

A high level site assessment process will take place to consider factors such as insurmountable 

constraints, for example C2 flood risk, and particular attention will be given to ‘greater than local 

constraints’ (i.e. the constraints imposed by Welsh Government and NRW etc.).  As noted above, a 

further sift might also be necessary as a Preferred Strategy starts to emerge.  This initial sifting process 

will help to inform the Preferred Strategy. Those sites that fail this initial assessment will not be 

considered suitable for further consideration as part of the LDP process and will be filtered out.  Sites 

that are considered suitable for the proposed use can be taken forward to stage 2.  The Authority will 

inform site promoters accordingly if their sites will not be taken any further.  

LDP Preferred Strategy 

The LDP Preferred Strategy should be devised following the initial call for sites.  Once the LDP 

Preferred Strategy is established, this will give developers and land agents the knowledge with regard 

to what the Authority is seeking and should prevent the submission of additional sites which are 

completely contrary to the Preferred Strategy. 

 

 

 

Page 443



6 
 

Stage 2: Further Call for Candidate Sites and Detailed Information 

At Stage 2, additional detailed information will need to be provided for those sites submitted during 

the initial call for sites that satisfied the high level initial assessment. This information will need to be 

submitted via a standardised form as set out in Appendix 2. This will ensure that the required additional 

information is provided in order to undertake a full assessment of the site. Any sites submitted as part 

of Stage 1 which are not supplemented with a standardised form at Stage 2, will not be assessed and 

will not be considered for inclusion in the LDP. 

At stage 2 there is also an opportunity to submit additional candidate sites, providing 

developers/landowners believe they conform to the Preferred Strategy.  All candidate sites will need 

to be submitted via a standardised form as set out in Appendix 2. In order to be assessed and to be 

considered for the LDP, a candidate site must be accompanied with a completed standardised form. 

The standardised form contains criteria to assist the Authority in assessing the suitability of the sites 

for inclusion as allocations in the LDP.   

The submission form must include an indicative timetable for delivery.   

Candidate site submissions must answer all the questions set out in Appendix 2.  If there is a realistic 

prospect of site delivery within the plan period, then it is expected that these questions can be 

addressed.  

The applicant or site proposer may need to submit viability information in order to support their 

submission, should the Authority request this. Following a request, if the viability information is not 

provided, then it is likely the proposed site will not proceed any further in the process and will not be 

allocated. 

Update and Publish the Candidate Sites Register  

Following Stage 2 further call for candidate sites, it is expected a number of new sites will emerge 

once developers and landowners are fully aware of the LDP Preferred Strategy.  As a result, the 

Candidate Sites Register will be updated, published on the Authority’s website and made available for 

inspection at the National Park HQ in Brecon. Any comments received from the public at this stage 

will be kept on file and considered at as part of the stage 3 assessment process.  

Stage 3 Candidate Sites Assessment 

The Stage 3 Candidate Sites Assessment is split into two sections.  Stage 3A will involve a more 

detailed assessment of candidate sites at an officer level using a ‘traffic light’ coding system.  Stage 3B 

will then involve the assessed sites going out to consultation to the National Park Authority’s 

constituent Unitary Authorities for advice on matters such as highways and education, as well as 

external consultation with statutory agencies such as Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water and National Grid.  

This split approach is intended to filter out any non-deliverable or inappropriate sites so that internal 

and statutory consultees are only commenting on sites that have a reasonable chance of being allocated 

in the LDP and ultimately being delivered.  During this stage, the candidate sites will need to be 

assessed against the BBNPA’s SA/SEA Framework.  The SA/SEA Framework will be developed at an 

earlier stage of the LDP process. Candidate sites will need to be assessed against these objectives in 

terms of whether they will contribute positively or negatively.  

 

Page 444



7 
 

 

Stage 3A  

A ‘traffic light’ coding system will be used by the Authority in order to identify which sites are more 

desirable and which sites are less so.  The ‘traffic light’ coding system is as follows: 

 Impact 

Proposed site is expected to have significant positive impacts  

Proposed site is expected to have some positive impacts  

Proposed site is expected to have a neutral impact  

Proposed site is expected to have some negative impacts  

Proposed site is expected to have significant negative impacts  

The impact of the proposed site cannot be predicted at this stage  

 

  The criteria to be assessed are: 

 Land - Planning Policy Wales emphasises the importance of re-using brownfield sites.  

Therefore previously developed land will rank higher than greenfield sites.  The proximity to 

existing settlements will also be a consideration.  It is understood that in some situations 

where a developer is seeking to promote a significant new devlopment, then such a site will 

not be part of the existing settlement boundary.  Therefore consideration will need to be 

given to its proximity to existing settlements and transport linkages proposed between new 

settlements and existing settlements.  

 Availability and Deliverability – The Authority will need to have a reasonable degree of 

confidence that the site will actually be delivered and there are no significant obstacles, 

including legal issues, to delivery.   

 Accessibility – The importance of reducing the need to travel and new developments having 

access to a range of key services is set out in national policy.   

 Historic and Cultural Landscape – Potential impact on historic landscapes, conservation areas 

and listed buildings will need to be considered. 

 Environmental – Sites which impact on the following environmental designations will need 

careful consideration: 

o Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

o Site of Specific Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

o Ramsar Site 

o Special Protection Area (SPA) 

o Sites of Important Nature Conservation (SINC) 

Loss of protected woodland/trees/hedgerows will need to be avoided as much as possible, 

and schemes which have an impact on air quality will need to demonstrate appropriate 

mitigation. 

 Physical – The existence of physical constraints, such as flood risk and topographical 

constraints will be a factor, along with agricultural land and mineral safeguarding areas; 

 Economic and Other Benefits – Certain development schemes may bring additional benefits 

to a locality, for example, assisting regeneration, bring improvements to a local highway, or 

helping to support a school at risk of closure. 

The proposed assessment template for Stage 3A can be viewed in Appendix 3. 

Page 445



8 
 

The final section of the template ‘Site Appraisal Summary’ allows for an officer recommendation and 

a comment on how the proposed site fits with the Preferred Strategy.  Following the conclusion of 

Stage 3A, a clear indication of which sites are more suitable for development will emerge.  Those sites 

which have received poor assessments and ‘show stopping’ constraints will be eliminated from the 

process. 

Stage 3B 

Stage 3B will predominately involve the infrastructure providers.  New development can often place 

additional pressure on existing infrastructure, such as water supply, drainage, sewerage, power and 

communications.  In addition, community facilities such as schools, surgeries and recreational space 

could also come under pressure.  Consequently, the Authority will need to consult the infrastructure 

providers on all sites that have successfully made it through Stage 3A.  

The Authority will encourage the infrastructure providers to assess the sites and identify any potential 

issues and what mitigation measures are likely to be necessary in order to overcome these issues.  

The Stage 3B form found in Appendix 3 will be used to capture this information. 

It is likely that the Authority will have to contact the developer or land agent to understand whether 

mitigation measures are acceptable, achievable and do not impact on the overall viability of the site.  If 

obstacles are proving insurmountable at Stage 3B, then the site will be removed.   

Deposit Local Development Plan 

Following the conclusion of the Candidate Sites Assessment, the Authority should have a list of 

viable, deliverable, sustainable sites for potential inclusion in the Deposit Local Development Plan. 

Page 446



9 
 

APPENDIX 1 – STAGE 1 INITIAL CALL FOR SITES 

Candidate Sites— A chance for you to tell us about land which you wish to be 

considered for development  

STAGE 1: INITIAL CALL FOR SITES 

The Local Development Plan (LDP) will identify land to address the National Park Authority’s 

development needs, including proposals for housing, employment, retail and community facilities.  

The Authority is hereby inviting anyone to submit sites that they wish to be considered 

for inclusion in the LDP.  

The sites may currently be either developed or undeveloped and where a site is being proposed for 

residential use only, the threshold for submission of a candidate site is 3 dwellings or more. There 

is no minimum threshold for all other land use site submission. 

Whilst there is no guarantee that sites suggested at this stage will be taken forward into the LDP,     

Candidate Site submissions allow the Authority to ascertain the availability of land for development 

during the Plan period.  All Candidate Sites will be considered on their own merits and will be 

assessed against set criteria. 

All candidate sites received by the Authority will be included on a site register that will be available 

for inspection at the National Park HQ in Brecon, and uploaded on the Authority’s website.  

If you would like to nominate a site for consideration for inclusion in the LDP, please submit 

 a completed Candidate Site Form (below) and 

 an ordnance survey based map, of minimum scale 1:2500, outlining the land for                         

consideration in RED. 

 

All completed candidate site forms must be sent to: 

Strategy and Policy, BBNP, Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HP.  

Alternatively please send electronic copies of submission to strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

The closing date for submissions is midnight on 7th January 2019. 

Please note that the information provided cannot be treated as confidential and all candidate sites 

submitted will be available for public inspection.  

CONTACT DETAILS 

Name: 

Address: 

  

Postcode: 

Telephone Number: 

Email Address: 

Page 447

mailto:strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk


10 
 

AGENT’S CONTACT DETAILS (IF APPLICABLE) 

Name: 

Address: 

Postcode: 

Telephone Number: 

Email Address: 

SITE DETAILS: 

Name: 

Address: 

  

  

Post Code: 

Grid Ref: 

  

Total size (ha): 

Greenfield (ha): (Gross/Net) 

Brownfield (ha): (Gross/Net) 

Current site use: 

 

 

Proposed use: 

 

 

Current planning status (if known): 

 

 

Location (Edged red on an accompanying Ordnance Survey Plan): 

 

Page 448



11 
 

SITE SUITABILITY ISSUES 

Question Yes No Comments/further details/mitigation 

proposed 

Does the site have any known physical 

constraints (e.g. topography, access, 

severe slope, vegetation cover etc.) 

      

Is the site within a C1 or C2 flood risk 

zone? 

  

      

Is this site affected by any known ‘bad 

neighbour’ uses (e.g. power lines, 

railway lines, major highways, heavy 

industry)? 

      

Is there a possibility that the site is 

contaminated? 

      

Is the site subject to any other known 

key constraints? 

      

Any additional notes about site suitability: 

  

  

  

  

 

Any additional information to support the representation can be continued on a separate sheet if 

necessary. 

Thank you for your early cooperation in the process. 

 

Please return to:  

Strategy and Policy, BBNP, Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HP. 

Alternatively please send electronic copies of submission to strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk. 

 

 

Page 449



12 
 

APPENDIX 2 – CANDIDATE SITE FORM 

STAGE 2: FURTHER CANDIDATE SITE FORM AND DETAILED 

INFORMATION 
 

The Local Development Plan (LDP) will identify land to address the National Park’s development 

needs, including proposals for housing, employment, retail and community facilities.  

The Authority is hereby inviting anyone to submit sites that they wish to be 

considered for inclusion in the LDP.  

The sites may currently be either developed or undeveloped and the threshold for sites that are 

for residential uses only are for 3 dwellings or more. There is no minimum threshold for all 

other land use site submission. 

Whilst there is no guarantee that sites suggested at this stage will be taken forward into the 

LDP,     Candidate Site submissions allow the Authority to ascertain the availability of land for 

development during the Plan period.  All Candidate Sites will be considered on their own merits 

and will be assessed against set criteria. 

All candidate sites received by the Authority will be included on a site register that will be 

available for inspection at the National Park HQ in Brecon, and uploaded on the Authority’s 

website.  

If you would like to nominate a site for consideration for inclusion in the LDP, please submit 

 a completed Candidate Site Form (below) and 

 an ordnance survey based map, of minimum scale 1:2500, outlining the land for                         

consideration in RED. 

 

All completed candidate site forms must be sent to: 

Strategy and Policy, BBNP, Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HP.  

Alternatively please send electronic copies of submission to strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

 

Please note that the information provided cannot be treated as confidential and all candidate      

sites submitted will be available for public inspection.  

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Name: 

 

Address: 

 

 

 

 

Postcode: 

 

Telephone Number: 

 

Email Address: 

 

 

 

Page 450

mailto:strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk


13 
 

AGENT’S CONTACT DETAILS (IF APPLICABLE) 

Name: 

 

Address: 

 

 

 

Postcode: 

 

Telephone Number: 

 

Email Address: 

 

SITE DETAILS 

Site Name: 

Location (Edged red on an accompanying Ordnance Survey Plan): 

 

 

Site Area (Hectares): 

Estimated Gross/Net Greenfield Land: 

Estimated Gross/Net Brownfield Land: 

Grid Reference (If known): 

 

Current Use(s): 

 

 

Proposed Use(s): 

 

 

Brief description of proposal (if residential, please give an estimate of the number of units): 

 

 

 

 

OWNERSHIP 

   

 Yes No 

Is the site wholly in the ownership of the proposer?   

If not, are all other land owners aware of this submission?   

 

If multiple landowners are involved, please provide an Ordnance Survey Plan clearly identifying 

the parcels of land owned, and please provide contact details of all owners. 

 

 

 

SITE SUITABILITY ISSUES 

Question Yes No Comments/further 

details/mitigation proposed 

Does the site have any physical 

constraints (e.g. topography, access, 

severe slope, vegetation cover etc.) 

   

Is the site within a C1 or C2 flood risk 

zone? 

 

   

Page 451



14 
 

Is this site affected by ‘bad neighbour’ 

uses (e.g. power lines, railway lines, 

major highways, heavy industry)? 

   

Is there a possibility that the site is 

contaminated? 

   

Is the site subject to any other key 

constraints? 

   

Any additional notes about site suitability: 

 

 

 

 

 

UTILITIES 

Is the site capable of connection to the following services? 

 

 

Mains water supply 

 

Electrical supply 

 

Landline telephone 

 

 

[      ] 

 

[      ] 

 

[      ] 

 

Mains sewerage 

 

Gas supply 

 

Broadband 

 

[      ] 

 

[      ] 

 

[      ] 

Other (please specify): 

 

Please provide any further details: 

 

 

 

 

TRANSPORT 

Is the site currently accessible from the existing highway network?  If not, please  

explain/demonstrate on an accompanying plan how access could be achieved: 

 

 

 

 

What are the opportunities for modal shift and increasing sustainable forms of transport and not 

negatively impacting on air quality? (For major developments, consideration should be given to 

providing a separate Transport Statement) 

 

 

 

 

SITE DELIVERABILITY AND VIABILITY 

Please give a likely indication of the following:  

Submission of Planning Application(s): 

 

 

Commencement on site: 

 

 

Using the timescale below, please give an indication of the build rates: 

 

Page 452



15 
 

Please indicate an approximate timescale for site delivery: 

 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 

 

    

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

 

 

    

2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 

 

 

    

What constraints/covenants on the site would need to be overcome before development can 

commence and how would this be achieved? 

 

 

 

 

 

Does the site (or part of the site) currently have planning permission, or has the site obtained 

planning permission in the past?  If so, why has it not been delivered? 

 

 

 

 

 

Have you undertaken any site surveys?  If so, please provide details. 

 

 

 

 

 

If you are the landowner, have you engaged with/undertaken any discussions with a potential 

developer(s)? 

 

 

 

 

Is the site financially viable to come forward? 

 

 

 

 

The Authority may seek a viability assessment on your site in order to demonstrate whether its 

delivery is viable or not.  Failure to submit a viability assessment when requested may result in 

your proposed site not being allocated. 

 

Any additional information to support the representation can be continued on a separate sheet if 

necessary. 

Thank you for your cooperation in the process. 

 

Please return to:  

Strategy and Policy, BBNP, Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HP. 

 

Alternatively please send electronic copies of submission to strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk. 

Page 453

mailto:strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk


16 
 

APPENDIX 3 

STAGE 3 ASSESSMENT 

3A 
SITE:   

 

 

CONFORMITY WITH LDP PREFERRED STRATEGY: 

 

 

 

LAND  FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Previously Developed Land or Greenfield? 

 Within settlement boundary/adjacent/outside? 

 

AVAILABILITY 

AND 

DELIVERABILITY 

 FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Land ownership 

 Obstacles to delivery 

 Legal obstacles to delivery 

 Viability concerns 

ACCESSIBILITY  FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Proximity to community facilities/likelihood of providing new facilities? 

 Proximity to regular bus and rail services/likelihood of providing new services? 

 Proximity to proposed Metro nodes? 

 Proximity to cycle routes/walking routes? 

 

HISTORIC AND 

CULTURAL 

LANDSCAPE 

 FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Impact on a Scheduled Ancient Monument? 

 Impact on a Listed Building? 

 Adjacent/within a Conservation Area? 

 Impact on Registered Historic Park/Garden or Historic Landscape/Areas of Special Archaeological Sensitivity? 

 

P
age 454



17 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL  FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Impact on European or National ecological designations? 

 Impact of local ecological designations? 

 Will there be a loss of protected woodland/trees/hedgerow? 

 Will there be a negative impact on air quality or an air quality management area? 

 Is the site within an area of landscape sensitivity? 

 

PHYSICAL  FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Flood risk zone? 

 Topographical constraints? 

 Contaminated land? 

 BMV agricultural land? 

 Mineral safeguarding area 

 Bad neighbours? 

ECONOMIC AND 

OTHER BENEFITS 

 FACTORS TO CONSIDER  

 Likely number of jobs? 

 Potential for delivering new community facilities/saving existing facilities? 

 Regeneration benefits? 

 Potential for delivering highway improvements? 

 

SITE APPRAISAL SUMMARY 

 

[Including summary of public views following consultation of Candidate Sites] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 455



18 
 

STAGE 3 ASSESSMENT 

3B 

SERVICE PROVIDER 

 

SUMMARY OF COMMENTS AND POTENTIAL ISSUES MITIGATION NECESSARY 

NRW  

 

 

Power  

 

 

Water/Sewerage   

 

 

Communications  

 

 

Health 

 

  

   

Education  

 

 

Highways  

 

 

Environmental Health  

 

 

Other internal consultees  

 

 

 

OVERALL 

CONCLUSION AND 

NEXT STEPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 456



Addendum to the Enabling Appropriate Development in the 
Countryside SPG  

June 2019

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 25th June 2019

Report Author Helen Lucocq / Naomi Davies

Job title Principal Planning Officer (Policy) / Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details Helen.lococq@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Naomi.davies@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek members’ approval to endorse an addendum to the 
approved Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (NPA March 2015). 

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The LDP has been subject to separate SIA the 
findings of which demonstrated the significant 
positive impacts of the LDP on the National Park  

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Addendum to Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) That Members endorse the Addendum to Enabling 
Appropriate Development in the Countryside 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (NPA, March 
2015) for the use in the determination of planning 
applications.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside SPG was approved by 
National Park Authority on May 22nd 2015 and is material in the determination of 
planning applications. The SPG provides guidance on the implementation of policy 
CYD LP1 in relation to the principle of development. It has come to the attention of 
the Strategy and Policy team that additional detail is needed in relation to the 
conversion of traditional buildings, with specific reference to appropriate design 

Page 457

Agenda Item 14

mailto:Helen.lococq@beacons-npa.gov.uk


considerations. Accordingly Officers are proposing an addendum to the SPG to provide 
detailed guidance to applicants and DM officers with regard to how traditional buildings 
can be adapted for new uses without impacting on their intrinsic character.

Members will recall that Officers sought leave to consult on this Addendum at the 
meeting of the National Park Authority on the 12th February this year.

This consultation took place between the 7th March and the 2nd May.  The consultation 
was advertised by Notice in the Brecon and Radnor Express.  Individual consultees were 
notified by email and/or letter.

1.2 Proposals
During the 8 week public consultation period, no consultation responses were received 
in relation to the proposed additions to the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). As 
a result of this, no amendments have been made to the SPG addendum as consulted 
upon. It is therefore proposed that the document be endorsed as an addendum to the 
approved Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside Supplementary Planning 
Guidance and become material in the determination of planning applications. 

1.3 Implications
The proposed addendum provides detailed guidance on how a traditional rural building 
can be adapted to future beneficial use without significant impact on the character of the 
building within the landscape. Officers have identified this as a gap within the policy 
framework which the addendum seeks to address.  It is anticipated that this guidance 
will improve the quality of future conversions by providing detailed, practical guidance in 
relation to what is appropriate in a National Park context.

1.4 Risk
The LDP does not contain detailed design guidance in relation to the conversion of 
traditional buildings and this has been identified as a risk to the cultural heritage of the 
National Park. The conservation of the area’s Cultural Heritage is a component of 
National Park 1st purpose as set out in the Environment Act (1995).

1.5 Conclusion
The proposed addendum to Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (NPA, March 2015), provides detailed design guidance 
in relation to the conversion of traditional rural buildings. It will provide a framework 
against which schemes for the conversion of traditional buildings should be designed and 
determined.  The aim of the addendum is to aid in the conservation and enhancement 
the cultural heritage of the National Park and to guide prospective applicants.

Officers are seeking member approval to endorse the addendum to Enabling 
Appropriate Development in the Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance (NPA, 
March 2015) for use in the determination of planning applications.

Page 458



RECOMMENDATION:

That Members endorse the Addendum to Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(NPA, March 2015) for the use in the determination of planning 
applications.

Page 459



This page is intentionally left blank



3.6 Development Management Issues

3.6.1 Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development (Welsh Government February 2014) provides 
National Policy Context for the re-use and adaptation of existing rural-buildings.  The following 
section sets out how the NPA will apply this guidance in the determination of planning 
applications as relates to the design of future conversions.  Whereas this document relates to 
development outside of settlement boundaries, the guidance set out below will be of relevance 
to the conversion of traditional buildings in all areas of the National Park including settlements.  
The proposal should satisfy the following appropriate development control considerations: 

i. The building should be structurally sound and of substantial traditional construction and 
materials, and capable of re-use without substantial reconstruction;

ii. Extensions or modifications will not normally be acceptable but may be considered 
where they are essential to a scheme proceeding and are of a scale and nature which do 
not detract from the character and appearance of the original building;

iii. Any external features of architectural or historic interest should be retained, particularly 
those that signal the building’s former use.  For listed buildings; the treatment of the 
interior and retention of features of historic interest will also be a key consideration;

iv. Any commercial  re-use would not be harmful to the amenity of nearby residents or 
other sensitive land uses through noise, light, etc,  emissions or additional  traffic 
generation; 

v. The access to the building and the local highway network are adequate to cater for the 
nature and volume of traffic likely to be generated;

vi. Sufficient parking and manoeuvring space is available within the site;
vii. The existence of all necessary services or the capability of their ready and economic 

provision. The proposal should not overload or disrupt existing services and the impact 
of any new overhead services on the landscape will be considered. Alternative forms of 
provision could be considered; 

viii. The site should provide adequate private amenity space to meet the needs of the 
intended use; 

ix. Boundary treatments should be appropriate for the context of the area and should 
ensure that the area remains open in character where this was traditionally the case. 
Where boundary treatments such as gates, walls or native hedges already form part of 
the traditional character of the countryside location, these should be incorporated into 
any scheme. Opportunities for the repair of boundary structures where necessary will 
be favoured over their replacement;

3.6.2 Any planning permission granted for a conversion scheme will usually have conditions attached 
to ensure that the development is carried out during the construction phase  and in operation, 
in a way that satisfies planning policies. Whilst this is not an exhaustive list, typically 
conversions of rural buildings will have conditions relating to the following matters:

 Removal of permitted development rights for future alteration, extension, 
outbuildings and enclosures;

 Samples of materials for any new  walling, roofing, windows and doors, to be used in 
construction to be submitted and approved;

 Method statements and sample panels for restoration of existing stone walls 
 Method statements for the protection of protected species (where appropriate); and 
 Landscaping scheme and implementation timescale.
 A program of building recording
 Archaeology recording as necessary.
 Restrictions on the uses of the buildings 

Page 461



3.6.3 It is essential that these conditions are complied with before, during and after the works to 
convert the rural building. If they are not, the Authority has enforcement powers to rectify 
the breach of planning control. Failure to comply with pre- commencement conditions, for 
example, could render the whole development unauthorised, necessitating the submission of 
a further planning application which may not be acceptable, depending on the nature of the 
breach.

3.6.4 Many buildings in the countryside provide a suitable habitat for a number of protected species 
including bats, barn owls and nesting birds. The LDP has policies specifically relating to 
developments which affect protected species and further advice is available in the Biodiversity 
and Development SPG. 

Building Regulations  

3.6.5 Building regulations are separate issue to planning permission and listed building consent.    The 
requirements of building regulation for insulation, natural lighting and ventilation might not be 
achieved without the loss of the building’s essential features, if so alternative uses should be 
considered. Early consultation with the Building Control department of the relevant local 
authority is encouraged.   Fire safety requirements which form part of the building regulations 
will be particularly important.  There is flexibility in applying Part L of the Building Regulations 
(Conservation of Fuel and Power) where listed buildings are concerned and the requirements 
of the regulations would harm the historic or architectural interest of the building.   

General Design Principles

3.6.6 The following principles generally applies to the conversion of traditional stone built buildings 
where traditional materials and building techniques will need to be utilised.  The principles are 
intended as a general guide to the renovation and conversion of rural buildings and should not 
be regarded as an exhaustive design checklist as each building will have its own unique 
character and will present different design opportunities and constraints. 

3.6.7 The character of a rural building is derived from its original function and every effort should 
be made to retain the original simplicity of scale and form, and to alter as little as possible 
both internally and externally. 

A) Setting

3.6.8 Minimising the impact on the setting should be the most important aspect of a project. It is 
therefore important that rural developments do not result 
in the domestication or urbanisation of their countryside 
setting. 

3.6.9 Farm Buildings are often found within farmyards in a 
functional setting with simple surfaces and an absence of 
‘accessories’ such as gardens, fences, car parking areas, 
lighting, waste bins etc. This can easily lead to a 
domesticated setting which the Authority will aim to 
mitigate through landscaping conditions on planning 
consents. 

3.6.10 Rural chapels usually have a church yard associated with them and this can be particularly 
sensitive if there are burials, some of which may be in unmarked graves.  You are always 
advised to consult with an archaeologist in relation to development of Rural chapels.

Page 462



3.6.11 Hard landscaping should be sympathetic to the rural setting, avoiding tarmac surfaces, formal 
drives and modern kerbs.  Gravel or bonded aggregate surfaces create a ‘softer’ appearance 
and can be successful in the rural context.   If possible, highway standards requiring large 
visibility splays, turning circles and street lighting should be avoided. 

 Where possible, anything that divides the farmyard in terms of car parking, gardens, 
amenity spaces and associated fences should be resisted and ideally be on the outside of 
the farm group;

 Obtrusive rainwater goods, indiscreet services and unnecessary overflow pipes and soil 
pipes on the outside of the building (page 23).  

3.6.12 Boundary treatments should be appropriate for the context of the area and should ensure 
that the area remains open in character where this was traditionally the case. In particular 
landscape settings, a ha ha may be the most discreet form of definition.  Opportunities to 
repair boundary structures or provide natural screening measures where necessary will be 
favoured. Existing trees, hedgerows and walls should be retained and protected, wherever 
possible. All planning applications should be accompanied by a fully detailed landscaping 
scheme. Where there is a conflict between the need to retain hedgerow features and the 
provision of safe highway vision splays then an appropriate balance will be sought

3.6.13 The addition of ancillary structures and outbuildings can cause the domestication or 
urbanisation of the setting of rural buildings and will therefore be strictly controlled. Such 
structures include garden buildings and garages. The siting of these structures needs to be 
carefully considered to retain the character of the area and may be resisted. Necessary 
permitted development rights for such development will be removed to protect the rural 
character of the site.   With any conversion, and particularly domestic conversions, care also 
is needed to be given to the siting of refuse bins, and structures such as oil or gas tanks.   If it 
can be achieved without significant alteration, existing outbuildings may be able to provide 
storage or garaging, avoiding the need for new structures.  

B) Roof

3.6.14 The roof profile, form and materials should be retained. 
Applicants should avoid raising the roof, altering the pitch or 
installing windows in the roof. Traditional farm buildings have 
long unbroken roof profiles and it is essential that these remain 
undisturbed. Dormers will almost always be inappropriate, 
particularly where the existing building has no dormers, unless 
there is a clear precedent for their use on buildings in the 
locality. Natural stone or Welsh slate roof coverings should be 
retained and any new tiles matched with the existing where re-
roofing or repairs are required.   Traditional corrugated iron 
can be a useful alternative to replace modern and inappropriate 
roofing materials.  

3.6.15 The number of roof lights should be kept to a minimum and 
should be flush with the roof surface and not overly large in proportion in relation the roof 
and should be of the conservation type. 
Vent pipes and flues protruding from the roof should also be 
avoided. However, a single flue pipe may be acceptable if 
carefully positioned and with a matt black or dark grey finish.  
Ventilation should be as discrete as possible and a modern ridge 
vent or tile vent may be an appropriate solution in certain 

Page 463



situations. New brick or stone chimneys are generally unacceptable.

Architectural and Historic Features

3.6.16 Where possible, features of particular architectural interest should always be preserved and 
not removed or concealed and should be integrated into the proposed conversion. Such 
featured can include dressed stones, flagged flooring, coping or string courses, arches, 
decorative brickwork, slating pattern, ventilation silts, owl holes, date stones, fixed machinery 
etc. The subdivision of internal space where it forms an integral part of the building’s character, 
will not be appropriate. 

Walls

3.6.17 Local sandstone was frequently used for the 
construction of farm buildings and other rural 
buildings. Although less prevalent, there are 
examples of brick buildings and sometimes it was 
in combination with stone for detailing such as 
around windows and doors.  Render over 
underlying masonry is also found. Should the walls 
of the proposed building require necessary repair, 
the existing stone and coursing pattern must be 
matched.  The external walls often retain 
distinctive features that should be retained, the 
most common being ventilation holes or slits, and 
date stones. 

3.6.18 The mortar used in the construction of solid walls was traditionally lime mixed with a local 
aggregate.  Lime mortar is beneficial for traditional buildings for both technical and aesthetic 
reasons.  Lime mortar should be used if sections of masonry need to be re-built and also for 
re-pointing.   New pointing should match the original lime mortar and pointing style. The 
mortar should always be softer than the material it 
is binding.  It is essential that the mortar mix used 
is aesthetically as well as technically compatible. The 
existing original lime mortar mix for pointing 
provide the best guide as to what mix and colour is 
the most appropriate. 

3.6.19 Limewash is a traditional wall finish for vernacular 
and rural buildings. Layers of limewash creates an 
authentic external finish and provides the building 
with a breathable sealant to protect it from the 
elements, and this is why it is often seen in the 
uplands.  Lime render is also used to protect the underlying stone work.

3.6.20 On listed buildings existing limewash or lime render should never be stripped to reveal bare 
stone or brick. The lime render should be complete, neither stopping short of the base 
nor artificially cut back to reveal stonework beneath.  

3.6.21 Fascia boards and bargeboards should be avoided on barn conversions since these are 
domestic features, detracting from the simple, agricultural appearance of the barn.  Typically, 
roofs of farm buildings are characterised by a simple verge over the gable ends with a slight 
over-sail of the tiles / slates, and no bargeboards.  Rafter ends are generally exposed rather 
than covered by fascia boards.  

Page 464



Openings – Windows and Doors

3.6.22 There is presumption in favour of maximising the use of existing openings, and limiting new 
ones. Internal layouts of the buildings should be designed around existing openings to enable 
sufficient natural light, to avoid inserting new openings which would seriously damage its 
existing character.  New openings will only be permitted if there is a robust justification and 
they are designed to complement the character of the building. The re-opening of former 
doors or windows that have been blocked up would be preferable to the creation of new 
ones. 

3.6.23 Farm buildings often have large cart doors that can provide an excellent source of light to 
interiors and should be utilised to the maximum. Additional light may be also achieved by the 
glazing of ventilation slits. New windows and doors should preserve the character of the 
original openings and should be sympathetic in design, proportions and materials. Standard 
domestic style window and doors will not be appropriate.  Door and window openings should 
retain their original proportions. 

3.6.24 Timber is preferable for any new window frames; however, steel frames will be appropriate 
for some buildings. The choice of timber or steel will depend on the building and the original 
window materials.  Where timber is used, oak in a natural finish is preferable.  If softwood 
timber is used, it should normally be painted rather than stained.  Upvc or composite 
windows or doors or modern up and over garage doors will not be acceptable.   
. 

3.6.25 The glazing of every door opening and removal of timber doors should be avoided. Timber 
doors should be retained or replaced if in poor condition, or there is use of inappropriate 
modern replacements.   Where additional natural light is justified, it is usually possible to 
glaze behind the timber doors.  The door remains functional and can be held open or closed 
as required.

Rainwater Goods

3.6.26 Where rainwater goods are used they should either be cast iron or aluminium.  A half-round 
profile is usually the most appropriate.  Upvc will not be acceptable.

Page 465



Internal Features 

3.6.27 If the building is listed, internal features such as 
exposed beams, roof timbers, original fittings and 
tiled, wooden or stone floors, should be retained and 
incorporated in the conversion. Applicants for 
conversions of unlisted buildings are encouraged to 
follow the same principle.

3.6.28 Interior heights of rural buildings may be too 
restricted to allow for two floors. If adequate 
headroom cannot be achieved on the first floor, the 
design of the conversion should be revisited instead 
of cutting the roof trusses.  

External Features 

3.6.29 A sensitive conversion minimises the impact of domestic features on the exterior by 
positioning those that are necessary as discreetly as possible, and utilising those of a suitably 
simple style. Innapropiate detailing to the exterior of the building should be avoided. External 
features such as satellite dishes and television aerials, alarm boxes and innapropiate wall 
mounting lighting, should be avoided where possible and if necessary, should be kept to a 
minimum and positioned discreetly. 

3.6.30 External lighting should be kept to an absolute minumum and ideally should be motion 
censored and should be kept simple. Energy efficient conversions are encouraged; installation 
of renewable energy generating technologies must be undertaken in a sympathetic manner 
with an aim to mitigate any impact on the character of the building.

Heating and Ventilation

3.6.31 The introduction of heat and insulation for human occupation has to be carefully considered. 
Where roof insulation is required, breathable felt should be used. Breathable Roof Membranes 
(BRM) are unsuitable in buildings where bat roosts are present.  In situations where bats will 
continue to have access to the roof space, a licence is unlikely to be granted by Natural 
Resources Wales.  Bitumastic felt to BS747 can be used as an alternative in such locations or 
a breathable membrane can be covered with sarking board.   

3.6.32 There are modern ventilation systems that have minimal impact on historic character which 
can avoid the need for trickle vents and other prominent ventilators. Extractor vents and 
ventilation for the roof can often be successfully achieved with slate or ridge vents. When 
installing a boiler it is best to opt for a system that can vent through the wall that is not a 
primary or prominent elevation. It is best to avoid those that require venting through the roof 
but where this has to be done stainless steel flues should be kept as short as possible and 
painted black to make them less obtrusive.

3.6.33  It is usually not appropriate to introduce a chimney to buildings that were not designed to 
have one. Wood burning or multi-fuel stoves may be acceptable following the advice above.   
Under floor heating can be effective, although care should be taken to re-instate stone flagged 
floors.  Consideration should be given to sustainable sources of heat such a ground / air source 
heat pumps, provided that the necessary equipment and machinery can be incorporated 
sensitively within the scheme of conversion. 

Page 466



Utilities 

3.6.34 The provision of service such as electricity, water and gas for many rural buildings may not be 
convenient however they must have a minimal visual intrusion on the surrounding countryside. 
Underground cables are encouraged to minimise their visual impact. Rainwater gutters and 
downpipes should be kept to a minimum, in black finished cast iron or aluminium and external 
pipework such as soil and vent pipes should be positioned internally. 

3.6.35 Disposal of waste water and sewerage may also pose a challenge in rural areas, therefore 
environmentally acceptable and sustainable methods should be utilised wherever possible. If 
installations such as septic tanks or cesspits are necessary, these should be located where they 
have minimal visual impact through undergrounding or appropriate screening. 

Alterations / Extensions

3.6.36 The emphasis in any conversion scheme is that the building in its present form is suitable for 
the intended use. At the time of considering a conversion scheme, minor extensions will only 
be permitted in exceptional circumstances, where they are genuinely required to facilitate a 
conversion, rather than just for the purpose of adding additional rooms. Where an extension 
is fully justified, it will be required to ancillary in scale and in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the building and setting. In general, large or two-storey extensions will not be 
acceptable. 

3.6.37 Where new buildings or extensions are permitted, they should reflect their surroundings and 
traditional character of the building.  For example, using an agricultural design such as open 
fronted byres, to inform the design of garaging. Extensions should follow the existing 
traditional character of the building and be subservient to the existing building in every respect. 

3.6.38 Conservatories, porches, dormers, sheds, pools and other extensions that are inherently 
domestic in design will be resisted. To avoid later extensions which are out of character, the 
National Park Authority is likely to remove permitted development rights for alterations to 
the building.

Page 467



This page is intentionally left blank



Affordable Housing Commuted Sums Process and Procedure

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 25th June 2019

Report Author Helen Lucocq

Job title Principal Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk
01874 620429

Purpose of Report To seek Member approval of proposed changes to the 
adopted process for the allocation of monies collected by the 
Authority as part of the planning process for the provision of 
Affordable Housing 

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The LDP, Affordable Housing SPG and Affordable Housing 
Strategy have been subject to a separate SIA which should be 
referred to in relation to this item. 

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Proposed Service Level Agreement for the 
Transfer of Monies Collected for the Provision of Affordable 
Housing

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) That Members agree to principle of transferring 
monies collected by the NPA for the provision of 
Affordable Housing to the constituent Housing 
Authorities for allocation and spend in accordance 
with the Service Level Agreement as set out in 
Enclosure 1.

Page 469

Agenda Item 15

mailto:Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.1 Introduction or Background

Policy 28 of the Local Development Plan makes it a requirement of all development which 
results in the net gain of housing to make a contribution towards Affordable Housing.  Where 
the contribution would amount to less than a whole unit, or there are viability challenges to 
onsite provision, this contribution is made by way of a financial contribution secured via a s106 
planning agreement.  These are commonly referred to as ‘commuted sums’.

The Members’ Affordable Housing Working Group is the governance body within the 
Authority with the responsibility for determining how monies collected via commuted sums 
should be allocated.  This body works closely with our constituent Housing Authorities in 
relation to the allocation process.  In response to concerns expressed by some of the 
constituent Housing Authorities regarding the operation of the mechanism currently in force, 
work has been progressing to review how the process operates to ensure the best use of 
officer time, expertise and resources across both the National Park Authority and Housing 
Authority remits.  The result of this review process is the paper and proposal before Members 
today.

1.2 Proposals

In accordance with the Affordable Housing Strategy (Endorsed by NPA 2017 with yearly 
amendments) commuted sums towards the provision of affordable housing are held by the 
National Park Authority in an ear marked reserve for the provision of affordable housing.  This 
reserve is referred to as The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Affordable Housing Fund or 
AHF.  The strategy sets out that monies from this fund will be released to eligible organisations 
for the development of new affordable housing.  The process is set out at section 3.0 of the 
Strategy.  In summary the allocation of funds is subject to an application process to the 
Members Affordable Housing Working Group (MAHWG); review by the Members of the 
Affordable Housing Working Group with a consequent recommendation then being made to 
the NPA.  The decision in relation to the allocation of funds can only be made by a resolution 
of the NPA.

This process was considered to add unnecessary bureaucracy and potential delays to monies 
being made available to support affordable housing schemes because of the need for eligible 
organisations to undertake a bidding process. Further, it is felt that the existing arrangements 
do not reflect the respective remits of the housing authorities.

It is therefore proposed that monies collected for the provision of affordable housing are 
transferred to the relevant Housing Authority on receipt without the need for application to 
the MAHWG.  It is proposed that these transfers will be made under the terms of a Service 
Level Agreement which stipulates the following (see Enclosure 1):

Page 470

chrome-extension://oemmndcbldboiebfnladdacbdfmadadm/https:/www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Affordable-Housing-Strategy-310518.pdf


1. The NPA remains the collecting Authority for monies collected for the purposes of the 
provision of Affordable Housing within the National Park.

2. Monies would be transferred to the relevant Strategic Housing Authority on receipt 
from developers.

3. Monies transferred through the SLA must be spent within 5 years of receipt or returned 
with accrued interest to the NPA for allocation.  

4. Where an UA area fails to spend monies within 5 years of receipt, the NPA will work 
collaboratively across Strategic Housing Authority areas to identify opportunities to 
utilise monies in accordance with the greatest level of need within a Strategic Housing 
Market area (as defined by BBNPA LDP).

5. Monies transferred through the SLA must be spent in accordance with the priority areas 
for spending as defined by the NPA Affordable Housing Strategy.

6. Evidence must be supplied on a yearly basis to the NPA to define the level of need for 
Affordable Housing across the National Park.  This will inform the NP Affordable 
Housing Strategy.

7. Reports must be provided by the Strategic Housing Authority on a quarterly basis to set 
out how money has been allocated and spent in accordance with the Strategy.  These 
will be presented to the Members Affordable Housing Working Group.

8. This SLA has been drawn up on the request of the Strategic Housing Authorities and as 
such any work undertaken under the SLA is on a voluntary basis and cannot be 
reclaimed from the NPA.

9. The SLA will be reviewed on a yearly basis.

The constituent Housing Authorities have agreed in principle to the terms of the proposed 
SLA, the draft of which is appended to this Report at Enclosure 1.

The proposed SLA has been agreed by the MAHWG as an appropriate mechanism for 
distribution of the commuted sums monies collected via s106 agreements in future. 

1.3 Implications

If members are minded to move the recommendation, Officers will prepare updates of key 
documents to define and enable the implementation of the amended process.

 Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance
 Affordable Housing Strategy

Page 471



Updates will be presented to NPA for approval prior to implementation.

Officers will also need to arrange for the respective Housing Authorities to sign the SLA to 
ensure the new process can operate properly.

1.4 Risk

As the collecting Authority, the liability for the spending of monies collected via s106 
agreements will remain with the Authority regardless of transfer to the Housing Authority.  
We will be required to retain a clear audit trail for such monies despite them being transferred 
to the UA’s.  The SLA mechanisms for monitoring risk to the Authority will be through the  
quarterly reports and annual reviews.

1.5 Conclusion

The proposed SLA has been agreed by the MAHWG as an appropriate mechanism for 
distributing commuted sums monies collected via s106 agreements.  The MAHWG resolved at 
the meeting of the 24th of May to recommend that the principle of the transfer of monies, as 
enshrined in the proposed SLA, be recommended for agreement by the NPA.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

That Members agree to principle of transferring monies collected by the NPA for 
the provision of Affordable Housing to the constituent Housing Authorities for 
allocation and spend in accordance with the Service Level Agreement as set out in 
Enclosure 1.

Page 472



C:5912387v2

 

DATED 20[..]

(1) BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
(2) [                    ] HOUSING AUTHORITY

Service Level Agreement in relation to the distribution of funding collected 
for affordable housing 

Page 473



C:5912387v2

CONTENTS

1. Definitions and Interpretation 3
2. Duties of the National Park Authority 6
3. Duties of the Housing Authority 7
4. Reporting Obligations of the Housing Authority 8
5. Confidentiality 8
6. Freedom of Information 9
7. Duration 9
8. Termination 9
9. Intellectual Property Rights 10
10. Dispute Resolution 10
11. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 11
12. Entire Agreement 11
13. Severability 11
14. Execution 11
15. Governing Law 12
Schedule 1 Areas covered by this agreement 13

Page 474



C:5912387v2

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE ON  20[   ]

BETWEEN: 

(1) Brecon Beacons National Park Authority of Plas y FFynnon, Cambrian Way, 
Brecon LD3 7HP (“the National Park Authority”); and

(2) [Name of Housing Authority] of [Address of Housing Authority] (“the Housing 
Authority”)

WHEREAS

A The National Park Authority is the Local Planning Authority for that area of 
[Specify area] that is the Brecon Beacons National Park.

B The Housing Authority has statutory responsibility for the provision of housing 
in the [Specify area] area.

C The National Park Authority has collected finance pursuant to agreements 
entered into under the power in section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

D The National Park Authority has decided to use the power in section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to enter into an agreement with the 
Housing Authority under which the Housing Authority shall use finance 
collected by the National Park Authority to provide support for affordable 
housing projects.  The National Park Authority has decided to enter into such 
an agreement to further the National Park Authority’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy.  

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS

1. Definitions and Interpretation

1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation apply in this Agreement:

“Affordable Housing Fund” the fund to which monies paid by the 
National Park Authority to the 
Housing Authority in accordance 
with this Agreement are designated 
in accordance with clause 3.2 of this 
Agreement

“Affordable Housing Project” a project to develop and make 
available in the area of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park housing that 
is accessible to persons who cannot 
afford market housing

“Affordable Housing Strategy” the affordable housing strategy 
adopted by Brecon Beacons 

Page 475



C:5912387v2

National Park Authority (as 
amended) 

“Commencement Date” [Commencement Date to be 
inserted]

“Confidential Information” all Know-How and other information 
relating to the business affairs or 
methods of the National Park 
Authority or the Housing Authority 
which is contained in or discernible 
in any form whatsoever (including 
without limitation software, data, 
drawings, films, documents and 
computer-readable media) whether 
or not marked or designated as 
confidential or proprietary or which is 
disclosed orally or by demonstration 
and which is described at the time of 
disclosure as confidential or is 
clearly so from its content or the 
context of disclosure

“Eligible Body” a body which is eligible under the 
Affordable Housing Strategy of the 
National Park Authority to apply for 
funding for an Affordable Housing 
Project

“Government Authority” any government (de jure or de facto) 
of the United Kingdom or any 
political sub-division of the United 
Kingdom or any local jurisdiction of 
the United Kingdom; and any 
governmental authority or statutory 
legal fiscal monetary or 
administrative body which operates 
or has jurisdiction directly or 
indirectly in the United Kingdom; or  
any instrumentality commission 
court or agency of any of the above 
however constituted; or any 
association organisation or 
institution of which any of the above 
is a member or to whose jurisdiction 
any of the above is subject or in 
whose activities any of the above is 
a participant;

“Intellectual Property Rights” patents, rights to inventions 
copyright and related rights trade-
marks trade names and domain 
names rights in get-up rights in 
goodwill or to sue for passing off 
rights in designs rights in computer 

Page 476



C:5912387v2

software database rights rights in 
confidential information (including 
Know-How and trade secrets) and 
any other intellectual property rights, 
in each case whether registered or 
unregistered and including all 
applications (or rights to apply) for 
and renewals or extensions of such 
rights and all similar or equivalent 
rights or forms of protection which 
may now or in the future subsist in 
any part of the world

“Know-How” Information data know-how or 
experience whether patentable or 
not and including but not limited to 
any technical and commercial 
information relating to research; 
design development manufacture 
use or sale;

“Local Planning Authority” as defined in the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990;

“Party” each of the National Park Authority 
and the Housing Authority as the 
context requires and “Parties” 
means both of them;

“Working Day” a day which is not a Saturday 
Sunday or public holiday in England 
and Wales;

1.2 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the 
construction of this Agreement.

1.3 Words importing one gender include all other genders and words importing the 
singular include the plural and vice versa.

1.4 A reference in this Agreement to any clause, paragraph or schedule is, except 
where it is expressly stated to the contrary, a reference to a clause or paragraph 
of or schedule to this Agreement.

1.5 Any reference to this Agreement or to any other document unless otherwise 
specified shall include any variation, amendment or supplements to such 
document expressly permitted by this Agreement or otherwise agreed in writing 
between the relevant parties.

1.6 Words preceding “include”, “includes”, “including” and “included” shall be 
construed without limitation by the words which follow those words unless 
inconsistent with the context and the rule of interpretation known as “eiusdem 
generis” shall not apply.

Page 477



C:5912387v2

1.7 The Schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have the same force and 
effect as if expressly set out in the body of this Agreement and references to 
this Agreement includes the Schedules.

1.8 A reference to a recital or clause or schedule or part of a schedule is, unless 
the context otherwise requires, a reference to a recital to or a clause of or a 
schedule or a part of a schedule to this agreement, and references to this 
agreement include its schedules, and recitals and references in a schedule to 
paragraphs are to paragraphs of that schedule.

1.9 References to “the Parties” shall be to the parties to this Agreement.

1.10 Any provision which provides that an action or thing may not be taken or done 
by one Party without the “consent” or “approval” of the other Party will be 
deemed to provide also that:

(a) the Party seeking to take the action or do the thing in question shall 
request the consent or approval of the other Party in writing and provide 
promptly and in sufficient time for the other Party to consider it, all 
information reasonably necessary for the other Party to make an 
informed decision as to whether or not consent or approval should be 
granted;

(b) the Party receiving the request for consent or approval shall consider it 
in good faith; and

(c) the consent or approval must be given in writing and the relevant action 
or thing may not be done unless and until the consent or approval has 
been granted;

(d) a reference to “the National Park Authority” or “the Housing Authority”  
or any other person includes its (and any subsequent) successor(s) in 
title and permitted transferee(s) or permitted assignee(s).

1.11 Any reference to a “person” shall be construed as a reference to an individual, 
firm, company, corporation, government state or agency of a state or any 
association or partnership (whether or not having a separate legal entity) of two 
or more of the foregoing.

1.12 A reference to any document includes that document as amended, varied, 
novated or supplemented from time to time.

1.13 A reference to law includes without limitation any (1) statute, decree, 
constitution, regulation, order, judgment or directive of any Government 
Authority (2) treaty, pact or other agreement to which any Government 
Authority is a signatory or party and/or (3) judicial or administrative 
interpretation or application thereof and, in each such case, is a reference to 
the same as amended, substituted or re-enacted from time to time.

2. Duties of the National Park Authority

2.1 The National Park Authority shall pay to the Housing Authority sums collected 
by the National Park Authority pursuant to agreements entered into under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for Affordable Housing 
Projects in any of the areas set out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement.

Page 478



C:5912387v2

2.2 If the Housing Authority returns to the National Park Authority funds paid to the 
Housing Authority under the terms of this Agreement because the Housing 
Authority has failed to use the funds with five (5) years of receipt of payment of 
those funds to the Housing Authority the National Park Authority shall in the 
exercise of its powers use reasonable endeavours to use those funds to 
address the greatest level of need it has identified in the area of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park. 

3. Duties of the Housing Authority

3.1 The Housing Authority shall use any funds paid to it by the National Park 
Authority under the terms of this Agreement for the purpose of an Affordable 
Housing Project.

3.2 The Housing Authority shall designate funds paid to it by the National Park 
Authority under the terms of this Agreement as the Housing Authority’s 
Affordable Housing Fund.

3.3 The Housing Authority shall invite Eligible Bodies to apply for funding from the 
Housing Authority’s Affordable Housing Fund.

3.4 The Housing Authority shall assess applications from Eligible Bodies against 
the criteria of:

(a) Appropriateness of the application to meet housing needs in the area;

(b) Deliverability of the scheme.

3.5 Subject to clause 3.6 and clause 3.7 the Housing Authority may pay funding 
from the Housing Authority’s Affordable Housing Fund to Eligible Bodies whose 
applications the Housing Authority assesses as satisfactory against the criteria 
set out in clause 3.4.

3.6 The Housing Authority shall award funding from the National Park Authority’s 
Affordable Housing Fund based on priority areas as identified in the Affordable 
Housing Strategy of the National Park Authority.

3.7 Before making any payment of funding from the Housing Authority’s Affordable 
Housing Fund the Housing Authority shall notify the National Park Authority in 
writing of its intention to award funding and shall provide the National Park 
Authority with the following details:

(a) The name of the scheme to which funding has been awarded.

(b) The location of the scheme.

(c) The number of units to be provided by the scheme.

(d) The tenure of the units to be provided by the scheme.

(e) The name of the housing provider responsible for the scheme.

[Note: Is notification sufficient or does the National Park Authority require to 
approve each payment?]

Page 479



C:5912387v2

3.8 The Housing Authority shall use any funds paid to it by the National Park 
Authority under the terms of this Agreement no later than five (5) years after 
receipt of the payment from the National Park Authority.  If any payment made 
by the National Park Authority to the Housing Authority under the terms of this 
Agreement is not used within five (5) years of receipt of the payment from the 
National Park Authority the sum paid shall be returned to the National Park 
Authority together with interest accrued at a rate of 1.5% per annum above the 
Bank of England Bank Rate. 

4. Reporting Obligations of the Housing Authority

4.1 The Housing Authority shall provide the National Park Authority with a written 
report every quarter which reports on the use of funds paid to the Housing 
Authority by the National Park Authority in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement.  The report shall be submitted to the National Park Authority’s 
Planning and Heritage Manager and the National Park Authority shall present 
the report to its Members Affordable Housing Group.

4.2 The Housing Authority shall provide the National Park Authority with a written 
report every year which reports on housing needs in the area of the Housing 
Authority.  The report shall be a summary of data on the Housing Authority’s 
housing waiting list that records details or persons who are classed to be in 
housing need.  The report shall be submitted to the National Park Authority’s 
Planning and Heritage Manager on 1 April each year for the duration of this 
Agreement.

5. Confidentiality

5.1 The Parties shall keep confidential the Confidential Information of the Parties 
and shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent their employees and agents 
from making any disclosure to any person of the Confidential Information of the 
Parties other than as permitted under the provisions of this Agreement.  Each 
Party shall not use or disclose other than as permitted under the provisions of 
this Agreement any Confidential Information about the business of or belonging 
to the other Party or a third party which has come to its attention as a result of 
or in connection with this Agreement.

5.2 The obligation in clause shall not apply to:

(a) Any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by persons 
engaged in the performance of their obligations under this Agreement.

(b) Any matter which a party can demonstrate is already generally 
available and in the public domain otherwise than as a result of a 
breach of this clause.

(c) Any disclosure which is required by any law (including any order or a 
court of competent jurisdiction) any statutory obligation or the rules of 
any stock exchange or governmental or regulatory authority having the 
force or law.

(d) Any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the 
possession of the disclosing Party without restrictions as to its use 
prior to its disclosure by the disclosing Party.

Page 480



C:5912387v2

(e) Any disclosure which is required or recommended by the rules of any 
governmental or regulatory authority including any guidance from time 
to time as to openness and disclosure of information by public bodies.

(f) Any disclosure which is necessary to be disclosed to provide relevant 
information to any insurance broker in connection with obtaining any 
insurance required by this Agreement.

(g) Any disclosure for the purpose of the examination and certification of a 
Party’s accounts.

5.3 Where disclosure is permitted under clauses 5.2(a), 5.2(f), or 5.2(g) the 
recipient of the information shall be placed under the same obligation of 
confidentiality as that contained in this Agreement by the disclosing Party.

6. Freedom of Information

6.1 The Parties acknowledge that the National Park Authority and the Housing 
Authority are subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 
2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and each Party 
shall assist and co-operate with the other Party to enable the other Party to 
comply with these information disclosure requirements and shall provide all 
necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Party to enable the 
other Party to respond to a request for information within the time for 
compliance set out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5 of the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

7. Duration

7.1 This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date and subject 
to termination in accordance with clause 8 shall continue for a period of two 
years.

7.2 The Agreement may be extended by the agreement of the Parties.

7.3 The Agreement shall be reviewed every year as soon as is practicable after the 
anniversary of the Commencement Date.

8. Termination

8.1 The National Park Authority may terminate this Agreement on giving the 
Housing Authority three months’ written notice for a material breach of the 
Agreement by the Housing Authority which breach has not been remedied by 
the Housing Authority within thirty days of written notice by the National Park 
Authority.

8.2 This Agreement may be terminated after six months after the Commencement 
Date:

(a) By the agreement of the Parties; OR

(b) By one Party giving the other Party one month’s notice in writing.

8.3 If this Agreement is terminated in accordance with this clause 8 the reporting 
obligations of the Housing Authority under clause 4 shall continue in force and 

Page 481



C:5912387v2

the National Park Authority shall have the right to monitor the use of funding 
provided to the Housing Authority in accordance with this Agreement for such 
time until the funding has been used or returned to the National Park Authority 
in accordance with clause 3.8.

8.4 In the event of termination or expiry of this Agreement clauses 2.2, 3.8, 5, 6 
and 8.3 shall continue to apply.

9. Intellectual Property Rights

9.1 The Intellectual Property Rights in all reports documents and information 
prepared by the National Park Authority or any of its officers pursuant to this 
Agreement shall vest in the National Park Authority.

10. Dispute Resolution

10.1 The Parties to this Agreement undertake and agree to pursue a positive 
approach towards dispute resolution which seeks to identify a solution at the 
lowest operational level that is appropriate to the subject of the dispute and 
which avoids legal proceedings and maintains a strong working relationship 
between the Parties.

10.2 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved 
in accordance with this clause 10.

10.3 All disputes, claims or differences between the Parties arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation, including any 
question regarding its existence, validity or termination, (a “Dispute”) shall, at 
the written request of any Party be referred by the National Park Authority to its 
Chief Executive and by the Housing Authority to [Housing Authority to provide 
details of most senior officer].

10.4 If the Chief Executive of the National Park Authority and the [          ] of the 
Housing Authority do not agree a resolution of the Dispute within ten (10) 
Working Days of the date of service of any such request, either Party may 
require the other Party by notice in writing to attempt to settle the Dispute by 
mediation in accordance with the Centre for Dispute Resolution (CEDR) Model 
Mediation Procedure.  Within five Working Days of the date of service of such 
notice the Parties shall each propose a mediator and shall seek to agree as to 
the selection of a mediator.

10.5 If the Parties are unable to agree on a mediator within ten Working Days of 
date of service of the notice referred to in clause or the mediator agreed upon 
is unable or unwilling to act and the Parties cannot agree upon a substitute, 
any party may apply to CEDR to appoint a mediator as soon as practicable.

10.6 The Parties shall within five Working Days of the appointment of the mediator 
(the “Mediator”) meet with him in order to agree a programme for the exchange 
of any relevant information and the structure to be adopted for the negotiations.  
If considered appropriate, the Parties may at any stage seek assistance from 
CEDR to provide guidance on a suitable procedure.

10.7 All negotiations connected with the Dispute shall be conducted in strict 
confidence and without prejudice to the rights of the Parties in any future 
proceedings.

Page 482



C:5912387v2

10.8 If the Parties reach agreement on the resolution of the Dispute, such agreement 
shall be reduced to writing and, once it is signed by the Parties or their duly 
authorised representatives, shall be and remain binding upon the Parties.

10.9 The costs and expenses of the mediation shall be borne equally by the Parties.  
Each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses of its participation in the 
mediation.

10.10 If mediation fails to secure a resolution within ten Working Days of the Mediator 
being appointed, the Parties shall attempt to settle the Dispute by arbitration 
under the Rules of the London Court of International Arbitration (which Rules 
are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this clause) and otherwise in 
accordance with clause 10.11.

10.11 In the event that an arbitration is commenced pursuant to clause 10.10 the 
Parties agree that:

(a) the tribunal shall consist of one arbitrator who is to be a chartered 
accountant who is a member of the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) if the dispute relates to a financial 
matter or a solicitor of at least ten years standing as a qualified solicitor 
if the dispute relates to any other matter;

(b) the place of the arbitration shall be Cardiff; 

(c) the decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the Parties 
(save in the case of manifest error).

11. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

11.1 This Agreement does not and is not intended to confer any contractual benefit 
on any person pursuant to the terms of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 
Act 1999.

12. Entire Agreement

12.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and 
supersedes and extinguishes all previous agreements promises assurances 
warranties representations and understandings between them whether written 
or oral relating to its subject matter.  Nothing in this Agreement shall exclude 
liability for fraudulent misrepresentation or any other liability in consequence of 
any fraudulent act.

13. Severability

13.1 If at any time any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal invalid or 
unenforceable in any respect that shall not affect or impair the legality validity 
or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.

14. Execution

14.1 This Agreement may be executed and delivered in any number of counterparts 
but will only be effective when both Parties have executed at least one 
counterpart.  Each counterpart of this document shall constitute an original of 
this document but the counterparts together constitute one and the same 

Page 483



C:5912387v2

document and together shall have the same effect as if each Party had signed 
the same document.

15. Governing Law

15.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
law of England and Wales.

15.2 The National Park Authority and the Housing Authority irrevocably agree that 
any legal action or proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement may 
be brought and enforced in the courts of England and Wales and irrevocably 
submit to such jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS whereof the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date set out 
at the start of this Agreement.

EXECUTED for and on behalf of 
BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

SIGNATURE …………………………………………………………………………………..

NAME

POSITION

EXECUTED for and on behalf of
[HOUSING AUTHORITY]

SIGNATURE …………………………………………………………………………………..

NAME

POSITION

SIGNATURE …………………………………………………………………………………..

NAME

POSITION

In the presence of

WITNESS SIGNATURE ……………………………………………………………………...

NAME

ADDRESS

OCCUPATION

Page 484



C:5912387v2

Schedule 1 Areas covered by this agreement

1 [List areas in the area of the Brecon Beacons National Park for which the 
Housing Authority has statutory responsibility for housing]

Page 485



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 487

Agenda Item 20



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting - 9th April 2019

	7 Annual Governance Statement 2018-19
	Enc. 1 Draft Annual Governance Statement 2018-19

	8 Establishment of a Welsh Language Officer Post (Part-Time)
	Welsh Language Officer 2019 Draft JD
	Draft Person Specification Welsh Language Officer

	9 Officers Code of Conduct
	Enc. 1 for Officers Code of Conduct

	10 Secondment Policy
	Enc. 1 for Secondment Policy

	11 Amendments to the Authority’s Scheme of Delegation and Adjustments to the Sign Off limits
	Enclosure 1 Proposed Amendments to Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation
	Enclosure 2 Proposed Financial Regulations

	12 Local Development Plan 2: Consultation draft Preferred Strategy
	Enclosure 1 Local Development Plan 2: Consultation draft Preferred Strategy Single Integrated Assessment
	Enclosure 2 Local Development Plan 2: Consultation draft Preferred Strategy Equality Impact full screening
	Enclosure 3 Preferred Strategy
	Enclosure 4 Initial Report Assessment Tables
	Enclosure 5 - Appraisal tables
	Enclosure 6 HRA

	13 Local Development Plan 2: Candidate Site Registers
	Enc. 1 for Local Development Plan 2: Candidate Site Registers
	Enc. 2 for Local Development Plan 2: Candidate Site Registers
	Enc. 3 for Local Development Plan 2: Candidate Site Registers

	14 Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside:  Addendum
	Enc. 1 for Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside Addendum

	15 Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Process and Procedure
	Enc. 1 for Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Process and Procedure

	20 Update on Foel Deg boundary management

